Current status of and future directions for assessing technology acceptance for digital (mental) health interventions

Edited by Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen and Silvia Simbula

Coordinated by Giulia Paganin

Published in Frontiers in Digital Health Frontiers in Psychiatry





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5384-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5384-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Current status of and future directions for assessing technology acceptance for digital (mental) health interventions

Topic editors

Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen — Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf, Germany Silvia Simbula — University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

Topic coordinator

Giulia Paganin — University of Bologna, Italy

Citation

Apolinário-Hagen, J., Simbula, S., Paganin, G., eds. (2024). *Current status of and future directions for assessing technology acceptance for digital (mental) health interventions*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5384-8



Table of contents

04	Editorial: Editorial: Current status of and future directions for
	assessing technology acceptance for digital (mental) health
	interventions

Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen, Giulia Paganin and Silvia Simbula

06 Feasibility and uptake of a digital mental health intervention for depression among Lebanese and Syrian displaced people in Lebanon: a qualitative study

Jinane Abi Ramia, Racha Abi Hana, Philip Noun, Pim Cuijpers, Kenneth Carswell, Edith van't Hof, Eva Heim, Edwina Zoghbi, Marit Sijbrandij and Rabih El Chammay

20 A qualitative interview study of patients' attitudes towards and intention to use digital interventions for depressive disorders on prescription

Jacqueline Posselt, Eva Baumann and Marie-Luise Dierks

32 Mental health services for German university students: acceptance of intervention targets and preference for delivery modes

Fanny Kählke, Penelope Hasking, Ann-Marie Küchler and Harald Baumeister

45 Exploring subgroups of acceptance prediction for e-mental health among psychotherapists-in-training: a latent class analysis

Robert Staeck, Miriam Stüble and Marie Drüge

53 Mobile health for mental health support: a survey of attitudes and concerns among mental health professionals in Poland over the period 2020-2023

Monika Dominiak, Adam Gędek, Anna Z. Antosik and Paweł Mierzejewski

- 66 Enhancing the acceptance of smart sensing in psychotherapy patients: findings from a randomized controlled trial Fabian Rottstädt, Eduard Becker, Gabriele Wilz, Ilona Croy, Harald Baumeister and Yannik Terhorst
- 76 Beyond technology acceptance—a focused ethnography on the implementation, acceptance and use of new nursing technology in a German hospital
 Description (Journan, Joseph Leophic Matematication)

Ronny Klawunn, Urs-Vito Albrecht, Deliah Katzmarzyk and Marie-Luise Dierks

- 92 A qualitative exploration of online forums to support resilience of rural young people in Australia Karen Carlisle, Peter Kamstra, Emily Carlisle, Anthony McCosker, Tracy De Cotta, Sue Kilpatrick, Artur Steiner, Bianca Kahl and Jane Farmer
- 104 Acceptance of smart sensing, its determinants, and the efficacy of an acceptance-facilitating intervention in people with diabetes: results from a randomized controlled trial Johannes Knauer, Harald Baumeister, Andreas Schmitt and Yannik Terhorst

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Heleen Riper, VU Amsterdam, Netherlands

*CORRESPONDENCE Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen 🖾 jennifer.apolinario.hagen@hhu.de

RECEIVED 19 July 2024 ACCEPTED 19 July 2024 PUBLISHED 20 August 2024

CITATION

Apolinário-Hagen J, Paganin G and Simbula S (2024) Editorial: Current status of and future directions for assessing technology acceptance for digital (mental) health interventions. Front. Digit. Health 6:1467297. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2024.1467297

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Apolinário-Hagen, Paganin and Simbula. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Current status of and future directions for assessing technology acceptance for digital (mental) health interventions

Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen^{1*}, Giulia Paganin² and Silvia Simbula^{3,4}

¹Institute of Occupational, Social and Environmental Medicine, Centre for Health and Society, Medical Faculty, Heinrich-Heine University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany, ²Department of Education Studies "Giovanni Maria Bertin", University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ³Department of Psychology, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy, ⁴Bicocca Center for Applied Psychology, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy

KEYWORDS

telemedicine, UTAUT (unified theory of acceptance and use of technology), digital health interventions, digital mental health, digital mental health assessment and interventions, innovation diffusion, user perspective

Editorial on the Research Topic

Current status of and future directions for assessing technology acceptance for digital (mental) health interventions

Digital mental health interventions (DMHIs) have become increasingly widespread over the last twenty years as they demonstrated promise in the prevention and treatment of common mental health issues in a variety of settings. However, adoption is still low in many countries despite policy-makers' efforts, such as approving digital therapeutics (DTx). Developing acceptance-facilitating interventions (AFIs) and customizing DMHIs to user needs depend on an in-depth understanding of individual innovation acceptance. In fact, a growing number of studies considered measuring user acceptance and its determinants as well as attitudes and preferences among key stakeholders prior the utilization of digital health services.

The goal of this Research Topic is to gather and present empirical studies on the state of technology acceptance research dedicated to theoretical frameworks such as the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) as well as future directions for user-centered DMHIs. These assessments not only include acceptance of interventions improving mental health across various application fields and populations but also perspectives regarding therapeutic relationships and human-computer interactions.

This editorial article outlines nine contributions collected for this special issue and their role in enhancing our understanding of technology acceptance. Grounded on both quantitative and qualitative research methods, the results revealed a complex picture of the acceptance of digital interventions by different target populations.

According to the survey by Kählke et al., university students clearly favored face-to-face treatment over both stand-alone and blended DMHIs, while they highlighted a moderate acceptance for DMHIs. Reporting a mental illness, believing in DMHIs efficacy, and not intending to use traditional services were linked to a preference for DMHIs.

Based on the UTAUT model, Staeck et al. demonstrated that two latent classes of psychotherapists in training may be distinguished according to the model determinants, namely Performance Expectancy and Effort Expectancy. Interestingly, these classes also differed in therapeutic orientation.

Mental health professionals' attitudes and concerns regarding mobile health were investigated by Dominiak et al. Prioritizing telepsychiatry was indicated by the majority of them, with a surge in interest during the COVID-19 pandemic. A quarter of them expressed concerns like challenges in precisely evaluating patients' conditions and technological issues.

This Research Topic comprised two randomized controlled trials (RCTs) on AFIs. Knauer et al., building on the UTAUT, examined the acceptability of smart sensing, acceptance determinants, and the efficacy of a video-based AFI in comparison to a mindfulness video. At baseline, smart sensing was moderately accepted. Acceptance was found to be determined by trust, social influence, and performance expectations. The AFI, however, had no significant influence on acceptance ratings.

Another UTAUT-based RCT was conducted by Rottstädt et al. on promoting smart sensing's adoption. In contrast to an active control group, the AFI consisted of showing a smart sensing video. Acceptance increased moderately in the intervention group. The main factors that determine acceptance were found to be Performance and Effort Expectancy.

Lastly, this Research Topic included four qualitative studies.

A focused ethnography on the implementation, acceptance, and use of modern nursing technologies was carried out by Klawunn et al. The authors discovered that a product's acceptance or rejection does not always correspond to its use. Users' approval of technology before it is implemented frequently takes the form of prejudice, but after they have some time to test it, their intention to utilize it can turn to sustained use.

The interview study by Posselt et al. on patients' attitudes towards and intention to use DTx for depressive disorders indicated that patients do not view apps on prescription as a replacement for face-to-face treatment in terms of performance expectancies. While general practitioners play a vital role through prescriptions, effort expectations encompassed both possible benefits and obstacles linked to technical, motivational, and skillrelated components.

The qualitative study by Carlisle et al. examined online forums in an effort to help young people in rural areas become more resilient. Their findings indicated that online peer support forums help strengthen resilience and a sense of belonging, as they provide a virtual space for social connections, to share information, gain knowledge, and offer mutual support.

Finally, the qualitative study by Abi Ramia et al. investigated the feasibility and uptake of Step-by-Step (SbS), a DMHI for depression. Their results revealed high acceptability of SbS among users, but it also identified subgroups for which acceptance or use might be lower, such as older users and those with restricted access to the internet or smartphones.

Taken together, recent research shows that face-to-face interactions are still favored, whereas attitudes regarding DMHIs

are becoming more positive. Innovation diffusion takes time and is context-sensitive. Acceptance appears higher among those who have already dealt with mental health issues or who believe in the added value. Besides structured programs, easily accessible online forums can promote mental health by providing peer support in young people. Professionals appear largely supportive of DMHIs, which have gained acceptance throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, although they are worried about various barriers.

Consequently, promoting the informed use of DMHIs requires the active participation and education of health professionals. In line with prior research, it was found that UTAUT determinants, particularly performance expectancies, alongside with other factors like trust, represent drivers of user acceptance. Under certain conditions, AFIs such as educational videos could increase the acceptability of DMHIs. Research also emphasizes the need to differentiate between early adoption and continued use, as well as the unique needs of different populations, varying in demographics and preferences.

As digital health continues to change the landscape of health-promoting settings, it remains important to comprehend how new technologies are viewed in order to assist their uptake. Gaining insight into the factors that influence the uptake and effectiveness of digital interventions could thus help reduce the gap between the demand and supply for personalized DMHIs while improving the access to both in-person and digital interventions. Expanding the scope of research beyond the UTAUT is essential for designing and disseminating usercentered interventions, especially in light of the interaction of individual, organizational, and environmental factors in technology acceptance.

Author contributions

JA-H: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. GP: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SS: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Wulf Rössler, Charité University Medicine Berlin, Germany

REVIEWED BY Chak Fai Ma, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong SAR, China Domenico Sanseverino, University of Turin, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Jinane Abi Ramia ⊠ jinane.abiramia@gmail.com

[†]Senior author

RECEIVED 12 September 2023 ACCEPTED 22 December 2023 PUBLISHED 22 January 2024

CITATION

Abi Ramia J, Abi Hana R, Noun P, Cuijpers P, Carswell K, van't Hof E, Heim E, Zoghbi E, Sijbrandij M and El Chammay R (2024) Feasibility and uptake of a digital mental health intervention for depression among Lebanese and Syrian displaced people in Lebanon: a qualitative study. *Front. Public Health* 11:1293187. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1293187

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Abi Ramia, Abi Hana, Noun, Cuijpers, Carswell, van't Hof, Heim, Zoghbi, Sijbrandij and El Chammay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Feasibility and uptake of a digital mental health intervention for depression among Lebanese and Syrian displaced people in Lebanon: a qualitative study

Jinane Abi Ramia^{1,2*}, Racha Abi Hana^{1,2}, Philip Noun², Pim Cuijpers^{1,3}, Kenneth Carswell⁴, Edith van't Hof⁴, Eva Heim^{5,6}, Edwina Zoghbi⁷, Marit Sijbrandij¹ and Rabih El Chammay^{2,8†}

¹Department of Clinical, Neuro and Developmental Psychology, World Health Organization (WHO) Collaborating Center for Research and Dissemination of Psychological Interventions, Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ²National Mental Health Programme, Ministry of Public Health of Lebanon, Beirut, Lebanon, ³International Institute for Psychotherapy, Babeş-Bolyai University, Cluj-Napoca, Romania, ⁴Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, ⁵Institute of Psychology, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, ⁶Department of Psychology, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ⁷Country Office for Lebanon, World Health Organization, Beirut, Lebanon, ⁸Psychiatry Department, Faculty of Medicine, Saint Joseph University, Beirut, Lebanon

Introduction: Digital interventions are increasingly regarded as a potential solution for the inaccessibility of mental health treatment across low-and-middle-income settings, especially for common mental disorders. Step-by-Step (SbS) is a digital, guided self-help intervention for depression found effective in two Randomized Controlled Trials (RCTs) in Lebanon. For research implementation and further scale-up, this paper reports the results of a qualitative evaluation of SbS among the Lebanese and others and displaced Syrians in Lebanon.

Methods: Thirty-four Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) were executed with participants of the RCTs, SbS staff members, and external stakeholders. Questions garnered feedback about the feasibility, acceptability, enabling factors, and barriers to adhering to the research, implementation, and the SbS intervention. A thematic analysis was conducted using NVivo, and key themes, topics, and recommendations, on research methods and the intervention itself, were generated and reported.

Results: Results showed a high level of acceptability of SbS among Lebanese and Syrians and identified sub-groups for whom acceptance or use might be lower, such as older adults and people with limited access to the internet or smartphones. Furthermore, interviews identified the main enabling factors and barriers to adherence related to the research design, content, and delivery approach. Barriers related to feasibility included lengthy assessments as part of the RCTs, and mistrust related to delays in study compensations. Other common challenges were forgetting login credentials, poor internet connection, being busy and competing needs. Enabling factors and best practices included motivating participants to use the intervention through the weekly support provided by helpers, setting an oral contract for commitment, and dividing the compensations into several installments as part of the RCTs. Recommendations regarding sustainability were given.

Discussion: The findings show that overall, SbS is feasible, acceptable, and much needed in Lebanon among the Lebanese and Syrians. This assessment identifies reasons for low adherence to the research and the intervention and presents improvement solutions. Recommendations generated in this paper inform the upscale of SbS and the planning, design, and implementation of future digital interventions in research and service provision settings in the mental health field.

KEYWORDS

digital interventions, depression, low-to-middle income countries, displaced people, dropout, uptake, qualitative evaluation, Step-by-Step

Introduction

Digital mental health interventions are increasingly regarded as a solution to the global inaccessibility of mental health treatment (1). They present an accessible, scalable, and practical medium for care delivery at a low cost (2). The burden of disease associated with mental health conditions is highest in Low and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs) where previous estimates suggest a large mental health treatment gap of ~75% among adults (3). LMICs could benefit from digital mental health interventions, considering the high demand and the widespread use of smartphones and the Internet (1, 4, 5).

Strong evidence exists around the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of digital mental health interventions (6-9). Nevertheless, there is a dichotomy between the promising evidence for these innovations and the low uptake observed among users (2, 10). Challenges to their uptake are often observed during the research phases, including low adherence to treatment among research participants, decreased completion rates at the postassessments, and high dropout rates during research trials (11, 12). Meta-analyses showed that the average attrition rate was 57% for computerized mental health interventions; non-adherence, including dropout from the treatment or non-completion of assessments, ranged from 28% for therapist-guided digital interventions to 74% for unguided interventions (13). This high attrition could risk underpowered studies, affect the validity of the effectiveness studies, or it might indicate a low uptake in the community upon scale-up (11, 14, 15).

A few implementation studies investigated the reasons for attrition and low adherence to digital interventions in high-income settings. Reasons were categorized into intervention-related and user-related. Intervention-related reasons included poor usability of the intervention, cultural irrelevance of the content, bugginess, limited usefulness in emergencies, and time required to sign up and enter data. User-related reasons were a lack of motivation associated with depression, lack of trust or perceived benefit of the digital treatment, security and privacy concerns, losing interest, and low health literacy (2, 11). Nonetheless, little is known about the factors that may promote the uptake of digital interventions in research and real-life implementation and integration into existing health systems (3, 16). Furthermore, little is known about their uptake in LMICs and the reasons and solutions for dropout among populations affected by adversities (3); hence the need for implementation and attrition studies to understand the barriers to adherence and enabling factors for the uptake of digital mental health interventions in LMICs.

The World Health Organization (WHO) has developed a set of scalable interventions to address common mental disorders. One of these interventions is Step-by-Step (SbS), a 5-week guided selfhelp intervention for adults experiencing depression. It includes a narrated story, a set of techniques and exercises to reduce depression symptoms, with minimal remote support by trained non-specialists called "e-helpers" (17, 18). SbS was developed, culturally adapted, and pilot tested by WHO and the National Mental Health Programme (NMHP) in Lebanon among the Lebanese population and displaced Syrians (19-21). A feasibility randomized controlled trial (RCT) (22) followed by two fullypowered RCTs assessed its effectiveness and cost-effectiveness in the local setting (23, 24). The intervention group had access to the SbS intervention and weekly e-helper support. The Enhanced Care As Usual (ECAU) group received access to one page of psychoeducation on depression and anxiety, a referral list to primary healthcare centers, and the national lifeline for emotional support and suicide prevention (21). Quantitative results showed that the SbS intervention is an effective and cost-effective treatment for depressive symptoms, functional impairment, and anxiety. These results informed the decision to scale it up into a national service in Lebanon; The average dropout rates reported during the RCTs at post-assessments were high, 46.2% for Syrians and 65.1% for Lebanese (23, 24). Hence the need to investigate the reasons and solutions for the high attrition encountered during the trials.

Lebanon is a middle-income country with political turmoil and a fragmented healthcare system further strained by the influx of more than 1.5 million Syrian displaced people in the past 10 years (25). In 2006, the gap in mental health treatment was ~90% (26, 27). Since 2020, and in conjunction with the study implementation, the country has been struggling with a humanitarian emergency caused by severe political, economic, and financial problems. Additionally, COVID-19 regulations and the widespread street protests that erupted in 2019 further exacerbated the situation. In August 2020, an explosion at the Port of Beirut killed more than 200 persons, injured thousands, and critically damaged the healthcare sector, according to WHO reports (28), The systemic failures and the multilayer crises deteriorated the mental wellbeing of the population to a great extent and increased the need for nationwide mental healthcare interventions. In this qualitative study, we aimed to assess the acceptability and feasibility of using SbS in Lebanon and investigate the reasons and solutions for dropout from the lens of the users, staff, and stakeholders. We looked into the challenges faced during the research trial, the best practices, and the recommendations for scale-up. They were examined from a multilevel perspective: content-wise, delivery approach, research methods, context-related factors, and scale-up plan. Throughout this evaluation, we aimed to answer the following research questions: (1) Is SbS considered acceptable, relevant, and beneficial among Lebanese and Syrian populations in Lebanon? (2) What are the promoting and hindering factors that affect the success of the SbS research and intervention uptake in Lebanon? (3) What are the challenges and recommended modalities for sustainability in Lebanon?

Findings should inform the upscale of the intervention into a national service beyond the scope of the research and guide the design and implementation of similar interventions worldwide.

Methods

The intervention

Step-by-Step is a brief 5-week digital, guided, self-help intervention for adults with depression, delivered through an application or a website, with a minimal 15-min a week of remote guidance provided by trained non-specialists called e-helpers (18, 29). SbS comprises core strategies, behavioral activation, stress management, problem management, increasing social support, and relapse prevention techniques. The techniques are delivered through narrated story-based weekly sessions and practical exercises, which are audio recorded and available in English and Arabic. Participants get to practice activities between the sessions, such as grounding and slow breathing exercises, scheduling activities using an online calendar, a gratitude list exercise, a mood tracker, and simple self-care, while more complex activities should be split into smaller steps. They receive brief, maximum 15-min weekly calls, or messages from e-helpers. Ehelpers are supervised non-specialists trained to provide emotional support and motivation throughout the program (18). E-helpers follow preset support templates, guides, and protocols to deliver their service. In an introductory call, they set an "oral contract" with participants to motivate them to respond to their contacts and to commit to the sessions and activities to maximize their benefits. Ehelpers then follow up with them weekly, as per the agreed method of contact (phone call or message support).

SbS was tested and delivered by NMHP at the Ministry of Public Health in Lebanon. One thousand two hundred and forty-nine participants were recruited through social media and outreach methods and were included in the study upon completing online self-assessments and scoring above the cut of score on depression and functioning (37, 38). Recruitment took place between December 2019 and June 2020.

Data collection and procedures

We conducted 34 Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) with study participants, SbS staff, and external stakeholders between

TABLE 1A Overview of key informant study participants form the intervention group stratified by different stakeholder groups, study groups, completion status, nationality, and sex.

	SbS Intervention participants interview	
	Completed SbS ($n = 10$)	Dropped out SbS ($n = 4$)
Age, M (SD)	Mean 30.1 (7.47)	Mean 34.2 (10.78)
Sex, <i>n</i> (%)	Male = 3 (30%) Female = 7 (70%)	Male = 2 (50%) Female = 2 (50%)
Marital Status, <i>n</i> (%)	Single = 3 (30%) Married = 7 (70%)	Single = 2 (50%) Married = 2 (50%)
Nationality, n (%)	Lebanese = 2 (20%) Syrian = 8 (80%)	Lebanese = 1 (25%) Syrian = 3 (74%)

Dropout: study dropouts who either proactively asked to be dropped out or discontinued and did not complete the post-assessments. It's noteworthy that all the dropouts interviewed were also intervention dropouts and didn't complete the sessions.

TABLE 1B Overview of key informants stratified by different stakeholder groups, positions, and sex.

		aff and external erviewed ($n=$ 20)
	SbS project staff $(n = 7)$	External stakeholders $(n = 13)$
Sex, <i>n</i> (%)	Male = 2 (29%) Female = 5 (71%)	Male = 3 (30%) Female = 10 (70%)
Organization	National mental health programme	National mental health programme United Nations high commissioner for refugees World Health Organization Lebanon ACTED Lebanon NGO International medical corps ABAAD - Resource Center for gender equality Syrian facebook group
Position	Project coordinator Clinical supervisor E-helper	Head of program Found and director Operations manager Service development coordinator Advocacy and policy coordinator Protection advisor Protection officer National officer for noncommunicable diseases and mental health Mental health Coordinator Facebook group admin

September 2020 and January 2021. Out of the 34 KIIs, we held 14 KIIs with study participants in the intervention group who were selected following a stratified random sampling method. All participants were asked for consent to participate in the interviews by their corresponding e-helpers upon completion or dropout (Supplementary material 1). We then stratified participants by gender (male/female), nationality (Syrian/Lebanese and other populations residing in Lebanon), completion status (completer/drop-out), and preferred support method (message/call). It is noteworthy that 14 participants from the ECAU group were interviewed to understand about their perspective on the research and potential reasons for dropout or motivators for adherence, yet were not reported in this paper as the main focus is on the intervention adherence. Using the SPSS software,

10.3389/fpubh.2023.1293187

we automatically generated a random sub-sample of individuals for every variable above, and we reached out to the participants identified for an interview. All seven SbS staff members, five e-helpers, the project coordinator, and the clinical supervisor (both referred to as supervisors in the results for confidentiality), were included as key informants. For the external stakeholder group, we selected 13 key informants by convenience. These were partnering with non-governmental organizations (NGOs), project counterparts from NMHP and WHO, and outreach Syrian volunteers, who were part of the project's steering committee or helped disseminate SbS among their networks. The steering committee members contributed to designing and planning the RCTs and the SbS content through binary meetings. The e-helpers contacted the external stakeholders by phone, email, or chat, and received their consent to be contacted and interviewed. Table 1A details the distribution of study interviewees across genders, age, marital status, and nationalities. Table 1B details the information on the steering committee stakeholders interviewed by organization and position. Organizations and positions were not specified in the results to maintain confidentiality, rather referred to as external stakeholders.

The project coordinator and clinical supervisor conducted indepth interviews with the participants. An independent researcher (co-author), not part of the SbS management team or the original research trials, interviewed the study team to limit bias, as e-helpers interviewed the external stakeholders. All interviewers received a 1-h training on the semi-structured interview guides with openended questions. Interviews with SbS staff were conducted faceto-face, while those with participants and external stakeholders took place over the phone. Interviews lasted 45 min on average, all interviews were audio-recorded. The project coordinator and the independent researcher transcribed and translated them into English.

For stakeholders, a semi-structured interview guide with 13 open-ended questions explored their general feedback on SbS, the degree of acceptability and relevance of SbS to the different cultural groups in Lebanon, and its ease and feasibility. Furthermore, the guide explored unforeseen implementation challenges and recommendations for future integration into the healthcare system in Lebanon (Supplementary material 2).

For project staff, the guide consisted of 16 questions. They explored their general experience with SbS, rapport with participants, observed reasons for attrition and solutions to improve adherence, and recommendations on managing their workload, management system, supervision modality, and retention (Supplementary material 3).

The interview guide for study participants included 20 questions that examined their overall impressions on participating in the SbS research study, using a digital mental health intervention, and its perceived benefits. Questions also assessed SbS's feasibility and acceptability in Lebanon. Additionally, feedback and suggestions for improvement were collected on the content of the intervention, the rapport with the e-helpers, the registration process and assessments, and barriers and enablers for adherence to the study and the intervention (Supplementary material 4).

The first author conducted a thematic analysis of the transcripts using Nvivo 2017, following the framework approach.

This approach consisted of following pre-set themes that were generated from the interview guides, familiarizing oneself with the interview transcripts, and generating emerging codes under each theme (39). An independent researcher (co-author) who had conducted interviews with e-helpers then carried out random checking of the coding on a sample of the interviews and confirmed the validity of the codes and the thematic tree created. Key informant sub-groups were analyzed separately, data was triangulated to report commonalities and divergences in responses, and the final results were cross-checked between the two researchers. The participant subgroups were analyzed individually, before triangulating the data across groups to identify common themes and compare between the different groups. Figure 1 presents the thematic tree generated following the qualitative analysis.

Results

Acceptability

Acceptability was defined as the extent to which people would accept taking part in a research project, receiving online treatment, and committing to the notion of self-help for improvement. Overall, there was consensus among the 34 key informants that the SbS intervention was much needed, beneficial, practical, and culturally relevant for the different populations in Lebanon (Lebanese, Syrians, and other populations residing in Lebanon). Many found it innovative in the Arab context, especially considering the global shift toward online treatment post-COVID-19 pandemic. At first, three staff members displayed skepticism about the acceptability of this self-help digital intervention in Lebanon. Nevertheless, it became evident to them throughout the research that people accepted and benefited from the service. All seven staff members were confident that the SbS project could be well-received in Lebanon. They listed several promoting factors for the acceptability such as SbS provides an affordable and practical solution to the increasing demand for mental health services, there's a general acknowledgment and normalization of mental health, which enhances the helpseeking behavior of those in need, people are more sensitized and used to internet interventions, especially after COVID-19 pandemic, which makes it easier for them to accept the selfhelp digital intervention, and SbS ensures the confidentiality and privacy of users amidst the prevailing stigma around mental health. This last point was highlighted by the study whereby stigma was reported as a prevailing barrier among key informants; almost half of the study participants interviewed didn't disclose to anyone that they participated in SbS due to fear of being stigmatized.

Relevance to the target population

It was generally believed among all respondents that all cultural groups could relate to SbS and find it acceptable for them to use a digital mental health intervention. Yet, external stakeholders specified different levels of acceptability among population groups.





They noted that young adults and the tech-savvy would be more accepting of SbS than the rest. Additionally, some external stakeholders thought that displaced Syrians would accept SbS more than the Lebanese because the former are more exposed to mental health awareness and services through the humanitarian NGOs working in the field. On the other hand, four Syrian external stakeholders noted that it might take some time before the displaced populations accept such interventions delivered by the Ministry of Public Health due to the mistrust in applications and the government's intentions and agenda. Two external stakeholders believed that SbS would not be relevant to the older adults, people with low technological literacy, displaced populations with low literacy levels, migrant workers due to language barriers, people having intellectual disabilities, and people with impaired vision or hearing. Only one external stakeholder was skeptical about its uptake among people with depression because people living in difficult and worsening situations would be looking for solutions whereas the program did not offer solutions but rather techniques to cope with difficult symptoms. Figure 2 summarizes quotes on the acceptability, and relevance of SbS.

Satisfaction

Expectations

All 14 key informants in the participants' intervention group were satisfied with SbS and conveyed that it was up to or exceeded their expectations. Some revealed that they didn't have any expectations or thought at first it was spam but were then amazed by the benefits of this program. Most key informants valued confidentiality, credibility, and e-helpers' support. Only a few thought that face-to-face support would be more effective for some, while one was concerned that SbS might not be helpful due to the severity of the contextual problems experienced that highly impact the severity of the depressive symptoms. When asked about the underlying reasons for signing up for the SbS program, study participants' responses included shock experienced following the Beirut explosion, struggling with the deteriorating financial situation and unemployment, lack of services available, fear of contracting COVID-19 in face-to-face support, divorce, and rape by their husband.

Intervention content Story and illustrations

All key informant study participants in the intervention group liked the story and related to the characters and the realism of the events and symptoms. Most of them appreciated being able to select their preferred character and storyline. The cultural relevance of the characters, illustrations, and storylines was highly praised by most respondents. E-helpers also confirmed that their users conveyed,

story content and illustrations and found them very relatable. Several areas of improvement were identified by the e-helpers and participants. Two e-helpers considered the illustrations to be a bit childish although no negative comments were received from the participants on this matter. E-helpers also felt that repetitiveness in the storyline would be a barrier to adherence to the program, especially for people with depression. One e-helper felt that the Syrian users had more serious problems than the story could offer. For example, one Syrian female participant couldn't relate to the social support exercise as she expressed that women in Arab culture are taught to keep their feelings to themselves and not reach out for help or cry in front of anyone. Another Syrian participant felt ashamed to share her feelings but was relieved to find them in the story.

during support sessions, that they benefited from and enjoyed the

Two e-helpers mentioned that users preferred and applied the sessions that included fewer and simple exercises, while those that included multiple exercises and more complex and social activities were reported to be overwhelming, especially to those with social anxiety.

Activities and tools

Most of the study participants interviewed and all e-helpers conveyed that their favorite exercise was "slow breathing" because it was easy to implement and had direct and tangible benefits on users. Participants reported that they practiced the breathing exercise before sleeping to help relieve their anxiety and insomnia, while others used it to calm down when distressed upon encountering a stressful event. Both males and females resorted to it to manage their stress and anger during COVID-19 quarantine times. One participant voiced that the exercise was difficult to apply at first, but with practice, it became easier.

The second most preferred feature, according to most key informant participants, was the "mood tracker," which was described as a friendly way to track and notice their feelings and mood. Most users adhered to it regularly after receiving the push notifications or even without any reminders. They noted down all their moods by selecting the relevant emojis, whether happy, sad, or angry, while a few said that they didn't use it when feeling down or angry.

Among other preferred activities were the "small self-care activities" exercise (e.g., walking, drinking tea, listening to music, etc...), the "gratitude list" (list of the things in life one is grateful for), and "the positive self-talk exercise" (being kind to oneself and avoiding self-blame through encouraging words). The benefits of these activities were sensed by some participants only after finishing the program, or upon being subjected to negative talk by their surroundings. Other study participants reported benefiting from the "listing the warning signs" activity, especially among those who experienced burnout in their jobs. Only one key informant participant mentioned that he didn't use the gratitude list because he didn't understand what to write in it.

The exercise for helping the management of more challenging regular tasks, which consisted of dividing a "big task" into small steps and planning and scheduling them in a calendar, received mixed reviews from key informant study participants. Some revealed that they learned how to divide big tasks into smaller steps and plan for them ahead of time, whereas others found it difficult to apply. Participants who used to be active or had a hobby in the past found it easier to regain their activity than those who had to integrate a whole new activity into their daily life. Suggested complex activities were thought to be overwhelming and timeconsuming or not feasible during COVID-19 times as most of them entailed outdoor activities. Nonetheless, some users valued their importance once they had finished the program.

Features

The audio recording feature of the intervention (the application content was fully audio recorded) was considered an important feature by almost two-thirds of the key informant study participants who used it. They reported that the recordings helped them stay focused, engaged, and interested in the program, they calmed them down and made them feel that the intervention was more personalized and humane, and they were very convenient for those who couldn't or didn't like to read. Among those who didn't use the audio feature, the common reasons reported were privacy concerns and not wanting anyone to listen, a matter of preference and better focus when reading, or because they assumed it would be a voice of a robot and not of a real person. Figure 3 reports quotes on satisfaction with Step-by-Step.

Delivery model

Support provided

All 14 key informant participants from the intervention group appreciated the support provided by the e-helpers and considered it an important motivation for them to complete the program. The majority mentioned that they wouldn't have benefited as

	"I encouraged one lady I know who is going through a lot in her life to enter the App, few weeks later she called me and said I was dead and now I feel alive after enrolling in this service; if I didn't have SbS I would have definitely caused harm to myself by now or committed suicide. She said that the exercises helped her be socially active again and meet new friends." (Syrian outreach volunteer) "From my experience, I noticed how many people don't want emotional support, they just want their problems to be solved" (Stakeholder, Syrian outreach volunteer)
Ac	tivities:
A A A	"During the Beirut explosion, when blood was running on my head, I started breathing slowly. I understand now the importance of these exercises" (Intervention, Female, Syrian) "Social support and positive self-talk: I didn't use them during the intervention but I noticed them at a later stage. I used to make notes on the topic, which I considered to be very helpful." (Intervention, Female, Lebanese) "The simple exercises are nice because they address the topic of self-care. People forget about self-care. We do not give a lot of attention to ourselves in this community. We look after others. We are very busy at work." (Supervisor 1) "If there were no audio files, I might not have used the app. I felt it was more personalized and calming []. I felt like I was directly being spoken to" (Intervention, Female, Lebanese)
	 "The story was exciting, and I used to wait eagerly for the next session. I related mostly to the thoughts and feelings he had (being isolated, feeling depressed and feeling hopelessness)" (Intervention, Male, Lebanese) "A person who has depression might feel annoyed when storylines are being repeated" (e-helper 4). "I really enjoyed the story. I hope you develop it further. For example the issue of homelessness and the conversation about the pressures in life. We are struggling in Lebanon because we are not living in our own homes. We suffer whenever it rains or snows. I hope you refine the programme and make it more relevant" (Intervention, Female, Syrian).

much from the intervention without the e-helper support. This was validated by most of the staff. Participants especially valued the great listening skills, the problem-solving approach, the safe space provided, and the punctuality of e-helpers. All key informant participants in the intervention group thought that SbS wouldn't work properly without the e-helpers' support because it would be too impersonal. According to one of the supervisors, the specificity of the culture in Lebanon promotes the e-helpers' role because people need to talk to someone about their problems and this is by far their preferred component. Overall, key informant participants were satisfied with the time and frequency of the support which was 15 min per week.

E-helpers' training, management, and supervision

E-helpers viewed the 5-day training received at the beginning as very beneficial yet condensed. Nevertheless, they reported that the training content about depression and the therapeutic approaches was found to be generic and not tailored enough to the realities of the local context. The preparatory phase, in the beginning, consisted of \sim 300 h (1½ months) of on-the-job role plays, trained to use the protocols and the support templates. It was reported to be crucial in equipping them with the knowledge and skills needed to provide support. Work protocols were comprehensive yet lacked a section about implementation changes and potential risks encountered in the local context.

As for the caseload and work modality, e-helpers conveyed that their workload fluctuated starting with peaks followed by low periods, based on recruitment rates of participants. They considered the 4-h shift a fair amount of time to support six participants instead of eight, as originally designed. E-helpers reported that on average they needed more than the allocated 30 min to support every person and write the case notes, and to have some spare time to prepare for their support contacts and conduct administrative tasks. Additionally, e-helpers preferred to work from the office instead of from home during the COVID-19 pandemic because they benefited from face-to-face peer support and knowledge exchange. They felt a sense of belonging which increased their motivation to work. As for the duration of the calls, it was noted that at the beginning, calls and messages took much longer than 15 min (\sim 30 min to 1 h). Nonetheless, with training and further refining of the support messages templates, e-helpers were able to stick to the time range. Everyone agreed that 15-min a week was very adequate for this type of support.

With regards to management and supervision, e-helpers reported that the weekly group supervisions were very beneficial whereby they allowed information exchange with the circular round of feedback. Two e-helpers suggested that the supervision could be improved by in-depth discussions of one or two cases instead of covering all cases during every meeting. They also suggested getting optional individual supervision occasionally. The two supervisors mentioned that fidelity checks, weekly meetings, one-on-one calls, and reviewing case notes and messages were all very important for quality assurance and performance improvement. Similarly, the very safe and open work environment fostered a constructive learning space for team members. For the supervisors, the main challenge encountered, in quality assurance and conducting fidelity checks, was when it was done remotely over the phone during the COVID-19 pandemic (when e-helpers worked from home). Several challenges impeded the proper supervision of the calls such as internet problems and time conflicts between the clinical supervisor and the e-helpers' contact sessions.

Uptake

Intervention usage and adherence

Most of the key informant participants in the intervention group disclosed that they had used SbS either every day or two to three times per week at the most. Participants mostly used it at night before sleeping or in the morning upon receiving a notification to input their mood. Two participants mentioned that they opened the app whenever they felt upset. One participant revealed that she didn't use SbS much at first but then when she noticed her improvement, she started using it more often, around three times a week. Another person still revisited the story after completing the program while all the other informants mentioned that they still applied the "slow breathing exercise," the simple "selfhelp activities," and the "behavioral activation techniques" in their everyday life.

Barriers of adherence

Intervention usability

The most common issues raised by the study participants, confirmed by e-helpers, were struggling with the slow internet, difficulty in setting their username and password, forgetting their passwords after logging out, the two-step authentication, lack of space to download the app, forgetting to log in upon turning off notifications in the app, changing phones, forgetting how to download the app (mostly among Syrians), and having old phones (which caused problems with the SbS software). E-helpers also mentioned that the technical issues and bugs faced at the beginning of the trial were impeding their work. They reported that it was very time-consuming for them to test and report these bugs, and to tailor their support templates to clarify all this to the users. One e-helper mentioned that some population groups encountered more difficulties while using the app than others, namely the Syrian population and older adults. E-helpers found that the back-end office of the platform was not very easy to use, and two staff members were concerned that the app would be easily outdated as compared to apps developed in the private sector. E-helpers also noticed that users who chose message support became more inactive and unresponsive as compared to those who opted for phone calls. This was validated by one participant who stressed the importance of phone calls for motivation, engagement, and effectiveness of support compared to messages.

User-related barriers

Among the intervention group, the vast majority of the key informants as well as the e-helpers mentioned that they dropped out because of their busy lifestyle. One user who completed SbS revealed that she was about to drop out but she motivated herself to continue, while another speculated that some people might just feel better and discontinue for that reason. Staff members considered the main inhibitor to users' adherence was signing up for the wrong motives such as getting compensation instead of getting treatment.

Enabling factors

Intervention design and engagement

Among the main enabling factors for using SbS mentioned by key informant participants in the intervention group, were the simplicity and user-friendliness of the app/web design, the soothing and relaxing colors, the diversity of the characters that users could relate to and identify with, and the very fast response to any technical problems encountered. Furthermore, the engagement through push notifications and the mood tracker served as reminders according to most intervention group key informants. Most Lebanese participants and staff mentioned that the calls and WhatsApp message reminders from e-helpers helped them to adhere to the intervention. Another factor mentioned by the staff was the "oral contract" that was set between the e-helpers and the intervention group participants, where the latter pledged to commit to the program and not exceed the limited number of contact sessions.

User-related factors

A small minority of the respondents, both from the Lebanese and Syrian groups, attributed their retention to their inner motivation and their perceived benefit of the free treatment.

Research procedures

The financial compensation for participating in the research was mentioned as a very effective incentive among most Syrian respondents and one Lebanese respondent. Furthermore, most respondents highly valued dividing the compensations into three installments instead of handing them in one bulk at the end of the research, as was done in the previous research phases.

Figure 4 details quotes about the delivery model and the uptake of Step-by-Step.

Delivery model:

E-helpers' support provided:

- "By the third time, I was eagerly waiting for her call. I liked that she listened a lot and supported me in my thinking and decision-making process" (Intervention, Female, Syrian).
- "Very few users will benefit from the stand-alone application" (e-helper 1).

Training, management, supervision:

- "I think the initiation phase was really good preparation because of all the role plays we did which were great. I think all volunteers or interns should get a month of initiation, like we did." (e-helper 2)
- "When we started, calls used to take 30 minutes and messaging would take an hour or two (to fix the template, answer, and so on). When we created templates for everything and when the templates had been amended, it started taking me 6 minutes to fill in the blanks and send my messages." (e-helper 1)
- "You sometimes feel that you do not have a specific user that you want to speak about or that there is a specific problem that you need help with." (e-helper 1)

Uptake:

Intervention usage and adherence:

"At first, not much because I wasn't convinced. Then when I felt sad.. but after 2 weeks, I felt I was making progress and I was learning. I felt that someone was helping me. So I used it 3 times a week" (Intervention, Female, Syrian).

Barriers:

"I liked the program a lot and I benefited from it a lot. I did 3 sessions and I stopped because of a lack of WIFI. For a while, I used to go to my neighbour to use the wifi but then I couldn't" (Intervention, Female, Syrian, Dropout).

Enabling factors:

- "Receiving a call from the e-helper is key. When I downloaded the app I filled in the basic information then I forgot about it; until the e-helper called me a week later. I got motivated. I committed" (Intervention, Male, Lebanon).
- "I know many users because they received the "mood input" notification were more inclined to adhere, and use the app" (e-helper 2)
- Syrians especially preferred the WhatsApp reminders to the chat reminders. We then realized that most participants that did not answer through the app, because they couldn't log in anymore" (e-helper 2).

FIGURE 4

Quotes from key informants on the delivery model and uptake within Step-by-Step.

Sustainability of the service

E-helpers' modality

Key informant staff and external stakeholders were asked about their perception of the sustainability of the e-helper's modality in the long run, beyond the research setting. About half of the staff members envisioned that the volunteering system could work with the creation of a flexible shift schedule, thorough supervision, a culture to promote humanitarian values, a sense of belonging, and a focus on professional development. A minority of staff thought



that a volunteering e-helper model would not be sustainable because it would be too draining for e-helpers and would require commitment. Another small proportion of staff suggested an internship model whereby university psychology students could be e-helpers who complete a certain number of hours in the SbS program. With regards to the internship model, one supervisor raised concerns that interns might be more motivated to fill the required number of hours for their credits than provide support to users and that there might be confusion between clinical work and basic support, especially if the interns are psychology students.

For all external stakeholders, the volunteering model was thought to be problematic because of the high risk of turnover which would jeopardize the continuity of care provided within the SbS service. Also, the e-helpers shift times are within normal working hours which might pose a limitation for the volunteers to find other jobs and hence increase the risk of turnover.

Challenges of sustaining Step-by-Step in Lebanon

External stakeholders considered the feasibility of scaling up and sustaining SbS in Lebanon using two different angles: contextual and project-related. Contextually, SbS was deemed feasible and practical to use even in the most remote settings because of the flexibility it allows in terms of time and place of usage. Nevertheless, some mentioned that the difficulty to secure an internet connection or access to smartphones, among people of low economic status or living in rural areas, might pose a barrier to downloading the application, noting that using it doesn't require internet access all the time. Other challenges listed by stakeholders were stigma, lack of awareness about mental health and self-care, the possible resistance to receiving online support, and the competing priorities related to livelihood.

Project-related challenges included difficulty in securing funding to run the intervention in the long run and to sustain the e-helper service with the high turnover expected. Additionally, there was a risk foreseen by some external stakeholders related to the surge of competing self-help programs that would be launched before scaling SbS. Furthermore, Syrian outreach stakeholders raised a concern about the absence of monetary incentives for users upon scale-up which might demotivate people to sign up or complete the intervention. Instead, they proposed focusing on the gained benefits of this intervention. Quotes on the sustainability theme are reported in Figure 5.

Discussion

This qualitative assessment evaluated the acceptability, relevance, feasibility, and uptake of the digital mental health intervention SbS in an LMIC, Lebanon, among the Lebanese population, and the displaced Syrians. Promoting factors and barriers to the uptake were explored and recommendations of the content, delivery approach, research methods, and implementation beyond the research setting were generated. The most important findings are discussed below.

The first research question was about assessing whether SbS is considered acceptable, relevant, and beneficial among the Lebanese and Syrians in Lebanon. It was evident throughout this qualitative assessment that this was true for the Lebanese and the displaced Syrians with depression. With the deteriorating mental health of the population at large, due to the multiple humanitarian and economic crises and the worsening living conditions in Lebanon, the need for accessible, feasible, evidence-based, and free-of-charge mental health services is evident. Refugees in particular are highly prone to distress and common mental health disorders due to the displacement and stressors they endure (30, 31). Findings suggest that SbS might address some of the core barriers to seeking adequate mental health care among the displaced and host populations. It created access for people who would normally not have been able to get treatment due to stigma, lack of services, increased poverty levels, social distancing regulations, and the fuel shortage crises (23, 24, 32). As discussed by key informants, SbS was expected to tend to the needs of a big portion of the population such as young adults, the tech-savvy, the literate, and those with access to smartphones. It was also expected to be more acceptable and trusted by those who are exposed to mental health awareness, hence the need to increase mental health literacy among those residing in Lebanon to promote the acceptability and uptake of digital interventions (2, 11). Nonetheless, there is no "one solution fits all," and digital interventions will not be accessible to everyone.

It is thus recommended to integrate SbS in a system with a mix of evidence-based services in face-to-face format or other outreach methods and material, accessible to those who don't use the digital platforms for treatment.

This paper also sheds light on the exercises and features that were mostly accepted, perceived as beneficial, and feasible to apply by the participants. Straightforward techniques seemed to be more accepted than more complex and multi-step exercises among Lebanese and Syrian participants of the SbS intervention in Lebanon. Participants found those exercises easy to grasp and apply and were able to see tangible and direct benefits after practicing them. Those exercises included small "self-care activities," the "breathing exercise," a "gratitude list," and "positive self-talk."

In contrast, managing the "more challenging daily activities" that included several smaller steps and layers, the calendar scheduling, and the social activities that involved effort and reaching out to others, were perceived as more complicated to apply. These findings are relevant to consider when designing digital self-help treatments as they could impact the usability of the intervention, and the motivation to complete it (2, 11).

Another important consideration regarding the usability and uptake of digital interventions is that the real impact might be difficult to track or evaluate. Many users mentioned that they didn't input their activities online as some found the calendar and the interactive part of the platform complex. This was validated by the usage metrics generated in previous research phases, where most respondents didn't input the challenging daily activities into the online interactive platform (22). Yet, throughout this evaluation, we learned that some used these techniques offline on their personal agendas or offline calendars or implemented them in their daily life after completing the program. This finding suggests that there might be a greater impact of digital intervention on users that is not properly depicted in quantitative studies or in the dropout rates reported as it cannot be documented in the application. It further suggests the importance of understanding existing user behavior and ensuring applications are as user-friendly and easy to use as possible.

The second research question focused on assessing the uptake of SbS in Lebanon and uncovering the main enabling factors and barriers for retaining participants in the research study and preventing further dropout from the intervention. High dropout is not a unique problem to SbS; research highlights the low uptake of digital interventions and smartphone apps despite the wide use of smartphones and the internet globally and in LMICs (1). Studies have shown that dropout rates can reach up to 52% during sign-up to digital interventions, 78% during the treatment phase, and 18% during follow-ups (12). SbS was not an exception, with high dropout rates, of 46.2% for Syrians and 65.1% for Lebanese, witnessed during the RCTs (23, 24). This paper described the set of challenges related to the SbS digital intervention that hindered the retention of users. In congruence with other implementation studies on digital mental health interventions, barriers to adherence and uptake were categorized as intervention-related, researchrelated, and user-related (2, 11). At the intervention level, many problems in the usability and bugginess of the application were revealed in the SbS intervention. Although the appealing design, features, colors, and easy navigation in the application were highly praised by users, the poor usability and bugginess of the application was a major barrier to adherence to the experience of the users and that of the e-helpers. Challenges included forgetting the passwords, lack of available space to download the app, slow internet connectivity, bugginess, and technical problems encountered, among others. The poor usability of the digital interventions is highlighted in the literature as a common variable affecting dropout, hence the importance to design user-centric interventions that provide a smooth and seamless journey for the users (2, 12, 33). Other barriers encountered were researchrelated and included demotivation to fill the long and burdening assessments and the time taken to enter data and sign-up for the intervention. This was also consistent with the literature on digital mental health research and dropout associated with the burden of assessments (2, 11, 12). Although assessments could be shortened during the scale-up, they could still pose a problem in digital research trials. The latter could be long, tedious, and repetitive, which could cause people to get impatient and stop answering them. It's thus worth exploring the modality of administering them and pacing them into smaller chunks or adding motivational messages for the users to complete them.

Additionally, user-related barriers were debunked during this evaluation, such as lack of inner motivation or perceived benefit, competing priorities, and busy lifestyles, among others. The lack of motivation is a key symptom of depression as highlighted in the literature and thus more motivation and engagement are required, as well as ensuring that the intervention is brief and efficient (2). This underlines the important role of the e-helpers' guidance and motivation and the need to preserve it for scale-up. On the other hand, perceived benefit of the intervention and high digital literacy were highlighted as user-related factors that promote adherence in a recent systematic review (33). This was comparable to the results depicted in the Step-by-Step evaluation.

In terms of promoting factors related to the intervention, our evaluation results showed that participants valued the cultural relevance of the content and its relatability. This could imply that the extensive user-testing and cultural adaptation previously conducted led to a user-friendly design and relevant content (story, illustrations, local idioms, examples, and exercises) (19). These were crucial to address the poor usability and the lack of usercentric approaches that were identified as barriers to adherence in different studies (2). Other promoting factors for adherence were related to the delivery model and follow-up approach in SbS. This entailed engaging push notifications and automated reminders, as well as active follow-up by the e-helpers. These engagement factors of the digital intervention and the team are highlighted in the literature as a best practice to engage users and retain them (11, 33). Participants in the intervention group praised the important role of the e-helpers in motivating them, supporting them, and getting them to commit to the program through the "oral contract" in the introductory call. Positive feedback and gratitude messages are recognized as promoting factors for adherence to digital interventions (11). From a research perspective, the phone credit compensations given for participation to cover the internet data costs were mentioned as an effective incentive among Syrians. They highlighted the importance of receiving smaller installments of compensation at several points upon completion of the pre, post, and follow-up assessments, instead of getting one lump sum upon completion at 5 months as was done in previous phases. The paced installments served as reminders and incentives for them to continue and helped them better manage their data consumption in using the application. Due to the worsening financial situation and the harsh conditions endured, taking part in the research might be a way to receive financial compensation. This finding is worth exploring as a best practice during research projects. Yet, it is noteworthy that in the scale-up model, there won't be any financial compensation. Hence the need to manage expectations, ensure internet access, and stress the other benefits of the program such as the free treatment concept.

The third research question investigated the challenges and recommended modalities for sustaining SbS in Lebanon. Despite the acknowledgment of the need, relevance, and benefits of SbS among the Lebanese and the displaced populations in Lebanon, many concerns and challenges were foreseen by different stakeholders in maintaining the intervention in the long run. The barriers identified both at the project and contextual levels were retaining staff amidst the increasing brain drain, securing sustainable funds to cover the running costs of the intervention amidst competing international priorities, and accessing smartphones and the Internet in light of a deteriorating infrastructure and a severe economic crisis in Lebanon (34). The current humanitarian crisis presents different types of requirements for the sustainability of digital mental health interventions with minimal guidance. For instance, Lebanon witnessed a doubled increase in unemployment rates between 2019 and 2022 and an increase in brain drain (35, 36). Consequently, the volunteering model of the e-helpers, previously planned, might not be practical during an economic crisis where young adults and fresh graduates would tend to look for paid internships or job opportunities instead of volunteering for free. Different scenarios such as employment models or internship opportunities would need further exploration for the scale-up phase. Similarly, securing international funds and exploring local modalities for sustaining SbS as a governmental free-of-charge service is crucial for the maintenance of the service. The recommendations in Supplementary material 5 hold crucial suggestions for the maintenance, sustainability, and integration of SbS in the mental health care system in Lebanon amidst this volatile phase.

Study limitations

The main limitation of this study was the difficulty to reach people who dropped out to garner more feedback and recommendations. These participants were unresponsive to the contacts of the study team. Another limitation was the possible bias generated during the interviews since most of the interviewers were affiliated with SbS directly or indirectly. Finally, the discrepancy of interview methods for SbS staff (face-to-face) and SbS participants and external stakeholders (phone) paused a limitation to the methodology.

What this study adds

The potential of digital mental health interventions is underresearched in LMICs among vulnerable groups and populations affected by adversities. This qualitative study helps bridge this gap by providing an insight into the uptake, acceptability, and feasibility of a digital mental health intervention in a LMIC setting, among vulnerable and displaced populations. By taking a closer look into the users, staff, and stakeholders' perspectives, this research uncovered significant barriers and enabling factors for the adherence and uptake of digital mental health interventions in such settings. Findings included crucial considerations and best practices for the implementation and scale-up of Step-by-Step in Lebanon. This paper's findings complement the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness evaluation of SbS and provide practical feedback and recommendations to ensure a proper uptake and successful implementation of a user-centered service. Researchers and project managers can benefit from the findings in this paper to make use of the design, implementation, and scale-up of digital interventions under challenging settings.

Conclusion

Digital mental health interventions have great potential in improving the quality and accessibility of mental health services in low-and-middle-income countries, considering their practical use, easy dissemination, and low cost. Given their proven effectiveness, high hopes exist for these interventions to bridge the mental health treatment gap for people in need. Nevertheless, their uptake remains low, and adherence to online treatment is widely documented as a universal challenge. Research about the key barriers and enabling factors for their feasibility and acceptability among vulnerable groups, displaced populations, and those affected by adversities in low-resource settings is still limited. This qualitative evaluation analyzed the acceptability and feasibility of a digital mental health intervention for depression among Lebanese and Syrian displaced populations exposed to adversities in Lebanon. It also investigated the reasons for the high dropout encountered and shared the promoting factors for adherence. Recommendations and best practices were generated and aimed to guide the scale-up of SbS in Lebanon. The study's findings and recommendations can help explore how digital mental health interventions could be leveraged to improve access to care among people with mental disorders in low-resource settings. Findings are relevant to researchers, implementers, and policymakers to ensure a successful and sustained roll-out of such interventions upon scale-up.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because, they contain unique information or a combination of answers that might reveal the identity of the interviewees and could risk breaching their confidentiality. The consequences of such breaches are rated as severe for the users specifically. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to JAR, jinane.abiramia@gmail.com.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by WHO Research Ethics Review Committee and St Joseph's University

Ethics Committee in Beirut (CEHDF 862). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin because vulnerable groups interviewed included adults living in Lebanon and suffering from depression, as well as Syrian refugees. All participants displayed autonomy and capacity to provide written online consent through the app platform upon signing up and through the messaging platform before conducting the interview, and once again orally at the beginning of the phone interview (audio-recorded).

Author contributions

JAR: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing original draft, Writing-review & editing. RAH: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Writing-review & editing. PN: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing-review & editing. PC: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writingreview & editing. KC: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writingreview & editing. EvH: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writingreview & editing. EH: Conceptualization, Project administration, Writing-review & editing. EZ: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Supervision, Writing-review & editing. MS: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing-review & editing. REC: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing-review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was funded by the Research for Health in Humanitarian Crises (R2HC, managed by Elhra) and Fondation d'Hartcourt.

Acknowledgments

We thank our colleagues at Fondation d'Harcourt—Gaia Montauti and Sara Pedersini for their continuous support. We also thank the following colleagues, Ahmad Akar, Gaelle Fahed, Layal Hamze, Maria Hayek, Sally Khoury, and Samyah Awada for their contributions to the data collection and transcription of the key informant interviews.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Author disclaimer

The views expressed in this article are the sole responsibility of the authors alone and do not necessarily represent the views, decisions, or policies of the institutions with which they are affiliated.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 1293187/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 1 Informed consent form - study participants

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 2 Interview guide with external stakeholders.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 3 Interview guide with staff.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 4 Interview guide with study participants.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 5 Table 2. recommendations.

References

1. Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Araya R, Marsch LA, Unützer J, Patel V, et al. Digital technology for treating and preventing mental disorders in low-income and middle-income countries: a narrative review of the literature. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2017) 4:486–500. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30096-2

2. Torous J, Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Firth J, Christensen H. Clinical review of user engagement with mental health smartphone apps: evidence, theory and improvements. *Evid Based Mental Health*. (2018) 21:116–9. doi: 10.1136/eb-2018-102891

3. Whiteford HA, Ferrari AJ, Degenhardt L, Feigin V, Vos T. The global burden of mental, neurological and substance use disorders: an analysis from the global burden of disease study 2010. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:116820. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0116820

4. Arjadi R, Nauta MH, Chowdhary N, Bockting CL. A systematic review of online interventions for mental health in low and middle income countries: a neglected field. *Glob Mental Health.* (2015) 2:10. doi: 10.1017/gmh.2015.10

5. Latulippe K, Hamel C, Giroux D. Social Health Inequalities and eHealth: a literature review with qualitative synthesis of theoretical and empirical studies. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e136. doi: 10.2196/jmir.6731

6. Meurk C, Leung J, Hall W, Head BW, Whiteford H. Establishing and governing E-mental health care in Australia: a systematic review of challenges and a call for policy-focussed research. *J Med Internet Res.* (2016) 18:e10. doi: 10.2196/jmir.4827

7. Whitfield G, Williams C. If the evidence is so good—why doesn't anyone use them? A national survey of the use of computerized cognitive behaviour therapy. *Behav Cogn Psychother.* (2004) 32:57–65. doi: 10.1017/S1352465804001031

8. Andersson G, Cuijpers P. Internet-based and other computerized psychological treatments for adult depression: a meta-analysis. *Cogn Behav Ther.* (2009) 38:196–205. doi: 10.1080/16506070903318960

9. Cuijpers P, Noma H, Karyotaki E, Cipriani A, Furukawa TA. Effectiveness and acceptability of cognitive behavior therapy delivery formats in adults with depression. *J Am Med Assoc Psychiatry*. (2019) 76:700–7. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0268

10. Moock J. Support from the internet for individuals with mental disorders: advantages and disadvantages of e-mental health service delivery. *Front Publ Health.* (2014) 2:65. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00065

11. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res. (2005) 7:e11. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11

12. Melville KM, Casey LM, Kavanagh DJ. Dropout from internetbased treatment for psychological disorders. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2010) 49:455–71. doi: 10.1348/014466509X472138

13. van Ballegooijen W, Cuijpers P, van Straten A, Karyotaki E, Andersson G, Smit JH, et al. Adherence to internet-based and face-to-face cognitive behavioural therapy for depression: a meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:100674. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100674

14. Watson NL, Mull KE, Heffner JL, McClure JB, Bricker JB. Participant recruitment and retention in remote eHealth Intervention Trials: methods and lessons learned from a large randomized controlled trial of two web-based smoking interventions. *J Medical Internet Res.* (2018) 20:10351. doi: 10.2196/preprints.10351

15. Martínez P, Rojas G, Martínez V, Lara MA, Pérez JC. Internet-based interventions for the prevention and treatment of depression in people living in developing countries: a systematic review. *J Affect Disord.* (2018) 234:193–200. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.02.079

16. Wozney L, Newton AS, Gehring ND, Bennett K, Huguet A, Hartling L, et al. Implementation of Emental Health Care: viewpoints from key informants from organizations and agencies with eHealth Mandates. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak.* (2017) 17:78. doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0474-9

17. World Health Organization. Scalable Psychological Interventions for People in Communities Affected by Adversity: A New Area of Mental Health and Psychosocial Work at WHO. Geneva: World Health Organization (1970). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/254581 (accessed August 12, 2023).

18. Carswell K, Harper-Shehadeh M, Watts S, van't Hof E, Abi Ramia J, Heim E, et al. Step-by-step: a new who digital mental health intervention for depression. *mHealth.* (2018) 4:1. doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.08.01

19. Abi Ramia J, Harper Shehadeh M, Kheir W, Zoghbi E, Watts S, Heim E, et al. Community cognitive interviewing to inform local adaptations of an E-mental health intervention in Lebanon. *Glob Mental Health*. (2018) 5:29. doi: 10.1017/gmh.2018.29

20. Harper Shehadeh MJ, Abi Ramia J, Cuijpers P, El Chammay R, Heim E, Kheir W, et al. Step-by-step, an E-mental health intervention for depression: a mixed methods pilot study from Lebanon. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:986. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00986

21. van 't Hof E, Heim E, Abi Ramia J, Burchert S, Cornelisz I, Cuijpers P, et al. Evaluating the effectiveness of an E-mental health intervention for people living in Lebanon: protocol for two randomized controlled trials. *JMIR Res Protocol.* (2021) 10:21585. doi: 10.2196/21585

22. Heim E, Ramia JA, Hana RA, Burchert S, Carswell K, Cornelisz I, et al. Stepby-step: feasibility randomised controlled trial of a mobile-based intervention for depression among populations affected by adversity in Lebanon. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 24:100380. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100380

23. Cuijpers P, Heim E, Ramia JA, Burchert S, Carswell K, Cornelisz I, et al. Guided Digital Health Intervention for depression in Lebanon: randomised trial. *Evid Based Mental Health.* (2022) 25:e1. doi: 10.1136/ebmental-2021-300416

24. Cuijpers P, Heim E, Abi Ramia J, Burchert S, Carswell K, Cornelisz I, et al. Effects of a WHO-guided digital health intervention for depression in Syrian refugees in Lebanon: a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS Med.* (2022) 19:1004025. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1004025

25. UNHCR. Data 2. (2018). Available online at: https://data2.unhcr.org/en/situations/syria/location/71 (accessed April 10, 2018).

26. Karam EG, Mneimneh ZN, Karam AN, Fayyad JA, Nasser SC, Chatterji S, et al. Prevalence and treatment of mental disorders in Lebanon: a national epidemiological survey. *Lancet.* (2006) 367:1000–6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68427-4

27. MOPH. Mental Health and Substance Use-Prevention, Promotion, and Treatment-Situation Analysis and Strategy for Lebanon 2015–2020. (2015). Available online at: https://www.moph.gov.lb/userfiles/files/Programs%26Projects/ MentalHealthProgram/MentalHealthStrategy-Eng%20-2015.pdf (accessed August 12, 2023).

28. Abouzeid M, Habib RR, Jabbour S, Mokdad AH, Nuwayhid I. Lebanon's humanitarian crisis escalates after the Beirut Blast. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:1380-2. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31908-5

29. Burchert S, Alkneme MS, Bird M, Carswell K, Cuijpers P, Hansen P, et al. Usercentered app adaptation of a low-intensity E-mental health intervention for Syrian refugees. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 9:663. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00663

30. Turrini G, Purgato M, Acarturk C, Anttila M, Au T, Ballette F, et al. Efficacy and acceptability of psychosocial interventions in asylum seekers and refugees: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2019) 28:376–88. doi: 10.1017/S2045796019000027

31. Patanè M, Ghane S, Karyotaki E, Cuijpers P, Schoonmade L, Tarsitani L, et al. Prevalence of mental disorders in refugees and asylum seekers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Glob Mental Health.* (2022) 2022:29. doi: 10.1017/gmh.2022.29

32. Abi Hana R, Arnous M, Heim E, Aeschlimann A, Koschorke M, Hamadeh RS, et al. Mental health stigma at primary health care centres in Lebanon: qualitative study. *Int J Mental Health Syst.* (2022) 16:533. doi: 10.1186/s13033-022-00533-y

33. Borghouts J, Eikey E, Mark G, De Leon C, Schueller SM, Schneider M, et al. Barriers to and facilitators of user engagement with digital mental health interventions: systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2021) 23:e24387. doi: 10.2196/24387

34. UNESCWA. Multidimensional Poverty in Lebanon (2019–2021): Painful Reality and Uncertain Prospects. (2021). Available online at: https://www.unescwa.org/publications/multidimensional-poverty-lebanon-2019-2021 (accessed August 12, 2023).

35. ILO. Lebanon Follow-up Labour Force Survey—January 2022: Factsheet. (2022). Available online at: https://www.ilo.org/beirut/publications/WCMS_844837/lang--en/index.htm (accessed August 12, 2023).

36. ILO. Labour Force and Household Living Conditions Survey (LFHLCS) in Lebanon 2018–2019. (2019). Available online at: https://www.ilo.org/beirut/publications/WCMS_732567/lang--en/index.htm (accessed August 12, 2023).

37. Kayrouz R, Dear BF, Karin E, Titov N. Facebook as an effective recruitment strategy for mental health research of hard to reach populations. *Internet Interv.* (2016) 4:1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.01.001

38. Ünlü Ince B, Cuijpers P, van 't Hof E, Riper H. Reaching and recruiting Turkish migrants for a clinical trial through Facebook: a process evaluation. *Internet Interv.* (2014) 1:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.05.003

39. Pope C, Ziebland S, Mays N. Qualitative research in health care: analysing qualitative data. *Br Med J.* (2000) 320:114. doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7227.114

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Silvia Simbula, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

REVIEWED BY Karina Karolina De Santis, Leibniz Institute for Prevention Research and Epidemiology (LG), Germany Federico Fraboni, University of Bologna, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Jacqueline Posselt posselt.jacqueline@mh-hannover.de

RECEIVED 10 August 2023 ACCEPTED 22 January 2024 PUBLISHED 05 February 2024

CITATION

Posselt J, Baumann E and Dierks M-L (2024) A qualitative interview study of patients' attitudes towards and intention to use digital interventions for depressive disorders on prescription. Front. Digit. Health 6:1275569. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2024.1275569

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Posselt, Baumann and Dierks. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A qualitative interview study of patients' attitudes towards and intention to use digital interventions for depressive disorders on prescription

Jacqueline Posselt^{1*}, Eva Baumann² and Marie-Luise Dierks¹

¹Institute for Epidemiology, Social Medicine and Health Systems Research, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany, ²Department of Journalism and Communication Research, Hanover University of Music, Drama and Media, Hannover, Germany

Background: Depressive disorders are an emerging public health topic. Due to their increasing prevalence, patients with depressive disorders suffer from the lack of therapeutic treatment. Digital health interventions may offer an opportunity to bridge waiting times, supplement, or even substitute in-person treatment. Among others, the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) explains that actual technology use is affected by users' behavioural intention. However, patients' perspectives on digital interventions are rarely discussed within the specific context of primary care provided by general practitioners (GP) and need further exploration.

Method: A qualitative study design with semi-structured interviews was used to explore DTx-acceptance of patients with mild or moderate depression (n = 17). The audio-recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim, coded, and thematically analysed by qualitative content analysis.

Results: Patients' *performance expectancies* reveal that DTx are not perceived as a substitute for face-to-face treatment. *Effort expectancies* include potential advantages and efforts concerning technical, motivational, and skill-based aspects. Moreover, we identified *health status* and *experience with depressive disorders* as other determinants and potential barriers to patients' DTx acceptance: Difficult stages of depression or long-time experience are perceived hurdles for DTx use. *GPs'* recommendations were just partly relevant for patients and varied according to patients' consultancy preferences. But still, GPs have a crucial role for access due to prescription. GPs' influence on patients' DTx acceptance varies between three situations: (1) pre-use for consultation, (2) pre-use for access and (3) during DTx-use. Further, GPs' guidance could be especially relevant for patients during DTx-use in routine care.

Discussion: The UTAUT-based exploration suggests that acceptance determinants should be considered independently and embedded in personal and situational aspects. DTx require a healthcare professional to prescribe or diagnose the disease, unlike other digital offerings. We identified prescription- and depression-related determinants, exceeding existing theoretical constructs. GPs' guidance can compensate for some barriers to DTx use e.g., by increasing commitment and motivational support to strengthen patients' acceptance.

Abbreviations

DTx, digital therapeutics; UTAUT, unified theory of acceptance and use of technology.

Conclusion: We argue for a multidimensional integration of acceptance determinants for further development of health technology acceptance research. Future research should specify how DTx can be integrated into routine care to strengthen user acceptance.

KEYWORDS

acceptance, digital interventions, depressive disorders, qualitative research, mental health, family medicine

1 Introduction

1.1 Depressive disorders and the burden of disease

Depressive disorders are one of the leading contributors to the burden of disease worldwide and among the most prevalent mental illnesses in Germany (1, 2). People with depression often struggle with access to mental health care and waiting times for specialist or psychotherapeutic treatment (3-6). Especially lower socioeconomic groups are underserved by outpatient psychotherapy (7, 8). Accordingly, in the German health system, general practitioners (GPs) are the first contact for health concerns for many patients with depressive disorders and essential providers of basic psychosomatic care (9, 10). Given the lack in mental health care supply, patients do not always receive treatment according to guideline recommendations (11-13). Hence, prevention and healthcare provision for depressive disorders are important subjects and tasks for public health (4, 14).

An innovative approach in mental health care that might contribute to reducing this lack of therapeutic treatment are internet-based, digital interventions (4, 15–17). The number and variety of digital health services for mental disorders is constantly increasing over the last decade (18). Digital health services for mental health include health promotion, prevention, or treatment of some disorders, e.g., by providing behavioural information to encourage patients' self-management (19, 20). Digital interventions for mental health can be applied with professional guidance to assist and follow up the use, completely self-guided by patients or as blended approaches as an additional part of face-to-face treatments (13, 16).

In 2020, Germany was the first country worldwide where specific software applications (so-called Digital Therapeutics (DTx) for "Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen" (DiGA)) became part of the German statutory health insurance services (21). DTx are defined as digital, low-risk medical devices to identify, monitor, treat or compensate for illnesses or disabilities (§33a SGB V). General characteristics include that they are for a specific medical condition such as depression, contain a therapeutic intervention, and are considered approved medical applications by regulatory bodies (22). To become temporarily or permanently listed in a DTx catalogue, digital applications have to pass a review process by the Federal Institute for Drugs and Medical Devices (BfArM) (23). Listed DTx have proven a positive medical benefit (e.g., improve health status, reduce disease duration, improve quality of life) or patient-relevant process improvements such as increased coordination, guideline treatment or adherence (24). DTx are available on prescription, patients can receive them from physicians or therapists or directly from statutory health insurance companies. Costs for available mental health DTx are covered by statutory health insurance vary between 178,50 € and 855,82 € per quarter (21). Almost 90 percent of patients in Germany across all disorders receive these prescriptions from physicians, mainly prescribed by GPs (25). Still, the recommendation of digital health interventions for people with depression or prescription of DTx in Germany is limited (26-28). Recently Löbner et al. (2022) identified simply forgetting and a shortage of time as major reasons for the little uptake of digital interventions by GPs in routine care. Users' acceptance is also a precondition for implementing digital mental programmes in routine care (29, 30), but little is known about patients' acceptance of DTx.

1.2 Acceptance of digital health interventions

The intention to use certain technologies and actual use is explained by technology acceptance models such as the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) (Davis 1989) or the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) (31, 32). The UTAUT is a consolidated model, combining behavioural intention and technology acceptance models (31). According to UTAUT, the intention to use technology and actual use depends on four determinants: Performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence and facilitating conditions, moderated by age, gender, experience and voluntariness of an individuals' use (31). Moreover, the UTAUT is used in various research disciplines and can be successfully adapted for the health sector (33, 34), but it also needs adjustments according to the specific healthcare setting (35). Thus, the theory offers a solid framework for our research interest. At the same time, there is a risk that a strong alignment with a model may contribute to its reproduction, especially in acceptance research which nearly reached a plateau (36). This means research on technology implementation has to take health systems' complexity into account. Currently, researchers use a variety of constructs to measure technology acceptance, which shows the need for a common approach in the specific domain of mental health (37, 38). According to our research interest, an explorative approach is needed to understand users' acceptance of DTx and indicate potentially

different patient-specific influences on technology acceptance within a GP setting.

Previous research on health technology acceptance focuses on the perspective of stakeholders and health professionals, showing an ambivalent acceptance of professions towards digital interventions for mental health (29, 39, 40). Moreover, in Germany GPs' acceptance of DTx seems greater compared to regular health apps (41). Patients' acceptance of health technologies in general is less studied (34), such as specifically the acceptance of digital interventions for mental health. Further, many research results generally do not sufficiently distinguish between different digital approaches in mental health or DTx and non-medical applications (42, 43). First results indicated that patients' acceptance of digital interventions for depressive disorders in Germany in general seems limited (13, 44). Factors that promote patient engagement with digital mental health interventions are rarely applied within technology acceptance models (45). Further subgroups have to be understood to achieve patient-orientation within DTx implementation (24). Hence, it is unclear whether

TABLE 1 UTAUT-Determinants	according to	the research	questions.
----------------------------	--------------	--------------	------------

UTAUT- Determinants	Determinants according to the research questions	Definition for this research
	Patients' experience	Patients' experience include patients' descriptions of their previous experiences with digital services in the context of depression.
Performance Expectancy	Performance expectancy on DTx	Performance expectancy is defined as the degree to which patients believe that DTx will be helpful for their depressive disorder.
		This category includes expectancies on potential barriers and facilitators, e.g., health condition, disease management or access to care.
Effort Expectancy	Effort expectancy on DTx	Effort expectancy is defined as the degree to which patients believe that DTx are associated with ease of use.
		This category includes expectancies on potential barriers and facilitators, e.g., literacies or design.
Social Influence Facilitating Conditions	GPs' Influence	 GPs' influence contains: 1) The perceived meaning of a GPs' DTx- recommendation for patients 2) The degree to which a patient believes his or her GP is supportive of DTx- use (e.g., with knowledge, access, or competence) This category includes expectancies on potential barriers and facilitators.
Behavioural Intention	Behavioural Intention	Behavioural intention is defined as patients' intention to use a DTx for depressive disorders.

(GPs') prescription for digital interventions impacts patients' acceptance or rejection (46). Further, it is unknown from patients' perspectives which factors affect acceptance of prescribed digital interventions.To explore patients' acceptance of DTx, we defined performance expectancies, effort expectancies and GPs' influence on DTx as determinants of DTx acceptance in accordance with UTAUT (documented in Table 1). Performance expectancy is defined as the degree to which patients believe that DTx will be helpful for their depressive disorder. Effort expectancy includes the degree to which patients believe that DTx are associated with ease of use. Primary medicine provided by GPs is often characterised by a continuous, long-standing relationship between patient and GP, a low-threshold consultation and GPs' knowledge of the psychosocial environment of their patients (47). Within a family medicine setting, GPs are both the institutional and personal point of contact for health issues and include aspects of social influence and facilitating conditions. Therefore, GPs' influence is defined as patients' interest in DTx-recommendation by GPs and the degree to which patients believe their GP is supportive of DTx-care. We chose UTAUT because it is based on the key determinants for our research objective, while its extension (UTAUT II) includes other factors, such as cost, that are less relevant in the context of our question.

We aimed to contribute to the further development of acceptance research by exploring patients' perspectives on DTx within a primary GP medicine with the following questions:

- 1) What are performance and effort expectancies encouraging or discouraging patients from the (intention to) use DTx?
- 2) What role do GPs play regarding the intention to use DTx from a patient's perspective?
- 3) What are patients' intentions to use digital interventions for depressive disorders?

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Research design

Little is known so far about patients' expectancies, intention to use and actual use of DTx for depressive disorders. Beyond technology features end-user perceptions and characteristics must be considered to achieve user-centred technologies (48). A qualitative interview design was chosen to achieve an in-depth focus on potential users, strengthening a patient-centered perspective on DTx in routine care. Therefore, we were interested in capturing patients' perspectives and experiences in everyday life, disease-specific aspects according to DTx acceptance, and particularities that may result from being prescribed by a physician. Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ, Appendix 1) were consulted to comply with quality standards in research.

2.2 Sampling and recruiting

We aimed to achieve a heterogeneous sample of patients with mild or moderate depressive disorders without current specialist or psychotherapeutic treatment in primary care provided by a

Sex	Male	6
	Female	11
Education	Middle-School degree	2
	Professional training	9
	Higher education (A-Level and university degree)	6
Depression duration	Less 1 year	3
	1-5 years	3
	Above 10 years	11

TABLE 2 Characteristics of participants.

GP. All participants had to be above the age of 18. Due to purposeful sampling, we composed variation in terms of sex, geographic distribution, current perceived health status, and disease biography [*Categories of the sampling process are documented in* Table 2]. Participants were recruited with posters and flyers in GP offices, medical counselling centres, and selfhelp facilities for people with depressive disorders. The call for participation contained the topic of the survey and information about the estimated duration of the interview. It introduced the research as part of the doctoral programme "Chronic Diseases and Health Literacy".

2.3 Data collection

The inclusion criteria were checked before the start of the interview based on participants' self-report. We used a semistructured interview guide, following the main topics (A) Experience with digital health interventions for depressive disorders, (B) Potential chances, risks, and barriers of DTx, (C) DTx within a primary medicine setting provided by GPs and (D) Participants' intention to use DTx. At the time of the interviews, less than 20 DTx were available, therefore a short video was used as stimuli material to exemplify DTx interventions for patients. In the first part of the video, we defined DTx and explained how they differ from other apps and showed the process for patients to receive them. Further, we showed the participants examples of DTx for patients with depressive disorders. These examples included product descriptions from the DTx-catalogue and images of registered DTx to illustrate topics, structure, and use of the tool. The authors developed the interview questions and pretested them by two volunteers: A patient with a chronic disease and a patient with major depression. To explore usercentered topics, open-ended questions were conducted in the interview guide. Participants could freely describe their experiences and attitudes, further questioning was used to deepen aspects relevant for the research. All interviews were carried out between January and June 2022 by the first author in German. They were conducted via video meetings, data were audio recorded, transcribed verbatim, and anonymised according to Dresing and Pehl (49). All participants gave verbal consent prior to the start of the interviews. Anonymity and confidentiality were maintained. Participants also declared informed consent for the audio recording and scientific use of the interviews by written consent form and received reimbursement (15 €) for participation. The interviewees were not known prior to the



interview. Field notes were taken during interviews to document non-verbal elements e.g., interruptions. Recorded interviews lasted between 24 and 42 min. The study has received ethical approval from the Ethics Committee of Hanover Medical University (No. 10131_BO_K_2021).

2.4 Data analysis

According to Kuckartz and Rädiker (50), a qualitative content analysis was carried out to analyse the material. A coding scheme was built deductively along the interview guide and UTAUTdeterminants and expanded within the main categories inductively during the coding process. For this purpose, all transcripts were first coded to build the coding scheme and afterwards to apply the material along the scheme. A second researcher coded the interview material (25%) independently, conflicts in coding were compared and discussed within consensus coding to ensure the unambiguity of the categories. The results are reported according to the research questions, which are based on the UTAUT-determinants (*see also* Figure 1):

- Patients' performance expectancy
- Patients' effort expectancy
- GPs' influence
- Behavioural intention to use DTx

According to the openness of qualitative research, we interpreted the acceptance determinants with an equal impact. To technically support the coding and analysis process the software MAXQDA (2022) was used. The research project was regularly presented in a qualitative research workshop where both coders participated to discuss and reflect on the procedure and interpretation of results. Relevant quotes from interview sequences were translated from German into English.

3 Results

3.1 General characteristics of study participants

A total of 17 patients with mild or moderate depressive disorders participated (*demographics are shown in* Table 2).

Eleven participants were female, eleven patients reported a depression history of above ten years, and three patients suffered from depression for less than one year. Nine participants completed professional training, while six patients had a higher education by completing an A-level or a university degree. Ten patients lived in urban or suburban areas.

Based on their experience with (prescribed) digital interventions, the sample is divided into four different user groups: Eight participants hadn't heard about DTx before the interview. Six participants who heard about it before but did not plan to use it or looked for further information, and one patient heard about it and was informed to propose it to a health professional. In the fourth group, patients had no experience with DTx but already used various other depression-specific digital services, from mood diaries to telemedicine consultations or meditation apps.

3.2 Patients' performance expectancy on DTx

Performance expectancy comprises patients' estimation on how DTx might achieve changes for the current healthcare situation. Participants reported on performance expectancies on DTx, but also compared DTx with in-person psychotherapy.

According to the participants (n = 15), DTx have a meaningful potential to bridge waiting times until patients receive appointments for further in-person treatments. During waiting times for psychological or specialist treatment, participants see a chance to increase their self-management skills. Additional support and accompaniment for "*new impulses*" (P13:48) to "*get out of the problem yourself and perhaps deal with it in a slightly different way*" (P18:29). One participant even considered DTx as a substitute for pharmaceuticals during waiting times.

Participants who were presently in good condition, described DTx as a fall-back option for difficult mental health situations in the future:

"Because imagine you're in a depressed situation and then you know in the back of your mind that you might have to wait another eight months for a treatment." (P14:48)

Some patients emphasise the emotional burden of waiting for therapeutical treatment and consider the knowledge about available alternative options as essential "*even if it's just mentally*, *to know that you have a chance.*" (P3:50). In this context, patients see further advantages as motivational support to improve coping with depressive disorders.

In contrast to general health information from the internet, seven participants experience information provided by DTx as more trustworthy and feel more secure using them and expect access to evidence-based information:

"Yes, this informative, so that you can simply read something about yourself. An information that is not somehow from Google, but medically correct." (P2:45) Further participants expect improvements on access to health care professionals' advice especially for difficult situations due to communication tools such as chat within DTx:

"So that I don't feel completely helpless and alone about it. And still, get professional help somewhere." (P6:45)

Moreover, five participants expect greater anonymity as another essential advantage of digital interventions in mental health to avoid stigmatisation. While one part of the participants shares their experiences in depressive disorders with their social environment, the other part is convinced that mental health is a topic *"you don't peddle"* (P17:78). According to the participants, admitting a mental disorder is challenging, so a tool could reduce this burden without letting friends or family know.

"That's the very point why I think the app is good: Many people can't even tell their best friends, siblings, or parents how they're feeling. So why tell a therapist all of a sudden?" (P3:58).

Apart from the performance expectations that relate to the DTx itself, participants describe disease- and healthcare-related influences that may limit performance expectations: Even though the participants expect advantages compared to unguided waiting times in routine care, none of them perceive digital health interventions as an alternative or substitute for psychotherapy or face-to-face consultation. Generally, DTx are considered to be less effective in improving health conditions than treatment in-person:

"Although I don't think I would see this as a substitute for a real conversation with a psychologist. But to bridge the time until you have a therapy place, I could imagine that it would be helpful." (P9:33).

According to some expectations, digital treatment options include a high level of standardisation. The participants perceived that depressive disorders are too complex and unique for a total standardised treatment option (n = 5):

"It is not a purposeful alternative because the psyche of everyone is simply too individual for that." (P18:41).

Besides perceived positive performance aspects, patients also have certain essential worries that could already deny the actual use or effect of those offers. According to the participants, a central barrier is the interplay between the disease and digital technologies (n = 13). Digital media are perceived as potential triggers or amplifiers for mental health issues and depression. The idea of such situations without personal and therapeutic support is a concern of the participants.

"If you know that there's a robot, I'm having a panic attack or whatever, because some thoughts are just coming up, that would be my worry, I'd say." (P10:62) Moreover, patients expect further adverse effects on their health, e.g., by too frequent use of technology or "*too much brooding*" (*P15:32*).

Another reason not to take further interest in the use of technology is the underlying therapeutic approach (n = 4). Currently, many DTx for mental diseases are based on cognitive behavioural therapy (21). Some of the more experienced patients assessed this therapy approach as not the right treatment option for themselves based on their therapeutical history:

"No. I wouldn't use it because, based on my therapeutic experience, my priority is the relationship with the person. And no app can learn that. I need a person for that." (P7:61)

Further, performance expectancies include a variety of advantages of DTx such as tools to improve self-management skills and low-threshold access to approved health information for a limited period. Overall, participants expect lower efficacy of DTx compared to face-to-face therapy. Also, worries on opposing effects limit patients' performance expectancy on DTx.

3.3 Patients' effort expectancy on DTx

Patients' performance expectancy is the degree of ease associated with using DTx for depressive disorder. Moreover, performance expectancy includes learning and operating DTx.

Participants await more flexibility using health technologies as a "low-threshold offer" (P16: 48) according to personal needs (n = 9). Especially experienced patients who used different digital interventions for mental health reported less effort in contrast to regular mental health supply (n = 11). Access to digital health intervention seems less time and energy-consuming in a lethargic period.

"Because these waiting times really drain your energy, and you don't feel like calling the fifth therapist who doesn't have an appointment for you. And this back and forth, and yes, that makes this time, I don't know this app yet, but probably more bearable." (P10:60)

Overall, additional efforts were rarely mentioned by the participants for themselves. Patients perceived little efforts or challenging factors for specific groups e.g., with less access to digital technologies or infrastructure:

"I was thinking more of (...) older people who are perhaps not that fit and perhaps don't necessarily have a mobile phone or don't have a computer or a tablet. That's really not a problem for me, but it might be for other people." (P18:51)

In addition, digital skills could cause effort for less experienced users to become familiar with DTx (n = 12). Moreover, all participants depicted a challenge to regularly use DTx independently. Personal appointments in the therapy setting are perceived to be more compulsory.

In summary, *effort expectancies* on DTx revealed ease of access to mental health care and greater convenience due to digital opportunities. Expectancies include also potential barriers for people with little digital skills or competencies to become familiar with DTx.

3.4 GPs' influence on acceptance

Due to our result, *GPs' influence* on DTx acceptance varies between three situations: for consultation, for access and after prescription in routine care.

The participants reported two different positions towards GPs' consultation: Participants who experienced a trustful relationship with their GPs, assessed GPs' recommendations as highly relevant or even essential for decisions on DTx-use.

"But I also ask the doctor how her experiences with it are so far. For example, whether she [the doctor] has a [DTx-] provider with whom she has had very good experiences with her patients so far. That would be important to me because what she says is very, very important." (P17:102)

In contrast, participants complained about the insufficient knowledge of GPs on digital interventions and mental health as marginal topics of GP training, qualification, and practice which limits the expectations on GP's recommendations (n = 9). Especially participants with experience on digital mental health interventions, experienced in single cases insufficient empathy from their GP which discourages them from addressing mental health issues.

"I don't really talk to my GP. He's a very strict traditional doctor. You go there when you have a cold, that's it." (P5:65)

Thus, patients' relevance on DTx-recommendations from GPs varies, they are overall seen as important gatekeepers regardless from participants' personal attitude towards DTx (n = 9). GPs were described as necessary for prescriptions as patients rarely get to know the offers by themselves:

"Well, I think that doctors should also offer this because you don't learn anything about it." (P4:70)

Even though DTx could be prescribed by different health professionals and received from health insurances directly, GPs are perceived as low-threshold prescribers. Therefore, GPs are seen as necessary for a prescription even though patients do not claim mandatory consultancy.

"I need the prescription. But I don't consult with her [the GP]." (P18:60)

However, patients also raise concerns about GPs not fulfilling this function. GPs being unfamiliar with digital interventions could be a hurdle for DTx recommendation or prescription in primary care. "When I talk to my GP, it's always about sick notes, medication, rehabilitation, and so on. It's not about health apps." (P8:68)

Moreover, participants being critical of the empathy and competence of their GPs on mental disorders, estimate difficulties in receiving a prescription by their GP.

"I could imagine this hurdle, I'm going to my doctor now, he might not know anything about it if you have mild depression or moderate." (P5:69)

Further, some participants liked to know earlier about the services to contact their doctor to raise awareness and receive a prescription (n = 8).

"I think if I had already known about the app, I think I would have really, probably really approached my doctor and asked, can you please prescribe me something like that? Because I think just out of interest or this desire to help myself." (P14:64)

To sum up, GP influence manifests itself in different facets: On the one hand, as a perceived structural prerequisite to gain access and, on the other hand, as substantive advice, which in turn depends on the competence and experience of the GP. Patients' consultancy preference causes GPs' influence on patients' intention to use, but still, GPs seemed relevant to receive prescriptions for the actual use.

3.5 Intention to use DTx for depressive disorders

Overall, after the presentation of the services, ten participants expressed interest towards DTx for depressive disorders. Moreover, some patients could imagine using the services or planning to introduce those services to their doctor.

"I found it very trustworthy. I would also make use of it." (P6:36)

The participants in our sample believed that the intention to use varied within the course of the disease. They assumed retrospectively that DTx would fit best to their needs in the early stage of depression and less experience with or knowledge about the disease (n = 11).

"When you realise that you have to go, but just can't go yet, but still work on yourself, that maybe you have a little, yes, a little support." (P4:47)

Further, participants claim that the actual health condition restricts the intention to use. Participants tend to see no need for DTx-use in good health, while in "*highly depressive phases where you're not capable of anything*" (P14:50), the intention could be limited (n = 12).

Four Participants who declared no interest in the use explain this with their long-time experience with mental health care and depression by saying they don't see an extra value for themselves through the technology.

"No, because of all the groundwork that the app would do, I've already done quite well in the year of therapy. And now it's just sitting on your arse and maintaining the level." (P4:61)

In summary, the intention to use DTx is unstable and varies depending on the disease stage, knowledge of depressive disorders and personal coping strategies. Further, health conditions and experience can have a negative impact on DTx use intention, detached from general performance and effort expectancies.

4 Discussion

4.1 Summary of main findings

We aimed to explore inhibiting and promoting factors on patients' acceptance of prescribed digital health interventions in GP practice (Figure 2). Our research focused on patients' performance and effort expectancies and GPs' influence on the intention to use DTx for depressive disorders during waiting times. We identified expected chances and barriers on the determinants, leading to acceptance and non-acceptance on DTx. Further, we identified structural- and depression-related influences, affecting and exceeding single constructs. In conclusion, patients' acceptance includes expectancies on DTx in a GP setting and compromises determinants such as the availability of treatment opportunities, health status and personal coping strategies.

4.2 Comparison with existing literature

This study examines patients in Germany according to their attitude towards digital mental health interventions. Although Germany appears to be a pioneer in the implementation of DTx, this innovativeness may not apply to the general population: In comparison to OECD countries, German citizens are for example less likely to seek health information on the internet (51). Previous research also shows that Germans show rather low acceptance rates toward the innovative mental health treatment forms (44). The results of our study help to understand the reasons for the limited acceptance from the patient's point of view.

4.2.1 Expectancies on performance and effort

Thus far, the absence of timely face-to-face mental health care and current waiting times appear to be relevant context factors for patients to consider DTx for depressive disorders. Also Watanabe-Galloway et al. (2021) identified currently underserved patients with depression open-minded towards digital disease-specific interventions (52).

Patients' perspective on DTx for depressive disorders	Barriers and Risks	Potential and Chances	
Performance expectancy on DTx Effort expectancy on DTx	 or amplifiers) on unsuitable therapeutic approach non-individualized comp 	 bridging offer for waiting times otool to improve self-management skills oimmediately available anonymous intervention to prevent stigmatization quality-approved content 	
	 little mandatory risk of digital divide	low-threshold access to care flexible use according to personal needs	
GPs' influence	 lack of knowledge on DTx limited expertise in mental health lack of trust 	 gatekeeper function for initial access guidance and motivation in routine care 	
Behaviour al intention to use DTx	varies according to health cond	ealth condition and personal coping strategy	

Due to the non-availability of in-person services, selfmanagement skills become more important for patients as users of digital mental health care (20, 53). From patients' perspectives, our result showed that DTx could be a tool to improve coping with major depression for a period. Further, the need for access to approved health information, especially at an early stage of disease was presented. Participants perceive DTx a reliable source of information, but apart from that appraise them as less effective than face-to-face psychotherapy. Even though DTx are not perceived as a substitute, research shows comparable effects of digital interventions and face-toface treatment (20, 54), but reliable evaluations for digital mental health interventions are not comprehensive (20, 55). According to the admission process, permanently listed DTx fulfilled higher evaluation standards (24) to examine effectiveness and contribute to evidence-based mental health care. Our findings suggest that knowledge about the effectiveness of digital mental health in patient care needs to be strengthened to increase patients' acceptance.

Former research identified digital literacy as a predictor for patients' acceptance of digital health interventions (46) and a potential barrier to professionals' acceptance (56). Further digital technologies could reproduce social inequalities due to insufficient digital literacy, known as the digital divide (57, 58). In contrast to earlier findings, computer-specific literacies such as digital literacy or data security were little discussed and not identified as challenging for the participants themselves in our sample. Hence, these results must be interpreted cautiously because patients tend to overestimate their technology skills within digital health technologies (59). Also, self-reported competence and actual behaviour may differ in practical situations. Another interpretation of this finding could be that digital skills have a minor role for participants: Previous research on patients' mobile health adoption identified users' self-efficacy as an essential component for digital mental health interventions adoption (19, 46, 60, 61). Taken together, this suggests that patients tend to perceive digital skills as a small hurdle if they are convinced they may benefit from DTx.

Contrasting the digital divide, the study suggests that anonymity and impersonal access to health care could be advantages of DTx. This feature could be suitable for unprovided patients who fear in-person psychotherapy (6). Currently, attitudinal barriers (e.g., being afraid to disclose in front of others or people who fear stigmatisation) are the most common reasons to refuse to find help (5, 62). Under this assumption, DTx could be an alternative and lowthreshold access for specific and underprovided groups in routine care.

4.2.2 Implications for technology acceptance for mental health

Further, we identified *health status* and *experience with depressive disorders* as additional determinants on patients' acceptance of digital health interventions on prescription. Based on participants' previous illness biographies, the present study highlighted the challenges of depressive symptoms. Patients' intention to use digital health interventions is affected

by their health status, which can be negatively influenced by difficult periods. Earlier qualitative research also explored potential opposing effects between depressive disorder and the use of technology in acute or critical situations (63). These effects might limit the DTx adoption in routine care, hence low user engagement compared to study conditions is a central challenge (45). According to Nadal et al. (2020), mobile health technology acceptance is a stage in a dynamic staged process. They distinguish between pre-use, initial use and post-adoption as different stages influencing technology acceptance (37). Our results indicate that acceptance research on (mobile) technologies for long-term disease also should take factors depending on the stage of disease into account. Currently, the state of the art in terms of acceptance research comes also to a limit regarding further disease-specific challenges such as access to treatment, stigma, symptoms, and dysfunctional effects. Therefore, health status and experience with depressive disorders are other determinants of patients' intention to use DTx, influencing different acceptance dimensions. Also, determinants of patients' acceptance are embedded in personal and situational aspects. Accordingly, acceptance determinants should not be considered independently, as correlation-based models such as UTAUT suggest. Further, the results imply a connection between DTx assessment, intention to use and action to achieve access by introducing DTx to a GP. Therefore, a multidimensional integration of acceptance determinants is needed.

4.2.3 DTx in routine care

Unlike other digital offerings, DTx require a healthcare professional to prescribe a DTx or diagnose the disease. However, even primary care settings in Germany are considered to have special potential for providing digital services for depressive disorders (64). In contrast to the previous determinants, GPs' influence is a context factor for users' acceptance (65).

Although doctors have been assigned an important role in the prescription of DTx, our results showed that GPs are not perceived as competent counsellors on mental health issues. Especially DTx-interested patients were critical about this specific knowledge in routine care. GPs' influence on the intention to use DTx was limited to a specific group of patients. These results support prior research by Uncovska et al. (2023), which concluded that the physicians' prescription had a minor role in the willingness to use DTx (46). Further, patients in our sample were familiar with various technologies for depressive disorders beyond the healthcare services of routine care and without coordination of their GP. Nevertheless, due to prescription, GPs still have a crucial role for DTx access.

At present, the role of GPs in routine care after a prescription is not very specified. As DTx are considered additionally to in-person care (66, 67), GPs have the potential to provide low-threshold guidance. Thus far, GPs' guidance could compensate for adverse effort and performance expectancy of patients (e.g., less commitment

or unreliable use) during bridging waiting times or motivate patients for DTx use. Further guidance on digital interventions is necessary for effective implementation in routine care (10, 68) and could also increase patients' adherence (13). The combination of application-based and in-person care is already practised in psychotherapy, known as blended therapy (17, 29, 69, 70), with a growing interest of patients and therapists (71) and is already discussed as a gold standard for internet and mobile application used for depressive disorders (55).

4.3 Strengths and limitations of the study

This study has a few limitations to be noted when interpreting the findings. Our study examines the intention to use DTx, therefore we cannot make any conclusions about the actual use of technologies. Other studies show that the dropout in the actual use of digital intervention in routine care is meaningful (70). Further, a selection bias may have resulted that patients with an affinity for digital technologies tend to be more willing to participate in a video-based interview study. Additionally, interviews were conducted in German and translated, which may affect the tonality.

As a main strength, this study uses an exploration approach for further development of acceptance research, as patients' perspective is not yet widely considered. Thus far technology acceptance research is currently dominated by research on health professionals' perspectives. In terms of access, we reached patients with depressive disorders in their real-world environment. Therefore, the results contribute to understanding factors influencing patients' DTx acceptance within a GP setting.

4.4 Implications for clinical practice

Since it is known that patients with positive perceptions towards digital health interventions may benefit more from the offerings (60), it is relevant to consider how patients access DTx in routine care. Further, our results show that the relationship between patient and GP affects DTx acceptance differently. This observation leads to the suggestion that further health professionals should be targeted within the implementation process for digital interventions (72, 73). Therefore, further research should specify how DTx could be integrated into routine care for patients without specialised therapeutical treatment.

5 Conclusion

In conclusion, patients identified facilitators and barriers to patients' performance and effort expectancies affecting the intention to use DTx. Also, we identified *health status* and *experience with depressive disorders* as additional determinants of DTx-acceptance. For further development on DTx acceptance, a multidimensional integration of acceptance determinants is needed. Future research should also specify how DTx could be integrated into routine care to strengthen user acceptance in GP primary care.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committee of Hanover Medical University (No. 10131_BO_ K_2021). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JP: Conceptualization, Data curation, Writing – original draft. EB: Supervision, Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. MD: Supervision, Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

1. Plass D, Vos T, Hornberg C, Scheidt-Nave C, Zeeb H, Krämer A. Trends in disease burden in Germany: results, implications and limitations of the global burden of disease study. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. (2014) 111:629–38. doi: 10.3238/arztebl. 2014.0629

2. Bretschneider J, Kuhnert R, Hapke U. *Depressive Symptomatik bei Erwachsenen in Deutschland. RKI-Bib1.* Berlin: Robert Koch-Institut (2017). p. 8. doi: 10.17886/RKI-GBE-2017-058

3. Kivelitz L, Watzke B, Schulz H, Härter M, Melchior H. Versorgungsbarrieren auf den behandlungswegen von patienten mit angst- und depressiven erkrankungen—eine qualitative interviewstudie. *Psychiatr Prax.* (2015) 42:424–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1370306

4. World Health Organization. World Mental Health Report: Transforming Mental Health for All. Geneva: World Health Organization (2022). p. 296.

5. Andrade LH, Alonso J, Mneimneh Z, Wells JE, Al-Hamzawi A, Borges G, et al. Barriers to mental health treatment: results from the WHO world mental health surveys. *Psychol Med.* (2014) 44:1303–17. doi: 10.1017/S0033291713001943

6. Pfeiffer S, In-Albon T. Barriers to seeking psychotherapy for mental health problems in adolescents: a mixed method study. *J Child Fam Stud.* (2022) 31:2571-81. doi: 10.1007/s10826-022-02364-4

7. Epping J, Muschik D, Geyer S. Social inequalities in the utilization of outpatient psychotherapy: analyses of registry data from German statutory health insurance. *Int J Equity Health.* (2017) 16:147. doi: 10.1186/s12939-017-0644-5

8. Araya R, Zitko P, Markkula N, Rai D, Jones K. Determinants of access to health care for depression in 49 countries: a multilevel analysis. *J Affect Disord.* (2018) 234:80-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.02.092

The research project was part of the doctoral program "Chronic Diseases and Health Literacy", which was funded by the Robert Bosch Stiftung. The funder was not involved in the study design, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fdgth.2024. 1275569/full#supplementary-material

9. Wittchen H-U, Jacobi F, Klose M, Ryl L. Gesundheitsberichterstattung des Bundes Heft 51: Depressive Erkrankungen. Berlin: Robert Koch Institute (2010).

10. Oehler C, Scholze K, Driessen P, Rummel-Kluge C, Görges F, Hegerl U. How are guide profession and routine care setting related to adherence and symptom change in iCBT for depression?—an explorative log-data analysis. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 26:100476. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100476

11. Stahmeyer JT, Märtens C, Eidt-Koch D, Kahl KG, Zeidler J, Eberhard S. The state of care for persons with a diagnosis of depression. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2022) 119:458–65. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.m2022.0204

12. Thornicroft G, Chatterji S, Evans-Lacko S, Gruber M, Sampson N, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, et al. Undertreatment of people with major depressive disorder in 21 countries. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2017) 210:119–24. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.188078

13. Hegerl U, Oehler C. Promises and risks of web-based interventions in the treatment of depression. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2020) 22:161–8. doi: 10.31887/ DCNS.2020.22.2/uhegerl

14. Rommel A, Bretschneider J, Kroll LE, Prütz F, Thom J. Inanspruchnahme psychiatrischer und psychotherapeutischer leistungen—individuelle determinanten und regionale unterschiede. *J Health Monit.* (2017) 2:3–23. doi: 10.17886/RKI-GBE-2017-111.2

15. Gerlach FM, Greiner W, Jochimsen B, Kalle Cv, Meyer G, Schreyögg J, et al. *Digitalisierung für Gesundheit: Ziele und Rahmenbedingungen eines dynamischen Gesundheitssystems.* Berlin: Sachverständigenrat (2021). p. 394.

16. Lattie EG, Stiles-Shields C, Graham AK. An overview of and recommendations for more accessible digital mental health services. *Nat Rev Psychol.* (2022) 1:87–100. doi: 10.1038/s44159-021-00003-1

17. Andersson G, Titov N, Dear BF, Rozental A, Carlbring P. Internet-delivered psychological treatments: from innovation to implementation. *World Psychiatry*. (2019) 18:20–8. doi: 10.1002/wps.20610

18. Bielinski LL, Berger T. Internet interventions for mental health: current state of research, lessons learned and future directions. *Couns Psychol Psychother*. (2020) 28:65–83. doi: 10.17759/cpp.2020280305

19. Emerson MR, Harsh Caspari J, Notice M, Watanabe-Galloway S, Dinkel D, Kabayundo J. Mental health mobile app use: considerations for serving underserved patients in integrated primary care settings. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2021) 69:67–75. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2021.01.008

20. McIntyre RS, Greenleaf W, Bulaj G, Taylor ST, Mitsi G, Saliu D, et al. Digital health technologies and major depressive disorder. *CNS Spectr.* (2023) 28:662–73. doi: 10.1017/S1092852923002225

21. BfArM. *DiGA-Catalog (DiGA-Verzeichnis)* (2023) [cited 2023 Dec 22]. Available online at: https://diga.bfarm.de/de/verzeichnis

22. Fürstenau D, Gersch M, Schreiter S. Digital therapeutics (DTx). Bus Inf Syst Eng. (2023) 65:349–60. doi: 10.1007/s12599-023-00804-z

23. Sauermann S, Herzberg J, Burkert S, Habetha S. DiGA—a chance for the German healthcare system. J Eur CME. (2022) 11:2014047. doi: 10.1080/21614083. 2021.2014047

24. Mäder M, Timpel P, Schönfelder T, Militzer-Horstmann C, Scheibe S, Heinrich R, et al. Evidence requirements of permanently listed digital health applications (DiGA) and their implementation in the German DiGA directory: an analysis. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2023) 23:369. doi: 10.1186/s12913-023-09287-w

25. GKV-Spitzenverband. Bericht des GKV-Spitzenverbandes über die Inanspruchnahme und Entwicklung der Versorgung mit digitalen Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA-Bericht): Berichtszeitraum: 01.09.2020-30.09.2022 (o.D.). 57 p).

26. Löbner M, Stein J, Luppa M, Bleckwenn M, Mehnert-Theuerkauf A, Riedel-Heller SG. What comes after the trial? An observational study of the real-world uptake of an E-mental health intervention by general practitioners to reduce depressive symptoms in their patients. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:1–12. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19106203

27. GKV-Spitzenverband. Bericht des GKV-Spitzenverbandes über die Inanspruchnahme und Entwicklung der Versorgung mit Digitalen Gesundheitsanwendungen. Berlin: GKV (2022). p. 36.

28. Weitzel EC, Schwenke M, Schomerus G, Schönknecht P, Bleckwenn M, Mehnert-Theuerkauf A, et al. E-mental health in Germany—what is the current use and what are experiences of different types of health care providers for patients with mental illnesses? *Arch Public Health.* (2023) 81:133. doi: 10.1186/s13690-023-01150-y

29. Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grässle C, Freudenstein M, Nübling R, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0236995. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236995

30. Rost T, Stein J, Löbner M, Kersting A, Luck-Sikorski C, Riedel-Heller SG. User acceptance of computerized cognitive behavioral therapy for depression: systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e309. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7662

31. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. *MIS Q*. (2003) 27:425-78. doi: 10. 2307/30036540

32. Venkatesh V, Thong JY, Xu X. Consumer acceptance and use of information technology: extending the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *MIS Q*. (2012) 36:157–78. doi: 10.2307/41410412

33. Philippi P, Baumeister H, Apolinário-Hagen J, Ebert DD, Hennemann S, Kott L, et al. Acceptance towards digital health interventions—model validation and further development of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 26:100459. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100459

34. AlQudah AA, Al-Emran M, Shaalan K. Technology acceptance in healthcare: a systematic review. *Appl Sci.* (2021) 11:10537. doi: 10.3390/app112210537

35. Li J, Talaei-Khoei A, Seale H, Ray P, Macintyre CR. Health care provider adoption of eHealth: systematic literature review. *Interact J Med Res.* (2013) 2:e7. doi: 10.2196/ijmr.2468

36. Shachak A, Kuziemsky C, Petersen C. Beyond TAM and UTAUT: future directions for HIT implementation research. *J Biomed Inform.* (2019) 100:103315. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2019.103315

37. Nadal C, Sas C, Doherty G. Technology acceptance in mobile health: scoping review of definitions, models, and measurement. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22: e17256. doi: 10.2196/17256

38. Wozney I, McGrath PJ, Gehring ND, Bennett K, Huguet A, Hartling L, et al. Emental healthcare technologies for anxiety and depression in childhood and adolescence: systematic review of studies reporting implementation outcomes. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2018) 5:e48. doi: 10.2196/mental.9655

39. Topooco N, Riper H, Araya R, Berking M, Brunn M, Chevreul K, et al. Attitudes towards digital treatment for depression: a European stakeholder survey. *Internet Interv.* (2017) 8:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.01.001

40. Dockweiler C, Kupitz A, Palmdorf S, Hornberg C. Onlinetherapie bei depressiven störungen eine akzeptanzanalyse aus der perspektive der behandelnden. Nervenarzt. (2020) 91:243–51. doi: 10.1007/s00115-019-0730-6

41. Wangler J, Jansky M. Two years of approved digital health applications in Germany—perspectives and experiences of general practitioners with an affinity for their use. *Eur J Gen Pract.* (2023) 29:2186396. doi: 10.1080/13814788.2023. 2186396

42. Burger F, Neerincx MA, Brinkman W-P. Technological state of the art of electronic mental health interventions for Major depressive disorder: systematic literature review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e12599. doi: 10.2196/12599

43. Tokgöz P, Hrynyschyn R, Hafner J, Schönfeld S, Dockweiler C. Digital health interventions in prevention, relapse, and therapy of mild and moderate depression: scoping review. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2021) 8:e26268. doi: 10.2196/26268

44. Lincke L, Ulbrich L, Reis O, Wandinger E, Brähler E, Dück A, et al. Attitudes toward innovative mental health treatment approaches in Germany: e-mental health and home treatment. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:889555. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022. 889555

45. Lipschitz JM, Pike CK, Hogan TP, Murphy SA, Burdick KE. The engagement problem: a review of engagement with digital mental health interventions and recommendations for a path forward. *Curr Treat Options Psych.* (2023) 10:119–35. doi: 10.1007/s40501-023-00297-3

46. Uncovska M, Freitag B, Meister S, Fehring L. Patient acceptance of prescribed and fully reimbursed mHealth apps in Germany: an UTAUT2-based online survey study. J Med Syst. (2023) 47(14):1–14. doi: 10.1007/s10916-023-01910-x

47. World Organization of Family Doctors. *The European Definition of General Practice / Family Medicine: WONCA Europe.* 2023 edn. Ljubljana: WONCA (2023). p. 36.

48. Gilbert RM. Reimagining digital healthcare with a patient-centric approach: the role of user experience (UX) research. *Front Digit Health*. (2022) 4:899976. doi: 10. 3389/fdgth.2022.899976

49. Dresing T, Pehl T. Praxisbuch interview, transkription und analyse: anleitungen und regelsysteme für qualitativ forschende. *Marburg: Dr. Dresing und Pehl GmbH.* (2018): 56. ISBN 978-3-8185-0489-2.

50. Kuckartz U, Rädiker S. Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse. Methoden, Praxis, Computerunterstützung: Grundlagentexte Methoden.. Weinheim, Basel: Beltz Juventa (2022). p. 274.

51. OECD. Health at a Glance 2023: OECD Indicators. Paris: OECD (2023). p. 234.

52. Watanabe-Galloway S, Emerson M, Dinkel D, Caspari-Harsh J, Kabayundo J, Fok L, et al. Mental health mobile app use in integrated primary care settings: considerations for serving underserved patients. *J Clin Trans Sci.* (2021) 5:50-1. doi: 10.1017/cts.2021.534

53. Bucci S, Schwannauer M, Berry N. The digital revolution and its impact on mental health care. *Psychol Psychother*. (2019) 92:277–97. doi: 10.1111/papt.12222

54. van Orden ML, Kraaijeveld JC, Spijker AT, Silven AV, Bonten TN, Chavannes NH, et al. Preliminary effects of a digital mental health intervention for depression and anxiety. *Clinical EHealth.* (2022) 5:44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ceh.2022.06.002

55. Hrynyschyn R, Dockweiler C. Effectiveness of smartphone-based cognitive behavioral therapy among patients with major depression: systematic review of health implications. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2021) 9:e24703. doi: 10.2196/24703

56. Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Ready for eHealth? Health professionals' acceptance and adoption of eHealth interventions in inpatient routine care. *J Health Commun.* (2017) 22:274–84. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2017.1284286

57. Weiss D, Rydland HT, Øversveen E, Jensen MR, Solhaug S, Krokstad S. Innovative technologies and social inequalities in health: a scoping review of the literature. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0195447. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195447

58. Azzopardi-Muscat N, Sørensen K. Towards an equitable digital public health era: promoting equity through a health literacy perspective. *Eur J Public Health.* (2019) 29:13–7. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckz166

59. Wang C, Wu X, Qi H. A comprehensive analysis of E-health literacy research focuses and trends. *Healthcare (Basel)*. (2021) 10:1–18. doi: 10.3390/ healthcare10010066

60. Patel S, Akhtar A, Malins S, Wright N, Rowley E, Young E, et al. The acceptability and usability of digital health interventions for adults with depression, anxiety, and somatoform disorders: qualitative systematic review and meta-synthesis. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e16228. doi: 10.2196/16228

61. Hafner J, Schönfeld S, Tokgöz P, Choroschun K, Schlubach A, Dockweiler C. Digital health interventions in depression care-A survey on acceptance from the perspective of patients, their relatives and health professionals. *Healthcare (Basel)*. (2022) 10:1–16. doi: 10.3390/healthcare10102019

62. Cohrdes C, Hapke U, Nübel J, Thom J. Erkennen-Bewerten-Handeln. Schwerpunktbericht zur psychischen Gesundheit der Bevölkerung in Deutschland. Teil 1-Erwachsenenalter. Berlin: Robert Koch-Institut (2022). p. 138. doi: 10.25646/8831

63. Hafner J, Schönfeld S, Tokgöz P, Hrynyschyn R, Schlubach A, Dockweiler C. Akzeptanz von digitalen gesundheitstechnologien bei leichter bis mittelgradiger depression—eine qualitative analyse aus der perspektive von betroffenen,

angehörigen und leistungserbringern. Psychiatr Prax. (2021) 49:313–21. doi: 10.1055/a-1472-5388

64. Backenstrass M, Wolf M. Internetbasierte therapie in der versorgung von patienten mit depressiven störungen: ein Überblick. Zeitschrift für Psychiatrie, Psychologie und Psychotherapie. (2018) 66:48–60. doi: 10.1024/1661-4747/a000339

65. Safi S, Thiessen T, Schmailzl KJ. Acceptance and resistance of new digital technologies in medicine: qualitative study. *JMIR Res Protoc.* (2018) 7:e11072. doi: 10.2196/11072

66. Mittermaier M, Sina C, Richter JG, Raspe M, Stais P, Vehreschild J, et al. Praktische anwendung digitaler gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA) in der inneren medizin. *Internist (Berl)*. (2022) 63:245–54. doi: 10.1007/s00108-022-01264-5

67. Radić M, Brinkmann C, Radić D, Waack M, Donner I, Stein L. Digitale Gesundheitsanwendungen auf Rezept: Wie steht es um die Akzeptanz der Ärzteschaft? Leipzig: Frauenhofer IMW (2021). p. 23.

68. Smith KA, Blease C, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Firth J, van Daele T, Moreno C, et al. Digital mental health: challenges and next steps. *BMJ Ment Health.* (2023) 26. doi: 10. 1136/bmjment-2023-300670

69. Titzler I, Saruhanjan K, Berking M, Riper H, Ebert DD. Barriers and facilitators for the implementation of blended psychotherapy for depression: a qualitative pilot study of therapists' perspective. *Internet Interv.* (2018) 12:150–64. doi: 10.1016/j. invent.2018.01.002

70. Etzelmueller A, Vis C, Karyotaki E, Baumeister H, Titov N, Berking M, et al. Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e18100. doi: 10.2196/18100

71. Bielinski LL, Trimpop L, Berger T. Die mischung macht's eben? Blendedpsychotherapie als ansatz der digitalisierung in der psychotherapie. *Psychotherapeut* (*Berl*). (2021) 66:447–54. doi: 10.1007/s00278-021-00524-3

72. Vis C, Mol M, Kleiboer A, Bührmann L, Finch T, Smit J, et al. Improving implementation of eMental health for mood disorders in routine practice: systematic review of barriers and facilitating factors. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2018) 5: e20. doi: 10.2196/mental.9769

73. Breil B, Dederichs M, Kremer L, Richter D, Angerer P, Apolinário-Hagen J. Bekanntheit und nutzung von digitalen gesundheitsangeboten in deutschland: eine bevölkerungsrepräsentative querschnittsuntersuchung. *Gesundheitswesen.* (2021) 83:1019–28. doi: 10.1055/a-1335-4245

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen, Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf, Germany

REVIEWED BY

Markus Wolf, University of Zurich, Switzerland Gwendolyn Mayer, Heidelberg University Hospital, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Fanny Kählke ⊠ fanny.kaehlke@tum.de

RECEIVED 28 August 2023 ACCEPTED 22 January 2024 PUBLISHED 14 February 2024

CITATION

Kählke F, Hasking P, Küchler A-M and Baumeister H (2024) Mental health services for German university students: acceptance of intervention targets and preference for delivery modes. Front. Digit. Health 6:1284661. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2024.1284661

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Kählke, Hasking, Küchler and Baumeister. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mental health services for German university students: acceptance of intervention targets and preference for delivery modes

Fanny Kählke^{1*}, Penelope Hasking², Ann-Marie Küchler³ and Harald Baumeister³

¹TUM School of Medicine and Health, Professorship Psychology & Digital Mental Health Care, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany, ²Curtin enAble Institute, Curtin University, Perth, WA, Australia, ³Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany

Introduction: Most university students with mental disorders remain untreated. Evaluating the acceptance of intervention targets in mental health treatment, promotion, and prevention, as well as mental health service delivery modes is crucial for reducing potential barriers, increasing healthcare utilization, and efficiently allocating resources in healthcare services.

Aim: The study aimed to evaluate the acceptance of various intervention targets and delivery modes of mental health care services in German first-year university students.

Methods: In total, 1,376 first-year students from two German universities from the 2017–2018 multi-center cross-sectional cohort of the StudiCare project, the German arm of the World Mental Health International College Student Survey initiative, completed a web-based survey assessing their mental health. Mental disorder status was based on self-reported data fulfilling the DSM-IV criteria. We report frequencies of accepted delivery modes [categories: group or in-person therapy with on or off campus services, self-help internet- or mobile-based intervention (IMI) with or without coaching, or a combination of a in-person and IMI (blended)]. In a multinomial logistic regression, we estimate correlates of the preference for in-person vs. IMI vs. a combination of both modes (blended) modalities. Additionally, we report frequencies of intervention targets (disorder specific: e.g., social phobia, depressive mood; study-related: test anxiety, procrastination; general well-being: sleep quality, resilience) their association with mental disorders and sex, and optimal combinations of treatment targets for each mental illness.

Results: German university students' acceptance is high for in-person (71%–76%), moderate for internet- and mobile-based (45%–55%), and low for group delivery modes (31%–36%). In-person treatment (72%) was preferred over IMI (19%) and blended modalities (9%). Having a mental disorder [odds ratio (OR): 1.56], believing that digital treatments are effective (OR: 3.2), and showing no intention to use services (OR: 2.8) were associated with a preference for IMI compared to in-person modes. Students with prior treatment experience preferred in-person modes (OR: 0.46). In general, treatment targets acceptance was higher among female students and students with mental disorders. However, this was not true for targets with the highest (i.e., procrastination) and the lowest (i.e., substance-use disorder) acceptance. If only two intervention targets were offered, a combination of study-related targets (i.e., procrastination, stress, time management) would reach 85%–88% of the students.

Conclusion: In-person services are preferred, yet half of the students consider using IMI, preferably aiming for a combination of at least two study-related intervention targets. Student mental health care services should offer a combination of accepted targets in different delivery modes to maximize service utilization.

KEYWORDS

acceptance, delivery modes, intervention targets, university students, internet- and mobilebased interventions, preference, mental health care service use

Introduction

Up to 75% of mental disorders first appear in the mid-twenties (1). In Western countries, one-third of university students have a 12month mental disorder (2). In young adulthood, mental illness can disrupt the adoption of adult roles and identity formation (3). Alonso et al. (4) showed that about 43% of students with mental disorders report a severe role impairment related to home management, college or work issues, personal relationships, or their social life. Thus, there is a high demand for on-campus services to improve academic performance and reduce premature college drop-out (5). Yet only a fraction of those in need receive help (6, 7). Students who suffer from mental disorders and suicidal thoughts and behaviors show meager treatment rates (25%-36.3%) that increase to a maximum of 45.1% and 60% for severe cases of 12 months and lifetime disorders, respectively (8). Reasons for low treatment utilization are multifaceted, ranging from poor mental health literacy, which is fundamental for health actions (9) to stigma, limited resources on-campus, and low-risk perception (10). Reasons that prevent students from seeking help are mostly attitudinal (internal, e.g., the desire to solve problems independently) rather than structural (external, e.g., temporal or financial costs of treatment) (11, 12).

In Germany, the picture is similar: 17% of students have at least one diagnosed mental disorder (13). A report focusing on counseling services and their perception in students found that help-seeking of those in need was low and varied from 28% (depressive symptoms) to 13% (alcohol consumption). Students reported the wish to solve problems themselves (62%) or seek advice from family and friends (55%) as barriers, and they preferred in-person counseling (97%) over online-counseling (14%) (14) At universities, the Deutsches Studierendenwerk (DSW) a nationwide voluntary association offers psycho-social advice and counseling by psychologists, including the provision of further information i.e., contact of psychotherapists (15). Access to specialist care is covered by the statutory health insurance (covering 90% of the German population), yet the waiting times from initial contact to the start of psychotherapeutic treatment average 20 weeks (16). The president of the German student services released a statement that psychosocial counseling services are insufficiently prepared for the growing number of students with mental illnesses due to limited resources leading to prolonged waiting times and lack of service (17).

Internet- and mobile-based interventions (IMI) characterized by a theory base related to evidence-based psychotherapeutic models and techniques, different level of human support, various application areas and technical implementation are feasible, flexible, cost-effective, and scalable therapies that can overcome the aforementioned barriers (11, 12, 18). They are effective in treating and preventing a broad range of disorders (19, 20), yet uptake remains low as students lack knowledge and experience with IMI but show positive attitudes towards apps (i.e., future expectations and less fear of risks) (21).

An essential prerequisite to adopting and implementing interventions is the acceptance as *behavioral intention to* use them. This is the *hypothetical acceptability* referred to as willingness to use or to receive an intervention. In contrast, acceptance can also be understood or referred to as the *actual acceptability* reflecting the utilization of an intervention, as expressed in uptake rates, adherence, or reported satisfaction (22). Prior research has focused on user engagement (adherence) and acceptability of intervention utilization.

However, little is known about individuals' acceptance (intention to use) and preferred delivery modes of mental health care services and their associated factors. Meta-analytic evidence suggests that patients receiving their preferred psycho-social treatment show less drop-out and increased therapeutic alliance (23). Research on delivery mode preference among university students is limited and shows varying results: US students preferred IMIs over in-person services (24), whereas Irish students preferred in-person services (79%) over websites for mental health (25). Examining a combination of face-to-face (F2F) and IMIs (i.e., blended delivery), Benjet et al. (26) found that Mexican university students preferred in-person and blended treatments over pure IMIs.

Understanding the characteristics of individuals who prefer certain delivery modes over others is required to further improve treatment provision. So far, only one study has examined associated factors of treatment modes in students: Benjet et al. (26) showed that depression, attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder, beliefs about treatment efficacy, feeling embarrassed or worried about the negative consequences for one's academic career, and the desire to solve problems individually were significant predictors for students to prefer internet- or mobilebased delivery. Kozlov et al. (27) showed that the preference for digital care modalities varies in the general population and is related to symptom severity (e.g., in anxiety and depression) and demographic factors. Almost half of the participants preferred video-psychotherapy, one fourth had no preference, and all others preferred self-guided modes. Those favoring videopsychotherapy had higher symptom severity of depression and anxiety and showed a greater need for higher levels of care. Selfguided digital care was preferred by older, male participants, and those not showing depression or anxiety.

A discrete choice experiment showed that German participants prefer blended care incorporating F2F contact with a psychotherapist over other or no form of human contact in online-based programs. This preference is independent from prior treatment experience and symptom severity as well as sociodemographic parameters (28). A survey by Lincke et al. (29) likewise found a preference for human contact with most participants choosing in-person therapy (81.5%, 78.1%), some choosing blended therapy (11.2%, 11.5%) and only few choosing pure online therapy (6.7%, 7%). Low acceptance rates towards online-based treatments were not affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, but participants that were younger (14–15 years old), male or students had a higher likelihood of preferring an online therapy.

Interestingly, an internet- and mobile-based delivery mode for interventions seems to be preferred in health promotion and prevention targets as opposed to treatment targets. In one study, mobile health apps for coping with stress were preferred over medication, a psychiatrist, online self-help training, or F2F group courses, and were as likely to be used as GPs, psychologists and self-help literature (30). Taking patient preference into account when considering treatment options is important, both for treatment outcome and patient rights. Meta-analytic evidence shows that accommodating patient preferences in psychotherapy (i.e., type of medication and psychotherapy) is associated with treatment completions and positive treatment outcomes (31). Patients with depression prefer psychotherapy to medication and combined treatments options. However, these patients also like low-threshold "treatments" or behaviors, i.e., self-help books, relaxation, or talking to a friend (32).

However, little is known about individuals' acceptance comparing intervention targets in students. A German statutory health insurance company reported on students' interest towards health-related services. Interest was highest in health promotion (mindfulness, resilience), study- and work-related targets (time and self-management), or physical activity and lowest for substance-use reduction (33). In general, female students showed higher interest than male students. This may be explained by higher barriers to help-seeking and service use for male students compared to female students: negative attitudes and low intention of help-seeking, poorer mental health literacy, conformity to traditional masculine norms, and higher public- and self-stigmatization (low self-efficacy beliefs in overcoming mental health problems) (34-36). Providing the most accepted interventions and delivery modes may help student mental health care services to increase treatment utilization, uptake, and completion.

AIM

In this study we used an exploratory approach to examine the frequencies of the acceptance and preference towards delivery targets and formats. In a sample of German first-year students, the study's aim was to

- (1) Evaluate the acceptance of intervention targets and their association with sex and mental disorder presence.
- (2) Identify the best treatment combinations for students with and without a mental disorder.
- (3) Determine the acceptance of and preference for different delivery modes of care on campus in association with sex and mental disorder presence.

Additionally, we explored whether potentially relevant factors such as sex, parental education, presence of a mental disorder, prior treatment experience, intention for service use, knowledge of IMIs and beliefs about their treatment efficacy were associated with treatment mode preferences (i.e., in-person vs. IMI, inperson vs. blended mode).

Methods

Participants and procedures

Participants from the second (2017-2018) cohort of the StudiCare project (37) received a web-based survey, via the Qualtrics survey platform as part of their participation in the World Mental Health International College Student (WMH-ICS) initiative (38). The sample was comprised of first-year students at the Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nuremberg (FAU) and at the University of Ulm (UUlm) in Germany. All students of an undergraduate program aged ≥ 18 years (*n* = 9,853) were eligible for participation, which included students with previous study experience in another program. Of the 2,201 (22.3%) students starting the survey, 1,376 students (14%) completed all items. Sixty-two percent of these were female, with an overall mean age of 20.06 years (SD = 1.73). Informed consent was obtained before survey start and participation was confidential and voluntary. The research protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the FAU (12.07.2016, 193_16 B). and the UUlm (04.08.2017, 281/17).

Measures

The web-based WMH-ICS survey (38) consisted of validated self-report measures that screened for a wide range of mental health disorders and correlates. In Germany, the survey also included items on acceptance of and preference for delivery modes of mental health services and various clinical (e.g., depression) and preventive (e.g., resilience, mindfulness) intervention targets. The different measures used in the present study are reviewed below.

Acceptance and preference of treatment delivery modes

Participants were introduced to different types of available treatments delivery modes with a focus on internet-based interventions, as we assumed that they knew little about them. Acceptance of and preference for seven different delivery modes of mental health services were assessed using a binary (yes vs. no) item: "If you had an emotional problem, which mode of treatment would you like to utilize?" Participants could indicate their preference in a drop-down list of the seven delivery modes [group or in-person therapy with on or off campus services, self-help internet- or mobile-based intervention (IMI, i.e., digital) with or without coaching, and a combination of in-person and IMI (blended)]. For analyses, we aggregated a categorical variable with three mutually exclusive levels: (1) in-person services (i.e., in or off campus, group therapy), (2) IMI (i.e., self-help intervention with or without coaching) and (3) blended services (in-person and IMI combined).

Mental health services: acceptance of intervention targets

Acceptance of various intervention targets in mental health prevention, promotion, and treatment was assessed with the following item: "For *future development of mental health services, we would like to know which of the following intervention targets you would be interested in to help you better cope with emotional and study-related problems and to promote your well-being.*" Participants were asked to indicate (i.e., yes vs. no, multiple answers) which of the following targets (treatment options) they were interested in: disorder-specific targets (reduction of social phobia, depressive mood, reduction of alcohol or cannabis consumption, body dissatisfaction, media consumption), studyrelated (reduction of test anxiety, procrastination, stress and time management, perfectionism reduction), or targets focusing on general well-being (improvement of sleep quality, resilience).

Willingness or intention to use mental health services

Participants were then asked to report their intention to use mental health services if they developed an emotional problem by answering "If during this coming college year, you developed an emotional problem that caused you a lot of distress and interfered with your college work, how likely would you be to go to the student Counseling Center for help?" and "How likely would you be to go somewhere else for help, like to your doctor, a mental health professional, or a religious advisor?". This 5-point Likert scale (ranging from "Would definitely go" – "Would definitely not go") was adapted from an assessment of risk and resilience in service members (39) and recoded into a binary variable [yes ("would definitely go", "would likely go") vs. no].

Experience and attitudes toward internet- and mobile-based interventions

In addition, knowledge of and experience with internet-and mobile-based interventions were assessed by asking the students "*Have you ever heard about internet- and mobile-based interventions? Have you ever used one?*" (yes vs. no). Additionally, students were asked to indicate their beliefs about the efficacy of IMIs by rating the following statement "*Internet-based interventions could be an effective way of improving mental health and symptoms*" on a 5-point Likert scale ("Does not apply at all" "Fully applies"). For analyses, the categories were collapsed into a binary measure [yes ("Largely applies", "Fully applies") vs. no].

Treatment utilization/experience

Mental health service utilization was assessed with the following item "*Did you ever receive psychological counseling or medication for an emotional or substance problem?*" (39). This item was shown to any student meeting criteria for any mental health disorder (over their lifetime). All persons who sought help for a mental problem (i.e., medication, counseling) in the past were coded as help-seeker (binary measure: yes vs. no).

Sociodemographics

Of the many variables assessed in the survey, age (continuous variable), sex (male or female), relationship status (being in a relationship, marriage vs. being single, divorced, or widowed), parental education (binary, at least one parent with college education), study type (full-time or part-time), nationality (German or other), university (FAU or UUlm), and study experience [first-time student (freshman) vs. prior university study experience] were reported to describe the sample.

12-month history of or self-assessed DSM-IV diagnosis

The following 12-month DSM-IV disorders were assessed using the validated self-report Composite International Diagnostic Interview Screening (CIDI-SC) (40, 41) scales: major depressive episode (MDE), generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), panic disorder (PD), broad mania, and drug abuse or dependence (i.e., cannabis, cocaine, or any other street or prescription drug). The CIDI-SC scales conform to blinded clinical diagnoses based on the Structured Clinical Interview for DMS-IV [SCID-IV (42);] in the area under the curve (AUC) range of .70–.78 (40, 41).

Alcohol abuse or dependence was assessed using the alcohol use disorders identification test [AUDIT, (43)]. Alcohol use disorder was defined as a total score of \geq 8 and a dependence score of \geq 4 (44). This AUDIT version conforms with clinical diagnoses in the AUC range of 0.78–0.91 (45). Twelve-month suicidal thoughts and behaviors (STBs) were assessed using the Columbia Suicidal Severity Rating Scale [CSSRS (46),]. This modified version assessed death wish ("Over the past 12 months, did you wish you were dead or would go to sleep and never wake up?"), suicide plans ("Over the past 12 months, did you think about how you might kill yourself or work out a plan of how to kill yourself?") and attempted suicide ("Over the past 12 months, have you made a suicide attempt"). The last two items (suicide plans and/or attempts) were collapsed into a binary measure (yes vs. no).

Any mental health problems

We created a binary variable indicating the presence of at least one mental health disorder over the past 12 months (excluding suicidal plan and attempt). All previously described DSM-IV disorders were included. Subsequently, a variable indicating the number of mental disorders present was created (3-level: one, two, three or more mental disorders).
Statistical analysis

In total 1,376 students fully completed (i.e., no missing variables at the item level) the survey and were included for the final analyses. Specific information on the entire student population was provided by the university administrations allowing us to calculate propensity score weights to adjust for differences between the sample obtained and the entire population (47, 48). We chose predictors previously identified as relevant for mental health, such as demographic (age, sex, nationality) and study-related variables (study program, type of undergraduate degree), that were significant in predicting non-response. First, a dependent variable indicating survey (non-) response (yes = 1, no = 0) was created. Second, a binary logistic regression model was used to estimate the propensity score for each participant. Third, the model results were converted to predicted values, which were used as weights.

All analyses were conducted with the R (version 4.3.1) statistical software extended by following packages: tidyverse, mlogit, survey, gtsummary. The Holm correction was used to control for family-wise error rate and adjust for multiple testing (49). This correction is recommended as it is less conservative and more powerful than the commonly used Bonferroni correction (50). Regarding the delivery modes, we first calculated the proportion (and standard error) of those willing to use each type of mental health care service delivery mode and preference for treatment delivery mode among the total sample. Then we report the willingness to use among those with and without any of the mental disorders and females and males, testing the difference between each of these two groups with χ^2 test adjusted by a design effect estimate (weights).

Second, the "dredge" function in the package MuMin in R was used to identify the best models, using the average of the best models with $\Delta < 2$ as measured via Aikake's Information Criterion (51). We used a bivariate multinomial logistic regression to analyse the association between sex, parental education (as an indicator for socio-economic status), any 12month mental disorder, treatment experience, treatment efficacy beliefs, and intention to use services with preference for inperson over IMIs and in-person over blended services.

Third, we calculated the proportion and standard error of the acceptance of each intervention target and calculated the willingness to use for participants with and without any 12-month mental disorder grouped by sex, testing the difference between these two variables with a χ^2 test adjusted by a design effect estimate (weights).

Fourth, for each subset by sex, we tested for a difference in target acceptance between those with and without mental disorder (χ^2 test adjusted by a design effect estimate). We report odds ratios as effect sizes for interpretation purposes.

Fifth, we explored the combination of treatment targets and the relative change in overall acceptance. i. e. which two interventions would lead to the highest joint acceptance. Thus, we operationalized the optimal treatment mix as the joint acceptance of at least two of the offered treatment targets. The treatment mixes with the highest acceptance are reported for all students

with and without mental disorder as well as each disorder separately. A sensitivity analysis including a combination of three targets evaluated if there is a higher acceptance when offering one additional intervention.

Results

Sample description

The weighted and unweighted sample characteristics (N =1,376), such as demographical variables, clinical variables, and experience with IMI are shown in Supplementary Tables S1, S2. Additionally, we added demographic variables on all fully eligible students, the completer and the drop-out sample in Supplementary Table S3. Students who completed the survey were on average 21.1 years old (SD 3.4), predominately German (91.20%) and showed a balanced sex ratio (female: 50.5%). Most students were freshmen (62.9%) and enrolled in a full-time program (98.7%). Forty percent of participants were in a relationship and half (48%) had at least one parent with a college degree. The prevalence of mental disorders was high with 32.3% of students meeting the clinical criteria for at least one 12-month disorder. The most prevalent disorders were MDE (20.7%), GAD (13.2%) as well as suicidal plans and attempts (10.7%). Additionally, one fourth of students (24.0%) had some prior treatment experience. In general, knowledge about IMI was low; one third (33.4%) had heard about IMI before and only three percent had used one previously.

Willingness and preference to use treatment delivery modes

Table 1 shows the willingness to use (acceptance) and preferred treatment delivery modes among the total sample and among those with a 12-month prevalence of a mental disorder.

Among the total sample, the highest rated delivery modes were in-person off-campus services (76%), followed by in-person on campus services (71%). In comparison, half of the students were interested in IMIs (44%–48%) and even more accepted a blended delivery mode combining in-person with digital services (57%). Group therapy on- and off-campus were the least accepted (31%–36%) modalities. In general, only very small differences in the acceptance of delivery modes were found between students with and without mental disorders. However, students with mental disorders showed lower acceptance towards group therapies (28%–33% vs. 32%–38%) and significantly higher acceptance for self-help IMI (56% vs. 44%, p < 0.001).

Delivery mode preferences varied: 72% indicated in-person, 19% internet-based intervention, and 8.6% blended interventions. Preferences were similar among those with and without any 12month mental disorder (p > 0.05). Table 2 contains the results of a bivariate multinomial logistic regression for the relative association between preference for in-person, digital or blended mental health care services and various predictors. The final

	Total, <i>N</i> = 1,376	Mental disorder $N = 445^1$	No mental disorder $N = 932^{1}$	F	<i>p</i> -value ²	<i>q</i> -value ³
Delivery Mode	N ¹ (%, SE)	N ¹ (%, SE)	N ¹ (%, SE)			
Group therapy on campus services	427 (31%; 0.01)	126 (28%; 0.02)	301 (32%; 0.03)	2.2	0.2	>0.9
Group therapy off-campus services	502 (36%; 0.01)	147 (33%; 0.02)	355 (38%; 0.02)	3.2	0.11	0.6
In-person on campus services	977 (71%; 0.01)	311 (70%; 0.02)	666 (72%; 0.02)	0.38	0.6	>0.9
In-person off-campus services	1,047 (76%; 0.01)	355 (75%; 0.02)	713 (76%; 0.02)	0.26	0.7	>0.9
Self-help internet intervention	662 (48%; 0.02)	249 (56%; 0.03)	413 (44%; 0.02)	16	< 0.001	0.002
Guided internet intervention	611 (44%; 0.02)	200 (45%; 0.03)	411 (44%; 0.02)	0.07	0.8	>0.9
Blended in-person and internet intervention	781 (57%; 0.02)	245 (55%; 0.03)	536 (58%; 0.02)	0.69	0.5	>0.9
Preference	N ¹ (% ⁴ , SE)	N ¹ (% ⁴ , SE)	N ¹ (% ⁴ , SE)	6.7	0.074	
In-person treatment	996 (72%; 0.01)	309 (69%; 0.02)	687 (74%; 0.02)			
Digital treatment	263 (19%; 0.01)	102 (23%; 0.02)	160 (17%; 0.01)			
Blended treatment	118 (8.6%; 0.01)	34 (7.6%; 0.01)	84 (9.1%; 0.01)			

TABLE 1 Willingness to use (acceptance) and preferred treatment delivery modes among the total sample and among those with 12-month prevalence of a mental disorder (N = 1,376).

¹Weighted.

 $^{2}\chi^{2}$ test adjusted by a design effect estimate.

³Holm correction for multiple testing.

⁴Percentages may not total 100 due to rounding.

model containing the following predictor variables explained more variance compared to the baseline model (containing all candidate variables): any 12-month mental disorder, sex, intention to use services, treatment efficacy beliefs and prior treatment experience. Knowledge of and experiences with IMI and parental education did not contribute to a reduction in variance. Both digital and blended treatments were compared to in-person (reference category). A preference for digital over in-person delivery was significantly associated with efficacy beliefs of IMI, no prior treatment experience, no intention for service use, and having a mental disorder. Individuals that believe in the efficacy of IMI were significantly more likely to prefer digital over in-person delivery modes compared to individuals that thought they were ineffective (OR: 3.15, 95% 2.9, 4.35; p < .001). Participants with a

mental disorder showed higher odds of preferring digital modalities [OR: 1.56, 95% (1.14, 2.12); p = .005]. Students without intentions to use services were more likely to prefer digital over in-person modes [OR: 2.75, 95% (1.95, 3.98); p < .001], compared to students with these intentions. Participants with treatment experience were less likely to choose digital over in-person treatment [OR: 0.48, 95% (0.31, 0.73); p < .001]. Preferring a blended over an in-person treatment was significantly associated with perceived IMI efficacy, indicating that individuals believing in their efficacy were significantly more likely to prefer digital over in-person services compared to individuals who thought they were ineffective [OR: 2.8, 95% (1.82, 4.3); p < .001]. Additional information on the model can be found in Supplementary material S4.

TABLE 2 Bivariate multinominal logistic regression of mental health care modality preferences for relative associations between preferred modes, and demographic, clinical predictors, and intention to use treatment.

Factor	Di	igital vs. In-perso	on	Blended vs. In-person		
	OR ¹	95% Cl ¹	<i>p</i> -value	OR ¹	95% Cl ¹	<i>p</i> -value
Mental disorder						
(0) no disorder (ref)	1	-	-	1	-	_
(1) any 12-month disorder	1.556	1.140, 2.124	0.005	0.954	0.610, 1.494	0.8
Perceived efficacy of IMIs						
(0) no effect of IMI (ref)	1	-	_	1	-	_
(1) efficacious treatment	3.153	2.287, 4.347	< 0.001	2.789	1.816, 4.284	< 0.001
Treatment Experience						
(0) No prior treatment (ref)	1	-	_	1	_	-
(1) Prior treatment	0.464	0.306, 0.704	< 0.001	0.661	0.395, 1.108	0.12
Sex						
Male (ref)	1	-	_	1	-	_
Female	0.817	0.611, 1.092	0.2	1.234	0.834, 1.826	0.3
Intention to use services						
(0) Willing to use services when needed (ref)	1	-	-	-	-	-
(1) Not willing to use services	2.749	1.949, 3.878	< 0.001	1.180	0.787, 1.769	0.4

AIC = 1,976; No. Obs. = 1,376.

¹OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; ref, reference.

Target		Men	tal disorder (<i>N</i> =	= 445)	No m	ental disorder (N = 932)
	Total, <i>N</i> = 1,376	Male, $N = 221^{1}$	Female, $N = 260^{1}$	OR ^{2,3}	Male, $N = 461^{1}$	Female, $N = 435^{1}$	OR ^{2,3}
	N ¹ (%, SE)	N ¹ (%, SE)	N ¹ (%, SE)	OR (95% CI)	N ¹ (%, SE)	N ¹ (%, SE)	OR (95% CI)
Stress	1,001 (73%; 0.01)	131 (67%; 0.04)	201 (80%; 0.03)	0.52 (0.34, 0.80)*	321 (66%; 0.03)	349 (79%; 0.02)	0.52 (0.39, 0.70)**
Stress management	981 (71%; 0.01)	129 (67%; 0.04)	187 (75%; 0.03)	0.68 (0.45, 1.03)	339 (70%; 0.03)	326 (73%; 0.02)	0.83 (0.62, 1.10)
Body-dissatisfaction	527 (38%; 0.01)	71 (36%; 0.04)	130 (52%; 0.03)	0.53 (0.36, 0.78)*	139 (28%; 0.03)	187 (42%; 0.02)	0.54 (0.41, 0.71)**
Cannabis	33 (2.4%; 0.00)	10 (5%; 0.02)	6 (2.2%; 0.01)	2.34 (0.81, 6.75)	11 (2.2%; 0.01)	7 (1.5%; 0.01)	1.46 (0.55, 3.89)
Alcohol	47 (3.4%; 0.01)	13 (6.5%; 0.02)	9 (3.5%; 0.01)	1.90 (0.79, 4.58)	18 (3.7%; 0.01)	7 (1.5%; 0.01)	2.51 (1.03, 6.11)
Procrastination	1,030 (75%; 0.01)	159 (82%; 0.04)	198 (79%; 0.03)	1.22 (0.76, 1.97)	361 (74%; 0.02)	312 (70%; 0.02)	1.20 (0.90, 1.61)
Sleep	798 (58%; 0.02)	117 (61%; 0.05)	166 (66%; 0.03)	0.79 (0.53, 1.16)	273 (56%; 0.03)	242 (55%; 0.02)	1.05 (0.81, 1.37)
Perfectionism	527 (38%; 0.01)	73 (38%; 0.04)	131 (52%; 0.03)	0.55 (0.38, 0.81)*	130 (27%; 0.03)	193 (44%; 0.02)	0.47 (0.36, 0.62)**
Social anxiety	744 (54%; 0.02)	130 (67%; 0.04)	160 (64%; 0.03)	1.17 (0.79, 1.74)	245 (50%; 0.03)	208 (47%; 0.02)	1.14 (0.88, 1.48)
Test anxiety	760 (55%; 0.02)	109 (56%; 0.04)	169 (67%; 0.03)	0.63 (0.43, 0.92)	224 (46%; 0.03)	259 (58%; 0.02)	0.60 (0.47, 0.78)**
Resilience/well-being	742 (54%; 0.02)	129 (67%; 0.04)	195 (78%; 0.03)	0.57 (0.38, 0.87)	169 (35%; 0.03)	249 (56%; 0.02)	0.41 (0.32, 0.54)**
Depression	632 (46%; 0.02)	130 (67%; 0.04)	185 (74%; 0.03)	0.74 (0.49, 1.11)	148 (30%; 0.03)	168 (38%; 0.02)	0.72 (0.54, 0.94)
Media consumption	434 (32%; 0.01)	70 (36%; 0.04)	95 (38%; 0.03)	0.93 (0.63, 1.38)	156 (32%; 0.03)	113 (25%; 0.02)	1.38 (1.04, 1.84)

TABLE 3 Willingness to use (acceptance) treatment targets among those with and without 12-month mental disorder presence by sex (N = 1,376).

OR, odds ratio; SE, standard error; CI, confidence interval.

*Applies if the post-hoc adjustment by holm is significant (p < 0.001).

**Applies if the post-hoc adjustment by holm is significant (p < 0.05).

¹Weighted percentages may not total 100% due to rounding.

 $^{2}\chi^{2}$ test adjusted by a design effect estimate.

³Holm correction for multiple testing.

Willingness to use different treatment targets

Most students favored study-related intervention targets such as procrastination (75%), stress (73%), and time management (71%) (see Table 3). About half of the students were interested in interventions focusing on problems that commonly occur in college years, i.e., sleep (55%), social anxiety (50%), test anxiety (46%), and depression (46%). Well-being (resilience) was interesting for 54% of the students. Less prevalent behavioral problems, such as body-dissatisfaction (38%), media consumption (32%), and perfectionism (38%) received less interest. The least accepted treatment targets were cannabis use (2.4%) and alcohol use reduction (3.4%).

Targets differed in their acceptance showing higher rates for students with mental disorders. The highest differences were seen for resilience (67%–78% vs. 35%–56%) and depression (67%–74% vs. 30%–38%). Also, interventions targeting procrastination (79%–

82% vs.70%-74%), sleep (61%-66% vs. 55%-56%), perfectionism (38%-52% vs. 27%-44%) or social anxiety (64%-67% vs. 47%-50%) showed higher acceptance among students with mental disorder. The other targets were similarly distributed between students with compared to students without mental disorder.

Among students without a mental disorder, female students indicated significantly higher levels (p > 0.001) of acceptance for interventions on stress, body-dissatisfaction, perfectionism, test-anxiety, and resilience, as compared to male students. For all other targets acceptance was similar between sexes. Among students with a mental disorder, a similar pattern of acceptance could be observed. The only significantly higher level of acceptance in female students compared to male students was found for the intervention targets: stress, body-dissatisfaction, and perfectionism.

The optimal combination of intervention targets Table 4 shows preferred treatment combinations (k = 2, 3) among the total sample and with or without any 12-month mental disorder present. If we

TABLE 4 The treatment target combinations (k = 2, 3) reaching the highest acceptance among the total sample and by 12-months mental disorder presence.

Two treatment targets	%	Three treatment targets	%
Total sample		Total sample	
Procrastination + Stress	88.18	Procrastination + Stress + Time management	91.49
Procrastination + Time management	86.20	Procrastination + Stress + Social anxiety	91.39
Stress + Time management	85.49	Procrastination + Stress + Sleep +	91.31
Any disorder		Any disorder	
Procrastination + Depression	90.99	Procrastination + Sleep + Resilience	94.06
Procrastination + Resilience	90.63	Procrastination + Social anxiety + Resilience	93.40
Procrastination + Social anxiety	88.83	Procrastination + Perfectionism + Depression	93.34
No disorder		No disorder	
Procrastination + Stress	87.93	Procrastination + Stress + Time management +	91.57
Procrastination + Time management	85.56	Procrastination + Stress + Test anxiety	90.85
Stress + Time management	85.84	Procrastination + Stress + Sleep	90.79

only had resources to offer two interventions, a combination of stress, procrastination, or time management, would reach acceptance rates of 85%–88%. Offering all three treatments would increase the joint acceptance to 91%. For students with a mental disorder a combination of procrastination and depression as treatment targets (91%), and a combination of sleep, procrastination, and resilience would lead to high acceptance rates (94%).

Supplementary Table S5 presents the optimal treatment mixes per 12-month mental disorder. For MDE, PD and suicide plan and/ or attempt, a combination of procrastination and depression targets are most accepted (range: 92.10%–92.63%). Among participants with GAD the preferred 2-treatment mix was resilience and procrastination (94.09%) followed by stress and social anxiety. Students with drug abuse or dependence showed the highest willingness to use for interventions combining time management with stress or resilience (84.16%). Students with alcohol abuse or dependence preferred intervention targeting time management and stress (96.75%). For students with broad mania, the highest-rated 2treatment mix was test anxiety in combination with procrastination (94.33%). A 3-treatment mix only showed a minimal increase in acceptance (range: 0%–3.24%) across all disorders.

Discussion

Principal findings

This study's sample showed that German university students' acceptance varies depending on the delivery mode (in-person 71%–76%, IMI 44%–48%, blended 57%, group therapy 31%–36%). Students with mental disorders indicated a higher acceptance of internet- and mobile-based self-help services compared to students with no disorder. Regarding delivery mode preference, in-person services were preferred over digital and blended modalities. High treatment efficacy beliefs, no intention for service use, having a mental disorder, and lack of treatment experience were significantly associated with preferring digital over in-person treatment.

The study is the first to evaluate the acceptance of intervention targets among students with and without a 12-month mental disorder in Germany. Study-related targets (i.e., procrastination) showed the highest acceptance, while reducing cannabis or alcohol were the least accepted targets. In general, female students with a mental disorder showed higher interest in various intervention targets. Analysis of treatment combinations, (both overall and among those without a mental disorder) indicated that a two-way combination of procrastination, stress, or time-management is favorable. Students with a mental disorder favored a combination of procrastination and depression as treatment targets. Offering three instead of two targets led to a negligible increase in acceptance.

Comparison with prior work

Our findings are consistent with existing evidence on the acceptance of treatment modalities in the student population.

One prior study involving Mexican students found similar acceptance rates for any in-person service (74%) and digital (42%) delivery mode. Likewise to our study, the acceptance for IMIs was significantly higher among students with a mental disorder (26). Moreover, in our sample in-person group therapy was the least accepted treatment mode, which may be explained by the desire to solve problem independently (11, 12).

Our findings regarding the preference for delivery modes differed, in part, from previous evidence. Students in Germany and Mexico preferred in-person treatments. However, Mexican students showed similar preference for blended (36%) and inperson therapy (38%), and low preference for IMIs (7%), and one fifth reported no preference at all (26). German adults significantly preferred blended over internet-delivered modes for programs focusing on stress coping (52), whereas German students in our sample preferred an internet-and mobile-based (19%) over a blended mode (9%). The reason for this difference remains unclear and evidence regarding the predictors of delivery mode preference is limited. We found efficacy beliefs of IMIs to be associated with blended and digital mode preference. Benjet et al. (26) also found treatment efficacy beliefs to be associated with IMI preference, while sex and parental education had no effect. Apolinário-Hagen et al. (52) showed a higher stress level to be a predictor of the preference for digital intervention modes. Similar to the findings in Apolinário-Hagen et al. (53), our study identified that having prior experience with a specific treatment mode positively predicted the preference for this mode among participants. In line with findings by Benjet et al. (26), existing hesitancy towards service use was a predictor for digital mode preference in our sample. That is, students who stated they would definitely not seek help commonly preferred to solve problems by themselves, hence preferred digital self-help intervention modes.

Our findings are supported by data on the general German population which prefers in-person therapy. Lincke et al. (29) found younger age and student status to be positively associated with IMI preference which may explain why we found blended therapy to be the least preferred option. However, a discrete choice experiment showed blended therapy to be the preferred mode. Unfortunately, the study only measured preferences towards IMIs and did not include in-person therapy as a selectable option (28).

Common reasons for the low acceptance and preference of IMIs are low efficacy beliefs, confidentiality and privacy concerns, scepticism about self-guided IMIs and low motivation (54). This is underscored by a relatively low uptake of reimbursable digital health applications (DiGA) that were introduced via the Digital Healhcare Act (Digitale-Versorgungs-Gesetz; DVG) in 2019. The monthly number of used DiGAs tripled from 5.000 in December 2021 to 15.000 in September 2023 (55). However, a statutory health insurance remarked that the uptake of DiGAs is relatively low and growth may be due to increased uptake of existing interventions (56).

Our study was the first to evaluate the acceptance of different treatment targets and complements previous findings on student's interest in health services and research on patient preferences for psychotherapy treatment options. In the present study acceptance was highest for targets related to problems at

campus (study-related e.g., stress, procrastination) especially among students with a mental disorder, and lowest for alcohol and cannabis reduction. Procrastination, which is very prevalent in student populations and associated with lower quality of life, symptoms of stress, depression, and anxiety in university students (56), was of particular interest for students. Students with a mental disorder showed a higher acceptance of treatment targets than student without any mental disorder. This aligns with findings from two prior studies: first, Canadian students with high self-reported symptoms use more health care services (60). Second, a recent report on student health by a German statutory health insurance provider (TK), (33) showed high interest in resilience, mindfulness, and time and selfmanagement, and low interest in substance abuse, and more interest among female students than male students. Acceptance rates of other targets, such as sleep, and media consumption, were similar to our results. In the same report, students identified study-related problems as the causes of stress they are exposed to at university. Research shows that primary care patients favor treatments that help them understand the causes of their feelings and problems and that they like to learn new skills and relaxation techniques (58). Following this logic, procrastination, stress and time-management interventions may constitute the favored treatments for university students as they help them to decrease their main stressors and increase their coping skills.

Limitations

Some limitations of the present study should be discussed. First, the intention to use a treatment target or delivery mode does not fully translate to actual utilization behavior, i.e., the intention-behavior gap (60). We were unable to assess differences between willingness and preference to use treatment targets compared to the actual treatment utilization data. This was due to the cross-sectional design and limited access to service use data. Future studies with a longitudinal design and access to actual treatment utilization may address this issue. Yet, intention can be used as proxy for treatment utilization. Past research shows that most students expressing an interest in a digital stress management intervention also registered for it (61). Second, the drop-out was substantial due to the length of the survey as part of the WMH-ICS project and the exclusion of incomplete surveys. Although we attempted to address this issue by applying propensity score weighing, less drop-out may have revealed additional insights. Third, participants had no response category for treatment rejection, nor did we directly ask about the preferred treatment target. This may have led to skewed results, forcing students to select a response that did not reflect their true preference. Fourth, not all predictors that could be relevant for the acceptance and preference of delivery modes were included in the survey. Adding new predictors, such as fear of stigma and preference to handle problems on one's own, might help to further investigate delivery mode preferences and improve treatment provision. Fifth, due to the high drop-out and

potential occurrence of selection bias, the generalizability is limited. This is especially true as both universities are in the south of Germany and results may therefore not be generalizable to all German universities. Sixth, the use of accepted and preferred intervention targets and delivery modes is a good way to increase the mental health service use. However, we do not know if these interventions are also the most effective treatments. Therefore, clinical trials need to confirm whether there is a difference in the effectiveness of preferred treatments compared to treatments that are recommended by an expert or clinician. Seventh, due to the relatively old data, preferences and attitudes may have changed over time, as efforts for the digitalization of the health care sector have sharply increased, for example, due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, a more recent qualitative study on digital mental health services showed that German students only have little experience with this kind of services (62). Eighth, the 12-month mental disorders were solely based on self-reported DSM-IV criteria which may have led to inflated prevalences due to self-selection and recall bias. Despite these limitations, this study provides new insights and evidence regarding the acceptance for treatment targets and their delivery modes.

Clinical implications and future research

Based on our findings, recommendations for future research and clinical implications can be made. Offering students with mental disorders their preferred treatment option minimizes their treatment reluctancy and increases their intention to use treatment while reducing mental health symptoms. Meta-analytic evidence on in-person or internet-based interventions targeting resilience and stress management supports their efficacy in reducing symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress (63, 64). This concept is known as indirect prevention and treatment which focuses on intervention targets that are less stigmatized, but still related to disorders. In depression such intervention targets are insomnia and stress (65). Thus, future research should include more prevention and health promoting targets to assess their acceptance and preference relative to the others.

Acceptance of IMIs is moderate among students, but their preference is much lower than for in-person treatments. Given the limited resources of student counseling centers and the growing number of students with mental health problems, IMIs could still be useful. IMIs are similarly effective as face-to-face counseling in the treatment of mental disorders (69) and mental health promotion (64) and prevention (66); they are lowthreshold, can reach students (with mental disorders, no intention of seeking help, and no treatment experience) who would otherwise not receive care, and have the potential to be cost-effective (68). Meta-analytic evidence of IMIs in routine care shows promising effects in the treatment of mental disorders in adults (69). However, the reach (initial contact with service) among university students remains low while the uptake of those enrolled in the interventions is high (70). Stakeholders view data security, privacy concerns and limited in-person contact as barriers for a successful implementation (71). Facilitators of implementation are evidence-based, attractive and updated IMIs adapted for contextual factors (71) and the use of evidence-based frameworks such as RE-AIM (reach, effectiveness, adoption, implementation, and maintenance) (72) or the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (73). IMIs, as scalable, low-threshold interventions that can be easily tailored, are an indispensable ingredient of sustainable student health care management assuming their successful implementation.

Research shows that students who cannot be offered immediate in-person treatment would prefer digital treatment to waiting (74). Students are not inherently averse to using IMI, but limited knowledge about and experiences with IMI demonstrated in our study and many others may explain students' preferences for inperson delivery modes as "the" standard treatment.

Another barrier for IMI preference could be scepticism towards and perceived risk of use, as shown in mental health apps (75). The same authors who validated the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) model for digital health care also found internet/technology anxiety ("fear or mistrust experienced while using the internet") to be a moderating factor for the acceptance of IMIs (76). Concerns about the protection of sensitive data in digital health apps are well-known (77) and relevant to students. This is supported in a study by Dederichs et al. (78) where students emphasized data security and the scientific evaluation of IMIs as relevant topics for mHealth app development.

One strategy to increase participants' willingness to use, treatment uptake, and treatment adherence of IMIs are acceptance facilitating interventions (AFI). We suggest AFIs that focus on providing knowledge on the effectiveness of IMIs, intervention procedures, and data security to reduce the fear of technology. This may help to strengthen positive attitudes (e.g., awareness, treatment efficacy beliefs) toward IMIs, which are known to be strong predictors for their use (52). There is evidence that AFIs can increase the acceptance of IMIs. Ebert et al. (11, 12) found internet-based personalized feedback on symptom severity and information on available services, which was integrated in our survey, to be effective in increasing helpseeking intentions. In another survey, students received different informational materials on a digital resilience training. Here, the intention to use services was associated with a higher level of stress and self-identification with testimonials. Therefore, information must be adapted to the student setting. Interestingly, most students who were offered an intervention shortly after exposure to an AFI signed up for it (61). Another promising method to increase the acceptance of IMIs involves participatory research design. Dederichs et al. (78) conducted co-design workshops to identify medical students' preferences and ideas for mobile health apps to increase their acceptance, demonstrating the feasibility and acceptance of such workshops.

In conclusion, students are interested in different intervention targets and delivery modes, partly depending on mental disorder status, treatment experience, sex, and their knowledge of treatment options. Offering one-size-fits-all interventions which are currently widely implemented in student mental health care do not match our findings. Thus, we recommend further research on the preference and acceptance of treatment targets and delivery modes in form of needs assessments to confirm and extend the available evidence. In practice, we recommend decision-makers and practitioners to follow five steps to increase the acceptance of mental health care services at university: first, evaluate current services used. Second, decide if services should cater to all students or specific target groups only (e.g., students with mental disorders). Third, choose the most accepted interventions and delivery modes. Fourth, plan and conduct AFI in general (i.e., on mental health literacy, efficacy of treatments) or specifically for delivery modes that are available and scalable, but not the most accepted (e.g., on efficacy beliefs and data protection of IMI). Fifth, if AFI are used, available services should be offered directly afterwards.

Designing and building needs-based student mental health care services, while respecting different student groups' diverse acceptance of and preference towards treatment targets and delivery modes improves the provision of optimal treatments. This increases engagement and service use, reduces treatment reluctance, improves mental health, avoids premature college drop-out, and allocates limited resources in the best possible way.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen Nürnberg (12.07.2016, 193_16 B). and the University of Ulm (04.08.2017, 281/17). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

FK: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Project administration, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PH: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. A-MK: Project administration, Writing – review & editing, Data curation. HB: Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The authors declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

The project was funded by BARMER, a major statutory health care insurance company in Germany. BARMER had no role in study design, decision to publish or preparation of this manuscript. BARMER was/is not involved in data collection, analyses, decision to publish, or preparation of future papers regarding the StudiCare project.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the participants that allocated time and effort to answer the survey. DE and HB received funding for the StudiCare project from the German health insurance BARMER. The survey was carried out in conjunction with the WHO World Mental Health International College Surveys Initiative (WHO WMH-ICS). The authors thank the WHO WMH-ICS collaborators and staff for assistance with instrumentation. We thank Avery Veldhouse for proofreading the manuscript and Anna Pyttlik to support the layout. We thank Andreas Osowski for his support with the analysis in R.

Conflict of interest

HB reports having received consultancy fees and fees for lectures/workshops from chambers of psychotherapists and

References

 Kessler RC, Angermeyer M, Anthony JC, De Graaf RON, Demyttenaere K, Gasquet I, et al. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of mental disorders in the world health organization's world mental health survey initiative. World Psychiatry. (2007) 6(3):168-76. PMID: 18188442; PMCID: PMC2174588

2. Auerbach RP, Mortier P, Bruffaerts R, Alonso J, Benjet C, Cuijpers P, et al. WHO world mental health surveys international college student project: prevalence and distribution of mental disorders. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (2018) 127(7):623–38. doi: 10. 1037/abn0000362

3. Jung E, Pick O, Schlüter-Müller S, Schmeck K, Goth K. Identity development in adolescents with mental problems. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*. (2013) 7 (1):26. doi: 10.1186/1753-2000-7-26

4. Alonso J, Mortier P, Auerbach RP, Bruffaerts R, Vilagut G, Cuijpers P, et al. Severe role impairment associated with mental disorders: results of the WHO world mental health surveys international college student project. *Depress Anxiety.* (2018) 35(9):802–14. doi: 10.1002/da.22778

5. Zając T, Perales F, Tomaszewski W, Xiang N, Zubrick SR. Student mental health and dropout from higher education: an analysis of Australian administrative data. *Higher Education*. (2023):1–19. doi: 10.1007/s10734-023-01009-9

 Runge AJ, Beesdo K, Lieb R, Wittchen H-U. How frequent is psychotherapy utilisation by adolescents and young adults with anxiety disorders? *Verhaltenstherapie*. (2008) 18(1):26–34. doi: 10.1159/000113890

7. Wang PS, Berglund P, Olfson M, Pincus HA, Wells KB, Kessler RC. Failure and delay in initial treatment contact after first onset of mental disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2005) 62(6):603–13. doi: 10. 1001/archpsyc.62.6.603

8. Bruffaerts R, Mortier P, Auerbach RP, Alonso J, Hermosillo De La Torre AE, Cuijpers P, et al. Lifetime and 12-month treatment for mental disorders and suicidal thoughts and behaviors among first year college students. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 28(2):e1764. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1764

9. Jorm AF. Mental health literacy. Public knowledge and beliefs about mental disorders. Br J Psychiatry. (2000) 177:396–401. doi: 10.1192/bjp.177.5.396

10. Andrade LH, Alonso J, Mneimneh Z, Wells JE, Al-Hamzawi A, Borges G, et al. Barriers to mental health treatment: results from the WHO world mental health surveys. *Psychol Med.* (2014) 44(6):1303–17. doi: 10.1017/s003329171 3001943

training institutes for psychotherapists in the e-mentalhealth context.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The authors declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fdgth.2024. 1284661/full#supplementary-material

11. Ebert DD, Harrer M, Apolinário-Hagen J, Baumeister H. Digital interventions for mental disorders: key features, efficacy, and potential for artificial intelligence applications. In: Kim Y-K, editor. *Frontiers in Psychiatry: Artificial Intelligence, Precision Medicine, and Other Paradigm Shifts.* New York: Springer New York LLC (2019a). p. 583–627.

12. Ebert DD, Mortier P, Kaehlke F, Bruffaerts R, Baumeister H, Auerbach RP, et al. Barriers of mental health treatment utilization among first-year college students: first cross-national results from the WHO world mental health international college student initiative. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2019b) 28(2):e1782. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1782

13. Grobe TG, Steinmann S, Szecsenyi J. BARMER Arztreport 2018: Schriftenreihe zur Gesundheitsanalyse. Asgard Verlagsservice (2018).

14. Ortenburger A. Beratung von Bachelorstudierenden in Studium und Alltag: Ergebnisse einer HISBUS-Befragung zu Schwierigkeiten und Problemlagen von Studierenden und zur Wahrnehmung, Nutzung und Bewertung von Beratungsangeboten; Berichtsband. In: HIS, Hochschul-Informations-System (2013).

15. IQWiG. A guide to psychotherapy in Germany: Where can I find help? Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG). Retrieved 01.12 Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279513/ (2023).

16. Singer S, Maier L, Paserat A, Lang K, Wirp B, Kobes J, et al. Wartezeiten auf einen Psychotherapieplatz vor und nach der Psychotherapiestrukturreform. *Psychotherapeut.* (2022) 67(2):176–84. doi: 10.1007/s00278-021-00551-0

17. Studierendenwerk D. Studieren mit psychischen Erkrankungen: Aktuelle Befunde und Herausforderungen Available online at: https://www.studierendenwerke.de/ beitrag/studieren-mit-psychischen-erkrankungen-aktuelle-befunde-undherausforderungen (2023).

18. Kazdin AE. Technology-based interventions and reducing the burdens of mental illness: perspectives and comments on the special series. *Cogn Behav Pract.* (2015) 22 (3):359–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2015.04.004

19. Ebert DD, Van Daele T, Nordgreen T, Karekla M, Compare A, Zarbo C, et al. Internet- and mobile-based psychological interventions: applications, efficacy, and potential for improving mental health: a report of the EFPA E-health taskforce. *Eur Psychol.* (2018) 23(2):167–87. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000318

20. Harrer M, Adam SH, Baumeister H, Cuijpers P, Karyotaki E, Auerbach RP, et al. Internet interventions for mental health in university students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 28(2):e1759. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1759 21. Mayer G, Gronewold N, Alvarez S, Bruns B, Hilbel T, Schultz J-H. Acceptance and expectations of medical experts, students, and patients toward electronic mental health apps: cross-sectional quantitative and qualitative survey study. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2019) 6(11):e14018. doi: 10.2196/14018

22. Berry N, Lobban F, Emsley R, Bucci S. Acceptability of interventions delivered online and through mobile phones for people who experience severe mental health problems: a systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2016) 18(5):e121. doi: 10.2196/jmir.5250

23. Windle E, Tee H, Sabitova A, Jovanovic N, Priebe S, Carr C. Association of patient treatment preference with dropout and clinical outcomes in adult psychosocial mental health interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2020) 77(3):294–302. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.3750

24. Lungu A, Sun M. Time for a change: college students' preference for technologymediated versus face-to-face help for emotional distress. *Telemed J E Health*. (2016) 22 (12):991–1000. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2015.0214

25. Horgan Á, Sweeny J. Young students' use of the internet for mental health information and support. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs. (2010) 17(2):117-23. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2850.2009.01497.x

26. Benjet C, Wittenborn A, Gutierrez-García RA, Albor YC, Contreras EV, Hernández SC, et al. Treatment delivery preferences associated with type of mental disorder and perceived treatment barriers among Mexican university students. *J Adolesc Health.* (2020) 67(2):232–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.01.025

27. Kozlov E, McDarby M, Prescott M, Altman M. Assessing the care modality preferences and predictors for digital mental health treatment seekers in a technology-enabled stepped care delivery system: cross-sectional study. *JMIR Form Res.* (2021) 5(9):e30162. doi: 10.2196/30162

28. Phillips EA, Himmler SF, Schreyögg J. Preferences for e-mental health interventions in Germany: a discrete choice experiment. *Value Health.* (2021) 24 (3):421–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2020.09.018

29. Lincke L, Ulbrich L, Reis O, Wandinger E, Brähler E, Dück A, et al. Attitudes toward innovative mental health treatment approaches in Germany: E-mental health and home treatment [original research]. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:1–15. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.889555

30. Apolinário-Hagen J, Hennemann S, Fritsche L, Drüge M, Breil B. Determinant factors of public acceptance of stress management apps: survey study. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2019) 6(11):e15373. doi: 10.2196/15373

31. Swift JK, Callahan JL, Cooper M, Parkin SR. The impact of accommodating client preference in psychotherapy: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Psychol.* (2018) 74 (11):1924–37. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22680

32. Winter SE, Barber JP. Should treatment for depression be based more on patient preference? *Patient Prefer Adherence*. (2013) 7:1047–57. doi: 10.2147/ppa.S52746

33. Meyer BG, Thomas G, Sven B. Gesundheitsreport 2023 – Wie geht's Deutschlands Studierenden? T. Krankenkasse (2023).

34. Clough BA, Nazareth SM, Day JJ, Casey LM. A comparison of mental health literacy, attitudes, and help-seeking intentions among domestic and international tertiary students. *Br J Guid Counc.* (2019) 47(1):123–35. doi: 10.1080/03069885. 2018.1459473

35. Latalova K, Kamaradova D, Prasko J. Perspectives on perceived stigma and selfstigma in adult male patients with depression. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2014) 10:1399–405. doi: 10.2147/ndt.S54081

36. Ratnayake P, Hyde C. Mental health literacy, help-seeking behaviour and wellbeing in young people: implications for practice. *Educ Dev Psychol.* (2019) 36 (1):16–21. doi: 10.1017/edp.2019.1

37. Kählke F, Küchler A-M, Baumeister H, Ebert DD. Studicare erfolgreich und gesund studieren-ein umfassendes deutsches und internationales Projekt zur Förderung der psychischen Gesundheit von Studierenden. *E-Beratungsjournal.* (2019) 15(2):133–56. https://www.e-beratungsjournal.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/ 07/kaehlke_et_al.pdf

38. Cuijpers P, Auerbach RP, Benjet C, Bruffaerts R, Ebert D, Karyotaki E, et al. The world health organization world mental health international college student initiative: an overview. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 28(2):e1761. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1761

39. Ursano RJ, Colpe LJ, Heeringa SG, Kessler RC, Schoenbaum M, Stein MB, et al. The army study to assess risk and resilience in servicemembers (army STARRS). *Psychiatry.* (2014) 77(2):107–19. doi: 10.1521/psyc.2014.77.2.107

40. Kessler RC, Santiago PN, Colpe LJ, Dempsey CL, First MB, Heeringa SG, et al. Clinical reappraisal of the composite international diagnostic interview screening scales (CIDI-SC) in the army study to assess risk and resilience in servicemembers (army STARRS). *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2013a) 22(4):303–21. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1398

41. Kessler RC, Santiago PN, Colpe LJ, Dempsey CL, First MB, Heeringa SG, et al. Clinical reappraisal of the composite international diagnostic interview screening scales (CIDI-SC) in the army study to assess risk and resilience in servicemembers (army STARRS). *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2013b) 22(4):303–21. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1398

42. First M, Spitzer R, Gibbon M, Williams B. *Structured Clinical Interview for Axis I DSM-IV Disorders*. New York: New York State Psychiatric Institute: Biometrics Research Department (1994).

43. Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, De la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption-II. *Addiction*. (1993) 88 (6):791–804. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x

44. Babor TF, Higgins-Biddle JC, Saunders JB, Monteiro MG, Organization, W. H. AUDIT: the alcohol use disorders identification test: guidelines for use in primary health care (2001).

45. Reinert DF, Allen JP. The alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT): a review of recent research. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* (2002) 26(2):272–9. doi: 10.1111/j. 1530-0277.2002.tb02534.x

46. Posner K, Brown GK, Stanley B, Brent DA, Yershova KV, Oquendo MA, et al. The Columbia-suicide severity rating scale: initial validity and internal consistency findings from three multisite studies with adolescents and adults. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2011) 168(12):1266–77. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10111704

47. Groves RM, Couper MP. Nonresponse in Household Interview Surveys. New York: John Wiley & Sons (1998).

48. Hazelwood LN, Mach TL, Wolken JD. Alternative methods of unit nonresponse weighting adjustments: an application from the 2003 survey of small business finances. *Finance Econom Discussion Series*. (2007) 2007:1–18. doi: 10.17016/feds.2007.10

49. Holm S. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scand J Stat (1979) 6(2):65–70.

50. Abdi H. Holm's sequential Bonferroni procedure. In: Neil Salkind, editor. Encyclopedia of Research Design. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage (2010). p. 1–8.

51. Bartoń K. MuMIn: Multi-modal inference. Model selection and model averaging based on information criteria (AICc and alike). Available online at: http://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/MuMIn/index.html (2013).

52. Apolinário-Hagen J, Hennemann S, Kück C, Wodner A, Geibel D, Riebschläger M, et al. Exploring user-related drivers of the early acceptance of certified digital stress prevention programs in Germany. *Health Serv Insights*. (2020) 13:1178632920911061. doi: 10.1177/1178632920911061

53. Apolinário-Hagen J, Harrer M, Kählke F, Fritsche L, Salewski C, Ebert DD. Public attitudes toward guided internet-based therapies: web-based survey study. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2018) 5(2):e10735. doi: 10.2196/10735

54. Renn BN, Hoeft TJ, Lee HS, Bauer AM, Areán PA. Preference for in-person psychotherapy versus digital psychotherapy options for depression: survey of adults in the U.S. *NPJ Digit Med.* (2019) 2:6. doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0077-1

55. Meskendahl D, Bachmann T. Marktentwicklung digitaler Gesundheitsanwendungen (DiGA-Report). S. D. G. e.V. Available online at: https://digitalversorgt.de/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/DiGA-Report-2023.pdf (2023).

56. Greiner W, Gensorowsky D. DiGA-Report 2022 (2022). D. Techniker. Available online at: https://www.tk.de/resource/blob/2125136/dd3d3dbafcfaef0984dcf8576b1d 7713/tk-diga-report-2022-data.pdf (accessed February 08, 2024).

57. Rozental A, Forsström D, Hussoon A, Klingsieck KB. Procrastination among university students: differentiating severe cases in need of support from less severe cases [original research]. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:1–15. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022. 783570

58. Bhattarai A, King N, Adhikari K, Dimitropoulos G, Devoe D, Byun J, et al. Childhood adversity and mental health outcomes among university students: A longitudinal study. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2023) 68(7):510–20. doi: 10.1177/07067437221111368

59. Lang AJ. Mental health treatment preferences of primary care patients. J Behav Med. (2005) 28(6):581–6. doi: 10.1007/s10865-005-9019-2

60. Sheeran P, Webb TL. The intention-behavior gap. Soc Personal Psychol Compass. (2016) 10(9):503-18. doi: 10.1111/spc3.12265

61. Apolinário-Hagen J, Harrer M, Salewski C, Lehr D, Ebert DD. Akzeptanz und nutzung von E-mental-health-angeboten unter studierenden. *Prävention und Gesundheitsförderung*. (2023) 18(2):196–203. doi: 10.1007/s11553-022-00945-1

62. Braun P, Schwientek AK, Angerer P, Guthardt L, Icks A, Loerbroks A, et al. Investigating information needs and preferences regarding digital mental health services among medical and psychology students in Germany: a qualitative study. *Digit Health.* (2023) 9:20552076231173568. doi: 10.1177/20552076231173568

63. Amanvermez Y, Zhao R, Cuijpers P, de Wit LM, Ebert DD, Kessler RC, et al. Effects of self-guided stress management interventions in college students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Internet Interv.* (2022) 28:100503. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2022.100503

64. Ang WHD, Chew HSJ, Dong J, Yi H, Mahendren R, Lau Y. Digital training for building resilience: systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. *Stress Health.* (2022) 38(5):848–69. doi: 10.1002/smi.3154

65. Cuijpers P. Indirect prevention and treatment of depression: an emerging paradigm? *Clin Psychol Eur.* (2021) 3(4):e6847. doi: 10.32872/cpe.6847

66. Andersson G, Titov N, Dear BF, Rozental A, Carlbring P. Internet-delivered psychological treatments: from innovation to implementation. *World Psychiatry.* (2019) 18(1):20-28. doi: 10.1002/wps.20610

67. Sander L, Rausch L, Baumeister H. Effectiveness of internet-based interventions for the prevention of mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2016) 3(3):e38. doi: 10.2196/mental.6061

68. Kählke F, Buntrock C, Smit F, Ebert DD. Systematic review of economic evaluations for internet- and mobile-based interventions for mental health problems. *NPJ Digit Med.* (2022) 5(1):175. doi: 10.1038/s41746-022-00702-w

69. Etzelmueller A, Vis C, Karyotaki E, Baumeister H, Titov N, Berking M, et al. Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis [review]. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22(8):e18100. doi: 10.2196/18100

70. D'Adamo L, Paraboschi L, Grammer AC, Fennig M, Graham AK, Yaeger LH, et al. Reach and uptake of digital mental health interventions based on cognitivebehavioral therapy for college students: a systematic review. *J Behav Cogn Ther.* (2023) 33(2):97–117. doi: 10.1016/j.jbct.2023.05.002

71. Kuso S, Nitsch M, Zeiler M, Simek M, Adamcik T, Dey M, et al. Stakeholders' views on online interventions to prevent common mental health disorders in adults implemented into existing healthcare systems in Europe. *Eur J Public Health.* (2021) 31(Supplement_1):i55–63. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckab043

72. Estabrooks PA, Gaglio B, Glasgow RE, Harden SM, Holtrop JS, Kessler RS, et al. Understanding and applying the RE-AIM framework: clarifications and resources. *J Clin Transl Sci.* (2021) 5(1):e126. doi: 10.1017/cts.2021.789 73. Kirk MA, Kelley C, Yankey N, Birken SA, Abadie B, Damschroder L. A systematic review of the use of the consolidated framework for implementation research. *Implement Sci.* (2016) 11:72. doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0437-z

74. Cunningham CE, Zipursky RB, Christensen BK, Bieling PJ, Madsen V, Rimas H, et al. Modeling the mental health service utilization decisions of university undergraduates: a discrete choice conjoint experiment. *J Am Coll Health*. (2017) 65 (6):389–99. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2017.1322090

75. Zhao Y, Ni Q, Zhou R. What factors influence the mobile health service adoption? A meta-analysis and the moderating role of age. *Int J Inf Manage*. (2018) 43:342–50. doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.08.006

76. Philippi P, Baumeister H, Apolinário-Hagen J, Ebert DD, Hennemann S, Kott L, et al. Acceptance towards digital health interventions – model validation and further development of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 26:100459. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100459

77. Parker L, Halter V, Karliychuk T, Grundy Q. How private is your mental health app data? An empirical study of mental health app privacy policies and practices. *Int J Law Psychiatry.* (2019) 64:198–204. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2019.04.002

78. Dederichs M, Nitsch FJ, Apolinário-Hagen J. Piloting an innovative concept of e-mental health and mHealth workshops with medical students using a participatory co-design approach and app prototyping: case study. *JMIR Medical Education*. (2022) 8(1):e32017. doi: 10.2196/32017

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Silvia Simbula, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

REVIEWED BY Sarah Liebherz, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany Miriam Braga, University of Verona, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Marie Drüge Marie.Druege@psychologie.uzh.ch

RECEIVED 18 September 2023 ACCEPTED 27 February 2024 PUBLISHED 14 March 2024

CITATION

Staeck R, Stüble M and Drüge M (2024) Exploring subgroups of acceptance prediction for e-mental health among psychotherapists-in-training: a latent class analysis. *Front. Psychiatry* 15:1296449. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2024.1296449

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Staeck, Stüble and Drüge. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Exploring subgroups of acceptance prediction for e-mental health among psychotherapists-in-training: a latent class analysis

Robert Staeck^{1,2}, Miriam Stüble^{2,3} and Marie Drüge⁴*

¹University of Bern, Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Social and Preventive Medicine, Bern, Switzerland, ²Graduate School for Health Sciences, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland, ³University Hospital of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland, ⁴University of Zurich, Department of Psychology, Clinical Psychology with Focus on Psychotherapy Research, Zurich, Switzerland

Theoretical background: Research of E-Mental Health (EMH) interventions remains a much-studied topic, as does its acceptance in different professional groups as psychotherapists-in-training (PiT). Acceptance among clinicians may vary and depend on several factors, including the characteristics of different EMH services and applications. Therefore, the aims of this study were to investigate the factors that predict acceptance of EMH among a sample of PiT using a latent class analysis. The study will 1) determine how many acceptance prediction classes can be distinguished and 2) describe classes and differences between classes based on their characteristics.

Methods: A secondary analysis of a cross-sectional online survey was conducted. N = 216 PiT (88.4% female) participated. In the study, participants were asked to rate their acceptance of EMH, as operationalized by the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) model, along with its predictors, perceived barriers, perceived advantages and additional facilitators. Indicator variables for the LCA were eight items measuring the UTAUT-predictors.

Results: Best model fit emerged for a two-class solution; the first class showed high levels on all UTAUT-predictors, the second class revealed moderate levels on the UTAUT-predictors.

Conclusion: This study was able to show that two classes of individuals can be identified based on the UTAUT-predictors. Differences between the classes regarding Performance Expectancy and Effort Expectancy were found. Interestingly, the two classes differed in theoretical orientation but not in age or gender. Latent class analysis could help to identify subgroups and possible starting points to foster acceptance of EMH.

KEYWORDS

e-mental health, UTAUT, psychotherapists-in-training, acceptance, latent class analysis

1 Introduction

The need for reliable and effective interventions to support mental health has grown rapidly, pushing the health system to its limits in many countries. One way to address this need is through E-Mental Health (EMH) interventions. EMH may be especially suited to address treatment barriers of underserved populations (e.g., rural areas, avoidance behavior due to shame/stigma) or waiting times. In recent years EMH has evolved and shown promising results in many studies in decreasing symptomatology (1), also in low- or middle-income countries (2). While evidence supports the effectiveness of EMH for mild to moderate mental health issues, caution is needed when considering its generalizability (e.g., selection bias, drop-out rates). Nevertheless, it remains of interest why EMH is rarely used in many countries (3). Therefore, barriers and facilitators to the integration of EMH in routine care have been discussed (4). One of the most frequent determinants of providing and receiving EMH in routine care is the acceptance of mental health care providers and patients (5). Interestingly, there is a systematic review suggesting that people with mental disorders and general practitioners have a more favorable view of EMH than psychotherapists, which poses a barrier to its implementation (6). This result was also found in more recent studies (7), however COVID-19 has accelerated the use of EMH (8, 9) and thus more positive attitudes towards online therapy were found (10). There are different theoretical models (e.g., Technology Acceptance Model, Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology - UTAUT) to operationalize acceptance of EMH f.e. as the intention to use technology such as EMH in general or a specific EMH application.

The UTAUT (11) contains four key constructs, namely Performance Expectancy (belief that using the system will enhance job performance), Effort Expectancy (expected ease of use), Social Influence (extent to which one believes significant others endorse using the new system), and Facilitating Conditions (organizational or technical resources exist for technology use) as predictors. This theory has been expanded in a variety of other studies using additional determinants ("knowledge of eHealth Interventions" cf. 12). Acceptance varied significantly between modalities (e.g., videoconferencing vs. unguided programs; cf. 13, 14). Also, UTAUT has been used in many studies which consider the perspective of the client (15, 16) as well as the perspective of the medical/psychological staff (12, 14, 17). Therefore, the UTAUT holds particular relevance regarding the acceptance of EMH in a medical context (12) in different target groups. Psychotherapists-in-Training (PiT) are an understudied and undervalued population which provide insight into the psychotherapy training. This bears relevance as the acceptance of EMH among PiT could influence the future of healthcare systems. However, to date, research on this specific group has been scarce, with only two studies utilizing the same dataset as the present study being published (14, 17): The overall acceptance of EMH among PiT, which was assessed on a 1-5 Likert scale and then categorized into the categories low (1-2.34), moderate (2.35-3.67), or high (3.68-5), can be described as moderate in N = 216 German-speaking PiT (14). This research also highlights the fact that Performance Expectancy, Social Influence and concerns about the therapeutic alliance determine EMH acceptance. Moreover, acceptance of psychotherapy via videoconference was rated the highest (M = 3.7, SD = 1.15) and acceptance of unguided programs was rated the lowest. In a secondary analysis interaction between the different application purposes (e.g. prevention, treatment addition, treatment substitute and aftercare) and different EMH modalities (e.g. telephone, videoconference, VR, unguided programs, guided programs) were analyzed (17). Although research has explored the general acceptance of EMH among PiT and other determinants of EMH (e.g., barriers, advantages) it remains unclear whether there are subgroups in this population and, if so, what characterizes those subgroups. So far, subgroup analysis using the UTAUT in a medical context has been conducted with dichotomized variables, employing a median-split (18) or using pre-existing categories (e.g., gender, no prior experience) (19, 20). Latent class analysis aims to achieve homogeneity within clusters while fostering heterogeneity between clusters (21). The number of distinct classes is not defined a priori but is chosen based on statistical criteria (22). In contrast to previous research using the same dataset (14, 17), which mainly focused on the determinants of EMH and interaction effects, LCA can provide insight into latent subgroups that may be present in the current sample but have not yet been explored. These classes could help researchers and practitioners understand differences and similarities between groups, with implications for future research and the development of tools to foster EMH acceptance.

Therefore, the present study aims to 1) determine how many acceptance prediction classes can be distinguished and 2) describe the classes and differences between classes based on their characteristics (e.g., theoretical orientation, sociodemographic characteristics, perceived advantages and barriers of EMH).

2 Methods

2.1 Participants and procedures

This analysis is a follow-up to a cross-sectional online study conducted at the University of Zurich during the summer of 2020. Between June and July 2020, participants were recruited using Email invitations through well-established educational institutions for psychotherapy in both Germany and the German-speaking region of Switzerland. The survey consisted of 50 questions, and it took participants on average 19.1 minutes to complete (SD = 5.9). In total, outreach efforts were made to 29 institutions in Switzerland and 232 institutions in Germany. However, only a limited number of institutions provided feedback regarding the distribution of the questionnaire, making it impossible to determine the response rate at an institutional level. In total, the survey received 692 visits, out of which 228 participants successfully finished the survey, resulting in a dropout rate of 68.7%. Twelve individuals were omitted from the analysis due to their emergent status as psychotherapist trainees. These participants had solely engaged in the theoretical segment of their training, lacking any clinical experience. Consequently, the final sample size was reduced to 216 participants. The

comprehensive outcomes of the original study have been documented separately (14) but can also be found in brief in the introduction of this publication. Ethical safety was provided according to a checklist of the ethics committee of the University of Zurich not requiring any other ethical approval of the ethics committee.

2.2 Measures

The survey contained items on sociodemographic characteristics including age, sex, education, country of education (Switzerland or Germany) and theoretical orientation (i.e. cognitive behavioral therapy, depth psychology or psychoanalysis). Acceptance of EMH was operationalized according to the UTAUT (11) and assessed using three items, which were adapted from previous studies (12, 18, 23, 24). A definition of EMH was given to the participants in the beginning of the survey and can be found in the Supplementary Materials. UTAUT predictors (Performance Expectancy, Effort Expectancy, Social Influence and Facilitating Conditions) were each assessed with two items. Perceived advantages (time flexibility, simplified information provision, geographic flexibility, and simplified contact maintenance) and barriers (data insecurity, impersonality, irresponsibility, legal concerns, concerns about therapeutic alliance) to EMH were assessed using single items. Three items were adapted from Hennemann et al. (12) and Ebert et al. (25) to assess knowledge about EMH. Experience with EMH was dummy coded into two groups with and without experience. The subjective estimation of evidence on EMH was rated on a visual analogue scale ranging from 1-101. The questionnaire in full can be found in the Supplementary Materials.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 27) and R (Version 4.0.0). The LCA computation utilized the poLCA package (26) using the UTAUT predictors as indicators and initially starting with a single-class solution and progressively adding classes. LCA is a popular method for extracting meaningful homogenous subgroups from data (27). Identifying the optimal number of classes is based on indices, such as the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), and relative entropy. Notably, the BIC is considered the most robust criterion as it imposes a harsher penalty on the number of parameters than the AIC (22). Smaller AIC and BIC values suggest a more favorable model fit, while greater relative entropy values indicate improved precision concerning the identified classes, with an advisable threshold of 0.8. (22). Upon determining the optimal LCA model based on previously mentioned criteria, individuals were allocated to distinct classes predicated on their posterior class membership probabilities. Differences between the classes were calculated using Chi-Squared tests for count data, Wilcoxon-Test for ordinal variables and t-tests for continuous variables.

3 Results

3.1 Model selection

Table 1 shows all tested models and the model-fit criteria. Model 5 showed higher entropy values compared to Model 2, but classes would have been small (around 6% of sample) and the BIC was lowest in Model 2, supporting the two-class solution. In the Supplementary Material descriptive statistics of the indicator variables for the two-class solution are also further described and illustrated.

3.2 Class description

The first class included the majority of participants (63.4%) and was characterized by very high scores across all UTAUT predictors. The only exception was the second item for Social Influence ("Our patients endorse the use of the following EMH services"), which had the lowest score compared with the other indicator variables. This class was therefore labeled as highly beneficial factors. The second class was characterized by moderate expressions across the UTAUT predictors. Next to the second Social Influence item, also one Facilitating Condition item ("The technical equipment of my professional environment is adequate for the implementation of EMH services") showed lower scores compared to the other predictors. Class 2 was therefore labeled as having moderately beneficial factors. Regarding the indicators, the biggest differences between the classes were found in Performance Expectancy and Effort Expectancy (r = 0.67 and r = 0.60). Figure 1 illustrates, distinctively for class 1 and class 2 the proportion of responses for the eight UTAUT predictors.

While the classes did not differ significantly in terms of age and gender distribution or country of origin, they did differ in therapeutic orientation. Class 1 had significantly ($\chi 2(1) = 5.13$, *p* <.05) more participants with a cognitive behavioral orientation compared to Class 2. Descriptive statistics and class comparisons for sociodemographic variables are shown in Table 2.

Additionally, differences between the classes regarding EMH specific variables were tested. Class 1 scored significantly higher on all perceived advantages and lower on all perceived disadvantages, the only exception being data security where no difference manifested itself. Class 1 also showed significantly (p <.01) more experience with and knowledge about EMH. Likewise, the evidence rating and the acceptance of EMH in Class 1 was significantly higher. Descriptive statistics and comparisons across the two classes can be found in Table 3.

4 Discussion

Our study showed that two classes can be distinguished when using the UTAUT predictors as indicators for the LCA. The first class showed high levels on all UTAUT predictors, the second class revealed moderate levels on the UTAUT predictors, no class

TABLE 1	Evaluating	class	solutions	and	model	fit	criteria.
---------	------------	-------	-----------	-----	-------	-----	-----------

Model	log- likelihood	resid. df	BIC	aBIC	cAIC	likelihood- ratio	Entropy
Modell 1	-2083.4	184	4338.81	4237.4	4370.81	1906.04	_
Modell 2	-1903.98	151	4157.35	3951.37	4222.35	1547.2	0.808
Modell 3	-1821.56	118	4169.89	3859.35	4267.89	1382.36	0.82
Modell 4	-1777.28	85	4258.72	3843.6	4389.72	1293.8	0.816
Modell 5	-1736.29	52	4354.13	3834.44	4518.13	1211.83	0.953

Selected model in bold.

showed particularly low scores on the UTAUT predictors, which is in line with previous research (28). The largest differences between classes were found in Performance Expectancy and Effort Expectancy of EMH, which highlights the fact that these aspects would require special attention when developing interventions to foster acceptance. The two classes also revealed differences, regarding the acceptance of EMH, the estimation of evidence, knowledge, and experience. Previous studies have already highlighted the fact that knowledge and experience are positively associated with higher acceptance (10, 12, 25, 29, 30), so it is unsurprising that Class one had higher acceptance scores, more knowledge about and more experience with EMH. This suggests potential directions for future research and underscores key areas for enhancing acceptance facilitating interventions (31).

It is worth mentioning that no class-difference arose among the high scores on data security as a barrier, which emphasizes that this aspect needs to be addressed by either training institutions or the developers of EMH independently of the class membership. Additionally, the fact that Class 2 scored lowest on one of the Facilitating Condition Items ("The technical equipment of my professional environment is adequate for the implementation of EMH services") highlights the need for workplaces to invest in technology and technical equipment if EMH is planned to be implemented in routine care. Due to the low scores on item 2 of Social Influence ("Our patients endorse the use of EMH services") it became evident for both classes that the patient's perspective plays an important role and that the acceptance of PiT needs to be addressed in the clinical context as well.

So far, no other study has tried to build subgroups among PiT focusing on the acceptance of EMH using a LCA. There have been few studies, focusing on patients, that tried to find subgroup-specific differences for established groups (e.g., gender, education) or used median-splits to artificially build subgroups (18, 20). Hennemann et al. (18) showed that acceptance significantly differed between age groups, yielding a significantly higher acceptance score in the youngest quartile. They also found differences in acceptance regarding prior EMH use and higher educational status. Compared with our classes, we did not find any significant difference regarding age, but in line with Hennemann et al. (18) more prior experience was also found in Class 1, which also had a higher acceptance score. Interestingly the theoretical orientation of the PiT was distributed unevenly across the two classes, with significantly more PiT with a cognitive behavioral orientation in Class 1. This suggests that EMH has a distinct role in the training of cognitive behavioral therapists, which most likely can be attributed to the fact that many EMH programs are rooted in cognitive



TABLE 2 Sociodemographic variables across classes.

Variable	Total (<i>n</i> = 216)	Class 1 (n = 137)	Class 2 (n = 79)	Statistics
Age, n (%)				$\chi^2(7) = 9.88, p = .20,$ V = 0.21
20-24	5 (2.3)	3 (2.2)	2 (2.5)	
25-29	90 (41.7)	61 (44.5)	29 (36.7)	
30-34	61 (28.2)	42 (30.7)	19 (24.1)	
35-39	28 (13.0)	12 (8.8)	16 (20.3)	
40-44	19 (8.8)	13 (9.5)	6 (7.6)	
45-49	7 (3.2)	3 (2.2)	4 (5.1)	
50-54	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.3)	
55-59	5 (2.3)	3 (2.2)	2 (2.5)	
Gender, n (%)				$\chi^2(1) = 0.02, p = .84,$ V = 0.03
Female	191 (88.4)	122 (89.1)	69 (87.3)	
Male	25 (11.6)	15 (10.9)	10 (12.7)	
Country of Training, n (%)				$\chi^2(1) = 0.02, p = .89,$ V = 0.02
Germany	156 (72.2)	98 (71.5)	58 (73.4)	
Switzerland	60 (27.8)	39 (28.5)	21 (26.6)	
Background in, <i>n</i> (%)				
Psychology	197 (94.9)	130 (94.9)	67 (84.8)	$\chi^2(1) = 5.15, p <.05,$ V = 0.17
Medicine	6 (2.2)	3 (2.2)	3 (3.8)	p=0.67 °, $V=0.05$
Therapeutic Orientation, n	(%)			
Cognitive/cognitive-behavioural	145 (67.1)	100 (73.0)	45 (57.0)	$\chi^2(1) = 5.13, p <.05,$ V = 0.16
Psychodynamic/ psychoanalysis	35 (16.2)	18 (13.1)	17 (21.5)	$\chi^2(1) = 2.01, p = .16,$ V = 0.11
Systemic	27 (6.9)	14(4.4)	13 (11.4)	$\chi^2(1) = 1.26, p = .26,$ V = 0.09
Humanistic	9 (2.3)	5 (2.2)	4 (2.5)	$p = 0.73^{\text{a}}, V = 0.03$
Other	22 (10.2)	13 (9.5)	9 (11.4)	$\chi^2(1) = 0.04, p = .83,$ V = 0.03

^aFischer Exact Test if group size smaller than 5.

behavioral principles (32). However, due to small numbers of PiT from humanistic or systemic orientations, the previously contrasting results regarding orientation and acceptance were not observable in our sample (33).

LCA was applied in this study to explore whether there were underlying homogenous subgroups among the previously heterogenous sample of PiT. It is surprising that no other study has applied LCA in the field of acceptance of EMH while it has been used to find subgroups for other interventions (34), measurements (35) and particularly often in the field of finding sub-groups in patient populations (36, 37). Thus, we conclude it is a big strength of this study to compute multiple class solutions and not rely on using a median split.

4.1 Limitations and future research

We encourage other researchers to validate the classes presented here using larger samples, since we were unable to conduct any validation of the two-class solution as our sample size would have been decreased too much. Thus, it would be worth exploring whether a two-class solution still emerges in larger

TABLE 3 EMH variables across classes.

Variable	Total (<i>n</i> = 216)	Class 1 (n = 137)	Class 2 (n = 79)	Statistics
Advantages of EMH, Mdn (SD)				
Time flexibility	4.00 (1.03)	4.00 (0.97)	3.00 (1.06)	Z = 3.67, p <.01, r = 0.25
Simplified information provision	4.00 (0.90)	4.00 (0.71)	4.00 (1.04)	Z = 5.01, p <.01, r = 0.34
Geographic flexibility	4.00 (0.87)	5.00 (0.69)	4.00 (0.93)	Z = 6.59, p <.01, r = 0.44
Simplified contact maintenance	4.00 (1.14)	4.00 (1.00)	3.00 (1.10)	Z = 6.14, p <.01, r = 0.42
Barriers of EMH, Mdn (SD)				
Data insecurity	4.00 (1.08)	4.00 (1.11)	4.00 (1.02)	Z = 6.14, p = .57, r = 0.04
Impersonality	3.00 (1.06)	3.00 (1.04)	4.00 (0.90)	Z = -5.16, p <.01, r = 0.35
Irresponsibility	4.00 (1.07)	4.00 (1.10)	4.00 (0.98)	Z = -2.46, p < .05, r = 0.17
Legal concerns	3.00 (1.18)	3.00 (1.22)	4.00 (1.00)	Z = -3.76, p <.01, r = 0.26
Concerns about therapeutic alliance	4.00 (1.12)	4.00 (1.17)	4.00 (0.85)	Z = -4.34, p <.01, r = 0.30
EMH Knowledge, Mdn (SD)	3.66 (1.12)	4.00 (0.72)	3.33 (0.91)	Z = 5.65, p <.01, r = 0.38
EMH Experience yes, n (%)	121 (56.0)	84 (61.3)	42 (46.8)	$\chi^2(1) = 3.70, p = .05,$ V = 0.14
EMH Evidence rating, M (SD)	53.56 (24.90)	59.8 (22.55)	42.75 (25.19)	<i>t</i> = 4.98, <i>p</i> <.01, <i>D</i> = 0.73
EMH Acceptance, Mdn (SD)	3.66 (1.12)	4.00 (1.00)	2.67 (1.03)	Z = 6.25, p <.01, r = 0.43

samples, especially if they are more heterogenous in theoretical orientation of the PiT. In our study the 5-class solution showed the highest entropy. However, due to excessively small class sizes, resulting in a low-subject-to-estimated-parameter ratio that is likely to produce unstable results and since the highest entropy may not necessarily represent the best fitting model but possibly an overfit model, it was not investigated further (38, 39). It is also worth mentioning that even though some statistical differences between the classes could be observed, further research is required to determine to what extend those differences are meaningful for practical implications (e.g., interventions to foster acceptance of EMH). One possibility would be to assess other variables such as EMH literacy or internet usage of PiT to gain a more detailed picture. Another limitation to note is that the presented results are descriptive in nature, precluding causal interpretations. It also needs to be added that the internal consistency for the two-item subscales was not calculated to avoid underestimating of the true reliability (40). However, it is a limitation of this study relying on two-item scales to assess several constructs. Lastly, this has been a secondary

analysis with data being collected during the Covid-Pandemic and it remains unclear how much practice and acceptance has changed in the meantime.

5 Conclusion

The value of this publication lies in the successful identification of two classes of PiT using Latent Class Analysis, based on the UTAUT predictors. Classes showed some distinct features in respect to the indicator variables, especially regarding Performance and Effort Expectancy. Our study revealed that while sociodemographic characteristics did not differ between the classes, knowledge, estimation of evidence, experience and acceptance did. Also, we found that most perceived barriers were rated higher and all advantages rated lower in the *moderately beneficial factors* class. In the future, latent class analysis could help to identify subgroups and highlight possible starting points to foster acceptance of EMH.

Data availability statement

'The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the ethics committee of the University of Zurich via a checklist indicating that the ethical safety of the study was guaranteed, no further approval of the ethics committee was necessary. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

RS: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Visualization, Writing – original draft. MS: Formal analysis, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – review & editing. MD: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

References

1. Wang K, Varma DS, Prosperi M. A systematic review of the effectiveness of mobile apps for monitoring and management of mental health symptoms or disorders. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2018) 107:73–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.10.006

2. Fu Z, Burger H, Arjadi R, Bockting CL. Effectiveness of digital psychological interventions for mental health problems in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:851–64. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30256-X

3. Gaebel W, Lukies R, Kerst A, Stricker J, Zielasek J, Diekmann S, et al. Upscaling emental health in Europe: a six-country qualitative analysis and policy recommendations from the eMEN project. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 271:1005–16. doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01133-y

4. Békés V, Grondin F, Bouchard S. Barriers and facilitators to the integration of web-based interventions into routine care. *Clin Psy.* (2020) 27:e12335. doi: 10.1111/ cpsp.12335

5. Vis C, Mol M, Kleiboer A, Bührmann L, Finch T, Smit J, et al. Improving implementation of eMental health for mood disorders in routine practice: systematic review of barriers and facilitating factors. *JMIR Ment Health*. (2018) 5:e20. doi: 10.2196/mental.9769

6. Waller R, Gilbody S. Barriers to the uptake of computerized cognitive behavioural therapy: a systematic review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. *Psychol Med.* (2009) 39(5):705–12.

7. Schröder J, Berger T, Meyer B, Lutz W, Hautzinger M, Späth C, et al. Attitudes towards internet interventions among psychotherapists and individuals with mild to moderate depression symptoms. *Cogn Ther Res.* (2017) 41:745–56. doi: 10.1007/s10608-017-9850-0

Acknowledgments

We want to thank all PiT who participated in this study and SA who helped with recruitment. Also, we want to thank MA and LJ for their contribution to preparing the Manuscript and their language correction.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2024.1296449/ full#supplementary-material

8. De Witte NA, Carlbring P, Etzelmueller A, Nordgreen T, Karekla M, Haddouk L, et al. Online consultations in mental healthcare during the COVID-19 outbreak: An international survey study on professionals' motivations and perceived barriers. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 25:100405. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100405

9. Ellis LA, Meulenbroeks I, Churruca K, Pomare C, Hatem S, Harrison R, et al. The application of e-mental health in response to COVID-19: scoping review and bibliometric analysis. *JMIR Ment Health*. (2021) 8:e32948. doi: 10.2196/32948

10. Békés V, Doorn K, van A. Psychotherapists' attitudes toward online therapy during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Psychother Integr.* (2020) 30:238. doi: 10.1037/int0000214

11. Venkatesh V, Michael GM, Gordon BD, Fred DD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. *MIS Q*. (2003) 27:425-78. doi: 10.2307/30036540

12. Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Ready for eHealth? Health Professionals' Acceptance and Adoption of eHealth Interventions in Inpatient Routine Care. *J Health Commun.* (2017) 22:274–84. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2017.1284286

13. Ebert DD, Van Daele T, Nordgreen T, Karekla M, Compare A, Zarbo C, et al. Internet- and mobile-based psychological interventions: Applications, efficacy, and potential for improving mental health: A report of the EFPA E-Health Taskforce. *EuropPsych.* (2018) 23:167–87. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000318

14. Staeck R, Drüge M, Albisser S, Watzke B. Acceptance of E-mental health interventions and its determinants among psychotherapists-in-training during the first phase of COVID-19. *Internet Interv.* (2022) 29:100555. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2022.100555

15. Damerau M, Teufel M, Musche V, Dinse H, Schweda A, Beckord J, et al. Determining acceptance of e-mental health interventions in digital psychodiabetology using a quantitative web-based survey: cross-sectional study. *JMIR Form Res.* (2021) 5: e27436. doi: 10.2196/27436

16. Rentrop V, Damerau M, Schweda A, Steinbach J, Schüren LC, Niedergethmann M, et al. Predicting acceptance of e-mental health interventions in patients with obesity by using an extended unified theory of acceptance model: cross-sectional study. *JMIR Form Res.* (2022) 6:31229. doi: 10.2196/31229

17. Braun P, Drüge M, Hennemann S, Nitsch FJ, S. R, Apolinário-Hagen J. Acceptance of E-mental health services for different application purposes among psychotherapists in clinical training in Germany and Switzerland: secondary analysis of a cross-sectional survey. *Front Digit Health*. (2022) 4:840869. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2022.840869

18. Hennemann S, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Drivers and barriers to acceptance of web-based aftercare of patients in inpatient routine care: a cross-sectional survey. *J Med Internet Res.* (2016) 18:e337. doi: 10.2196/jmir.6003

19. Hennemann S, Witthöft M, Bethge M, Spanier K, Beutel ME, Zwerenz R. Acceptance and barriers to access of occupational e-mental health: cross-sectional findings from a health-risk population of employees. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health.* (2018) 91:305–16.

20. Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A web-based acceptancefacilitating intervention for identifying patients' Acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res. (2018) 20:e9925. doi: 10.2196/jmir.9925

21. Sasidharan L, Wu KF, Menendez M. Exploring the application of latent class cluster analysis for investigating pedestrian crash injury severities in Switzerland. *Accid Anal Prev.* (2015) 85:219–28.

22. Weller BE, Bowen NK, Faubert SJ. Latent class analysis: a guide to best practice. J Black Psychol. (2020) 46:287–311. doi: 10.1177/0095798420930932

23. Apolinário-Hagen J, Hennemann S, Fritsche L, Drüge M, Breil B. Determinant factors of public acceptance of stress management apps: Survey study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2019) 21:e15373. doi: 10.2196/15373

24. Jewer J. Patients' intention to use online postings of ED wait times: A modified UTAUT model. Int J Med Inf. (2018) 112:34–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.01.008

25. Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, Lehr D, Pörtner M, Baumeister H. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. *J Affect Disord*. (2015) 176:9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.056

26. Linzer DA, Lewis JB. poLCA : an R package for polytomous variable latent class analysis. J Stat Softw. (2011) 42:1–29. doi: 10.18637/jss.v042.i10

27. Mori M, Krumholz HM, Allore HG. Using latent class analysis to identify hidden clinical phenotypes. JAMA. (2020) 324:700–1. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2278

28. Philippi P, Baumeister H, Apolinário-Hagen J, Ebert DD, Hennemann S, Kott L, et al. Acceptance towards digital health interventions-model validation and further

development of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 26:100459. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100459

29. Donovan CL, Poole C, Boyes N, Redgate J, March S. Australian mental health worker attitudes towards cCBT: What is the role of knowledge? Are there differences? Can we change them? *Internet Interv.* (2015) 2:372–81. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2015.09.001

30. Lazuras L, Dokou A. Mental health professionals' acceptance of online counseling. *Technol Soc.* (2016) 44:10–4. doi: 10.1016/j.techsoc.2015.11.002

31. Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grässle C, Freudenstein M, Nübling R, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. *PloS One.* (2020) 15:e0236995. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236995

32. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Cuijpers P, Cristea I, Pulkki-Råback L, Sander L. Three decades of internet-and computer-based interventions for the treatment of depression: protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JMIR Res Protoc.* (2020) 9:e14860. doi: 10.2196/14860

33. Humer E, Stippl P, Pieh C, Pryss R, Probst T. Experiences of psychotherapists with remote psychotherapy during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional webbased survey study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e20246. doi: 10.2196/20246

34. Tyndall I, Waldeck D, Pancani L, Whelan R, Roche B, Pereira A. Profiles of psychological flexibility: A latent class analysis of the acceptance and commitment therapy model. *Behav Modif.* (2020) 44:365–93. doi: 10.1177/0145445518820036

35. Rovner G, Vowles KE, Gerdle B, Gillanders D. Latent class analysis of the short and long forms of the chronic pain acceptance questionnaire: further examination of patient subgroups. J Pain. (2015) 16:1095–105. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2015.07.007

36. Ulbricht CM, Chrysanthopoulou SA, Levin L, Lapane KL. The use of latent class analysis for identifying subtypes of depression: A systematic review. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 266:228–46. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.03.003

37. Slawek DE, Syed M, Cunningham CO, Zhang C, Ross J, Herman M, et al. Pain catastrophizing and mental health phenotypes in adults with refractory chronic pain: A latent class analysis. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2022) 145:102–10. doi: 10.1016/jjpsychires.2021.12.001

38. Dolnicar S. (2002). A review of unquestioned standards in using cluster analysis for datadriven market segmentation. CD Conference Proceedings of the Australian and New Zealand Marketing Academy Conference 2002 (ANZMAC 2002), in: *Presented at the Australian and New Zealand Marketing Academy Conference 2002 (ANZMAC 2002)*, Deakin University, Melbourne.

39. Sinha P, Calfee CS, Delucchi KL. Practitioner's guide to latent class analysis: methodological considerations and common pitfalls. *Crit Care Med.* (2021) 49:e63–79. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004710

40. Eisinga R, Grotenhuis MT, Pelzer B. The reliability of a two-item scale: Pearson, Cronbach, or Spearman-Brown? *Int J Public Health*. (2013) 58:637–42. doi: 10.1007/s00038-012-0416-3

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Silvia Simbula, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

REVIEWED BY Markus Wolf, University of Zurich, Switzerland Andrew Clifton, University of Suffolk, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Adam Gędek Madamgedek@gmail.com

RECEIVED 28 September 2023 ACCEPTED 01 March 2024 PUBLISHED 15 March 2024

CITATION

Dominiak M, Gędek A, Antosik AZ and Mierzejewski P (2024) Mobile health for mental health support: a survey of attitudes and concerns among mental health professionals in Poland over the period 2020-2023. *Front. Psychiatry* 15:1303878.

doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2024.1303878

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Dominiak, Gędek, Antosik and Mierzejewski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mobile health for mental health support: a survey of attitudes and concerns among mental health professionals in Poland over the period 2020-2023

Monika Dominiak¹, Adam Gędek^{1,2*}, Anna Z. Antosik³ and Paweł Mierzejewski¹

¹Department of Pharmacology, Institute of Psychiatry and Neurology, Warsaw, Poland, ²Praski Hospital, Warsaw, Poland, ³Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Collegium Medicum, Cardinal Wyszynski University, Warsaw, Poland

Introduction: Mobile health (mHealth) has emerged as a dynamic sector supported by technological advances and the COVID-19 pandemic and have become increasingly applied in the field of mental health.

Aim: The aim of this study was to assess the attitudes, expectations, and concerns of mental health professionals, including psychiatrists, psychologists, and psychotherapists, towards mHealth, in particular mobile health self-management tools and telepsychiatry in Poland.

Material and methods: This was a survey conducted between 2020 and 2023. A questionnaire was administered to 148 mental health professionals, covering aspects such as telepsychiatry, mobile mental health tools, and digital devices.

Results: The majority of professionals expressed readiness to use telepsychiatry, with a peak in interest during the COVID-19 pandemic, followed by a gradual decline from 2022. Concerns about telepsychiatry were reported by a quarter of respondents, mainly related to difficulties in correctly assessing the patient's condition, and technical issues. Mobile health tools were positively viewed by professionals, with 86% believing they could support patients in managing mental health and 74% declaring they would recommend patients to use them. Nevertheless, 29% expressed concerns about the effectiveness and data security of such tools. Notably, the study highlighted a growing readiness among mental health professionals to use new digital technologies, reaching 84% in 2023.

Conclusion: These findings emphasize the importance of addressing concerns and designing evidence-based mHealth solutions to ensure long-term acceptance and effectiveness in mental healthcare. Additionally, the study highlights the need for ongoing regulatory efforts to safeguard patient data and privacy in the evolving digital health landscape.

KEYWORDS

mHealth, mobile health, telehealth, digital health, smartphone, APP, acceptance, expectation

1 Introduction

Over the last few years, mobile health (mHealth) has been one of the most dynamic sectors of medicine. Initially, mass internet access and then smartphones, which offer mobile applications, enabled this trend. Research to date suggest that mobile apps applied in mental health can support the diagnosis of mental disorders, psychoeducation, provide various forms of psychotherapy, or facilitate contact with a specialist, including serious mental illnesses such as bipolar disorder or schizophrenia (1, 2) and health crisis such as suicide risk (3). Smartphones also allow patients with mental disorders to be monitored continuously, in real time (4, 5). These solutions can both provide a complementary form of patient care, but also enable a personalized approach to the patient.

An important stimulus for the development of mHealth in mental health was the COVID-19 pandemic, which made the traditional form of contact with a doctor impossible. In particular, there has been a sharp increase in the use of two solutions offered by mHealth, namely telepsychiatry and mHealth self-management tools (especially mobile apps) in psychiatric care compared to previous years (6, 7). At the same time, this contributed to an increase in mental distress and psychiatric symptoms in the community during this period (8-10). The pandemic has therefore forced a transformation of healthcare and the spread of these solutions, but they can still be widely use afterwards. However, the use of telemedicine (telepsychiatry in the field of mental health) to treat patients is nothing new. It was first used in psychiatry in 1959 and mainly served geographically isolated populations. This is what is currently known as telepsychiatry, which is defined as 'the delivery of psychiatric assessments or follow-up interviews from a distance using technologies such as telephone calls, audio and video digital platforms, and healthcare monitoring devices' (11).

Mobile Health is a rapidly growing field that use the capabilities of mobile devices such as smartphones, patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants (PDAs), and other wireless devices to enhance healthcare services (12). It extends the reach of medical care by enabling remote monitoring and consultations, making healthcare more accessible. Furthermore, mHealth allows individuals to manage their health actively through apps and wearable technology (12). As this solution evolves, it has the potential to revolutionize healthcare delivery and improve patient outcomes while also presenting challenges related to privacy and regulation that need careful consideration (13). In the mental health realm, mHealth offers innovative solutions such as internet-based therapies, text messaging for psychiatric services, and smartphone apps for monitoring and treating various psychiatric conditions including depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia and other health crises (1, 3, 14–17). These technologies improve clinical outcomes, but also reduce stigma and improve access to care, while initiatives like SMS campaigns, community outreach, and medication tracking further strengthen mental health support (18). As mobile technology advances, mHealth plays a crucial role in expanding access to quality mental healthcare.

Several factors will determine whether mobile solutions in mental health will become widely implemented. Firstly, there is a need for reliable, validated apps and websites that can truly help patients (19–21). The perception of such solutions by people with mental illnesses is also extremely important, as this may determine their ultimate use (22, 23). Studies conducted on this group showed high satisfaction with tested interventions (23, 24). Notably, studies emphasized that user interest in these solutions decreased over time. A Polish study using a mobile app for monitoring BD patients observed a 44% dropout rate at one year (25). In studies conducted to date, patients emphasized the necessity for approaches that are tailored to their preferences and needs, characterized by userfriendliness and genuine helpfulness. Negative aspects included continuous reminders, a sense of being monitored, and loss of dignity and autonomy (22, 26, 27). A key, but often ignored and consequently much under-researched perspective is how mental health professionals view such solutions (28). Although some solutions are already implemented, especially in the therapeutic process (29), and research to date indicates that mental health professionals are aware of their existence, they rarely use them (30, 31). One pre-pandemic study (2019) found that professionals (psychiatrists and psychotherapists) know significantly less about mental health apps than patients (30). Only 33.7% of experts were familiar with at least one e-mental health app and 8.7% had tried it. However, more clinicians were advocates than sceptics of these solutions 68.3% vs 29.8% (30). They also believe that these solutions

will become more important in the future (30). Time has shown that we did not have to wait long. After the outbreak of the pandemic, the market for mental health apps grew exponentially, and the subject of consideration was not what professionals thought of them, but whether they should prescribe them to patients (31). In a 2022 Portuguese survey of 160 clinician, mainly psychologists but also psychiatrists, as many as 87.2% supported the possibility of prescribing mental health apps (31).

Regarding professionals' perceptions of telepsychiatry, three surveys at the beginning of the pandemic (2020) conducted in the US (32, 33) and the UK (34) indicated high levels of satisfaction with video consultations. Furthermore, 95.5% of clinicians responded that they would like telepychiatric visits to make up at least 25% of their practice in the future (33). As the pandemic continued, perceptions might have changed. This is shown in a 2021-2022 multicenter study conducted in the UK and Italy (35). In general, telepsychiatry was perceived as most convenient for purpose-specific follow-up visits, such as medication checks, however, it was perceived as less effective for setting up a therapeutic relationship or assessment of mental status in acute mental crisis.

It is also important that clinicians recognize the real needs and concerns that mHealth may confront in mental health (34, 36, 37). Engaging them in the development process is therefore crucial to their use and proper application. To date, only a few studies have assessed the attitudes and concerns of mental health professionals toward mobile solutions (30, 34, 36–38), while far more attention in the literature has been given to health professionals working in other fields of medicine (39–41). No study on mental health professionals has been conducted in Poland to date either. This may seem surprising given that the mobile app market, as well as video consultations, is currently primarily concerned with mental health.

The aim of this study was to assess the attitudes and expectations towards mHealth in particular telepsychiatry (video/ teleconsultations) and mobile health tools such as applications, wristbands, smart watches etc., among mental health professionals (psychiatrists, psychologists, psychotherapists) in Poland.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Research questionnaire

A questionnaire was created taking into account the available literature, knowledge of the specificity of mental disorders and the experience of clinicians from the Institute of Psychiatry and Neurology, who have conducted Polish research implementing mHealth in the field of mental health. The research questions were related to the final shape of mHealth solutions, mainly telepsychiatry and mHealth self-management tools, that will be acceptable to professionals in the perspective of their long-term use. We sought to assess the needs, expectations and areas of application of mobile technologies from a professional perspective. Following the development of the survey questionnaire, a pilot study was conducted to assess the ease of using the questionnaire, answering the questions asked, and collecting comments on the survey instrument. For this questions on respondents' evaluation of the survey in terms of the number of questions, as well as the ease of understanding the questions and answering them. The original version of the questionnaire was tested on 18 clinicians (7 psychiatrists and 11 psychologists). According to 72.2% (n=13) of respondents, the number of questions in the questionnaire was appropriate, according to 11.1% (n=2) too few, and according to 16.7% (n=3) too many. According to 88.9% (n=16) of respondents, the questions were formulated in a clear and understandable way, while 11.1% (n=2) of respondents assessed them as somewhat too complicated. Respondents did not make significant comments on the content of the questions asked, 22.2% (n=4) respondents made technical comments regarding division of the survey into 3 separate parts. All raised issues were taken into account, discussed in the research team and resulted in the development of the final version of the survey.

The research questions were grouped into three issues (Supplementary Material). At the forefront of the questionnaires, there is brief information about the purpose of the survey. This is followed by research questions, both closed and open, covering the following three main areas:

- the prevalence of mobile device and internet usage and clinicians' current experiences with the use of mHealth solutions in the area of health and mental health (what percentage of respondents already have some experience);
- 2) clinicians' attitudes, opinions, and preferences regarding mHealth solutions in mental health, in particular views regarding telepsychiatry and self-management tools. The questions relate to interest in the use of mobile technology in mental health, the opportunities that it can offer for patients, the level of readiness to use it, factors influencing clinicians' attitudes, needs, expectations and areas of application of mHealth technology from the clinicians' perspective;
- 3) concerns and risks associated with the adoption of mHealth solutions for mental health management.

The questionnaire ended with a metric collecting data on the demographic characteristics of the respondents. The survey consisted of 26 questions that could be answered on either a 3-point, 5-point Likert scale, had a choice of one of two yes/no options or were open-ended. Some questions were multiple choice. The survey was also designed in an online traditional version and for mobile users.

The study was notified to the Bioethics Committee at the Institute of Psychiatry and Neurology in Warsaw, Poland. A formal approval of the Bioethics Committee was not required as it was a questionnaire surveys not endangering the well-being and interests of the participants. Data were treated with confidentiality, equality and fairness, respecting the Helsinki principles (42).

2.2 Study sample and recruitment

The survey was conducted among professionals working in mental health care and involved psychiatrists, psychologists, therapists agreeing to participate in the survey. The survey was conducted on a random representative sample of Polish professionals working in mental health facilities. Individuals were recruited from a representative sample, the sample frame was a registry of all mental health facilities in 16 regions (voivodeships) in Poland. The study selected a stratified random sample with proportional allocation. The questionnaire was distributed initially to professionals working in the Institute of Psychiatry and Neurology and then sent to mental health service providers (counselling centers and hospitals) in 16 regions (voivodeships) in Poland. Information with an invitation to take part in the survey was sent out via email. To ensure diversity of the sample we recruited respondents through additional sources, including social media and forums for professionals. The distribution ran continuously from May 2020 to the end of April 2023. Over 250 invitations were sent to mental healthcare professionals. In total, 148 professionals completed the survey (response rate 59.2%). Details of how the recruitment process was conducted are included in the Figure 1.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses was carried out using Statistica 13.3 software. Descriptive statistics were calculated using means and standard deviations, as well as median and interquartile range - for data not meeting the criteria for normal distribution. Chi-square (χ^2) tests were



used if the variables were presented on a nominal scale and Kruskal-Wallis test if the study variables were collected on an ordinal scale and did not have a normal distribution. In the case of small group sizes, the chi-square test combined low-ranked responses, as long as this did not interfere with the interpretation of the results. For *post-hoc* comparisons, the Bonferroni correction was used to give confidence in the power of the test. Relationships between variables were verified using regression and correlation methods The influence of age, gender, speciality (doctor/psychologist/therapist), size of the town in which the specialist practices on the responses were analyzed. Differences were be assessed at an assumed statistical significance level of p<0.05.

3 Results

3.1 General characteristics of the respondents

The web-based survey was completed by 148 mental health professionals (n=148). All closed questions were completed by respondents (100%). The participants characteristics is shown in Table 1.

TABLE 1 General characteristics of the respondents (n=148).

Variables		Percent
Sex	Female	67%
	Male	32%
Age	25-39	27%
	40-55	56%
	55-64	15%
Education	Medical doctor	57%
	Psychologist/ psychotherapist	42%
Professional activity	Outpatient clinic	59%
	Hospital/psychiatric ward + Outpatient clinic	21%
	Hospital/psychiatric ward	3%
	Private practice	14%
	General hospital + Outpatient clinic	1%
Workplace	City > 250 000	69%
	City 50 000 – 250 000	25%
	City <50 000	5%
Type of psychotherapy used by psychotherapists (n=62)	Cognitive- behavioral therapy	29%
	Integrative/holistic therapy	26%
	Interpersonal therapy	24%
	Psychodynamic therapy	13%
	Humanistic therapy	8%

3.2 Prevalence and usage of mHealth

3.2.1 Prevalence and usage of mobile devices and mHealth solutions – aggregate analysis (2020–2023)

A substantial number of respondents declared that they use mobile devices at least once a week (91.89%). In addition, the majority of them at least once a week (70.3%) use remote patient contact techniques (video/teleconsultation). Noticeably fewer respondents - 52.7% - stated that they were interested in the topic of mHealth tools, or recommended it to patients. Simultaneously, 41.9% of respondents had heard little or nothing about it. The exact distribution of responses to questions related to the prevalence and usage of new technologies is presented in Figure 2.

3.2.2 Changes in prevalence and use of mobile devices and mHealth solutions between 2020 and 2023

Prevalence of using video/teleconsultation in mental health between 2020 and 2023 is shown in Figure 3A (χ^2 = 55,08556, df=3, p<0.001; statistically significance: 2020 vs 2023: χ^2 = 40,58, df=1, p<0.001; 2021 vs 2023: χ^2 = 28,45, df=1, p=<0.001; 2022 vs 2023: χ^2 = 27,55, df=1, p=<0.001). Prevalence of using mobile devices between 2020 and 2023 is shown in Figure 3B. The "Never", "Rarely – once a year or less often" and "Sometimes – at least once a



Responses regarding prevalence and usage of mHealth among mental health professionals; (A) Usage of remote techniques to communicate with patients; (B) Usage of mobile devices; (C) Awareness of mHealth tools in mental health.



Responses regarding prevalence and usage of mHealth among mental health professionals between 2020 and 2023; (A) Usage of remote techniques to communicate with patients; (B) Usage of mobile devices; (C) Awareness of mHealth tools in mental health. *statistically significant difference.

month" responses have been summed to ensure sufficient group numbers to perform a chi-square test. However, in Figure 3B χ^2 test was impossible to implement due to the still too-small numbers in the groups. Prevalence of awareness of mHealth tools in mental health between 2020 and 2023 is shown in Figure 3B. The "I know, but I'm not interested", and "I have heard a little or know nothing about it" responses have been summed to ensure sufficient group numbers to perform a chi-square test ($\chi^2 = 6,10$, df=3, p=0.107).

3.3 Attitudes, expectations, and preferences towards telepsychiatry and mHealth tools in mental health care

3.3.1 Attitudes, expectations, and preferences towards telepsychiatry and mHealth tools in mental health care - aggregate analysis (2020–2023)

The majority of respondents liked the idea of using video and teleconsultation as a support tool for patients with mental disorders



frequency of video/teleconsultation use at work; (C) Situations in which respondents would like to use video/teleconsultations.

(75.7%, n=112). In a multiple-choice question, the majority of respondents declared it could be applied as a complementary solution, used in the continuation of treatment (91.2%, n=135). According to a minority, 29.1% (n=43) of respondents, these can be applied at the first visit (Figure 4). Also, a minority of respondents would like to use remote visits more than 50% of the time - 21.6% (n=32) would like remote visits to account for 70-100% of all visits, and 25% (n=37) of respondents thought 50-70%. The exact distribution of responses to questions related to attitudes towards video/teleconsultations is shown in Figure 4.

According to the majority of respondents, mHealth tools can help patients to better cope with their mental illness (86.5%, n=128). Furthermore, the majority of respondents rated their readiness to use them as "4" (29.7%, n=44) or "5" (44.6%, n=66), where 5 meant full readiness. The exact distribution of responses to questions related to attitudes is shown in Figure 5.



3.3.2 Changes in attitudes, expectations, and preferences towards telepsychiatry and mHealth tools between 2020 and 2023

A statistically significant decrease was found between 2020 and 2022 regarding attitudes towards video/teleconsultation ($\chi^2 = 14,98$, df=3, p=0.002). The Bonferroni correction was included in the comparisons for each year (statistically significance: 2020 vs 2022: $\chi^2 = 12,72$, df=1, p=<0.001; 2021 vs 2022: $\chi^2 = 7,94$, df=1, p=0.005; 2022 vs 2023: $\chi^2 = 14,98$, df=3, p=0.002). The trend is presented in Figure 6. From 2022 onwards, there is an upward trend, but in 2023 not statistically significant when compared to the baseline assessment in 2020, which is when the pandemic began. Over the period 2020-2023, there was an upward trend but not a statistically significant in the preference for the use of video/teleconsultation in certain situations (firs/subsequent visits) (Figure 6). Changes in the declared frequency to use video/teleconsultation frequency are shown in Figure 6. The variable was tested on an ordinal scale and the Kruskalla-Wallis test showed statistical significance (H=27.70, p<0.001). The greatest difference between years relates to the shift in the declared intention to use view/teleconsultation starting in 2022 from over 50% of all visits towards a frequency of less than half of all visits in 2023.

No statistically significant difference was claimed between 2020 and 2023 with regard to attitudes towards mHealth tools ($\chi^2 = 26,72$, df=6, p=0.348) (Figure 7).Over the period 2020-2023, a similar number of respondents declared a preference for



FIGURE 6

Responses regarding: (A) idea of using video/teleconsultation over the period 2020-2023. *statistically significant difference; (B) the desire to use video/teleconsultation in specific situations over the period 2020-2023; (C) the declared desire for frequency of use video/teleconsultation over the period 2020-2023. *statistically significant difference.

recommending mental health apps to their patients (Figure 7). Responses of 'No' and 'I don't know' were combined to ensure adequate group sizes were tested, but the chi-square test did not show statistical significance ($\chi^2 = 0,29$, df=3, p=0.961).The percentage of mental health professionals who declared they were ready to use new technologies between 2020 and 2023 is presented in Figure 7 ($\chi^2 = 9,19$, df=3, p=0.027; statistically significance: 2020 vs 2021: $\chi^2 = 6,35$, df=1, p=0.012; 2021 vs 2023: $\chi^2 = 6,15$, df=1, p=0.013). A statistically significant increase was noted from 2021.



Responses regarding (A) idea of using mHealth tools over the period 2020-2023; (B) the declared desire recommend mental health applications over the period 2020-2023; (C) The percentage of mental health professionals who declared they were ready to use new technologies between 2020 and 2023. *statistically significant difference.

3.4 Concerns and risks towards telepsychiatry and mHealth tools in mental health care

3.4.1 Concerns and risks associated with the use of telepsychiatry and mHealth tools in mental health care – aggregate analysis (2020–2023)

A quarter (n=37) and 29% (n=43) of respondents had some concern regarding the use of video/teleconsultation and mHealth tools, respectively. The exact distribution of responses to questions related to concerns over the use of new technologies is shown in Figure 8.



3.4.2 Change in perceived concerns and risks associated with the use of telepsychiatry and mHealth tools in mental health care between 2020 and 2023

Concerns about video/teleconsultation and mobile technology in mental health between 2020 and 2023 are shown in Figure 9 (χ^2 = 7,72, df=3, p=0.052) and Figure 10 (χ^2 = 6,21, df=6, p=0.400). For Figure 10, the "No" and "I don't know" responses have been summed to ensure sufficient group numbers to perform a chi-square test. The difference between years were not statistically significant.

3.5 Influence of age, profession, professional activity, workplace, and sex on readiness to use new technologies

The Kruskal-Wallis test showed that age (H=5,87; p=0.53), education (H=2,94; p=0.09), professional activity (H=1,87; p=0.17) and workplace (H=0,98; p=0.32) did not affect readiness to use new technologies. The Wilcoxon rank sum test showed that sex did not affect readiness to use new technologies (U=1936, p=0.58).

3.6 Analysis of open-ended responses

3.6.1 Attitudes, expectations and preferences towards telepsychiatry and mHealth tools – analysis of open-ended questions (2020–2023)

In response to why respondents like the idea of video/ teleconsultation as a tool to support the care of patients with



mental disorders, the majority mentioned the possibility to contact a patient who cannot come for an appointment or is required by a pandemic situation (n=16). Three respondents described that it facilitates ongoing, continuous contact with the patient (n=3). In addition, 1 respondent each indicated that it improves the quality of patient care, support in disease monitoring, and "going with the times". Among the respondents who did not like this idea, 4 indicated a preference for personal contact (n=4), one person indicated that such contact was difficult and exhausting, one described his doubts "it's not for me".

The majority of respondents who answered the question what they would like to improve indicated the quality of the call (n=10)and the need for a dedicated medical platform (n=6). In addition, they indicated confidentiality of the call and data protection (n=2), the possibility to assess wellbeing/risk of self-injurious actions, which could be visible to the therapist (n=1).

The participants gave a variety of responses as to why they liked the idea of using mobile technology, such as: to help monitor treatment and the therapeutic process (n=4), to help remission, support daily coping with the illness for chronically ill patients (n=3), to collect objective data (n=1), they can be an extra support for patients (n=1) and give the feeling of being taken care (n=1), to indicate that current apps are reliable and researched (n=2). Three respondents indicated that if they do not harm patients and they



FIGURE 10

Responses regarding concerns about the use of mobile apps and other mobile health tools to support care and treatment over the period 2020-2023.

accept them then they should be used (n=3), while one respondent indicated that this "is the future". Among those who did not like the idea, responses included inexperience and unfamiliarity with such apps (n=7), making long-term contact with the therapist more difficult (n=2), distracting patients from agency (n=1), driving them into an unreal world (n=1), and holding them as a 'leash' (n=1). Three respondents had mixed feelings about whether such solutions would help or harm patients (n=3).

3.6.2 Concerns and risks associated with the use of telepsychiatry and mHealth tools – analysis of open-ended questions (2020–2023)

Among the concerns about teleconsultation in the open questions, respondents mentioned: difficulties in assessing the patient's condition (n=7), inability to build an adequate therapeutic relationship (n=3), it is more tiring than face-to-face contact (n=3), contact with the patient is weaker (n=2), patients may give a feeling of being monitored (1), patients may want non-stop contact (n=1).

Among the concerns about mobile solutions in the open questions, respondents mentioned: lack of opportunity to try such effectiveness solutions, or not knowing which ones to recommend (n=8), security and privacy risk (n=6), mobile solutions may do more harm (n=2), mobile solutions may get boring (n=2), patient expectations may be too high (n=1), may delay contact with doctor (n=1). The detail results are given in Supplementary Materials (Supplementary Material).

4 Discussion

The growth of new technologies and digitalization is proceeding at a speed that is difficult for people, as well for science or legislation to keep up with. Moreover, it is not a temporary phenomenon, but rather an inevitable process, with any stabilization difficult to foresee. This expansion, especially in medical services, was greatly accelerated by the pandemic (43). Remote specialist-patient contact has become, in many areas of medicine, the only form of visits at the peak of the pandemic. This was undoubtedly a lever for telepsychiatry – currently a rapidly growing and constantly evolving branch of mHealth (6, 8). Clinical trials of new medical services and devices are struggling to follow the growth of the digital medical marketplace (44). These studies address both the effectiveness, safety and satisfaction of their users.

While much attention has been paid to the assessment and expectations of patients in this respect, the perspective of –clinicians remains under-researched (28). Studies to date have also had a short time frame, usually during a pandemic, which may not quite truly reflect attitudes in the absence of any other option for patient contact. Therefore, findings of this make a unique contribution to the literature on this rapidly evolving area, detailing clinicians' attitudes and expectations towards digital technologies in mental health during and after Covid-19 outbreak.

Today, telepsychiatry delivered via tele/videoconferencing is an established and routinely used form of care delivery by mental

health specialists (45). The efficacy of telepsychiatry is well documented in research (46). Its undoubted advantages include the ability to conduct a visit from anywhere, even a very remote location, easier appointment scheduling and easier rescheduling of appointments. Barriers identified for telepsychiatry include older age, lack of digital access, limited technical competence and hearing and visual impairment, and on the side of the professionals, the difficulty of convincing some of clinicians to use this form of consultation (13).

The APA and WPA have developed guidelines to provide a framework for ensuring the quality and safety of telepsychiatry (47, 48). It is worth highlighting at this point the difference that separates telepsychiatry and the rapidly growing digital health market, including online therapy provided by commercial firms. The latter, unlike telepsychiatry, has unproven security and is unregulated. This problem is evident in various countries, including Poland. An evaluation of this market in the United States revealed that most online therapy websites and applications are not regulated by the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) (49). The paradox is that the same sensitive personal information protected by HIPAA when obtained by a doctor is not subject to any protection when obtained by mental health companies providing online therapy (50). These differences do not seem to be recognized by patients, so it is worth making them aware of this risk. This is especially true in terms of the security patients' sensitive data, but also in terms of the unproven efficacy of the services offered by digital mental health companies.

Overall, patients' and clinicians' satisfaction with online consultations are rated highly. In recent survey, nine out of ten psychiatrists felt satisfied with telepsychiatry service (51). Previous satisfaction surveys on the use of tele/video consultation by mental health professionals, including those from the beginning of the pandemic, have also shown that this form of contact is well appreciated (32-34, 52-54). In this aspect, therefore, the results of our study are in line with those of the previous ones. In this survey, the willingness to use such a tool during work was expressed by up to 76% of respondents, with 70% of professionals stating that they use telepsychiatry at least once a week. In addition, however, our survey shows a longer time perspective and the changes that have occurred since the beginning of the pandemic, during its peak and with the end of the pandemic. A high level of interest was recorded especially in 2020-2021, while a decrease to 50% was recorded in 2021-2022 and then a slow rise again until 2023. One possible explanation could be a return to the traditional form of postpandemic contact in those professionals who do however prefer the traditional form of contact with patient. It may be interesting to further observe this trend over time and investigate whether this is a temporary decline in interest, or whether some professionals will return to remote contact in the longer term. This will certainly be shaped from both sides i.e. patients and professionals. At the moment, however, there is a decrease in the declared intention to use video/tele-consultation from 2022, from more than 50% of all visits to less than half of all visits in 2023. It is also worth noting that a consistent proportion of professionals (25%) reported some

concern about the use of video/teleconsultation over the 2020s to 2023. This may indirectly reflect a certain proportion of professionals for whom telepsychiatry will be a necessary choice rather than their preference.

Interestingly, in the open-ended questions, the study participants who had negative attitudes toward telepsychiatry most often indicated a preference for personal, traditional contact with the patient. Concerns about the use of telepsychiatry were mainly related to difficulties in correctly assessing the patient's condition and establishing an appropriate therapeutic relationship. This is in line with the results of the survey from 2021-2022 (35). Professionals perceived telepsychiatry as a convenient solution for follow-up visits, however, it was perceived as less effective for setting up a therapeutic relationship or assessment of mental status in acute mental crisis. We also examined in our study what needs to be improved in telepsychiatry. Among the points indicated there were the quality of the connection and the lack of a platform dedicated to this solution.

In one study some gender differences have been detected, showing that women are more willing to use are more satisfied with the use of telepsychiatry (55). In this study, however, we found no differences regarding gender, age, or place of work.

A more constant and unchanged attitude over the years of the survey was presented by professionals regarding new mHealth tools, i.e. mobile apps, smart watches, monitoring wristbands, etc. More than half of the professionals were interested in the possibilities of mobile mental health aids, some have already recommended them to their patients. According to the majority of respondents (86%), mHealth tools can help patients to better cope with their mental illness and 74% declared recommending patients to use of mental health apps. This result is in general consistent with other identified studies (30, 34, 56, 57). Moreover, in a 2022 Portuguese survey as many as 87% clinicians supported the possibility of prescribing mental health apps (31). Although professionals' attitudes about mHealth tools supporting patients may not necessarily translate into behavior, so much interest is encouraging. However, it is worth to mention that 29% of respondents had some concerns about the use of such devices by patients. These concerns were mainly related to the unknown effectiveness of these devices and doubts about the security of the data entered there by patients. In another study also pointed to technical problems encountered by clinicians and organizational and social factors related to concerns about implementing these solutions in daily practice (28). The problem of failing to protect sensitive user data that can threaten patient safety has been recognized for several years now. The business practices of digital companies are still not subject to proper scrutiny and may put profits ahead of security. Some authorities even suggest that specialists should screen apps before recommending them to patients (58).

Although regulations have already appeared in both the EU (59, 60) and the US (61) addressing this issue, they are still not perfect and most applications are not under the strict control of the relevant authorities. According to the 2017 EU Medical Device Regulation. Medical mobile apps require CE marking. In addition, the EU regulation has forced many app developers to improve privacy policy transparency. These regulations are expected to be clarified in the future, allowing the broad market for medical apps to be covered (62).

A good example of how to solve this problem is the German system. In 2019, a law was passed allowing doctors to prescribe certain health apps. In order to obtain such status, apps must undergo a comprehensive certification process and provide scientific evidence of efficacy and safety confirmed by clinical trials. Such certified apps are called DiGA, a specialist can prescribe it to a patient, and statutory health insurance covers the costs incurred. This seems to have solved both the problem of specialists unsure of what is effective and safe, as well as ensuring the security of sensitive patient data. This is confirmed by a willingness to use DiGA of as much as 76%. Therefore, it seems that it is not only the attitudes of clinicians to new technologies themselves that are important here, but also their confidence and knowledge based on evidence-based medicine, so that they can recommend such new solutions to their patients without any doubt. A multidisciplinary approach is needed to develop a tool that is effective and safe for patients. This requires the sound knowledge and experience of mental health professionals, a patient-assessed usability perspective, as well as the technical expertise of computer scientists. Although individual apps and smartwatches are being validated in clinical trials, the number of randomized clinical trials on large groups of patients is particularly low.

This study has also found that the use of internet-enabled mobile devices is widespread among mental health professionals, with as many as 92% using them at least once a week. Furthermore, over the period of the survey, there has been an increase in the percentage of professionals declaring that they feel ready to use new digital technologies in mental health, rising to 84% in 2023. This is generally in line with the data from the systematic review of this topic. These results allow us to look optimistically to the future and the development of medical devices and new channels for specialistpatient communication. However, the need to adapt legal solutions to the evolving digital market should not be overlooked, so that patient safety and the privacy of the patient's sensitive data is not compromised.

This study has certain limitations that should be considered. Firstly, the mental health professionals who decided to participate in the survey may be predisposed to have positive attitudes toward telepsychiatry and m-health. Secondly, the response rate was 59.2%, which may have affected the results. Thirdly, most of the data came from mental health professionals working in urban areas and providing outpatient treatment. Lastly, the crosssectional design and self-reported data were also limitations of this study. Therefore, the results should be generalized with particular care.

5 Conclusions

The study contributes to the body of knowledge on the attitudes, expectations and concerns of mental health professionals regarding the use of mobile digital technology and how these change over the onset, peak and extinction of the COVID-19 pandemic (2020–2023). The willingness to use telepsychiatry was expressed by up to 76% of

respondents. However, since 2022 (pandemic extinction) there has been a decrease in the declared intention to use this modality from more than 50% to less than half of all visits in 2023. It is also worth noting that a consistent proportion of professionals (25%) reported some concern about the use of telepsychiatry, mainly related to difficulties in correctly assessing the patient's condition. Furthermore, they indicated that technical issues such as the connection quality or special platform presence needed to be addressed.

According to the majority of respondents (86%), mHealth tools can help patients to better cope with their mental illness and 74% declared recommending patients their use. However, 29% of respondents had some concerns about the use of such devices by patients. These concerns were mainly related to the unknown effectiveness of these devices and doubts about the security of the data entered there by patients.

Finally, over the period of the survey, there has been an increase in the percentage of professionals declaring that they feel ready to use new digital technologies in mental health, rising to 84% in 2023. Determining concerns and expectations will enable the design of tools that are better suited and able to serve in the long term, rather than just being a short-term novelty.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Bioethics Committee at the Institute of Psychiatry and Neurology, Warsaw, Poland. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin in accordance with the national legislation and institutional requirements.

References

1. Hidalgo-Mazzei D, Mateu A, Reinares M, Undurraga J, Bonnin CD, Sanchez-Moreno J, et al. Self-monitoring and psychoeducation in bipolar patients with a smartphone application (SIMPLe) project: design, development and studies protocols. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2015) 15:52. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0437-6

2. Vitger T, Hjorthøj C, Austin SF, Petersen L, Tønder ES, Nordentoft M, et al. A smartphone app to promote patient activation and support shared decision-making in people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia in outpatient treatment settings (Momentum trial): randomized controlled assessor-blinded trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2022) 24: e40292. doi: 10.2196/40292

3. Torous J, Larsen ME, Depp C, Cosco TD, Barnett I, Nock MK, et al. Smartphones, sensors, and machine learning to advance real-time prediction and interventions for suicide prevention: a review of current progress and next steps. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2018) 20:51. doi: 10.1007/s11920-018-0914-y

4. Bufano P, Laurino M, Said S, Tognetti A, Menicucci D. Digital phenotyping for monitoring mental disorders: systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2023) 25:e46778. doi: 10.2196/46778

Author contributions

MD: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AG: Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AA: Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. PM: Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Project administration, Supervision.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research received no external funding.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2024.1303878/full#supplementary-material

5. Faurholt-Jepsen M, Frost M, Ritz C, Christensen EM, Jacoby AS, Mikkelsen RL, et al. Daily electronic self-monitoring in bipolar disorder using smartphones - the MONARCA I trial: a randomized, placebo-controlled, single-blind, parallel group trial. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:2691-704. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000410

6. Molfenter T, Roget N, Chaple M, Behlman S, Cody O, Hartzler B, et al. Use of telehealth in substance use disorder services during and after COVID-19: online survey study. *JMIR Ment Heal.* (2021) 8:e25835. doi: 10.2196/25835

7. Molfenter T, Heitkamp T, Murphy AA, Tapscott S, Behlman S, Cody OJ. Use of telehealth in mental health (MH) services during and after COVID-19. *Community Ment Health J.* (2021) 57:1244-51. doi: 10.1007/s10597-021-00861-2

8. Goodyear T, Richardson C, Aziz B, Slemon A, Gadermann A, Daly Z, et al. Mental distress and virtual mental health resource use amid the COVID-19 pandemic: Findings from a cross-sectional study in Canada. *Digit Heal*. (2023) 9:20552076231173530. doi: 10.1177/20552076231173528

9. Hossain MM, Tasnim S, Sultana A, Faizah F, Mazumder H, Zou L, et al. Epidemiology of mental health problems in COVID-19: a review. *F1000Research*. (2020) 9:636. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.24457.1

10. Wu T, Jia X, Shi H, Niu J, Yin X, Xie J, et al. Prevalence of mental health problems during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2021) 281:91-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.117

11. Melcher J, Hays R, Torous J. Digital phenotyping for mental health of college students: a clinical review. *Evid Based Ment Health*. (2020) 23:161-6. doi: 10.1136/ebmental-2020-300180

12. Organization WH. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies. *mHealth New horizons Heal through Mob Technol.* (2011).

13. Cowan KE, McKean AJ, Gentry MT, Hilty DM. Barriers to use of telepsychiatry: clinicians as gatekeepers. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2019) 94:2510–23. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2019.04.018

14. Matthews M, Abdullah S, Murnane E, Voida S, Choudhury T, Gay G, et al. Development and evaluation of a smartphone-based measure of social rhythms for bipolar disorder. *Assessment*. (2016) 23:472–83. doi: 10.1177/1073191116656794

15. Antosik-Wojcinska AZ, Dominiak M, Chojnacka M, Kaczmarek-Majer K, Opara KR, Radziszewska W, et al. Smartphone as a monitoring tool for bipolar disorder: a systematic review including data analysis, machine learning algorithms and predictive modelling. *Int J Med Inform.* (2020) 138:104131. doi: 10.1016/j.jimedinf.2020.104131

16. Weintraub MJ, Posta F, Ichinose MC, Arevian AC, Miklowitz DJ. Word usage in spontaneous speech as a predictor of depressive symptoms among youth at high risk for mood disorders. *J Affect Disord.* (2023) 323:675–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.12.047

17. Dominiak M, Kaczmarek-Majer K, Antosik-Wójcińska AZ, Opara KR, Olwert A, Radziszewska W, et al. Behavioral and self-reported data collected from smartphones for the assessment of depressive and manic symptoms in patients with bipolar disorder: prospective observational study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2022) 24:e28647. doi: 10.2196/28647

18. Brian RM, Ben-Zeev D. Mobile health (mHealth) for mental health in Asia: Objectives, strategies, and limitations. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2014) 10:96–100. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2014.04.006

19. Wilhelm K, Handley T, McHugh C, Lowenstein D, Arrold K. The quality of internet websites for people experiencing psychosis: pilot expert assessment. *JMIR Form Res.* (2022) 6:e28135. doi: 10.2196/28135

20. Lecomte T, Potvin S, Corbière M, Guay S, Samson C, Cloutier B, et al. Mobile apps for mental health issues: meta-review of meta-analyses. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2020) 8:e17458. doi: 10.2196/17458

21. Carrouel F, du Sartz de Vigneulles B, Bourgeois D, Kabuth B, Baltenneck N, Nusbaum F, et al. Mental health mobile apps in the french app store: assessment study of functionality and quality. *JMIR mHealth uHealth*. (2022) 10:e41282. doi: 10.2196/41282

22. Daus H, Kislicyn N, Heuer S, Backenstrass M. Disease management apps and technical assistance systems for bipolar disorder: Investigating the patients' point of view. J Affect Disord. (2018) 229:351-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.12.059

23. Ben-Zeev D, Brenner CJ, Begale M, Duffecy J, Mohr DC, Mueser KT. Feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of a smartphone intervention for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull*. (2014) 40:1244–53. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu033

24. Faurholt-Jepsen M, Busk J, Frost M, Vinberg M, Christensen EM, Winther O, et al. Voice analysis as an objective state marker in bipolar disorder. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2016) 6:e856. doi: 10.1038/tp.2016.123

 Antosik-Wójcinska A, Chojnacka M, Dominiak M, Swiecicki Ł. The use of smartphones in the management of bipolar disorder-mobile apps and voice analysis in monitoring of mental state and phase change detection. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2019) 29:S528-9. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.11.784

26. Saunders KEA, Bilderbeck AC, Panchal P, Atkinson LZ, Geddes JR, Goodwin GM. Experiences of remote mood and activity monitoring in bipolar disorder: A qualitative study. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2017) 41:115–21. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.11.005

27. Walsh S, Golden E, Priebe S. Systematic review of patients' participation in and experiences of technology-based monitoring of mental health symptoms in the community. *BMJ Open.* (2016) 6:e008362. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008362

28. Jacob C, Sanchez-Vazquez A, Ivory C. Social, organizational, and technological factors impacting clinicians' Adoption of mobile health tools: systematic literature review. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*. (2020) 8:e15935. doi: 10.2196/15935

29. Dahlhausen F, Zinner M, Bieske L, Ehlers JP, Boehme P, Fehring L. There's an app for that, but nobody's using it: Insights on improving patient access and adherence to digital therapeutics in Germany. *Digit Heal.* (2022) 8:20552076221104670. doi: 10.1177/20552076221104672

30. Mayer G, Gronewold N, Alvarez S, Bruns B, Hilbel T, Schultz J-H. Acceptance and expectations of medical experts, students, and patients toward electronic mental health apps: cross-sectional quantitative and qualitative survey study. *JMIR Ment Heal*. (2019) 6:e14018. doi: 10.2196/14018

31. Nogueira-Leite D, Diniz JM, Cruz-Correia R. Mental health professionals' Attitudes toward digital mental health apps and implications for adoption in Portugal: mixed methods study. *JMIR Hum FACTORS*. (2023) 10:e45949. doi: 10.2196/45949 32. Reliford A, Zhang E, Lanina O, Williams SZ, Sanichar N, Khan S, et al. Patient and clinician satisfaction with the early implementation of telemental health services in an urban behavioral health clinic during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Telemed e-Health.* (2023) 29(11) doi: 10.1089/tmj.2022.0480

33. Gentry MT, Puspitasari AJ, McKean AJ, Williams MD, Breitinger S, Geske JR, et al. Clinician satisfaction with rapid adoption and implementation of telehealth services during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Telemed E-HEALTH*. (2021) 27:1385–92. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0575

34. Bucci S, Berry N, Morris R, Berry K, Haddock G, Lewis S, et al. "They are not hard-to-reach clients. We have just got hard-to-reach services." Staff views of digital health tools in specialist mental health services. *Front Psychiatry.* (2019) 10:344. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00344

35. Sheriff R, Hong JSW, Henshall C, D'Agostino A, Tomassi S, Stein H, et al. Evaluation of telepsychiatry during the COVID-19 pandemic across service users, carers and clinicians: an international mixed-methods study. *BMJ Ment Heal.* (2023) 26:e300646. doi: 10.1136/bmjment-2022-300646

36. Berry N, Bucci S, Lobban F. Use of the internet and mobile phones for selfmanagement of severe mental health problems: qualitative study of staff views. *JMIR Ment Heal*. (2017) 4:e52. doi: 10.2196/mental.8311

37. Bondre AP, Shrivastava R, Raghuram H, Tugnawat D, Khan A, Gupta S, et al. A qualitative exploration of perceived needs and barriers of individuals with schizophrenia, caregivers and clinicians in using mental health applications in Madhya Pradesh, India. *SSM Ment Heal.* (2022) 2:100063. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmmh.2022.100063

38. Sinclair C, Holloway K, Riley G, Auret K. Online mental health resources in rural Australia: clinician perceptions of acceptability. *J Med Internet Res.* (2013) 15:e193. doi: 10.2196/jmir.2772

39. Sarradon-Eck A, Bouchez T, Auroy L, Schuers M, Darmon D. Attitudes of general practitioners toward prescription of mobile health apps: qualitative study. *JMIR mHealth uHealth.* (2021) 9:e21795. doi: 10.2196/21795

40. Della Vecchia C, Leroy T, Bauquier C, Pannard M, Sarradon-Eck A, Darmon D, et al. Willingness of french general practitioners to prescribe mHealth apps and devices: quantitative study. *JMIR mHealth uHealth*. (2022) 10:e28372. doi: 10.2196/28372

41. Byambasuren O, Beller E, Glasziou P. Current knowledge and adoption of mobile health apps among Australian general practitioners: survey study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2019) 7:e13199. doi: 10.2196/13199

42. Association WM. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *Jama*. (2013) 310:2191–4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.28105355

43. Golinelli D, Boetto E, Carullo G, Nuzzolese AG, Landini MP, Fantini MP. Adoption of digital technologies in health care during the COVID-19 pandemic: systematic review of early scientific literature. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e22280. doi: 10.2196/22280

44. Lau N, O'Daffer A, Colt S, Yi-Frazier JP, Palermo TM, McCauley E, et al. Android and IPhone mobile apps for psychosocial wellness and stress management: systematic search in app stores and literature review. *JMIR mHealth uHealth*. (2020) 8: e17798. doi: 10.2196/17798

45. APA. Telepsychiatry. (2022). Available at: https://www.psychiatry.org/ psychiatrists/practice/telepsychiatry (Accessed September 10, 2023).

46. O'Brien M, McNicholas F. The use of telepsychiatry during COVID-19 and beyond. Ir J Psychol Med. (2020) 37:250–5. doi: 10.1017/ipm.2020.54

47. Mucic D, Shore J, Hilty DM. The world psychiatric association telepsychiatry global guidelines. *J Technol Behav Sci.* (2023) 64(S1):1–8. doi: 10.1007/s41347-023-00339-w

48. Mishkind M, Shore JH, Barrett R, Caudill R, Chiu A, Hilty D, et al. Resource document on best practices in synchronous videoconferencing-based telemental health. *Telemed e-Health*. (2023). doi: 10.1089/tmj.2023.0174

49. Feldstern N. Assessing anonymity: privacy in online mental healthcare and support groups. *Tul J Tech Intell Prop.* (2022) 24.

50. Mueller R. Big data, big gap: working towards a HIPAA framework that covers big data. *Indiana Law J.* (2022) 97:1505.

51. Torales J, Vilallba-Arias J, Bogado JA, O'Higgins M, Almirón-Santacruz J, Ruiz Díaz N, et al. Satisfaction with Telepsychiatry during the COVID-19 pandemic: Patients' and psychiatrists' report from a University Hospital. *Int J Soc Psychiatry*. (2023) 69:156–60. doi: 10.1177/00207640211070762

52. Kachnic J, Wojtuszek M, Wutke J, Krysta K, Krzystanek M. Telemedicine – How does it work in practice? *Eur Psychiatry*. (2017) 41:S147–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.01.1995

53. Negev M, Magal T, Kaphzan H. Attitudes of psychiatrists toward telepsychiatry: A policy Delphi study. *Digit Heal.* (2023) 9. doi: 10.1177/20552076231177132

54. Roncero C, Remon-Gallo D, Casado-Espada N, Aguilar L, Gamonal-Limcaoco S, Gallego MT, et al. Healthcare professionals' perception and satisfaction with mental health tele-medicine during the COVID-19 outbreak: A real-world experience in telepsychiatry. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:981346. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.981346

55. Luo J, Tong L, Crotty BH, Somai M, Taylor B, Osinski K, et al. Telemedicine adoption during the COVID-19 pandemic: gaps and inequalities. *Appl Clin Inform*. (2021) 12:836-44. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1733848

56. Sterling WA, Sobolev M, Van Meter A, Guinart D, Birnbaum ML, Rubio JM, et al. Digital technology in psychiatry: survey study of clinicians. *JMIR Form Res.* (2022) 6:e33676. doi: 10.2196/33676

57. Bauer R, Glenn T, Monteith S, Whybrow PC, Bauer M. Survey of psychiatrist use of digital technology in clinical practice. *Int J bipolar Disord*. (2020) 8:29. doi: 10.1186/ s40345-020-00194-1

58. Kazdin AE, Rabbitt SM. Novel models for delivering mental health services and reducing the burdens of mental illness. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2013) 1:170–91.

59. R (EU). 2017/745 of the European parliament and of the council of 5 April 2017 on medical devices, amending Directive 2001/83/EC, Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and Regulation (EC) No 1223/2009 and repealing Council Directives 90/385/EEC and 93/ 42/EEC (2017). Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32017R0745.

60. Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016R0679.

61. Administration UF and D. US Department of Health and Human Services. *Center for Devices and Radiological Health. Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research Food and Drug Administration.* Policy for Device Software Functions and Mobile Medical Applications. Guidance. (2022). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/media/80958/download.

62. Miralles I, Granell C, Díaz-Sanahuja L, Van Woensel W, Bretón-López J, Mira A, et al. Smartphone apps for the treatment of mental disorders: systematic review. *JMIR mHealth uHealth*. (2020) 8:e14897. doi: 10.2196/14897

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Silvia Simbula, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

REVIEWED BY Rainer Leonhart, University of Freiburg, Germany Markus Wolf, University of Zurich, Switzerland

*CORRESPONDENCE Fabian Rottstädt ⊠ fabian.rottstaedt@uni-jena.de

RECEIVED 09 November 2023 ACCEPTED 02 April 2024 PUBLISHED 18 April 2024

CITATION

Rottstädt F, Becker E, Wilz G, Croy I, Baumeister H and Terhorst Y (2024) Enhancing the acceptance of smart sensing in psychotherapy patients: findings from a randomized controlled trial. Front. Digit. Health 6:1335776. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2024.1335776

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Rottstädt, Becker, Wilz, Croy, Baumeister and Terhorst. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Enhancing the acceptance of smart sensing in psychotherapy patients: findings from a randomized controlled trial

Fabian Rottstädt^{1,2*}, Eduard Becker¹, Gabriele Wilz³, Ilona Croy^{1,2}, Harald Baumeister^{4,5} and Yannik Terhorst^{4,5,6,7}

¹Department of Clinical Psychology, Friedrich Schiller University of Jena, Jena, Germany, ²DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site Halle-Jena-Magdeburg, Jena, Germany, ³Department of Clinical-Psychological Intervention, Friedrich Schiller University of Jena, Jena, Germany, ⁴Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, University Ulm, Ulm, Germany, ⁵DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site Mannheim-Ulm-Heidelberg, Ulm, Germany, ⁶Department of Psychological Methods and Assessment, Ludwigs-Maximilian University Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site Mannheim-Ulm-Heidelberg, Ulm, Germany, ⁶Department of Psychological Methods and Assessment, Ludwigs-Maximilian University Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site Mannheim-Ulm-Heidelberg, Maximilian University Munich, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site Minchen, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site Minchen, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site Minchen, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁷DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁸DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁸DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁸DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁸DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich, Germany, ⁸DZPG (German Center for Mental Health), Partner Site München, Munich

Objective: Smart sensing has the potential to make psychotherapeutic treatments more effective. It involves the passive analysis and collection of data generated by digital devices. However, acceptance of smart sensing among psychotherapy patients remains unclear. Based on the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT), this study investigated (1) the acceptance toward smart sensing in a sample of psychotherapy patients (2) the effectiveness of an acceptance facilitating intervention (AFI) and (3) the determinants of acceptance.

Methods: Patients (N = 116) were randomly assigned to a control group (CG) or intervention group (IG). The IG received a video AFI on smart sensing, and the CG a control video. An online questionnaire was used to assess acceptance of smart sensing, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions and social influence. The intervention effects of the AFI on acceptance were investigated. The determinants of acceptance were analyzed with structural equation modeling (SEM).

Results: The IG showed a moderate level of acceptance (M = 3.16, SD = 0.97), while the CG showed a low level (M = 2.76, SD = 1.0). The increase in acceptance showed a moderate effect in the intervention group (p < .05, d = 0.4). For the IG, performance expectancy (M = 3.92, SD = 0.7), effort expectancy (M = 3.90, SD = 0.98) as well as facilitating conditions (M = 3.91, SD = 0.93) achieved high levels. Performance expectancy ($\gamma = 0.63$, p < .001) and effort expectancy ($\gamma = 0.36$, p < .001) were identified as the core determinants of acceptance explaining 71.1% of its variance. The fit indices supported the model's validity (CFI = .95, TLI = .93, RMSEA = .08).

Discussion: The low acceptance in the CG suggests that enhancing the acceptance should be considered, potentially increasing the use and adherence to the technology. The current AFI was effective in doing so and is thus a promising approach. The IG also showed significantly higher performance expectancy and social influence and, in general, a strong expression of the UTAUT factors. The results support the applicability of the UTAUT in the context of smart sensing in a clinical sample, as the included predictors were able to explain a great amount of the variance of acceptance.

KEYWORDS

smart sensing, psychotherapy, acceptance, digital health, implementation, unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

1 Introduction

Digital technologies have the potential to significantly transform psychotherapeutic treatment and care (1-3). The hope is that they can help to bridge healthcare gaps and make treatments more effective and efficient (4-6). Smart sensing is one of those technologies that may contribute to improvements in psychotherapy. It primarily involves the passive analysis and collection of data generated by digital devices, such as smartphones or smart wearables (7, 8). Such data may encompass measurements like step counts, sleep duration, or smartphone usage. In the future, smart sensing could even capture more complex biophysiological data (9). This technology vastly extends the information available to psychotherapists during the treatment process. Smart sensing offers the distinct advantage that fine-grained data (e.g., continuous assessment of activity) can be collected unobtrusively without burden on patients. Furthermore, the technology enables more objective data collection in the natural life context of patients leading to high ecological validity and the elimination of common biases such as recall biases or social desirability, which have long posed challenges in psychotherapy (10, 11). The gathered information can be integrated at every stage of the psychotherapeutic process: and problem analysis, diagnosis treatment planning, implementation of interventions, monitoring, and the evaluation of the treatment process (3, 12).

Data collected through smart sensing has already been utilized in various domains of health research (13–15), such as measuring physical activity or sending activity-promoting app notifications in cases of extended sitting (16), or monitoring chronic conditions like Parkinson's disease (17). In the context of mental health conditions, smart sensing has also been employed (7, 8). From cross-sectional observation studies, there is evidence that mental symptoms are associated with smartphone or wearable data (18– 20), which might enable predictions of mental disorders by this data in the future. There is also evidence for phenotyping and diagnosing diseases such as psychosis (21) and bipolar disorder (22) or for mood prediction (23, 24).

However, various steps need to be taken before integrating smart sensing technology into standard clinical care. One is to gauge its acceptability and discern the factors linked with its adoption. The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) (25) offers a model for investigating the acceptance of technology and its influencing factors. It is a wellestablished framework for understanding the adoption and acceptance of digital health applications (26, 27), and has already been applied to diverse contexts (27-29). The theory identifies performance expectancy, which relates to the perceived personal benefits of using the technology, effort expectancy, denoting the anticipated ease of use, social influence, representing the belief that others find the technology valuable, and facilitating conditions, encompassing the expected support and availability of practical resources, as the fundamental determinants of acceptance (25, 26). A first study also applied the UTAUT model in the context of smart sensing (30). While the study supports

the general applicability of the UTAUT model for smart sensing, it was conducted in the general population and currently no evidence of the model is available in patients in psychotherapy. Hence, it is of importance to investigate the generalizability of the UTAUT model in a clinical sample.

In addition to understanding the determinates of acceptance, it is essential to explore opportunities for enhancing the acceptance to ensure the successful implementation of smart sensing. It has been proven before that Acceptance Facilitating Interventions (AFIs) can be effective in enhancing the acceptance of internetbased or blended psychotherapy (31–35). AFIs typically align with an acceptance model such as UTAUT (26) or other models [e.g., the Health Action Process Approach (36)]. To directly target the presumed determinants of acceptance, a UTAUT-based AFI should emphasize performance expectancy by pointing out the personal benefits, effort expectancy by demonstrating the technology in action, social influence by providing expert or user experiences, and facilitating conditions by addressing concerns regarding practical resources or the availability of technical assistance.

The present study aimed to (1) assess the acceptance toward smart sensing in a sample of psychotherapy patients (2) investigate the effectiveness of a UTAUT-based AFI in enhancing the acceptance of smart sensing and (3) investigate the determinants of acceptance. The AFI was presented to the intervention group (IG) in the form of an information video on smart sensing, while the control group (CG) was shown a control video that contained information about depression and anxiety (active control condition). Two hypotheses were investigated: (a) Patients who watched the AFI-video show a higher acceptance of smart sensing. (b) The UTAUT model applies to psychotherapy patients, which means that the covariance matrix implicated by the UTAUT does not differ significantly from the observed covariance matrix. In addition, we conducted exploratory analyses to assess the effect of the AFI on relevant subgroups and to investigate the association between psychological distress and the acceptance of smart sensing.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Sample and study design

We report on a randomized controlled trial focusing on the cross-sectional comparison of two groups. The study was conducted in April and May, 2023. In this online intervention study patients were randomly assigned to either the control group (CG) or the intervention group (IG). A simple, unrestricted randomization was used, which was carried out by an automated and validated tool by the survey software (LimeSurvey Community Edition Version 6.2.9). The algorithm initially led to different group sizes (IG: 80, CG: 69). Assignment to CG or IG was obscured for participants. Patients in the IG received an informational video (AFI) on the topic of Smart sensing. Patients in the CG, on the other hand, received a video

on the topic of depression and anxiety instead. Further details about the videos are provided in Section 2.5.1.

Patients were invited to participate via email. In order to be included in the study, patients either had to be undergoing psychotherapeutic treatment at the psychotherapeutic outpatient clinic of Friedrich-Schiller-University Jena, be on the waiting list for such treatment or have completed their psychotherapy within the last 2 years. Participants also had to have sufficient knowledge of the German language, and be over 18 years of age. Participants did not receive any reimbursements for participation.

To determine the required sample size, an *a priori* power analysis was conducted. Previous AFI interventions on acceptance ranged from no significant effects to significant effects with large effect sizes (31-34). Based on these study results, the



TABLE 1 Characteristics of IG and CG.

effect size was assumed to be d = 0.40. With a power of 80%, a one-sided *t*-test and a significance level of 5%, a sample size of 78 participants per group was required.

A total of 433 patients were contacted. Out of the contacted patients, 205 clicked on the study link. The final analysis included data from N = 116 patients, Figure 1 depicts the study flow.

Patient ages ranged from 18 to 87 years (M = 38.86, SD = 15.83). Of the patients, 63.8% were female (n = 74), 33.6% were male (n = 39), and 2.6% identified as gender-diverse (n = 3). Additionally, 39.7% had a university degree (n = 46). There were n = 64 patients in the intervention group and n = 52 in the control group. Table 1 presents sociodemographic data separately for both groups and Table 2 shows that both groups reported the same amount of psychological distress.

2.3 Ethics statement

The study followed the Declaration of Helsinki for medical research involving human subjects and was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Friedrich-Schiller University Jena (Reg.-Nr.: FSV 22/103). All participants provided written informed consent.

2.4 Questionnaires

2.4.1 Acceptance

The assessment of acceptance and its determinants was grounded in the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) model (25). To gauge the efficacy of the intervention and the impact of these determinants, we utilized a slightly modified questionnaire, similar to those employed and validated in prior research endeavors aimed at measuring the

	Intervent	ion group	Contro	l group
	n (N=64)	%/M (SD)	n (N = 52)	%/M (SD)
Age in years		38.17 (15.06)		39.71 (15.87)
Sex			·	
Male	18	28.1	21	40.4
Female	44	68.8	30	57.7
Diverse	2	3.1	1	1.9
Country of origin				
Germany	59	92.2	52	100
Other	5	7.8 0		0
Education				
University degree	28	43.8	18	34.6
University entrance qualification	20	31.3	19	36.5
Intermediate secondary school	11	17.2	10	19.2
Other	5	7.8	5	9.6
Employment status			·	
Employed full-time	21	32.8	16	30.8
Education/study	19	29.7	15	28.8
Employed part-time	13	20.3	10	19.2
Retired	4	6.3	7	13.5
Other	7	10.9	4	7.7

M(SD), mean (standard deviation).

Intervention group N=64			Control group N = 52		Comparison					
	M (SD)	Median (IQR)	Mean rank	Sum rank	M (SD)	Median (IQR)	Mean rank	Sum rank	Ζ	p
Depression	6.17 (5.17)	4.5 (7.0)	55.4	3,545.5	7.54 (5.88)	6.5 (8.0)	62.3	3,240.5	-1.11	.269
Anxiety	4.48 (3.41)	3.0 (4.0)	57.4	3,674.5	4.48 (3.03)	5.0 (5.0)	59.8	3,111.5	-0.39	.689
Stress	7.56 (4.01)	7.5 (5.0)	56.5	3,613.5	8.34 (4.81)	8.0 (8.0)	61.0	3,172.5	-0.73	.467
SUM	18.22 (10.38)	15.5 (13.75)	55.7	3,565.0	20.37 (12.21)	19.0 (18.0)	61.9	3,221.0	-0.99	.320

TABLE 2 Psychological distress of IG and CG.

For comparison of both groups Mann-Whitney-U-test was used. M(SD), mean (standard deviation), Mean Rank, mean rank according to Mann-Whitney-U-test. Sum Rank, sum rank according to Mann-Whitney-U-test.

acceptance of internet-based interventions (30, 31, 33, 35). The questionnaire comprises 5 scales (acceptance, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions) and a total of 14 items. All items were rated on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 = "strongly disagree" to 5 = "strongly agree." Detailed information on the questionnaire's scales and items, along with reliability statistics for this study, are presented in the supplement (Supplementary Tables S1 and S3).

2.4.2 Psychological distress

Psychological distress was assessed using the German version of the Depression-Anxiety-Stress Scale (DASS) (37). The questionnaire comprises 21 items and gauges psychological distress across the domains of depression, stress, and anxiety, each consisting of seven items. Responses were captured on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 0 = "Did not apply to me at all" to 3 = "Applied to me very much, or most of the time." The DASS was selected due to its economy, ability to provide nuanced insights into various symptom domains of psychological distress, and established reliability and validity. Convergent validity was demonstrated through the correlation between the Beck Anxiety Inventory (38) and the DASS anxiety scale (r = .76), as well as the correlation between the Beck Depression Inventory (39) and the DASS depression scale (r = .68).

2.5 Material

2.5.1 Intervention video

The AFI video had a duration of approximately 9 min. The video aimed to address the acceptance predictors outlined in the UTAUT model, with a particular focus on performance expectancy. The video was tailored to the target audience of psychotherapy patients, implemented a narrative style, and was based on a whiteboard design to achieve load reduction (40–42). Content within the video included an explanation of what smart sensing entails, how it can be utilized, information regarding data collection, data privacy considerations, and the benefits of smart sensing. The potential applications of smart sensing were further elucidated through a fictional patient scenario, highlighting the advantages of smart sensing. In this scenario, a therapist and a patient jointly recognize a positive correlation between physical activity and the patient's satisfaction. Subsequently, an objective is formulated within the therapy to increase physical activity. Furthermore, the video emphasized the use of smart sensing to monitor treatment progress and goal achievement during therapy, devising additional treatment objectives, and underlining the potential utility of smart sensing even beyond the course of therapy. Towards the end of the video, an expert statement from a psychotherapist was presented, expounding upon further advantages of Smart sensing and recounting personal positive experiences with it. A script outlining the video's content is provided in the appendix.

2.5.2 Control video

The control video for the control group was thought as an active control condition. It had a duration of approximately 8.5 min. This video consisted of two psychoeducational segments, one addressing depression and the other focusing on generalized anxiety disorders. Both videos were created by the German Federal Ministry of Health and are publicly available (43, 44). These segments were amalgamated into a single video to ensure a comparable duration to that of the AFI Video. The aim of this video was to capture the participants' attention due to the perceived importance of the subject matter without influencing their acceptance of smart sensing. Notably, smart sensing was not discussed in this video.

2.6 Implementation and Procedure

Patients initially completed the questionnaire pertaining to their sociodemographic characteristics. Subsequently, patients were presented with either the AFI video or control video. To ensure that the video was viewed, patients were required to wait for a minimum of 4 min before they could click on the "continue" button. Additionally, they were asked to confirm whether they had watched the video in its entirety. Following this, patients received information on smart sensing to ensure that even the CG had a basic understanding of the topic. The following information was provided: "Smart sensing involves the continuous passive collection of digital markers while using smart devices such as smartphones or smartwatches. Digital markers include parameters such as the range of motion, step count, and sleep patterns. Smart sensing, for instance, records your step count via a smartphone or your sleep patterns through a smartwatch." Following the information session, patients completed the UTAUT questionnaire and the DASS. At the end of the study, participants were also given the option to receive automated feedback on the results of the DASS questionnaire. Furthermore, patients had the

opportunity to provide their email address if they were interested in participating in further studies involving smart sensing.

2.7 Statistical analyses

The data was analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics 29.00 and IBM SPSS Amos 29. To compare level of acceptance between IG and CG, the Mann-Whitney U test was employed due to deviations from the assumption of normal distribution. To examine the influence of the surveyed acceptance predictors (performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions), a confirmatory structural equation model was applied to the whole sample, whereby the CG and IG were combined. The structural equation model was developed based on UTAUT and validated by Philippi et al. (27). The influence of the acceptance predictors on acceptance was tested using standardized regression weights and their significance. Model fit was evaluated using the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), the Tucker Lewis Index (TLI) and the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA). RMSEA as a noncentrality parameter was used to assess the goodness of fit due to the tendency of the χ^2 -test to reject the misspecified models too harshly (45-47). Following well-established guidelines we defined a good model fit as CFI and TLI >.90, RMSEA <.08 (48).

Additionally, exploratory *t*-tests were conducted. The effects of the intervention on various subgroups were also examined to analyze in which groups the intervention is particularly meaningful and to explore potential mechanisms of the intervention. Exploratory analyses were performed for the following subgroups: male vs. female, young vs. old (with the median age as the cutoff point) as well as lower vs. higher educational levels (higher degrees beyond secondary school were considered as higher education). To investigate the association between acceptance and psychological distress, Pearson correlation coefficient was computed.

3 Results

3.1 Group Comparison of acceptance and its predictors

On a 5-point Likert scale, the IG showed a moderate level of acceptance (M = 3.16), while the CG showed a low level

TADLE 7	Acceptance	ام در م	www.eliekewe	- 6		£	a waa a wh	
IADLE 3	Acceptance	and	predictors	or	acceptance	tor	smart	sensing.

(M = 2.76). Table 3 presents the comparison of groups in terms of acceptance and acceptance predictors. The IG showed significantly higher acceptance than CG (U = 1,299.0, Z = -2.033, p = .042). The effect size was d = 0.40 (95% CI: 0.03–0.77), corresponding to a moderate effect. Hence, hypothesis (a) was confirmed. Furthermore, patients in the IG had significantly higher performance expectancy toward smart sensing (U = 2,404.5, Z = -3.575, p < .001), with an effect size of d = 0.74 (95% CI: 0.36–1.11), as well as significantly higher scores on social influence (U = 1,056.0, Z = 3.460, p < .001), with an effect size of d = 0.63 (95% CI: 0.25–1.00).

3.2 Model for prediction of acceptance of smart sensing

Performance expectancy ($\gamma = 0.63$, p < .001) and effort expectancy ($\gamma = 0.36$, p < .001) were identified as predictors of acceptance in the structural equation model. Together, the two determinants explained 71.1% of the variance of the latent acceptance factor. Social influence did not achieve statistical significance as a predictor of acceptance ($\gamma = -0.08$, p = .551). The fit indices supported the model's validity (CFI = .95, TLI = .93, RMSEA = .08). Hence, hypothesis (b) was confirmed. Figure 2 depicts the structural equation model with estimated parameters. The full parameter list of the measurement model and correlations between the acceptance predictors and acceptance of smart sensing are presented in the supplement (Supplementary Tables S2 and S3).

3.3 Exploratory analyses

3.3.1 Subgroup analyses

Subgroup analyses revealed meaningful interaction effects regarding gender, age, and education level. A significant intervention effect on acceptance was found in the subgroup of women (t = 3.54, p < .001) with an effect size of d = 0.84 (95% CI: 0.35–1.32). Conversely, there was no significant effect in men (t = -0.59, p = .561). Furthermore, a significant intervention effect was observed in the older patient group (t = 2.37, p = .021) with an effect size of d = 0.62 (95% CI: 0.09–1.14), whereas there was no significant effect in the younger patient group (t = 0.55,

	Intervention group <i>N</i> = 64			Control group N = 52			Comparison		
	M (SD)	Mean rank	Sum rank	M (SD)	Mean rank	Sum rank	Ζ	р	d
Acceptance	3.16 (0.97)	64.2	4,109.0	2.76 (1.00)	51.48	2,677.0	-2.03	<.05*	0.4
Performance expectancy	3.92 (0.70)	68.5	4,381.5	3.31 (0.97)	46.2	2,404.5	-3.60	<.001***	0.74
Effort expectancy	3.90 (0.98)	63.6	4,072.0	3.60 (1.02)	52.2	2,714.0	-1.84	.065	
Social influence	3.34 (0.83)	68.0	4,352.0	2.83 (0.79)	46.8	2,434.0	-3.50	<.001***	0.63
Facilitating conditions	3.91 (0.93)	59.6	3,812.5	3.82 (1.00)	57.2	2,973.5	-0.39	.698	

For comparison of both groups Mann-Whitney-U-test was used. M(SD), mean (standard deviation), Mean Rank, mean rank according to Mann-Whitney-U-test. Sum Rank, sum rank according to Mann-Whitney-U-test.

Significant *p*-values are written in bold.

*<.05, ***<.001.



expectancy; EE, effort expectancy; FC, facilitating conditions; SI, social influence. The dashed line indicates a nonsignificant path. Observed items are indicated as rectangles. Path loadings are represented as single-headed arrows. All exogenous latent variables were allowed to correlate. For improved readability, all latent correlations and residual variances of manifest items were omitted.

p = .586). Similarly, a significant intervention effect was observed for patients with lower educational levels [t = 2.92, p = .007, d = 1.15 (95% CI: 0.30–1.97)], but not for patients with higher education (t = 1.56, p = .114). Table 4 includes the means and standard deviations of acceptance for each subgroup, along with the *p*-values of the intervention effects.

3.3.2 Psychological distress and acceptance

There were no significant associations in the overall sample between acceptance and depression [r = .02 (95% CI: -.17 to -.20), p = .867], acceptance and anxiety [r = .01 (95% CI: -.17 to

-.20), p = .893], acceptance and stress [r = .06 (95% CI: -.13 to -.24), p = .560], or between acceptance and overall psychological distress [r = .03 (95% CI: -.15 to -.21), p = .728].

4 Discussion

4.1 Effect of AFI

Acceptance is a fundamental precondition for the dissemination, uptake, and clinical impact of smart sensing. The mean acceptance of the CG suggests that the baseline acceptance for smart sensing in psychotherapy patients is at a low to
moderate level. We hence conclude that enhancing the acceptance should be considered, potentially increasing the use and adherence to the technology. The present UTAUT-based AFI was able to significantly increase the acceptance of smart sensing in psychotherapy patients and increased performance expectancy and social influence as well. The effect size of the intervention on acceptance (d = 0.40) fell within moderate range. Considering determinants of acceptance according to the UTAUT model, performance and effort expectancy achieved high levels with means close to 4 on a 5-point Likert scale in the IG (compare Table 4). Social influence was increased by the AFI reaching a moderate to high level. Additionally, the overall sample showed high levels of facilitating conditions.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the use of an AFI for smart sensing in psychotherapy patients. Consequently, a direct comparison with study outcomes in similar clinical populations is not feasible. Compared to the general population (30), psychotherapy patients exhibited similar levels of acceptance for smart sensing in the control group, while this study revealed a greater intervention effect by the AFI. We identified the following reasons for the greater intervention effect: (1) The AFI in this study was tailored to the group of psychotherapy patients and specifically targeted their needs, whereas the AFI in the comparative study did not address specific needs but introduced the technology and possible applications in a more general manner. (2) The AFI in this study was three times longer than in the comparative study, which allowed us to provide more in-depth information about smart sensing. (3) Performance expectancy was the most important predictor of acceptance for smart sensing in both this patient population and the general population (30). However, it is questionable whether a population with good mental health expects meaningful benefits from smart sensing, while a population of psychotherapy patients might have a clearer connection to the benefits of the technology. Lastly, we optimized the intervention by applying state of the art instructional design principles to split the cognitive load across auditory and visual channels in the white-board video and implemented a narrative explanation style in the AFI (40-42).

For clinical practice our results support the implementation of scalable AFI in an online video format to increase the acceptance of smart sensing in patients. Given the time- and location independent nature of such AFI, they may become a feasible and effective way to implement smart sensing at various stages before (e.g., installation and symptom tracking before treatment for a decision data informed and recommendation of psychotherapeutic modules), during (e.g., to monitor treatment progress via smart sensing), and after psychotherapy [e.g., using smart sensing to recognize re-establishing dysfunctional behavior patterns and initiate just-in-time interventions (3)]. That said, the therapeutic relationship between the patient and therapist (49) represents one of the most crucial therapeutic factors in psychotherapy. Hence, it is reasonable to assume that a recommendation for the use of smart sensing by the treating psychotherapist would significantly enhance the acceptance and could outperform the effects of digital AFI. The evaluation of

TABLE 4 Subgroup analyses of acceptance.

	Intervention group <i>N</i> = 64		Control group N = 52			Comparison			
	N	М	SD	N	М	SD	df	t	р
Sex									
Male	18	3.06	1.06	21	3.25	1.00	37	-0.59	.561
Female	44	3.22	0.96	30	2.45	0.86	72	3.54	<.001
Age in years								-	-
<34	34	3.16	0.86	26	3.03	0.98	48	0.55	.586
≧34	30	3.15	1.09	26	2.51	0.96	54	2.37	.021
Education									
Low	16	3.52	0.85	15	2.58	0.79	39	2.92	.007
High	48	3.16	0.93	37	2.82	1.06	83	1.56	.114

M(SD), mean (standard deviation), For the separation between older and younger patients, the median age (34) of the entire sample was used high educational status = any person holding a university entrance qualification or higher.

expert-delivered face-to-face AFIs or stepped-information processes combining digital and face-to-face AFIs would be a very valuable addition to this study.

4.2 Influence of acceptance predictors

We confirmed our hypothesis that the UTAUT holds in the context of smart sensing in a clinical sample as the included predictors explained a great amount of the variance of acceptance. This finding aligns with previous findings (30). The results also emphasize that the most critical factor for the acceptance of smart sensing is the expected personal benefit to the patient. Also consistent with prior research, the second most influential predictor was effort expectancy, albeit with a significantly greater impact on acceptance than could be expected based on previous findings (27, 30). One possible reason for this could be that a common symptom in mental disorders, particularly in cases of depressive symptoms, is aversion or a lack of motivation (50). Therefore, any additionally perceived effort is likely to have a more negative impact on acceptance in psychotherapy patients compared to other populations. Thus, the perceived minimal effort appears to be of importance for the acceptance of smart sensing in this context. While social influence showed a significant positive correlation with acceptance, social influence did not remain a predictor of acceptance in the structural equation model. This could be attributed to its contribution to the explained variance in acceptance, which was already accounted for by performance expectancy and effort expectancy, both of which were also significantly correlated with social influence.

Hence, we strongly recommend to focus on the performance expectancy when aiming to successfully implement smart sensing in clinical practice as the influence is almost twice as strong than effort expectancy. For instance, this could be done by highlighting the benefits of smart sensing and how the psychotherapeutic process can benefit from it (e.g., trajectory modeling, early-warning systems). Besides, the already outlined potential to increase the feasibility of smart sensing in clinical practice, AFI may also hold the potential to increase the adherence to smart sensing sample protocols in research to counteract missingness and increase data quality (18, 19, 51).

4.3 Exploratory analyses

The Subgroup analyses are of particular interest when it comes to the question for which subgroups the AFI had the largest impact. However, these analyses must be interpreted in light of the fact that the group sizes were neither large nor balanced with respect to key individual variables. Therefore, they can only provide a hint for future research questions of interest. The results indicate that the AFI particularly enhanced acceptance among females, older patients, and patients with lower education. This appears to be due to lower baseline acceptance of smart sensing in these groups compared to their respective counterparts. This suggests that those are the groups that should especially be provided with an AFI when smart sensing is recommended. Future research is necessary to replicate those findings and might test if AFIs that target specific needs or concerns of those groups could further enhance the acceptance of smart sensing.

Neither stress, anxiety, depression, nor overall psychological distress exhibited a significant association with acceptance. This finding contrasts with other studies reporting a positive relationship between symptom severity and the acceptance of modern technologies in treatment (31, 35, 52). However, it should be noted that the studies by Lin et al. (35) and Baumeister et al. (31) examined different patient groups (pain patients and diabetes patients) and focused on Internet- and mobile-based interventions.

4.5 Limitations

It is important to address certain limitations when interpreting the results. (1) The present study was designed to investigate the acceptance of smart sensing in psychotherapy patients, but did not make a differentiation between mental diagnoses, which could have an impact on the acceptance. To infer to moderation effects on the symptomology level, we conducted exploratory correlation analyses between depression, anxiety, stress, and distress, which yielded non-significant findings. Besides, a clinical discussion for which patient groups the technology might be suited at all, future studies should explore the acceptance in more detail in specific patient groups. (2) Despite contacting every potentially available patient at the site twice, only 149 patients could be recruited for randomization. This means that the final recruitment target of 156 patients could not be reached. At this point, the recruitment capacity at the site was exhausted in terms of patients. Future studies should aim for a confirmatory study and could base their calculations on an effect size of d = 0.4. (3) The active control condition might also have had an effect on the acceptability towards mental health interventions in general, which might carry over to smart sensing. This would mean that baseline acceptance might be even lower, which could be investigated in future studies. (4) Future studies should follow-up with a closer investigation of the acceptance towards specific sensor modalities, such as screen usage, location, biophysiological data or language usage. For instance, Nicholas and colleagues (53) found differences in the acceptance towards health information (e.g., sleep, mood data), and personal data (e.g., communication logs, or location features). To which extent the acceptance might vary across sensors in psychotherapy patients is currently unknown. (5), the present sample showed an imbalance in gender and education leaning towards a female highly educated population. While this may reflect imbalances in prevalence rates for some disorders (e.g., increased prevalence of depression in women) and help seeking behavior to some extent, it also limits the generalizability of the present findings highlighting the need for replication studies. The slight imbalances between the IG and CG concerning gender and education were due to the randomization process but did not influence the overall effect of the AFI on acceptance (please compare Supplementary Material S5). Lastly, like many previous studies, this research primarily assessed acceptance and attitudes towards new technology by predicting behavioral intentions. While behavioral intentions are widely recognized as a proximal indicator of actual behavior, a gap often exists between intention and behavior (54). Therefore, future research should take into account the volitional aspect and incorporate actual smart sensing use, such as uptake rates, as an outcome measure (30, 36, 55).

5 Conclusion

In summary, our study provides evidence that acceptance of smart sensing among psychotherapy patients can be significantly increased by an AFI based on a time- and location independent video format. The low to moderate baseline acceptance level in the CG simultaneously emphasizes the importance of such interventions to potentially ensure technology usage and compliance.

Our IG exhibited high levels of performance expectancy, effort expectancy, and facilitating conditions after exposure to the AFI. This outcome is particularly promising from a scalability perspective, as such videos offer a versatile means of dissemination through various communication channels, including waiting rooms, the Internet, or television. This widespread distribution can significantly contribute to the adoption of these innovative digital health applications.

The study demonstrates that the UTAUT model is applicable within the context of smart sensing in a clinical sample. The findings highlight that the most critical factor for the acceptance of smart sensing is performance expectancy. Therefore, when recommending smart sensing to patients, the focus should be on their expected personal benefits. Exploratory findings suggest that this approach may be especially beneficial for increasing acceptance among females, older patients, and those with lower levels of education.

Data availability statement

Data requests should be directed to the corresponding author (FR). Data can be shared with researchers who provide a methodologically sound proposal, which is not already covered by other researchers. Data can only be shared for projects if the General Data Protection Regulation is met. Requestors may need to sign additional data access agreements. Support depends on available resources.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethikkommission der Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Jena (Ethics Committee of the Friedrich Schiller University Jena). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

FR: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Software. EB: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Software, Writing – review & editing. GW: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. IC: Project administration, Writing – review & editing. HB: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. YT: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

1. Mohr DC, Zhang M, Schueller SM. Personal sensing: understanding mental health using ubiquitous sensors and machine learning. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2017) 13(1):23–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-044949

2. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Domhardt M, Cuijpers P, Cristea I, et al. Digital interventions for the treatment of depression: a meta-analytic review. *Psychol Bull.* (2021) 147(8):749. doi: 10.1037/bul0000334

3. Terhorst Y, Knauer J, Baumeister H. Smart sensing enhanced diagnostic expert systems. In: Montag C., Baumeister H, (Hrsg.). *Digital Phenotyping and Mobile Sensing*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2023). S. 413–25. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-98546-2_24

4. Andrade LH, Alonso J, Mneimneh Z, Wells JE, Al-Hamzawi A, Borges G, et al. Barriers to mental health treatment: results from the WHO world mental health surveys. *Psychol Med.* (2014) 44(6):1303–17. doi: 10.1017/S00332917 13001943

5. Henriques Franca M, Bharat C, Novello E, Hwang I, Medina-Mora ME, Benjet C, et al. Towards measuring effective coverage: critical bottlenecks in quality- and useradjusted coverage for major depressive disorder in São Paulo metropolitan area, Brazil. *Int J Ment Health Syst.* (2023) 17(1):19. doi: 10.1186/s13033-023-00583-w This study was supported by the initial phase of the German Center for Mental Health [Deutsches Zentrum für Psychische Gesundheit (DZPG), grant: 01EE2303A, 01EE2305B].

Acknowledgments

We want to thank all psychotherapy patients of the outpatient department of the Friedrich-Schiller University Jena who took part in the survey.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fdgth.2024. 1335776/full#supplementary-material.

6. Herrman H, Patel V, Kieling C, Berk M, Buchweitz C, Cuijpers P, et al. Time for united action on depression: a lancet-world psychiatric association commission. *Lancet*. (2022) 399(10328):957-1022. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02141-3

 Garatva P, Terhorst Y, Messner E-M, Karlen W, Pryss R, Baumeister H. Smart sensors for health research and improvement. In: Montag C., Baumeister H, (Hrsg.). Digital Phenotyping and Mobile Sensing. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2023). S. 395–411. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-98546-2_23

8. Onnela J-P, Rauch SL. Harnessing smartphone-based digital phenotyping to enhance behavioral and mental health. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2016) 41 (7):1691–6. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.7

9. Can YS, Arnrich B, Ersoy C. Stress detection in daily life scenarios using smart phones and wearable sensors: a survey. *J Biomed Inform*. (2019) 92:103139. doi: 10. 1016/j.jbi.2019.103139

10. Levine LJ, Safer MA. Sources of bias in memory for emotions. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (2002) 11(5):169–73. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.00193

11. Taylor SE, Brown JD. Positive illusions and well-being revisited: separating fact from fiction. *Psychol Bull.* (1994) 116(1):21–7. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.116.1.21

12. Clough BA, Casey LM. The smart therapist: a look to the future of smartphones and mHealth technologies in psychotherapy. *Prof Psychol Res Pract.* (2015) 46(3):147. doi: 10.1037/pro0000011

13. Abd-Alrazaq A, AlSaad R, Shuweihdi F, Ahmed A, Aziz S, Sheikh J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of performance of wearable artificial intelligence in detecting and predicting depression. *NPJ Digit Med.* (2023) 6(1):84. doi: 10.1038/s41746-023-00828-5

14. Cornet VP, Holden RJ. Systematic review of smartphone-based passive sensing for health and wellbeing. *J Biomed Inform.* (2018) 77:120–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2017. 12.008

15. Kulkarni P, Kirkham R, McNaney R. Opportunities for smartphone sensing in E-health research: a narrative review. *Sensors.* (2022) 22(10):3893. doi: 10.3390/ s22103893

16. Harari GM, Gosling SD, Wang R, Chen F, Chen Z, Campbell AT. Patterns of behavior change in students over an academic term: a preliminary study of activity and sociability behaviors using smartphone sensing methods. *Comput Human Behav.* (2017) 67:129–38. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.10.027

17. Abujrida H, Agu E, Pahlavan K. Machine learning-based motor assessment of Parkinson's disease using postural sway, gait and lifestyle features on crowdsourced smartphone data. *Biomed Phys Eng Express.* (2020) 6(3):035005. doi: 10.1088/2057-1976/ab39a8

18. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Opoku Asare K, Sander LB, Ferreira D, Baumeister H, et al. Predicting symptoms of depression and anxiety using smartphone and wearable data. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:625247. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.625247

19. Opoku Asare K, Terhorst Y, Vega J, Peltonen E, Lagerspetz E, Ferreira D. Predicting depression from smartphone behavioral markers using machine learning methods, hyperparameter optimization, and feature importance analysis: exploratory study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2021) 9(7):e26540. doi: 10.2196/26540

20. Rohani DA, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Kessing LV, Bardram JE. Correlations between objective behavioral features collected from mobile and wearable devices and depressive mood symptoms in patients with affective disorders: systematic review. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2018) 6(8):e165. doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9691

21. Benoit J, Onyeaka H, Keshavan M, Torous J. Systematic review of digital phenotyping and machine learning in psychosis spectrum illnesses. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. (2020) 28(5):296–304. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000268

22. Faurholt-Jepsen M, Frost M, Vinberg M, Christensen EM, Bardram JE, Kessing LV. Smartphone data as objective measures of bipolar disorder symptoms. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 217(1–2):124–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.03.009

23. Messner E-M, Sariyska R, Mayer B, Montag C, Kannen C, Schwerdtfeger A, et al. Insights: future implications of passive smartphone sensing in the therapeutic context. *Verhaltenstherapie*. (2019) 29(3):155–65. doi: 10.1159/000501735

24. Pratap A, Atkins DC, Renn BN, Tanana MJ, Mooney SD, Anguera JA, et al. The accuracy of passive phone sensors in predicting daily mood. *Depress Anxiety.* (2019) 36(1):72–81. doi: 10.1002/da.22822

25. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. *MIS Q.* (2003) 27(3):425. doi: 10.2307/30036540

26. Blut M, Chong A, Tsiga Z, Venkatesh V. Meta-analysis of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): challenging its validity and charting a research agenda in the red ocean. *J Assoc Inform Syst.* (2021) *forthcoming.* Available online at: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3834872

27. Philippi P, Baumeister H, Apolinário-Hagen J, Ebert DD, Hennemann S, Kott L, et al. Acceptance towards digital health interventions—model validation and further development of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 26:100459. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100459

28. Sok Foon Y, Chan Yin Fah B. Internet banking adoption in Kuala Lumpur: an application of UTAUT model. *Int J Bus Manag.* (2011) 6(4):161. doi: 10.5539/ijbm. v6n4p161

29. Wills MJ, El-Gayar OF, Bennett D. Examining Healthcare Professionals' Acceptance of Electronic Medical Records Using *UTAUT*. (2008). Available online at: https://scholar.dsu.edu/bispapers/190/ (Accessed October 12, 2023).

30. Terhorst Y, Weilbacher N, Suda C, Simon L, Messner E-M, Sander LB, et al. Acceptance of smart sensing: a barrier to implementation—results from a randomized controlled trial. *Front Digit Health.* (2023) 5. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2023.1075266

 Baumeister H, Nowoczin L, Lin J, Seifferth H, Seufert J, Laubner K, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on diabetes patients' acceptance of internetbased interventions for depression: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2014) 105(1):30–9. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.04.031

32. Baumeister H, Seifferth H, Lin J, Nowoczin L, Lüking M, Ebert D. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on patients' acceptance of internet-based pain interventions: a randomized controlled trial. *Clin J Pain.* (2015) 31(6):528–35. doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000118

33. Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grässle C, Freudenstein M, Nübling R, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15(8):e0236995. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0236995

34. Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, Lehr D, Pörtner M, Baumeister H. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. *J Affect Disord.* (2015) 176:9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.056

35. Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A web-based acceptancefacilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2018) 20(8):e244. doi: 10.2196/jmir.9925

36. Schwarzer R. Modeling health behavior change: how to predict and modify the adoption and maintenance of health behaviors. *Appl Psychol.* (2008) 57(1):1-29. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x

37. Nilges P, Essau C. Die Depressions-Angst-Stress-Skalen: Der DASS – ein Screeningverfahren nicht nur für Schmerzpatienten. *Der Schmerz.* (2015) 29 (6):649–57. doi: 10.1007/s00482-015-0019-z

38. Margraf J, Ehlers A. Beck Angstinventar Deutsche Version (BAI). Bern: Hans Huber (2007).

39. Kühner C, Bürger C, Keller F, Hautzinger M. Reliabilität und Validität des revidierten Beck-Depressionsinventars (BDI-II): Befunde aus deutschsprachigen Stichproben. Nervenarzt. (2007) 78(6):651–6. doi: 10.1007/s00115-006-2098-7

40. Klepsch M, Seufert T. Making an effort versus experiencing load. Front Educ. (2021) 6:645284. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2021.645284/full

41. Mayer RE. Multimedia learning. In: Ross BH, editor. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*. Elsevier (2002). p. 85–139. Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0079742102800056

42. Schneider S, Krieglstein F, Beege M, Rey GD. Successful learning with whiteboard animations-a question of their procedural character or narrative embedding? *Heliyon.* (2023) 9(2). doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e13229

43. Gesundheitsportal Bund (Regisseur). *Was ist eine Depression*?(2020). Available online at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vWEALfbZYZk (Accessed October 11, 2023).

44. Gesundheitsportal Bund (Regisseur). *Was ist eine generalisierte Angststörung?* (2022). Available online at: https://www.youtube.com/watch? v=Du3QR0Ykdus (Accessed October 11, 2023).

45. Browne MW, Cudeck R. Alternative ways of assessing model fit. Sociol Methods Res. (1992) 21(2):230–58. doi: 10.1177/0049124192021002005

46. Moshagen M. The model size effect in SEM: inflated goodness-of-fit statistics are due to the size of the covariance matrix. *Struct Equ Model Multidiscip J.* (2012) 19 (1):86–98. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2012.634724

47. Moshagen M, Erdfelder E. A new strategy for testing structural equation models. *Struct Equ Model Multidiscip J.* (2016) 23(1):54–60. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2014. 950896

48. Hu L, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equ Model Multidiscip J.* (1999) 6 (1):1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

49. Flückiger C, Del Re AC, Wampold BE, Horvath AO. The alliance in adult psychotherapy: a meta-analytic synthesis. *Psychotherapy*. (2018) 55(4):316. doi: 10. 1037/pst0000172

50. Kennedy SH. Core symptoms of major depressive disorder: relevance to diagnosis and treatment. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 10(3):271-7. doi: 10. 31887/DCNS.2008.10.3/shkennedy

51. De Angel V, Lewis S, White K, Oetzmann C, Leightley D, Oprea E, et al. Digital health tools for the passive monitoring of depression: a systematic review of methods. *NPJ Digit Med.* (2022) 5(1):3. doi: 10.1038/s41746-021-00548-8

52. Arjadi R, Nauta MH, Bockting CLH. Acceptability of internet-based interventions for depression in Indonesia. *Internet Interv.* (2018) 13:8–15. doi: 10. 1016/j.invent.2018.04.004

53. Nicholas J, Shilton K, Schueller SM, Gray EL, Kwasny MJ, Mohr DC. The role of data type and recipient in individuals' perspectives on sharing passively collected smartphone data for mental health: cross-sectional questionnaire study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2019) 7(4):e12578. doi: 10.2196/12578

54. Bhattacherjee A, Sanford C. The intention-behaviour gap in technology usage: the moderating role of attitude strength. *Behav Inf Technol.* (2009) 28(4):389–401. doi: 10.1080/01449290802121230

55. Baumeister H, Krämer L, Brockhaus B. Basic principles of psychological interventions for changing health behaviour. *Praxis Klin Verh Med Reh.* (2008) 82:254–64.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen, Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf, Germany

REVIEWED BY

Christine Jacob, University of Applied Sciences and Arts Northwestern Switzerland, Switzerland Bernhard Breil, Niederrhein University of Applied Sciences, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Ronny Klawunn 🖂 klawunn.ronny@mh-hannover.de

RECEIVED 31 October 2023 ACCEPTED 11 April 2024 PUBLISHED 25 April 2024

CITATION

Klawunn R, Albrecht U-V, Katzmarzyk D and Dierks M-L (2024) Beyond technology acceptance—a focused ethnography on the implementation, acceptance and use of new nursing technology in a German hospital. Front. Digit. Health 6:1330988. doi: 10.3389/fdqth.2024.1330988

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Klawunn, Albrecht, Katzmarzyk and Dierks. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Beyond technology acceptance—a focused ethnography on the implementation, acceptance and use of new nursing technology in a German hospital

Ronny Klawunn^{1*}, Urs-Vito Albrecht², Deliah Katzmarzyk¹ and Marie-Luise Dierks¹

¹Department for Patient Orientation and Health Education, Institute for Epidemiology, Social Medicine and Health System Research, Hannover Medical School (MHH), Hanover, Germany, ²Department of Digital Medicine, Medical Faculty OWL, Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, Germany

Introduction: Hospitalised patients could benefit from the emergence of novel technologies for nursing care. There are numerous technical products available, but these rarely find their way into practice. Further knowledge is required about the circumstances under which technology in nursing is accepted and used. In the research project "Centre for Implementing Nursing Care Innovations", technical innovations are implemented on a trauma surgery inpatient ward in Germany. After implementation, it was investigated: Which implemented technologies are accepted/rejected, and which factors influence the acceptance/rejection of technology for nurses?

Material and methods: A focused ethnography was used, containing two approaches: *First*, participant observation was conducted to examine nurses' and patients' interaction with technologies. Observations were fixed in a field research diary and analysed using evaluative qualitative content analysis. *Second*, a questionnaire was used by nurses to provide information about the use frequency and technology suitability. The results of the study were consolidated and analysed using the UTAUT model.

Results: Seven studied technologies can be summarised in four result categories: (1) A Mobilising mattress, a Special projector and a Sound pillow are accepted and used by nurses and patients, because they offer a way to provide high quality care with little additional effort. (2) A Fall prevention system is consistently used in patient care as a work obligation, but since nurses consider the system error-prone, acceptance is low. (3) An Interactive therapy ball is accepted but nurses cannot use it due to the high workload. (4) An App for nurse-patient communication and a work-equipment tracking system are not used or accepted because nurses do not see a practical benefit in the systems.

Discussion: Acceptance or rejection of a product does not necessarily equate to use or non-use of the technology. Before implementation, technology acceptance among users occurs as prejudice—when users are given time to experiment with technology, intention-to-use can stabilize into sustained use. Accepted and used technologies can serve to mask problems (such as staff shortages) and encourage problematic developments, such as the reduction of contact time at the bedside. Therefore, technology acceptance should be qualified in asking *to what* accepted technology contributes.

KEYWORDS

ethnography, technology acceptance, UTAUT, participant observation, nursing care, implementation, technical innovations, Germany

1 Background

1.1 Nursing, technology and acceptance

With the growing use of digital technologies in healthcare, new technologies become increasingly available for nursing in recent years. For this profession in particular, technology is one possible response to the challenges of an ageing population being cared for by a decreasing number of available professionals (1, 2). Technology uptake in nursing care needs to accelerate to use the potential benefits of new technologies, and enablers and barriers related to technology implementation should be investigated and understood. Potential factors are numerous, e.g., a lack of fit between technology output and user need, inappropriate design for use needs, misguided implementation efforts or institutional limitations (3, 4). These could have an impact on the use and acceptance of nursing technologies.

Behavioural intention *or* actual use of technology has been studied regarding the acceptance of nursing technology. However, while new technology is implemented, the user's perspective may change due to the occurrence of unintended or unanticipated consequences of technology use (5), the social and contextual influences of implementation or facilitating conditions. For instance, through getting to know a new device and getting used to its functions and abilities, a negative expected usefulness and ease of use may shift to a positive attitude and vice versa. More research is needed to learn how and why behavioural intention shifts to a sustained and accepted actual use or a disruption of use and rejection of technology.

1.2 State of research

The adoption of new technologies in nursing is related to various determinants of technology acceptance. In the case of tele-nursing and remote visual monitoring of patients, studies have indicated that while the technology may reduce the number of falls, the acceptance of technology may only be moderate (6). Similarly, in the case of mobile healthcare communication tools, it has been shown that promoting early adopters can significantly influence user's behavioural intention to use the technology (7, 8). Similarly, in the case of mobile healthcare communication tools, it has been shown that promoting early adopters can significantly influence user's behavioural intention to use the technology (9). Users tend to favour mobile tools for interprofessional or professional-patient communication when tools are easy to use and efficient (10, 11). For AI technology that improves decision-making, another study have found that technology acceptance may be high among nurses and other professionals if the technology incorporates professional expertise and evidence into decision-making (3). However, such a technology may be associated with fears of loss of autonomy and expected negative impact on clinical workflows (12).

Only some studies have investigated how and why the intention to use technology in nursing may shift towards accepting or rejecting it after implementation. One study in a critical care nursing unit has demonstrated in a pre/post comparison of technology implementation that self-concern and expectation for ease of use decreased for nurses after adapting the technology (13). However, concerns about technology's impact on practice and perceived usefulness increased at the same time (ibid.). Another study has investigated the implementation of a digital oral healthcare intervention in Norway. As users adopted the new technology, they gradually changed their mode of use from—what the authors described as—"norm-based to routine-based behaviour", highlighting the relevance of familiarisation with technology and the corresponding shift of user behaviour (14). For tele-nursing technology, it has been shown that only the performance expectancy was significant for caregivers' behavioural intentions. After introducing the technology, the facilitating conditions and the performance became relevant for caregivers (15).

1.3 Research project and research question

The "Centre for Implementing Nursing Care Innovations" study (Funding: German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, funding number 16SV7892K) aims to implement new technologies in a trauma surgery inpatient ward of a university hospital in Germany. After technology introduction, we investigate the modes nurses' use technologies and how patient care and nursing processes will change during technology implementation. The research question is:

Which implemented technologies are accepted/rejected by nurses, and which factors influence the acceptance/rejection of these technologies?

We conducted an ethnographic study and evaluated and reported the results using the *Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology 1*-model (16). The advantage of this model, which unifies eight separate models, is the provision of various explanatory factors that can predict or explain both the intention to use technology and the actual use (17). UTAUT conceptualises acceptance and use not merely as individual user decisions but places user behaviour and intentions in the context of institutional, organisational, and social environmental factors that may be influenced by mediating factors (age, gender, experience and voluntariness of use).

The study's implementation strategy allows to investigate how behavioural intention to use technology may shift to actual acceptance or rejection. Following Greenhalgh et al., this strategy involves two approaches: (1) We cooperated with the study hospital and managerial nursing staff to create institutional conditions for a successful and sustainable introduction of new technology to facilitate change of working structures (implementation) (18). (2) To select suitable technologies, we involved nurses from the study ward in a participatory manner by consulting them about potential technology and its usefulness (dissemination) (ibid.). For this purpose, we identified areas of nursing care on the project ward that could be supported with technical solutions—these areas

involved, for instance, assistance with geriatric patients, dangers related to falls or pressure ulcers, inefficient patient communication or long walking distances (19). Based on these areas of need, the research project first took a closer look at potentially useful technologies and examined their implementability. For this purpose, an internal guideline was developed that included the IT perspective, nursing science, ethical, legal and social implications and the known study literature on the technology (19, 20). Once the potential technical and organizational implementability of the technology had been confirmed, it was presented to nursing staff. In workshops, they reflected on their behavioural intention to use the technology within their daily working routine (21, 22). If nurses showed their interest in using the presented technology and therefore articulated their intention to use it, the implementation of the product followed. Afterwards, the use of technology and patterns of acceptance or rejection has been observed. All costs that are associated with the purchase and maintenance of the technology were covered by the project budget as part of the research project. In the case of maintenance and repair work, the corresponding effort was shared between employees of the project station and the research project (see Limitations).

1.4 Overview of implemented technology in the research project

During the research and implementation activities, seven technologies were implemented and researched at the project ward, the technologies can be found in Table 1.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study design

The study used a focused ethnographic, multi-methods investigation with a distinct qualitative emphasis. Focused ethnography is suitable for investigating social fields with high degrees of professionalism and functional differentiation by studying the entanglements and interactions between individual actors, institutional processes, settings and technologies (23). A main goal is to investigate social and cultural processes that are implicit or difficult to articulate for those being studied (24, 25). Compared to anthropological ethnography, the focused account is characterised by short field stays and an intense data collection phase (26). The following methods were applied:

TABLE 1 List of implemented and studies technologies.

Short description	Information on technical integration
Technology for fall and pressure ulcer prevention	
 An automated mobilisation mattress system that repositions patients in the bed to prevent pressure ulcers. Active Mobilisation System, Compliant Concept 	The device runs autonomously from other technical systems, it requires a power connection. To document the use of the mattress, a checkbox was integrated into the patient documentation system. It collects usage data (frequency and duration of use) which, however, can only be retrieved by the manufacturer on site in the event of troubleshooting.
2. An automated fall prevention system that uses the nurses' call light to send an alarm in case of patient bed exits.SafeSense Bed Exit System, Wissner Bosserhoff	The device connects to the nurse call system in the hospital ward via a cable connection. This is a closed system; the system merely registers a bed exit impulses. There is no automatic forwarding and documentation to other systems. It does not collect any data.
Technology for patients with challenging behaviour	
3. An audio-haptic sound pillow that plays atmospheric sounds and uses vibration to calm patients with dementia, agitation or restlessness.inmuRELAX, inmutouch	The system is powered by a rechargeable battery. It operates autonomously, there is no connection to other technical systems. It does not collect any data.
4. A special projector/beamer designed for health care institutions to calm or activate patients with dementia, agitation and restlessness.Qwiek.up, Qwiek	The system is powered via a socket. It operates autonomously, there is no connection to other technical systems. It collects usage data (frequency and duration of use) which, however, can only be retrieved by the manufacturer on site in the event of troubleshooting.
5. An interactive therapy ball that helps to activate patients or stimulate memories in patients with dementia.ichó therapy system, icho systems	The system is powered by a rechargeable battery. It operates autonomously, there is no connection to other technical systems. It does not collect any data.
Technology for improvement of communication and organisation dur	ing nursing care
 6. A Patient-Nurse communication app to facilitate communication between nurses and patients and assists nurses in organising and prioritising work processes. Cliniserve CARE, Cliniserve 	The app is operated by the manufacturer via an external server in compliance with European data protection regulations. There is no connection to internal hospital IT systems. Accordingly, there is no automatic transfer of information for documentation purposes. Usage data is stored anonymously (without reference to the separate patient). Patients consent to the use of the app via the clinic's data protection regulations. To use the app, patients can access mobile data or a Wi-Fi connection for patients and nurses can access a Wi-Fi connection for staff.
7. A webpage-based tracking system to locate work-related equipment on the project ward.Tracking System HYPROS TTI, HYPROS	The location information is sent via Bluetooth beacons to Wi-Fi hotspots. The location data is displayed and evaluated via a separate website. This website is password-protected and has no connections to internal hospital IT systems. There is no automatic transfer of information for documentation purposes.

- 1. **Participant observation** of nursing workflows to explore the use of implemented technologies and
- Questionnaire survey to explore the nurses' perspective on the usability of the implemented products.

The steps of data collection, processing and analysis are described in the following sections, an overview of the research design can be found in Figure 1.

2.2 Methods 1: data collection

(a) Participant observation

The observation aimed to follow professional nurses during their workday for several hours to explore work processes and interactions with patients and other nurses with the introduced technologies. The observation was carried out by the author RK and conducted as an "observer as participant", which means that the observer role tends to be passive, yet transparent to all participants in the field. The choice of non-functional, everyday clothing and a restrained accompaniment was intended to keep the observer passively in the background while enabling the investigation of a native perspective of the observed concerning specific "situations, activities and actions" (26).

One of the members of the research project (not the observer and no co-author) acted as a gatekeeper to gain access to the field, as he also worked as a nursing professional on the project ward. In the course of the observations, it was possible to establish personal relationships with other nursing staff who allowed access to the ward to observe shifts. In terms of recruitment, all nurses were eligible to participate whom: (1) worked as professionally trained on the project ward, (2) were currently using a technology of interest, (3) would like to be accompanied and (4) gave written consent to be observed (see Ethical Considerations section).

At the beginning, fixed time points for the observations were set. However, this pattern needed to be adjusted, e.g., because some technology was not used for an extended period and then used intensively for a short period. These required spontaneous station visits outside the fixed observation pattern until sufficient information for each technology was gathers. Another way of achieving data saturation was to present and discuss the results with the nursing staff on the ward (see section Quality Assurance).

An observation guideline (see Table 2) with specific questions was designed to help the observer during the field stay (27). These questions were developed deductively from existing models on technology implementation (28), adoption (29, 30), technology acceptance (16) and intention (31)—the guideline is shown in Table 2. The instrument was developed based on multiple theoretical starting points to integrate different perspectives on technology use. The categories were later integrated into the UTUAT model, which can also be found in Table 2 (see also 2.4, *Methods III*). The guiding questions were discussed by the research team and field tested before its initial use—no changes were needed afterwards.

During the field stays, handwritten notes containing summaries, situation descriptions, reflections and ideas were taken. After each observational unit, the observation questions



Deductive category	Guiding question	Transferred observational categories into UTAUT categories
Decision making	For which patients (health condition/disease) is the device used? What factors can be observed in the decision to use it (such as sociocultural, patient comorbidity, consent)?	(Observed) performance
Task	For which tasks is the device used? What unexpected uses can be observed?	
Information	What kind of information does the device provide to the nursing professionals and how do they deal with it? What processes are enabled by the new information?	
Effects on patients	Can changes in patient condition be observed over the course of using the device?	
Satisfaction	In which situations are forms satisfaction, acceptance, criticism or rejection observed towards the device by the nursing professionals and/or patients?	(Observed) effort
Workplace integration	How does the integration of the device take place in the everyday work of the nursing professionals?	
Team communication and team work	How do the nursing professionals talk about the device among themselves and with the patients? Can changes in the teamwork of the nursing staff be recognized using the device?	(Observed) social influence
Expectation towards and reaction from patients	What do nurses expect from patients when using the device? How do patients react to the use of the device?	
Social interaction and substitution	How and in what form does social interaction between nurses and patients take place when using the device? Is there a substitution of nursing activities by the device?	
Resources	How will decisions be made if there are more patients than devices?	(Observed) facilitating conditions
Access to training and technology competence	In which situations do nursing professionals feel confident or insecure when using the device? Are the training formats during implementation (manufacturer training, additional material by the research team) sufficient to use the device?	
Technology characteristics	How can the characteristics of the device in use be described? What is the quality of the product?	

TABLE 2 Deductive categories and guiding questions for the observational units.

listed in Table 2 were used to structure the writing of open-ended, chronological fieldwork diary entries that reflect observed situations in detail, reproducing dialogues, and characterising people, technologies and situations (32).

(b) Questionnaire-based survey on technology suitability

A technology suitability questionnaire was used to investigate the range of opinions of the nursing professionals. This instrument was used additionally to the observations, because the observation could only incorporate the views of individual employees (who were working at the times observed), rather than obtain the diversity of opinions on a technical product. Therefore, a questionnaire was used that *descriptively* included the respondents' views on the suitability of the technology for use. Since no meaningful case numbers can be obtained on the project ward, the use of the questionnaire can only be classified as a supplement and contextualization of the qualitative results from the observation. This instrument was developed and used in another research projects (22, 33). The questionnaire was provided to all nurses on the project ward for each implemented product. It contained four sections:

- 1. Three items on the general use of the product since its introduction (use yes/no, frequency of use and, reasons for not using the technology).
- 2. *General* questions covering usability, workflow, compatibility, functionality, product quality and patient well-being.
- 3. Questions *specific* to the technology covering power supply, alarms, screens, mobility, consumables, and reprocessing.
- 4. Further comments on the device to be entered in free text entries.

In the general and specific sections, the questions were answered using a five-point Likert scale from 'Strongly agree' to "Do not agree at all"—or "not applicable".

This is a measurement instrument for technology suitability and not an instrument from the field of technology acceptance/ UTAUT research. Therefore, the findings of the suitability survey are classified under the UTAUT category of (observed) effort.

All nurses received the questionnaire for each of the implemented technologies three months after the first deployment of the given technology, either in workshops or in their mailboxes on the ward. In the case of using the individual post box, they were notified at the time of distribution and with a reminder by E-Mail. Due to the long implementation phase in the study, the number of employees on the project ward varied significantly, but on average 22 full-time staff are employed on the ward. However, this number varies, mainly due to staff shortages. As the study design was set up in such a way that only one ward was equipped with technology, the questionnaire could only be used in one setting and comparisons with other wards/settings were not planned in the study design (see also Limitations).

2.3 Methods II: initial data analysis

(a) Qualitative data analysis—evaluative qualitative content analysis

The entries from the open field research diaries and the free text entries from the technology suitability survey were analysed using evaluative qualitative content analysis (34). While applying this method, each deductive main code received a set of at least three sub codes for (1) a positive manifestation, (2) a negative

manifestation and (3) a neutral or non-evaluative category (35). For example, the main code of "work integration" received the sub codes (1) "smooth integrated", (2) "problems with integration" or (3) "other"—in this care, a forth sub code for ambivalent observations were also used.

The guiding questions in Table 2 were used to develop the main codes deductively. Only one inductive main code was added for "Expectations of new technologies". Through this approach, a code system of main codes and sub codes (see Supplementary Data Sheet) were developed that helped to organise the data material and to perform a pre-analysis.

(b) Quantitative data analysis

In the questionnaire-based survey on technology suitability, the answers to the second and third areas (general and specific aspects of the technology) were analysed quantitatively (33). For this purpose, the scores achieved by the technology in each area were first expressed as a percentage of the maximum possible score. These two percentage results were then weighted according to the number of items in each area, and an average, general value were given. If a technology achieved up to 49%, it is considered *unsuitable*; if it achieved 50%–69%, it is rated as *suitable to a limited extent*; and if it achieved 70% or more, the technology is rated as *very suitable*.

2.4 Methods III: data consolidation

Quantitative results were compared with the qualitative analysis of the observation data and the free-text entries of the appropriate questionnaires. The data collection and analysis was performed parallel rather than sequentially. We merged and compared the data to identify consistencies, inconsistencies or complementarities (36). The basis for data consolidation and analysis was the UTAUT model, initially presented by Venkatesh in 2003 (16). Four main categories are presented in this model:

- "Performance expectancy is defined as the degree to which an individual believes that using the system will help him or her to attain gains in job performance." (ibid.)
- "Effort expectancy is defined as the degree of ease associated with the use of the system." (ibid.)
- "Social influence is defined as the degree to which an individual perceives that important others believe he or she should use the new system." (ibid.)
- "Facilitating conditions are defined as the degree to which an individual believes that an organizational and technical infrastructure exists to support use of the system." (ibid.)

The use of the UTAUT model in our study served two purposes. (1) To arrange and summarise the results along these categories for transparent reporting. (2) To use a mix of qualitative and quantitative findings to explore how much influence each category had on technology use, acceptance, rejection, and adaptation. Therefore, the observation categories from Table 2 were assigned to one of the four main categories, which can be found in the same table. The survey results were assigned to

effort expectance based on the construct "Suitability". In our study, the UTAUT model was used to evaluate observed user behaviour (therefore "Observed Performance" etc.), not used to predict user intention or behaviour. The four mediators' gender,

age, experience, and voluntariness of use (ibid.) will be addressed

2.5 Ethical considerations

in the results section if relevant to the reporting.

The research project was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hannover Medical School on the 6th of July, 2018, ID: 7933_Bo_K_2018 (amended 16th of July, 2020). The procedure was reviewed by the hospital's staff council and the clinic data protection officer. The data protection-compliant processing of research results (above all with the aim of protecting study participants) was carried out in accordance with the guidelines of the University Hospital, above all with the help of lockable rooms in the case of hard copies and password-protected drives in the case of digital data. Raw data was only shared with research project participants, and patient care leaders were merely given access to analysed, non-personal, summarized data as required, making re-identification implausible.

(a) Participant observation

The scheme for situationally appropriate privacy expectations was used to identify which individuals in the field should be asked for written consent to observation (37). Written informed consent was obtained from professional nurses observed during their shifts. Before giving their consent, nurses received an introduction to the study's goals and reasons. If possible, participants in the field were informed of the observer's presence, especially to patients when first entering the patient's room (38).

(b) Questionnaire-based survey on technology suitability

Nursing professionals who completed the questionnaire also filled out a written consent form. Sociodemographic data (such as years of professional experience or age) were not collected due to the small size of nursing staff to avoid re-identification.

2.6 Quality assurance

For the reporting on methodical decisions and processes in this paper, the COREQ-Checklist was used (39)—all relevant information are provided in the dedicated section of the paper or in Supplementary Image S1.

(a) Participant observation

(1) Key observational findings on the impact of technology implementation were presented, discussed and again documented in dedicated validation workshops as a form of "respondent validation" (40). (2) The research team reviewed and discussed result plausibility and implications at periodic meetings internally and in external research workshops. (3) Parts of the results have already been presented regarding individual technologies and selective research questions at conferences (41, 42). (4) The observed nurses were offered to read the diary entries after completing them; however, no participant used this offer. Coding and consolidation of the data material was performed independently by two authors (RK & DK) and then compared. Intercoder reliability was not numerically calculated.

(b) Questionnaire-based survey on technology suitability

Two independent data entries were made to ensure no errors occurred during the transfer. The main results of this survey were presented in the validation workshops to the nurses mentioned above. All results from the questionnaire survey were presented, interpreted and discussed within the interdisciplinary team of the research project.

3 Results

3.1 Participant observation

Observations began in July 2020. New technology has been explored in 23 observation units, representing 38.5 h of observation time. The author RK conducted all observations. The average time of an observation unit is two hours. These observations resulted in 132 pages of field research diary entries. Member validation workshops were protocolled. The results of these data collections are summarised in this chapter. In the course of the participant observations, fifteen nurses could be accompanied on their shift. All but one of the nurses responded positively to be observed—the person who did not wish to participate has been omitted from all observational descriptions.

Table 3 provides an overview of the observations' results on the implemented technologies reported by UTAUT's main categories. The boxes in the table are marked with colours and indicate whether the observation results for the corresponding UTAUT category are characterised as favourable for the use of the technology (green box), adverse and unfavourable (red box), or both positive and negative and thus ambivalent (yellow box). Categories with no effect are left blank.

3.1.1 (Observed) performance

The mobilisation mattress and the special projector provide a positively perceived performance from the point of view of nurses and patients. The mobilising mattress is frequently used on the project ward. The individual risk assessment for the development of pressure ulcers is not the sole deciding factor for whom, when and how the system is used:

While we walk to the next patient room, the nurse says that the mattress: "almost does not matter during the day". She explains that many patients lying in the systems require intensive care anyway, such as patients with incontinence pads that need to be changed regularly. For these patients the mattress is advantageous at night because using the system helps position patients less frequently, and one needs to wake them up less often. [...] Patients who suffer from much pain are an exception: People who have suffered trauma will experience

less pain due to the system's movement. (Field Research Diary_Mobilization mattress-BE04, p. 2)

Other nurses run the system on all patients and use the system's pause function instead to perform interventions. The special projector is primarily used in patients with dementia or agitated behaviour in two different ways: One is to calm nervous patients and address challenging behaviour. The other way is by reactivating apathetic patients, in whom the use of the projector activates memories. According to the nurses, both ways can help improve care of these patients, making care delivery easier. The decision-making is biography-based or stems from getting to know the patients' behaviour. The special projector and the mobilisation mattress are often used together.

Technologies that have shown **mixed and thus ambivalent performance** in the ward are observed for the sound pillow, the fall prevention system and the communication app. The sound pillow functions according to its intended purpose, as the following situation description shows:

A mask for inhalation is placed on the patient's face—the sound pillow lies on his chest. The nurse seems surprised and says this was not easy in the last few days because the patient kept pulling the mask off his face. The patient now seems sleepy—about 2 min pass. The patient gets quieter and finally almost falls asleep. The patient seems so calm that the nurse wants to leave him alone to return in 15 min. (Field Research Diary_inmu-BE01, p. 28)

Most patients lose interest in the technology after a few days due to its repetitive sound. Therefore, an actual benefit is limited to a time range that is shorter than the patient's hospital stay. For the communication app, situations are observed where patients send their requirements, nurses read them and can react according to the current workflow, for instance to take medication with them to the room. However, the app is rarely used since some nurses question whether the app makes a difference in everyday work. For the fall prevention system, it is observed that nurses respond immediately to a bed exit. However, the perceived performance of the system is low as users report frequent false alarms or missing alarms, resulting in low system confidence.

The nurse reports that the system was running overnight but did not activate even when the patient already stood in the room. (Field research diary_SaSe-BE01, pos. 9)

The perceived performance of the system for equipment tracking is low. The system proves to have no technical problems in practical tests, so non-use initiates from a lack of practical relevance for the users. Communication and teamwork among nursing colleagues to find equipment is easier to realise according to nurses.

The interactive therapy ball is rated as **neutral** regarding its perceived performance because users cannot operate the technology as intended (this will be explained in detail below).

UTAUT categories	(Ubserved) performance	(Ubserved) ettort	(Udserved) social influence	(Ubserved) racilitating conditions
	Note: The colour coding in the fields indicates whether	16	(green), negative (red) ambivalent (yellow) or has no in	fluence on technology acceptance (not filled).
Mobilisation mattress	Decision for using based on risk assessment and professional intuition and depends on: Diagnosis, especially postoperative patients with pain during positioning Time of the day (only in the night or 24 h) General patient condition (few proper motion, high risk for pressure ulcer) Perceived overall reduction of pressure ulcer frequency from nurses perspective	Reliable system, performs work "in background" that relieved time resources for other tasks Perceived reduction of back pain for nurses Became part of routine practice in course of research project	Collaboration with colleagues during decision making, actual use is done in individual work routine Patients usually get informed by nurses on function of the mattress Patients report better sleep, few patients report form of "motion sickness", most get used to the sensation. Nurses perceive improvement of relationship to patients due to better sleep Substitution or reduction of social interaction not observed	High demand by nurses led to an increase in stock to sufficient number of systems Upper body elevation up to 50 degree is optimal (former 30 degree version also tested; led to additional problems) No lack of competences to use system observed, calibration is perceived to be simple
Fall prevention system	Use in patients prone to falls due to individual medical condition (e. G. dementia) Mixed reports on whether technology actually reduces falls Nurses report false alarms and see technology as unreliable Use even when it is unreliable	Dissatisfaction based on time-consuming installation, false alarms and frequent defects that require external repair	Preparation of the use of the systems (installation in the patient bed) in teams, especially in the night shift Team work performed while users take care of small repairs of malfunctioning systems in teams No change in social interaction between nursing professional and patients due to technology observed	Resource scarcity depends on dysfunctional systems Nurses report false alarms or not activating alarms in case of real bed-exit attempt Insecurity about correct installation and use of the system even after manufacturer trainings
Audio-haptic sound pillow	Mainly used for patients with agitation, challenging behavior and pain Positive response from patients (calming, activity/interaction with the technology) Patients lose interest after few days based on monotony of the melody and deactivation of the technology after inactivity Use during night times limited to patients in single bed room	Used to increase patient adherence to nursing intervention Used as an additional means of calming patients down Nurses have to reactivate pillow due to automatic stand-by Technology allows nurses to leave patients unattended for short periods of time	No relevant team work or communication observed Nurses try to present device in an interesting way for patients If patients will not respond to verbal presentation, they present it non-verbally Some patients are not interested, others are highly interested	No resource problem observed The cover can be disinfected with wipe disinfection Every new employee receives a short introduction into the technology, no competence related problems observed
Special projector	Patient-dependent decision-malking process made by nurses (who, where, when, which module?) Positive response from patients Used in patients with agitation, challenging behavior Outcome depends on desired goal: Calming modules at night when patients need to rest Activating methods during the day with agitated patients	Ease of nursing care, especially for time and effort to be spent on patients with challenging behaviors Nurses are satisfied with use and the outcomes Nurses perceive (de-) installation and use as easy, technology became part of routine practice	No relevant team work or communication observed Nurses perceive technology to have a positive effect on nurse-patient relationship Some patients' reaction is negative on particular modules, nurses have to respond to patient reaction and chose suiting module Fellow patients could perceive technology (sound, light) as annoying	No resource problem observed Technology offers a variety of modules with different visualizations, sounds and operating modes Every new employee receives a short introduction into the technology, no competence related problems observed
Interactive therapy ball	Primary use for patients with mild states of confusion or dementia, but who are still oriented Supposed to lead to an improvement in the general mental state of patients however, the technology has been used too rarely in practice, so that no observations could be made on effects	Nurses see positive and easing benefits of the technology, but cannot use it in everyday practice (familiarization and use is too time-consuming). No sustained use was observed, tested on few occasions, especially in educational situations	Few uses are observed in training situations, trainees have more time to interact with patients Potential for positive influence on nurse-patient relationship is suspected by nurses, but work conditions prevent regular use	Time is a limiting factor Functional spectrum is complex and menu navigation needs time for using Nurses workload is too high for using the technology Operation via remote control, nurses wish for voice control
Patient-Nurse communication app	Use depends on nurses' assessment of whether patients can operate an app Used to remind nurses about upcoming tasks, events or to prioritize patient requests Use of the technology can reduce redundant path and/or reduce noise from acoustic nurses call sign However, nurses doubt performance for work after few weeks of use Empirically app is mostly used for nursing care (not service) related requests	Nurses are concerned about what app suggests to patients about nature of nursing care (nursing care as a service instead of a health care profession) Some nurses refuse to work with additional (smart) phone Doubt that redundant path reduction has a relevant ease in daily walking distance Nurses criticise that nursing care is more than the reaction to articulated patient wishes but an interaction that allows to grasp patients' needs	Successful use of app requires continued use of app between shifts, which is rarely observed Ambivalent reaction by patients that used app: most find it helpful and easy to use, some do not see the benefit for patients (but recognise benefits for nurses) Faster and more transparent communication between nurses and patients was observed Nurses expect patients to use app primarily for nursing (not service) related requests	A smartphone for each section of the ward is provided for using the tec. The patients have to use their own smartphone, download app and register via specific code High technology competence required for patients and nurses, merely fraction of patients on ward are suitable
Tracking system	[Contrary to initial nurses intention to use the technology, tracking turned out to be not helpful] Nurses report that when they are searching for a product, they ask colleagues or have seen it during their daily activities No effects on patients observed	Low satisfaction due to lack of relevance No workplace integration into routine practice (although full technical implementation), because no practical relevance for work Nurses suggest that technology would be helpful if it could be applied to the entire clinic	Communication with other colleagues about where (technological) products are makes the technology useless No effects were observed regarding the social interaction and substitution with patients	Wi-Fi and tablet to use system was installed and is functioning, no technical issues are observed The system could find products which are provided with a Bluetooth-tracker

TABLE 3 Results of ethnographic observations analysed by UTAUT-categories.

3.1.2 (Observed) effort

Nurses perceive the mobilising mattress and the special projector as easy to use. Both systems are perceived to be reliable and supportive of work processes, saving effort on timeconsuming tasks and helping cope with work process-related requirements. They are perceived as being easy to install and are considered part of daily work routines. The devices do not need to be operated constantly but can be used partly autonomously (in the background), as the following entry illustrates:

While documenting, the nurse said, "On days like today, the system is worth its weight in gold." I asked what she meant by that. She explained that with the system, she could sit at the PC for as long to document. Repositioning the patient to prevent pressure ulcers would require her to interrupt her current activity regularly. I asked her if she was confident the system was doing a good job in the background. She confirmed this and said that it was a great relief. (Field Research Diary_Mobilization mattress-BE04, p. 3)

The nurses repeatedly emphasise that using the mattress and the projector does not mean patients are left alone for long periods and interactions between nurses and patients are not reduced. Instead, it changes the nature of the interaction by removing specific tasks perceived as unpleasant, such as positioning patients.

Positive effects and ease of use are identified with the sound pillow and the interactive therapy ball, but to a limited extent. Nurses evaluate that the sound pillow has a calming effect on patients. This calming effect, in turn, directly influences patient adherence to specific therapeutic measures and makes it easier for patients to cope with difficult emotions or pain. However, many patients lose interest in the technology after a few days of use. A patient can use the pillow without the constant supervision of a caregiver. For the therapy ball—that in contrast needs the permanent presence of a caregiver –, no sustainable use can be observed. Nurses and trainees use this device in a few instances and have positive experiences, but could not use it in everyday practice due to a lack of time. Therefore the technology's easing effect could not be realised under the given work organisation.

In the case of the communication app, the tracking and fall prevention systems, findings suggest that the devices require additional effort for **little to no benefit**. Nurses do not see any practical benefit for the tracking system. However, an expansion within the entire hospital could be beneficial. For the communication app, some nurses find the additional smartphone impractical in everyday practice, because they are not always within reach or their pocket are already packed with other items. While the fall prevention system is used in practice, nurses mention frequent technical problems, most of the users see the product as having little overall benefit:

The nurse currently has a patient lying in the fall prevention system. This patient has not tried to get up recently, but the system has been alarming at regular intervals. This makes the system unusable; she adds "You make an effort to set it up, and then it does not even work". (Sound pillow_Fragment 01)

3.1.3 (Observed) social influence

Four of the introduced technologies **positively influenced the interaction** between nurses and patients. The three technologies for patients with challenging behaviour performed similarly in this area. Teamwork is performed merely when a nurse seeks advice from colleagues on selecting suitable patients. After that, the nurses work with the technology without further cooperation. The technologies have a positive impact on nurse-patient interactions, as the following two research notes demonstrate:

For the special projector, the nurse likes the forest-walk module. She had a patient with dementia who used this module and, while watching, tried to find out where the shots might have been taken. (Special projector_Fragment_01, pos. 13)

The nurse had a night shift, and a patient could not find rest and walked around the room for several hours. She gave him the sound pillow. After that, the patient slept soundly for hours. (Field Research Diary_Communication app _BE02, Pos. 5)

Nurses also emphasise a module that displays a night sky with shining stars that is selected for patients to fall asleep at night. Nurses say that the calming and activating use of the sound pillow and special projector enable easier interaction with these patients and fewer challenging situations and conflicts. While using the mobilizing mattress, patients find better sleep than those who have to be woken several times during the night for positioning. Nurses describe that sleep improvement also improves relationships with patients.

An ambivalent influence of technologies on the social interaction of users is found in the fall prevention system and communication app. The fall prevention system does not directly affect the relationship between nurses and patients. Although patients are repeatedly surprised that nurses quickly enter the room when they try to stand up. Repeated technical problems, malfunctioning components, or the system installation lead to negatively perceived collaboration between nurses. The mediator category voluntariness of use explains why the product is frequently used on the project station. It seems plausible that the nursing supervisor requires the system to be used for liability. This factor is part of why the device is frequently used, but the overall satisfaction is low. While the Patient-nurse communication app is used, some patients particularly emphasising the benefit of additional information, such as how long they must wait for a response. The following conversation is observed between a nurse and a patient:

A feature of the app that both consider useful is task prioritisation. Both talked about how it can make sense if you know that a request such as "close the window" occurs in one room and "severe pain" in another. Both agree that it is good to process first the pain and then the window request. (Field Research Diary_Communication app_BE01, Pos. 21)

For other patients, the app has no advantage because the waiting time does not change. In addition, nurses are cautious in selecting the appropriate patient to use the app. They are concerned about low-skilled patients who send requests by accident. Others fear that the app suggests professional nursing to the patients as a (hotel) service.

None of the technologies introduced have an **overall negative impact** on the users' social relationships. Regarding the tracking system, nurses find no support for the technology because communication between colleagues is more effective. Therefore, the social factor is still a robust explanatory category for non-use of technology.

3.1.4 (Observed) facilitating conditions

For the special projector, the sound pillow and the mobilisation mattress, sufficient resources for using the technologies-like technical infrastructure-are provided. Therefore, no conflicts about too few devices are found for these technologies. All nurses receive detailed training for these devices. The mobilising mattress had a problematic feature at the beginning that deactivated the system if the patient raised the head of the bed by more than 30 degrees. This often leads to unintended deactivation by patients. After consultation with the manufacturer, the limit was elevated to 50 degrees. Since this update, nurses reporte fewer problems. The sound pillow and the special projector are easy to integrate into existing facilities. All three systems can be cleaned with the regular disinfectant on the ward and no severe technical malfunctions are reported.

For the tracking system and the communication app, the findings indicate that facilitating conditions have **both positive and negative influences on** the use of technology. Although nurses receive training on how the technologies work, in practice, there are regular uncertainties about use. The tracking system and the communication app run mostly without technical problems. The wi-fi coverage on the station is sufficient to provide both services most of the time. In a few instances, there have been examples of the tracking system showing the wrong location of the tracked equipment:

The nurse says there was an incorrect location in the system for an electronic rail. He says that it was indicated in a different room than it was. [...].The access points are installed too close to each other [...].' (Field Research Diary_Communication app_BE02, item 31)

Nurses suspects that messages from the communication app sometimes do not get through in real-time. For patients, there are currently no input devices for the app on the ward so patients must bring their smartphones to use the app. Nurses must explain the downloading and functioning to patients if they require assistance. The nurses receive this point critically since they have no time to train patients. For this reason, nurses select patients in particular by anticipating their technical abilities and patients must be motivated to use the app.

The technical and organisational conditions are **limiting factors** for the therapy ball and the fall prevention system:

"I have no time for [the therapy ball]. An everyday companion would have time." "I dealt with it once and then I knew how it worked, but now I have already forgotten about it." (Protocol of member validation meeting, June 2023)

Hence, the device's menu navigation is seen as complicated. The nurses would like to use the therapy ball and would enjoy working with it but do not see the time for this. The fall prevention system exhibits system errors and false or outstanding alarms that hinder its use. Caregivers repeatedly report that the device's correct installation and operation is complicated, resulting in uncertainties.

3.2 Technology suitability from nurses' perspective

The survey on technology suitability could be conducted on all technologies. The results can be found in Table 4.

The number of participants varies because the average number of nurses working on the project ward varied during the research project and not all nurses participated in the survey. Similarly, not every technology was used by all employees; in particular, temporary workers often stated that they had not used the technology due to short training periods on the ward. Other people also stated informally that they did not have time to complete the questionnaires during daily work. For these reasons, the number of participants in the surveys varied from five to twelve employees (as described above, an average of twenty-two people work on the ward at full-time employment).

The comparison between the observational results and the standardised survey shows a coherent picture. The technologies are described as easing and beneficial (mobilisation mattress and special projector) are also evaluated positively. In contrast, the ambivalent (sound pillow and therapy ball) and unfavourable technologies (fall prevention system, communication app, and tracking) receive mixed evaluations. The frequency of use is also consistent to qualitative results; The technology that stood out in the observations as accepted and used received a higher frequency in the survey, like for the mobilization mattress (used daily or multiple times a week).

3.3 Summary of results

A summary of results can be found in Table 5. The results are consistent with the observational data and the survey on technology suitability.

Technology	No. of No. of participants that used the			Freque	ncy of use		Reasons for not using the	General suitability***		
		technology*	Daily	Weekly	Monthly	Less often	technology**	Low	Medium	High
Mobilisation mattress	12	12	1	4	5	1	[None]	1	2	9
Fall prevention system	10	8	1	4	2	1	No opportunity (1) Does not help me with my work (1) Workflow is faster without (1) The handling was not clear to me (2)	3	2	3
Audio-haptic sound pillow	9	7	0	2	7	0	No opportunity (2)	0	0	9
Special projector	5	5	n. a.	n. a.	0	0	5			
Interactive therapy ball	6	4	0	0	1	3	Workflow is faster without (1) Setup/handling not practical (1) Unaware of the technology (1)	0	3	1
Patient-Nurse communication app	9	3	0	1	1	1	No opportunity (3) Does not help me with my work (3) Workflow is faster without (1)	0	1	2
Tracking system	6	3	0	0	0	2	Does not help me with my work (3) Workflow is faster without (1) The handling was not clear to me (1)	1	1	1
Free text entries										
Mobilisation mattress		ng that battery operation wou reactivation of the mattress a			· ·	·				
Fall prevention system	One person rates the device positively, and one mentioned "constant false alarms". Another notices that it is impractical when the system can only be turned on and off directly at the bed and that it is difficult to see whether the system is activated.									

TABLE 4 Results of the suitability survey by nurses that used implemented technology.

communication app
The difference between this number and the number of participants represents the number of people who filled in the questionnaire but have not (yet) used the product.

One participant notes that he or she does not want to use the app. Another person says that he or she likes the app but had no opportunity to use it.

Number (in brackets) indicates the number of participants who have selected the corresponding item. *Numbers indicate the calculated item of general suitability per technology (e. G. a 9 for "high" indicates that nine participants rate the general usability of the technology as high). For example, technology can achieve 56 points in the general area, but it is assessed with 30 points or 53%. In the specific area, 32 points can be achieved, and 30 points are awarded, giving a score of 93%. When weighted, these sub-scores give a technology suitability of 68%.

n. a. Due to an error in the preparation of the questionnaire, no feedback on frequency of use could be collected for the special projector, which is why the data is missing from the table.

4 Discussion

Patient-Nurse

4.1 How accepted and not used technology can (not so easily) be distinguished

The observation results of the study were summarised along the four main UTAUT categories and the positive, negative or ambivalent influence on technology acceptance per category per product was identified. These results can be compared with the technology suitability survey, which provides information on the assessment of nurses and the frequency of use. But how to answer which technology was used, which was not and how to distinguish the influencing factors as enabling or hindering factors? The conclusion of whether a technology was accepted or rejected cannot be based solely on the positive, negative or ambivalent results of individual UTAUT categories, because this would confuse the phenomena to be explained (explanandum) with what it is explained by (explanans) (43). Until the outcome of the implementation process is uncertain, classifying the influential factors from the UTAUT categories in the implementation process is unattainable. At this point, frequency of use could be utilised as a proxy for general product acceptance but little data could be collected on this. In addition, a technology may be highly accepted even though it does not need to be used regularly.

To solve this problem, we use ethnographic sensibility. This term refers to a feeling or impression towards the *ethnographic*, i.e., the lived and experienced reality in the research field, about

its "complexity, contradictions, possibilities, and grounds [for the observed] cultural group" [(44), see also (45)]. This sensitivity was gained by the observer over years of field research activity and enables knowledge about the users' general attitude towards the technologies, which was needed to situate the results eventually.

The above presented summary of four result categories leads to the follow consequences:

- A predominantly positive influence of the technology in terms of the UTAUT categories (see Table 3, green fields) strongly indicates that the technology is used and accepted.
- (2) Use and acceptance cannot be equated. The fall prevention technology—acceptance low, but regularly used—and the interactive therapy ball—high acceptance, but not used shows that these outcomes do not have to exist simultaneously.
- (3) The occurrence of more than one origin of negative and ambivalent influence of the technology (see Table 3, red and yellow fields) strongly indicates that the technology is not accepted or used regularly.
- (4) The main categories of the UTAUT model can be a strong indicator for explaining technology acceptance. However, they should be distinct from explanatory factors because factors like perceived usefulness or ease of use occur within broader socio-technical constellations and contexts of actualised technology use (46). Explanatory power unfolds with an understanding of the use context. This context was approached in our study by using ethnographic sensitivity.

To conclude the four consequences, it takes more than adding variables to predict user acceptance towards technologies. Instead, acceptance emerges as the result of complex sociotechnical arrangements in which users must convince themselves of the benefit of technology for their actions by constantly trying, failing and succeeding.

4.2 Intention to use technology must be stabilized by experimenting

Some expectations users set regarding a technology's usefulness were not met after implementation. The intention to use

technology indicates a necessary *curiosity* that motivated the start of technology use. However, this is *no guarantee* that a sustainable technology acceptance will occur. Users take cautious first steps in using novel technologies when familiarity with and skill to use technology still needs to be established. In this initial, critical experimentation phase, users renegotiated attitudes toward the technologies through positive or negative experiences.

On the one hand, unanticipated adverse effects—such as frequent false alarms—could change a high expectation into scepticism or reservation (5). On the other hand, surprising or hoped-for effects that turn out to be true could result in positive attitudes among users. This was frequently observed, for instance, when nurses asked whether they could be supplied with more system mattress, sound pillows or special projectors to cover demands.

Different users face the introduction of technologies with different skills and prior experience and with varying degrees of optimism or scepticism. Age and experience as mediator variables in the UTAUT model provided a valuable orientation for our analysis. However, introducing a helpful technology can transform existing work conditions, changing how a work field and a social reality functions (47). While the different preconditions among users may provide clues to different levels of acceptance and rejection, a helpful technology can *change* these preconditions among users [for the case of generalised distrust among nurses towards technology, see (48)]. Thus, it is more plausible to assume that a rejected technology does not bring any actual benefit instead of assuming a primordial attitude of rejection among users who would not give valuable technologies a chance (and vice versa).

4.3 Acceptance may not be sufficient

Our results show that four technologies—the mobilising mattress, the special projector, the sound pillow and the fall prevention system—offer a way to mitigate the high demands of a professional nursing work environment that is increasingly characterised by staff shortages and a growing number of multi-morbid patients. The other three technologies—the tracking system, the communication app and the therapy call—could not meet these demands. From an

TABLE 5 Summary of results according to use and acceptance.

	Technology accepted	Technology not accepted
Technology	The Mobilizing mattress, the Special projector and the Sound pillow are	The Fall prevention system is used regularly on the ward. However, its
used	accepted and regularly used. The technologies are positively classified in	acceptance is low, and nurses view the system negatively. In their experience,
	terms of usability and either scored positively in all four UTAUT categories	it regularly indicates false alarms, does not register attempts of bed-exit and is
	or, in the case of the sound pillow, in two of the four outcome categories.	complicated to set up. Nevertheless, the fact that the system is used can be
	Thus, the social environment and the facilitating conditions influence all	explained by the mediator variable "Voluntariness of Use". Several nurses
	three products' acceptance. The products received predominantly positive	noted that they would stop using the technology as soon as a better
	feedback regarding perceived performance and ease of use, with limitations	alternative is available.
	for the sound pillow that was accompanied by conflicts.	
Technology not	The Interactive therapy ball is not used on the ward, because workload and	The Patient-Nurse communication app and the Tracking system are neither
used	lack of time makes it hard to use. However, the nursing professionals' general	regularly used on the ward nor do nurses see benefits from these
	attitude towards the technology is high. The nurses would like to use the	technologies. Although expectations were initially high for both products to
	technology in their everyday work, and they would also see a benefit but	have a meaningful impact on the ward-and in technical terms, the systems
	cannot actualise it.	function well-the nurses were unable to identify any meaningful forms of
		use for the technologies, even after several months of implementation.

acceptance perspective, this can be understood as fulfilled or unfulfilled device performance expectations.

Alternatively, these results can also be explained by the fact that the successful technologies can be operated in a background mode. A "background relation" between a technology and a user can be explained by a device that the user does not continuously operate —i.e., it works in the background—but nonetheless shapes the environment and the user's experience (49). A background technology does its work without the need for permanent operation. Solely in case of a malfunction, users are reminded about its importance and have to act in an effort to repair it—an example would be an air conditioning system. It is opposed to a technology that requires the user's constant input.

The features of the mobilising mattress, the fall prevention system, the special projector and sound pillow can be utilised without constant manipulation and nurses' presence, which makes them handy on stressful workdays. The communication app, the tracking system and the interactive therapy ball cannot be used similarly. For the therapy ball, for instance, nurses emphasised that the permanent input needed for the system's operation is the reason they were not using the system after all.

However, when viewed from the perspective of patients, the background characteristic is problematic. After all, this implies that patients receive parts of care by technology. For instance, in the case of the mobilising mattress, re-positioning a patient to prevent pressure ulcers is not executed by a human but by the technical system, changing the caregivers' task from an active part of *doing the reposition* to the *passive part or controlling* the technologies output. At the same time, nursing action as interaction work consists of more components than executing a nursing care action (50). As such, it also consists of emotional and sentimental labour, in which the nurse can recognise the patient's needs through interaction and communication with them and then react based on these encounter (ibid.).

The mere adoption of tasks by technology is no evidence of less social interaction between professionals and patients-also we did not collect data on contact times. However, technology that is successful because it is usable in the background may eventually reduce opportunities for interaction. The evidence of successfully implemented technology that supports nurses in managing their increasingly demanding workday under staff shortages might indicate that technology is accepted because it enables them to continue working under problematic conditions. Implementing technology may therefore reinforces problematic developments (more missing human resources) rather than questioning it. For this reason, looking purely at acceptance as a measure of successful use of technology in care may fall short. Instead, the potential change in the levels of interaction and resonance between nurses and patients caused by technology use would be a possible outcome for qualifying technology acceptance (51).

4.4 Limitations

(1) Effects were primarily perceived by the observers and the perspective of the observed is only described from

"outside" No interviews were conducted—at the time of reporting—to involve the individual perspectives. However, at least in their validity, results could be discussed and confirmed with nursing professionals.

- (2) The results from the questionnaire are subject to substantial limitations since participation varies to a high degree.
- (3) The study's argument is based on the assumption that, due to a participatory introduction process, only those technologies found their way onto the ward that the nurses also desired. However, it was impossible to verify whether this assumption could be applied to all nurses.
- (4) The narrow patient population on the project ward influenced the selection and the use of the technologies. In the example of the communication app, little benefit for the nurses could be seen because too few patients had the skills to use an app. In this respect, the (qualitative) transferability of the results to other clinical settings is limited.
- (5) Patients' perspective is marginally represented in this paper because patients in the case of the project station are mostly passive technology users or beneficiaries and have no direct experience with the devices or cannot verbalise this, for example, due to dementia.
- (6) All costs associated with the acquisition, operation, malfunction and repair of the technologies were covered by project funds. Therefore, the transfer of interpretations to other health care settings is restricted, particularly in terms of (sufficient) resources. In other health care institutions, for instance, budget restrictions could trigger negative usage effects. The German healthcare system continues to lack sustainable, cross-setting and comprehensive solutions for financing innovative technologies. The same applies to the *amount of work* required for maintenance, servicing and in the event of malfunctions and repairs. In non-research settings, this must be carried out by employees and can have additional, negative consequences for the use of innovative technologies.
- (7) The decision to equip one ward with technology in the course of the implementation activities was designed to achieve a summative (qualitative) effect through the combination of different technology approaches. Although this decision enables the investigation of interaction of technologies in one setting, it disqualifies cross-setting comparisons of the effect of technology.
- (8) The seven selected systems are not integrated into existing hospital IT-systems—either because they have their own technical infrastructure (e.g., the app for communication or the tracking system) or because they do not need to communicate with other systems. This limits the implications of the study through the selection of technologies, as it was not possible to make any statements about the usage effects of interoperable systems and their advantages and disadvantages. The decision in favour of isolated solutions was made due to closed hospital IT systems that did not allow the installation of integrated systems.
- (9) A direct calculation of the frequency of technology use (e.g., how often nurses used technologies or on how many patients

10.3389/fdgth.2024.1330988

the technologies were used on) was not achieved. The main reason for this is that it would only have been possible to count on site, but the research team could have not been permanently on the side and the nursing staff refused to document the frequency of use due to a lack of time. For this reason, the feedback from the observation and validation workshops and the corresponding item in the written survey were used. Although these are merely indications and no hard figures, they are not of primary interest in the context of the research question, as the aim is to identify qualitative reasons for use and non-use.

(10) The influence of the mediator variable gender cannot be systematically evaluated in this study, as most employees on the ward are female. However, a direct comparison of the data with the few (three to four) male nurses does not reveal any relevant differences in use patterns or attitudes toward technology.

5 Conclusion

In the research project "Centre for Implementing Nursing Care Innovations", we explored the implementation and use of seven technologies intended to support nursing care in a hospital-based trauma surgery ward. The question was investigated which of these technologies are used and accepted or not used and rejected and which factors are responsible for this.

A Mobilising mattress, a Sound pillow and a Special projector were accepted and used, whereas a Fall prevention system was used but technology acceptance among nurses were low do to a perceived low technology quality. A system to track work equipment and an communication app for patients and nurses were neither used nor accepted because users were not able to find a suitable use case, whereas an Interactive therapy ball was accepted among nurses but work condition prevented its application.

The following practical implications can be drawn:

- The finding indicates that acceptance of a technology should not be confused with the use of a technology. The technology might be used but acceptance is low, if, for instance, the use of the product is expected as a work obligation. In this case, users may find the technology not helpful and sustainable transfer of technology in routine practice is weak. Likewise, a technology may be accepted and users would like to transfer it into routine practice but circumstances hinder its use. In this case, an institution should facilitate chancing working conditions if the technology is desired.
- The categories of performance, effort, social influence, and facilitating conditions provide a practical analytical approach to identifying acceptance or rejection factors. However, they merely provide indications of actual usage and acceptance patterns. The analysis and thus the understanding of the context of technology application itself is necessary in order to be able to classify and qualify overall acceptance.

- Experimenting with technology stabilises the intention-to-use into a sustainable use of technology that is adapted to the application context. If users do not find a way to transform this intention into a helpful benefit or if negative unintended or unanticipated consequences emerge, acceptance of the technology remains low. Intention-to-use is not a solid characteristic among users. Users should be given the opportunity to experiment with a new technology to stabilize an intention to use.
- In the practical field of nursing, the outcome of technology acceptance should not be viewed simply as the realised use of technology but rather against the background of whether nursing tasks and goals have been achieved through the use and acceptance of technology, such as the improvement of emotional, sentimental and interactive work between nurses and patients.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committee of the Hannover Medical School. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

RK: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. U-VA: Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. DK: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. M-LD: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

The study was funded exclusively by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, 16SV7892K. All material costs for technologies involved were purchased using these funds.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. World Health Organisation. World Report on Ageing and Health. Geneva: World Health Organization (2015). p. 246.

2. Seibert K, Domhoff D, Huter K, Krick T, Rothgang H, Wolf-Ostermann K. Application of digital technologies in nursing practice: results of a mixed methods study on nurses' experiences, needs and perspectives. Z Evid Fortbild Qual Gesundhwes. (2020) 158:94–106. doi: 10.1016/j.zefq.2020.10.010

3. Jones EK, Banks A, Melton GB, Porta CM, Tignanelli CJ. Barriers to and facilitators for acceptance of comprehensive clinical decision support system-driven care maps for patients with thoracic trauma: interview study among health care providers and nurses. *JMIR Hum Factors*. (2022) 9:e29019. doi: 10.2196/29019

4. Jauk S, Kramer D, Avian A, Berghold A, Leodolter W, Schulz S. Technology acceptance of a machine learning algorithm predicting delirium in a clinical setting: a mixed-methods study. *J Med Syst.* (2021) 45:48. doi: 10.1007/s10916-021-01727-6

5. Zwart Fd. Unintended but not unanticipated consequences. Theor Soc. (2015) 44:283-97. doi: 10.1007/s11186-015-9247-6

6. Ergai A, Spiva L, Thurman S, Hatfield M, McCollum M, Holmes M. The effectiveness of remote video monitoring on fall prevention and nurses' acceptance. *J Nurs Care Qual.* (2023) 39(1):24–30. doi: 10.1097/NCQ.000000000000716

7. Hawksworth LT, Raja S, Drake J, Davis T, O'Brien A-M, Brady JM. Exploring nurses' perceptions of the barriers and facilitators that influence acceptance and use of remote visual monitoring technology. *J Nurs Manag.* (2022) 30:3466–80. doi: 10. 1111/jonm.13822

8. Offermann J, Rohowsky A, Ziefle M. Emotions of scepticism, trust, and security within the acceptance of telemedical applications. *Int J Med Inform.* (2023) 177:105116. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2023.105116

9. Byrd TF 4th, Kim JS, Yeh C, Lee J, O'Leary KJ. Technology acceptance and critical mass: development of a consolidated model to explain the actual use of mobile health care communication tools. *J Biomed Inform.* (2021) 117:103749. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi. 2021.103749

10. Marcus J, MacMillan D, Ketchie M, Clark PC. Nurses' perceptions of technology used in language interpretation for patients with limited english proficiency. *Am J Nurs.* (2020) 120:48–58. doi: 10.1097/01.NAJ.0000697652.73975.37

11. Nadav J, Kaihlanen A-M, Kujala S, Laukka E, Hilama P, Koivisto J, et al. How to implement digital services in a way that they integrate into routine work: qualitative interview study among health and social care professionals. *J Med Internet Res.* (2021) 23:e31668. doi: 10.2196/31668

12. Lambert SI, Madi M, Sopka S, Lenes A, Stange H, Buszello C-P, et al. An integrative review on the acceptance of artificial intelligence among healthcare professionals in hospitals. *NPJ Digit Med.* (2023) 6:111. doi: 10.1038/s41746-023-00852-5

13. Berg GM, LoCurto J, Lippoldt D. Stages of adoption concern and technology acceptance in a critical care nursing unit. *J Nurs Adm.* (2017) 47:441–7. doi: 10. 1097/NNA.00000000000511

14. Lee HH, Melbye EL. Nursing home caregivers' acceptance of, and experiences with, a new digital intervention for oral healthcare: a qualitative feasibility study. *Gerodontology.* (2023) 41(1):68–82. doi: 10.1111/ger.12695

15. Bagot K, Moloczij N, Arthurson L, Hair C, Hancock S, Bladin CF, et al. Nurses' role in implementing and sustaining acute telemedicine: a mixed-methods, pre-post design using an extended technology acceptance model. *J Nurs Scholarsh.* (2020) 52:34–46. doi: 10.1111/jnu.12509

16. Venkatesh, Morris, Davis. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Q~(2003) 27:425. doi: 10.2307/30036540

17. Barchielli C, Marullo C, Bonciani M, Vainieri M. Nurses and the acceptance of innovations in technology-intensive contexts: the need for tailored management strategies. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2021) 21:639. doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06628-5

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fdgth.2024. 1330988/full#supplementary-material

18. Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. *Milbank Q.* (2004) 82:581–629. doi: 10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00325.x

19. Hechtel N, Krückeberg J, Sebastião M, Klawunn R. Analysing the selection of appropriate technical solutions for nurses in a clinical setting. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* (2021) 281:645–8. doi: 10.3233/SHTI210250

20. Krückeberg J, Rutz M, Hagen H, Hechtel N. Die perspektive der basis—welche bereiche in der stationären pflege können von technischen innovationen profitieren? *Proceedings of the Clusterconference "Zukunft der Pflege"* (2019).

21. Hechtel N, Klawunn R, Mazhari R, Schmeer R, Krückeberg J. Wie kann Pflegetechnologie bedarfsgerecht und nutzerorientiert ausgewählt werden? (2020).

22. Krückeberg J, Klawunn R, Fuge I, Mazhari R, Schmeer R, Hechtel N. How to decide upon nursing technologies—a participation-based approach. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* (2020) 270:1305–6. doi: 10.3233/SHTI200414

23. Greenhalgh T, Swinglehurst D. Studying technology use as social practice: the untapped potential of ethnography. *BMC Med.* (2011) 9:45. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-9-45

24. Higginbottom GM, Pillay JJ, Boadu NY. Guidance on performing focused ethnographies with an emphasis on healthcare research. *Qual Rep.* (2013) 2013:1–16. doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/2013.1550

25. Cruz EV, Higginbottom GM. The use of focused ethnography in nursing research. Nurse Res. (2013) 20:36-43. doi: 10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.36.e305

26. Knoblauch H. Focused ethnography. Forum Qual Sozialforschung. (2001) 6:123-41.

27. Wall S. Focused ethnography: a methodological adaptation for social research in emerging contexts. *Forum Qual Sozialforschung*. (2015) 16:Art. 1, p. 1–15. ISSN: 1438-5627.

28. Greenhalgh T, Abimbola S. The NASSS framework—a synthesis of multiple theories of technology implementation. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* (2019) 263:193–204. doi: 10.3233/SHTI190123

29. Ammenwerth E, Iller C, Mahler C. IT-adoption and the interaction of task, technology and individuals: a fit framework and a case study. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak.* (2006) 6:3. doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-6-3

30. Implementation Science Team Do, Institute NC. *Implementation Science at a Glance: A Guide for Cancer Control Practitioners.* Washington, D.C: United States Government Printing Office (2019). p. 88.

31. Neyer FJ, Felber J, Gebhardt C. Entwicklung und validierung einer kurzskala zur erfassung von technikbereitschaft. *Diagnostica*. (2012) 58:87–99. doi: 10.1026/0012-1924/a000067

32. Emerson RM, Fretz RI, Shaw LL. Writing Ethnographic Fieldnotes. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press (2011). p. 289.

33. Müller L, Backhaus C. Entwicklung eines Fragebogens zur Bewertung der 775 Gebrauchstauglichkeit von Medizinprodukten im Beschaffungsprozess. In: Arbeitswissenschaft GfA, editors. *Arbeit Interdisziplinär Analysieren—bewerten* gestalten Dresden: Dortmund (2019). p. 1–6.

34. Kuckartz U. Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Methoden, Praxis, Computerunterstützung. Weinheim, Basel: BeltzJuventa (2018). p. 240.

35. Schreier M. Ways of doing qualitative content analysis: disentangling terms and terminologies. Forum Qual Sozialforschung. (2014) 15(1):1–27. doi: 10.17169/fqs-15.1.2043

36. Green CA, Duan N, Gibbons RD, Hoagwood KE, Palinkas LA, Wisdom JP. Approaches to mixed methods dissemination and implementation research: methods, strengths, caveats, and opportunities. *Adm Policy Ment Health.* (2015) 42:508–23. doi: 10.1007/s10488-014-0552-6

37. Heibges M, Mörike F, Feufel MA. Wann braucht Ethnografie eine Einverständniserklärung? Praktische Antworten auf ethische Fragen zu ethnografischen Methoden in der HCI-Forschung. Hamburg: Gesellschaft für Informatik e.V (2019).

38. Huber E, Imeri S. Informed Consent in Ethnographic Research: A Common Practice Facing new Challenges. Bremen: Universität Bremen (2021). doi: 10.26092/elib/1070

39. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *Int J Qual Health Care.* (2007) 19:349–57. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042

40. Green J, Thorogood N. Analysing qualitative data. In: Green J, Thorogood N, editors. *Qualitative Methods for Health Research*. London: Sage Publications Ltd (2004). p. 173–200.

41. Klawunn R, Ottmann I, Schmeer R, Dierks ML. Analyse interdependenter wirkungen bei der erprobung neuer digitaler pflegetechnik im stationsalltag auf basis des resonanzkonzepts. *Gesundheitswesen*. (2022) 84:787. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-1753766

42. Klawunn R, Sieker D, Dierks M-L. Using resonance theory as an approach to analyse implementation processes of nursing technology. *3rd International Conference of the German Society of Nursing Science—Online* (2023).

43. Erasmus A, Brunet TD, Fisher E. What is interpretability? *Philos Technol.* (2021) 34:833–62. doi: 10.1007/s13347-020-00435-2

44. McGranahan C. Ethnography beyond method: the importance of an ethnographic sensibility. J Soc Anthropol Cult Stud. (2018) 15:1-10. doi: 10.11157/sites-id373

45. Arteaga I, Llewellyn H. Cultivating ethnographic sensibilities in ethnographies of dying people. *Ethos.* (2022) 50:353–71. doi: 10.1111/etho.12357

46. Krick T, Zerth J, Klawunn R. Pflegeinnovationen in der praxis: erfahrungen und empfehlungen aus dem "cluster zukunft der pflege", einführung und orientierung. In: Krick T, Zerth J, Rothgang H, Klawunn R, Walzer S, Kley T, editors. Pflegeinnovationen in der Praxis: Erfahrungen und Empfehlungen aus dem "Cluster Zukunft der Pflege". Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden (2023). p. 1–16.

47. Cresswell KM, Worth A, Sheikh A. Actor-network theory and its role in understanding the implementation of information technology developments in healthcare. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. (2010) 10:67. doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-10-67

48. Matsuzaki H. Zum generalisierten misstrauen gegenüber der technisierung der pflege. In: Krick T, Zerth J, Rothgang H, Klawunn R, Walzer S, Kley T, editors. *Pflegeinnovationen in der Praxis: Erfahrungen und Empfehlungen aus dem "Cluster Zukunft der Pflege"*. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden (2023). p. 293–309.

49. Rosenberger R, Verbeek P-P. A field guide to postphenomenology. In: Rosenberger R, Verbeek P-P, editors. *Postphenomenological Investigations: Essays on Human-Technology Relations*. Lanham, Boulder, New York, London: Lexington Books (2015). p. 9–42.

50. Böhle F, Weihrich M. Das konzept der interaktionsarbeit. Z Arb Wiss. (2020) 74:9–22. doi: 10.1007/s41449-020-00190-2

51. Rosa H. Resonance: A Sociology of the Relationship to the World. Cambridge, Medford, MA: Polity (2019). p. 554.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Silvia Simbula, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

REVIEWED BY Sarah Kendal, University of Leeds, United Kingdom Gentian Vyshka, University of Medicine, Tirana, Albania

*CORRESPONDENCE Karen Carlisle ⊠ karen.carlisle@jcu.edu.au

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 09 November 2023 ACCEPTED 07 May 2024 PUBLISHED 22 May 2024

CITATION

Carlisle K, Kamstra P, Carlisle E, McCosker A, De Cotta T, Kilpatrick S, Steiner A, Kahl B and Farmer J (2024) A qualitative exploration of online forums to support resilience of rural young people in Australia. *Front. Public Health* 12:1335476. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2024.1335476

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Carlisle, Kamstra, Carlisle, McCosker, De Cotta, Kilpatrick, Steiner, Kahl and Farmer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A qualitative exploration of online forums to support resilience of rural young people in Australia

Karen Carlisle^{1*†}, Peter Kamstra^{2†}, Emily Carlisle^{1†}, Anthony McCosker³, Tracy De Cotta⁴, Sue Kilpatrick⁵, Artur Steiner⁶, Bianca Kahl⁷ and Jane Farmer^{4†}

¹College of Medicine and Dentistry, James Cook University, Douglas, QLD, Australia, ²University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³Department of Media and Communications, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁴Social Innovation Research Unit, Swinburne University of Technology, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁵University of Tasmania Launceston, TAS, Australia, ⁶Glasgow Caledonian University, Yunus Centre, Glasgow, United Kingdom, ⁷ReachOut Australia, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Introduction: Prevention and early intervention are crucial strategies for improving young people's mental health and well-being. Building resilience is a key component of these strategies, especially among young individuals in rural areas who face well-documented mental health disparities. This study aimed to investigate how online mental health forums can contribute to enhancing individual resilience in young rural users.

Methods: A sample of forum posts (n = 1,000) made by Australian rural users (18–25 years) on an online peer support mental health forum were qualitatively analyzed. The analysis was guided by themes derived from the literature on indicators of rural resilience.

Results: Analysis of forum posts showed evidence of rural resilience in forum users. Online peer support forums offered a virtual space for individuals to establish social connections, experience a sense of belonging, share information, acquire knowledge, and offer mutual support. There were indications of increased self-efficacy among forum users, as they demonstrated their ability to implement strategies for better managing their mental health.

Discussion: These findings significantly contribute to our understanding of how online forums can enhance resilience factors that are beneficial for young people living in rural communities. In the context of prevention and early intervention, this study illustrates the intricate connections between forum design and user activity with resilience outcomes, providing valuable insights into the underlying causal mechanisms. Consequently, it emphasizes the importance of incorporating such digital interventions as integral components of mental health service ecosystems.

KEYWORDS

rural, mental health interventions, online peer support forums, resilience, youthyoung adults

Introduction

This study explores how an online peer support mental health forum contributes to building resilience of young Australians aged 18-25 living in rural areas. Building resilience is an important protective factor as part of mental health prevention and early intervention strategies (1), and is particularly significant for the young, rural group we consider. Globally, mental ill-health is a major contributor to the burden of disease in young people. It is estimated that one in seven (14%) of those aged between 10 and 19 years experiences a mental health condition (2), with suicide being the fourth leading cause of death in 15-19 year-olds. In Australia, nearly two in five (39.6%) of those aged 16-24 years experienced a mental health condition in 2020-21 (3). Internationally, adolescence and young adulthood are high-risk life-stages when many common mental health conditions emerge, with approximately 75% of these conditions starting by the age of 24 (4, 5). Rural is the specific geographical focus here due to well-documented rural mental health deficits when compared with urban counterparts (6, 7).

Given the specific salience of adolescence as a time when welldesigned interventions could influence life-long mental health and well-being, effective strategies to stop exacerbation of health issues are imperative. However, young people with mental health issues are less likely to access mental health services compared with the general population (8). Frequently cited barriers include perceived stigma and societal attitudes toward mental health, poor mental health literacy and prior negative experiences of mental health services as well as a preference for self-sufficiency (9, 10). With specific reference to young people experiencing mental illness in rural communities, the focus here, there is evidence of limited choice of, and access to, mental health services, cost associated with treatment, and cultural barriers (11, 12). Without adequate supports, rural young people can experience high rates of relapse, poor health outcomes, and reduced quality of life (11, 13).

Prevention and early intervention are key policy and practicebased strategies to enhance the mental health and well-being of young people. Implementation of these strategies aims to halt the onset or development of illness, thus minimizing impacts on individuals, families, and communities (1). Most mental health conditions arise from combined risk factors - biological, genetic, psychological, familyrelated, and social - which interact in complex ways. Protective factors, such as social connectedness, access to education and employment, and a stable family environment can reduce the likelihood of experiencing a mental health condition, enhancing a person's mental health and wellbeing, or acting as a buffer against a person's exposure to risk factors. This reduces the likelihood of becoming unwell (14).

By implementing preventive measures that reduce exposure to risks and increase exposure to protective factors, it is possible to reduce occurrence of mental health conditions across the community (1, 15). Early intervention aims to lessen ill-health duration and impact by identifying early signs of mental ill health (16). Effective prevention and early intervention can prevent the progression of mental health conditions and reduce the mortality and long-term morbidity often associated with these conditions, including premature death, social isolation, poor functioning, and reduced educational and vocational productivity (17).

This study considers how using an online mental health forum influences resilience. Building resilience has received increasing interest as foundational in informing design of preventative and early intervention, protective, approaches for mental health (14, 18). The term resilience is used across a variety of contexts, and sometimes in relation to structural features of communities, regions and their populations (19, 20). In this study, we focus on individual resilience. Individual resilience can be described as a composite psychological outcome generated through a process of building strength and coping strategies to deal with adversity and adapt to overcome trauma or other vulnerabilities (21). We define resilience using a framework of indicators of resources - social connection, learning, belonging, selfefficacy and adaptive capacity. These are acknowledged to assist in dealing with adversity in a rural context (21, 22). Rural people experiencing mental ill-health are understood to experience contextual layers of adversity including having to deal with isolation, service inaccessibility, hostile or declining environmental conditions and a set of social attitudes from living in close proximity with a limited number of people (7).

Evidence suggests that mental health interventions emphasizing protective factors that build resilience, can act as a psychosocial buffer for young people when exposed to stressors (23, 24). Research with young people living in rural Australia, for example, found that a school-based program which focused on active learning and peer interactions led to self-reported improvements in self-efficacy and application of healthy coping strategies when faced with adversity (25). There are also increased calls to include young people as active co-contributors in mental health interventions to build resilience by giving opportunities to express their 'voice' leading to a sense of ownership and agency for change in their own lives (17, 26, 27).

Given rising mental health need among young people and the potential of building resilience for prevention or early intervention, the question arises of how to enable equitable and ubiquitous access to services and supports. Young people might be considered "digital natives" who have grown up immersed in technology with access to the internet a normal part of everyday life. The Australian Bureau of Statistics, report on household use of technology highlighted that 98% of young people aged between 15 and 24 years used the internet with social networking and entertainment the most common activities this age group engaged in (28). This level of digital native-ness among young people means that online interventions should be increasingly regarded as a valuable aspect of mental health service delivery models for young people (29). Online delivery of mental health services has potential to address some of the workforce and mental health service maldistribution across rural areas (30) and to overcome some of the confidentiality and agency barriers rural young people experience when seeking help for mental health issues (31).

Within the available options for digital mental health services, online peer support forums have potential as a "virtual social space where people come together to get and give information or support, to learn, or to find company" p348 (32). Face-to-face peer support has been increasingly recognized as valuable in mental health, for both giver and recipient (33) and, more recently, this has also been shown valid where peer support is mutually given via online forums (34). Beneficial outcomes are likely due to the interesting phenomenon of value co-creation (35) in peer service delivery where services can be tailored by a service-giver to fill any 'structural holes' (36) experienced by a peer who asks for help and seeks that in language they can understand. Simultaneously, the giver of help experiences a sense that they are valued because their help is needed

and appreciated by another. Mental health service providers often incorporate online peer-to-peer support forums as part of online and in-person interventions to enable people to connect, share experiences and provide social support and advice. Mental health online peer support forums used by health organizations are typically managed and moderated by trained staff and peer volunteers who are trained and have recognized experience and expertise (37). Studies exploring the experiences of young people using mental health online forums have reported benefits in terms of symptom alleviation, a reduction of feelings of isolation, feelings of belonging, information sharing and emotional support (38). This is, in part, due to online forums affording young people alternative opportunities to connect with their peers in a supportive environment to manage their mental health and wellbeing. What is less understood is how online forums as a prevention/early intervention strategy can contribute to enhancing protective resilience resources that are associated with mental ill health in young people, particularly for those young people living in rural areas.

This study adds important new knowledge, therefore, from qualitative analysis of a sample of 1,000 posts (2018-20) made by Australian rural users, aged 18-25 years, on the ReachOut online peer support mental health forum. The study specifically examined how the forum influences resilience of its young rural users. By exploring the interactions between online forum users, the study shows how resilience is built by exchanges that are facilitated and encouraged to address a specific context and that harness a set of practices that are clever and adaptive to the young person group in a changing milieu. By engaging the young people this helps to effect the ongoing freshness, vibrancy and relevance that engages users. Helping to build resilience is significant as part of mental ill-health prevention and early intervention strategy. Findings of this study contribute to understanding the role of specialist digital services as part of health systems for key demographics - here a young, rural group that is both at risk and hard-to-reach.

Materials and methods

This descriptive qualitative study is part of a larger project called (Identifying and optimising the roles of online communities in building rural resilience), which aims to understand if, and to what extent, rural people experiencing mental ill-health can realize resilience through participation in online communities. In this study, we focus on exploring how using the ReachOut forum influences resilience-building among young people aged 18–25 and living in rural contexts.

Study setting

ReachOut is Australia's most accessed online mental health service for young people. It was established in 1998 and is run by a non-profit organization. It is national in scope and accessed by more than 2 million Australian users annually, with around 9% of these residing in rural areas (39). The online peer support mental health forum (henceforth "forum") aims to provide a safe, inclusive, empowering space that improves mental health outcomes (40). Its' objectives are to build young people's awareness and capabilities to:

- Recognize indications that something is not right before reaching a crisis stage;
- Understand the importance of accepting and working with their mental health and psychological distress issues;
- Engage in informal and formal help-seeking and selfmanagement as needed; and
- Support social connectedness and promote a positive sense of self and wellbeing.

The forum is informed by a theory of change that depicts it as an intervention aiming to expand the protective factors for young people's mental ill-health, leading to prevention or delay of the onset of mental health issues, reducing their incidence, severity, duration or frequency (39). The forum targets those with low to severe symptoms with whom ReachOut can intervene 'early' to facilitate access to more intensive support, while providing 'adjunctive support' (39). Adjunctive support refers to being used in conjunction with other services, potentially while on waiting lists or between appointments, but the forum is also suggested to act as an alternative support for young people who may have had negative experiences with mental health professionals (40).

Young people can access the forum via the ReachOut website. ReachOut is an 'open access' forum, meaning anyone under 25 with an internet connection can view and register to post on the forums. To make a post, registered users must select a pseudonym associated with their profile to ensure all posts remain anonymous. Young people use the forum voluntarily by choosing to post on existing threads, or by creating their own new thread. Existing threads include topics on managing mental health, self-care, relationships and other topics relevant to young people. During 2020, over 65,000 posts were made on the ReachOut forum (41). The forum has paid moderators who: establish a safe space for all young people, monitor adherence to community guidelines, and facilitate safe conversations about sensitive topics (e.g., suicide, self-harm, trauma). Moderators ensure users do not disclose personal information, remove spam content, and prevent prescriptive advice or abusive and triggering language from reaching the forums.

As well as these paid moderators with specific roles, ReachOut users can access additional capability-building and formal helping roles within the forum by volunteering to become 'community builders'. In that role, they receive training and are encouraged to provide peer support, start threads and engage in online events – thereby helping to keep the online forum active, dynamic and vibrant through user activity. Active users who demonstrate natural leadership in their posting activity and are over 18 years old may be invited by ReachOut to become an unpaid 'peer moderator' after receiving additional training on how to effectively provide peer support beyond the entry level community builder program. Through these means, ReachOut builds confidence among users and a kind of 'career development' for them, while keeping the forum fresh, active and co-created.

Data collection

To gain ethics approval to source ReachOut data, a data sharing agreement was developed between the research team and ReachOut that ensured sensitive forum data would not be shared with third parties. Once retrieved, the data was stored securely on university servers and remained unmodified other than being completely de-identified (42). The data sharing agreement was used to inform ethical approval for this study gained from Swinburne University Research Ethics Committee (R/2019/033).

In accordance with data governance practices, forum users consent to the use of their anonymized post data for research when they register to use the forum. In this study, to ensure data was de-identified, users' online pseudonyms and other potentially identifying features (e.g., references to specific locations in posts) were removed prior to analysis. A sample of posts from 1 August 2018 to 31 December 2020 (inclusive) of de-identified and time-stamped forum posts was obtained (n = 80,174 posts) and cleaned for analysis. As this study focused on rural young people, posts made by rurallocated users were selected-out by linking their post codes (provided when registering) to each of their posts and then selecting posts for Outer regional, Remote and Very Remote categories (i.e., not including posts for 'Major cities' and 'Inner regional' areas) as defined by the Australian Statistical Geography Standard (ASGS) Remoteness Structure (41). The ASGS categorizes locations based on population distribution and distance to services. To generate a manageable sample for labor-intensive qualitative thematic analysis, we selected a sample of 1,000 posts, including all Remote posts (n = 57), all Very remote posts (n = 23) and a random sample (using Excel feature) of 920 Outer regional posts.

Data analysis

Forum post data were analyzed deductively for themes derived from the literature on indicators of rural psychological resilience (21, 22, 43–45). The process of theme development is described in more detail in the larger study (46). A deductive approach was used as we were interested in exploring the utility of applying established resilience themes from the literature to the data set. Table 1 shows the

TABLE 1 Resilience themes and topics in data coded to themes.

themes and the topics of posts coded to these. Regarding the focus of this study - i.e. that it involves rural-dwelling young people experiencing mental ill-health - we draw on ways resilience is construed through the sequence of studies undertaken by Berkes, Ross and colleagues cited above. In their studies, they combined a psychological perspective on resilience with a rural community development perspective (to acknowledge the nuanced challenges and thus strength and coping strategies required for dealing with generating psychological coping resources in rural communities). That is, resilience as broadly involving access to a set of resources: social support and the ability to access networks of contacts for support; learning or access to new knowledge and skills (43); a sense of belonging or inter-connection with a community or place (47); selfefficacy which relates to an individual's belief about their capabilities to reach goals and to exercise influence over their lives (48); and adaptive capacity to enable adaptation and behavior change in relation to taking agency in changing circumstances (49). As we did more widely in our larger study (46), we applied this rural and psychological framing of resilience to analyze resources exchanged or developing through forum posting.

Analysis of posts followed Braun and Clarke's (50) thematic coding method. Four researchers (PK, JF, EC, and TD) initially read all of the posts in the sample, noting themes and other ideas independently. A codebook was developed outlining what would be included/excluded for each thematic code (See Table 1 for forum post topics coded to each theme). Using the codebook PK, EC, TD systematically coded forum posts independently using the qualitative coding software NVivo. This coded data was reviewed and discussed with the wider research team with agreement reached on inconsistencies. It was agreed that where consensus on coding could not be reached, that data was not coded. Following this stage, data was grouped by each thematic code and explored in-depth to understand how each post related to the resilience themes in Table 1. For this paper, the coded data was then reviewed and refined by KC by re-reading the posts/post extracts to ensure a close fit between the data

Resilience themes	Description of what was coded to this theme
Social connection	Includes: (i) descriptions of relatedness or empathy between people. Captures examples of one person describing to another, their similar experiences; (ii) expressions of friendship and friendly encounters between peers. This includes people offering encouragement to one another, referring to each other as friends, thanking each other for trusted friendships and describing the value of the friendships.
Learning	Includes: (i) formal knowledge resources or where people <i>ask for</i> advice and information about practical things, e.g., how to access services. Also <i>sharing</i> online resources, strategies for coping with symptoms and best-practices for improved mental health; (ii) informal knowledge or where information or advice is shared that is about others' lived experiences, e.g., asking or sharing how medications made them feel, how they navigate relationships and situations.
Sense of belonging (to the forum community)	Includes: (i) people initially joining and posting messages indicating they seek to belong to this community, e.g., introducing themselves, telling their story; (ii) posts that tell members they belong. This captures the variety of ways members try to make others feel included and valued. (iii) posts that reference the forum as a beneficial place. Includes naming the forum, discussing features of the forum like it's a physical place and testimonials about benefits of the forum.
Self-efficacy	Includes where people describe (i) feeling they have lost control. We interpret this as meaning they are taking steps to regain control by being on the forum; (ii) where people post in such a way that they are asking for others on the forum to 'hold them accountable'; (iii) where people tell their story as a kind of 'unmasking', 'offloading' or getting it out there, with sometimes explicit discussion and sometimes implied that this helps to move on.
Adaptive capacity	Captures where people describe how interacting on the forum has changed what they do, how they approach certain situations and how they have changed since interacting online. Any post that mentions a change in behavior, approaches to talking to doctors or any other relevant change in behavior is captured here.

and interpretation of them leading to their coding. This refined analysis was examined by PK and EC and any agreement reached about inconsistences. Some posts were coded to more than one theme.

Results

Evidence of resilience

Below we show evidence that each of the resilience themes from the framework (see above Methods) was present in the forum data and how the themes were manifest in the data. Figure 1 provides an overview of the number of posts coded to the resilience themes.

Social connection

The most frequently coded theme was social connection, with 416 posts coded to this topic. The resource of social connection was manifested in posts where users provided encouragement to other users, and shared experiences and expressions of friendship. Posts were mainly conversational in tone and included discussions about challenges with school, university and work, providing a context for users to connect. The following post illustrates how users shared thoughts about their everyday lives, in this case about challenges with their work environment.

I feel imposter syndrome a LOT at work now! (It has a name!) I know it's okay to make mistakes and that we learn from our mistakes, my current manager doesn't have a relaxed attitude to mistakes as the previous one..... (Post #324)

Users connected through using words of encouragement and relating to each other about experiences they were going through together.

I'm glad things are starting to feel a little better for you and hope they continue that way. How is the assignment coming along? How

amazing is it going to be when we're all finished for the year?! I know I cannot bloody wait (Post #37)

Posts also reflected benefits of social connection particularly for people living rurally who may lack connection with others their own age in their local community. Being able to form connections online appeared to enable young people to know they are not alone in how they feel, as often the posts about social connection contained phrases like: *I can totally relate* (Post #226), and *you and I are going through some similar things* (Post #462).

Expressions of reassurance were shared through showing concern about others' safety by reminding them they are connected to a wider, strong support network. Typical posts included 'checking in' and asking questions about the other person's life or day.

Hey I also wanted to check in and see how you're doing? I'm hoping the absence means you've just been busy baking Christmas cookies and your rice bubble slices!! Sending you some positive vibes - you've got this. Don't forget we are here okay? Ready to listen when you need someone! Thinking of you! (Post #15)

How the forum operated also helped to facilitate social connections to happen. 'Tag games' was a tool used on the forum and refers to specific posts initiated by moderators aiming to acknowledge and encourage users who had contributed positively to the forum that week. Moderators would start tag games by posting questions for users to answer to encourage discussion and inspire new users to post as illustrated below:

Awesome answer Since this is soo late (sorry guys!) I'm going to post today and tomorrow's questions 4. Are comparisons bad and what can we do to help prevent upwards comparison? (i.e., thinking someone is prettier or better than oneself) 5. How can we promote positive thoughts surrounding body (Post #236)

This type of post helps users to connect easily with one another - particularly new users; as it does not involve one to one chat. Once a



user has answered a tag question, there is no onus to reciprocate. 'Tag games' enabled users who were seeking connection as their purpose is to bring about new connections between users with little proactive effort from users:

... here's our Friday Fives for creating this thread to talk about the recent attack in Melbourne and linking resources for help! for always being sympathetic and caring toward other users for opening up to friends about how they've been feeling.... (Post #884)

Learning

Nearly a fifth of posts (n = 196) showed evidence of learning facilitated through gaining and taking onboard new information shared on the forum by other users. Some of this was based on users' experiences, opinions or feelings and some was based on asking for or sharing sources of advice, knowledge or evidence. Users would access the forums to ask for advice on issues that were affecting their daily lives. Typically, those seeking advice would provide some contextual description about their circumstances to find people who had experienced similar issues.

Because I am in a very small school, it is very difficult to find people with a similar mindset as me toward learning. What could I do to strengthen my mindset and lessen the chance of being negatively influenced in my situation? Much help would be appreciated (Post #14)

Advice shared by users was often couched in similar experiences to the person posting or it would relate to the situation they were going through. At times young people in the forum would frame their advice with a question. This way of communicating the advice could be viewed as a less direct way of encouraging the person to consider the advice provided.

Yeah I'm worried about that too!! Do you have the option to sit them on campus if you want to? I know with my uni you could register to sit them on campus and they have rooms set up with social distancing and stuff in place. I ended up applying for it cause I already don't do well with exams so needed to keep things as normal as possible so am very thankful my uni has those measures in place! Could be worth checking out? (Post #513).

I think it's important you try your best to work on supporting and relying on yourself for the next few weeks? Maybe chat with your psych and see what she suggests? (Post # 157).

The forum was also used to exchange information about how to find professional help (as access to services is a common challenge in rural areas). Receiving lived experience advice from peers who have recently navigated the mental health system was often noted as helpful in supporting recovery, demonstrated here:

Regarding the [time I was with the] crisis team, that is an interesting question. I am guessing perhaps about 7 months. However, I only stopped with them because the mental health nurse I had left and the new person I didn't click with, and I was too scared to ask for someone

different. Around the time I had started seeing a new GP who got my referral done for headspace and got me in quickly, so there really wasn't much time where I was unsupported if that makes sense. Was there anything you wanted to ask about seeing a crisis team? (Post #397)

Users would ask for or receive practical tips for managing mental ill-health - for example, sharing ways to use crisis helplines. The following post is an example of advice on how to use helplines. It is interesting to note that the user has not written out the word "suicidal" in full as a tactic to avoid content being picked up and possibly removed by moderators.

Remember that you can always get immediate and temporary support from helplines and crisis lines if you are really struggling and are having s*cidal thoughts, it's good to speak to someone... (Post #24)

Knowledge was sometimes obviously shared by moderators who would post and facilitate threads discussing practical ways to prevent mental ill-health, exemplified below:

Welcome everyone Tonight our chat is all about ROUTINES! I'm facilitating the chat tonight with the lovely [name removed] & we have some builders who are going to help us out too (Post #489)

Belonging

Through connecting with one another on the forum, users began to form a sense of belonging to the online community and 105 posts were coded to this theme. Many posts were directed to other users being told they belong and were reassuring in nature.

Sending you some positive vibes - you've got this. Don't forget we are here okay? Ready to listen when you need someone! Thinking of you! (Post #65)

Several posts depicted the forum as a space or place, drawing on features of the forum to help depict its place-ness. Posts were welcoming and reflected 'safe space' language.

Hehe, don't worry about the long posts, I tend to ramble on and on too! And I find that it's super easy when you're in a safe supportive place (Post #698)

Users also described the benefits of belonging or being part of the forum in terms of finding support through difficult periods in their life.

Thanks heaps I really do value everyone's support on here because I'd have completely lost my mind by now otherwise!! (Post #241)

Others discussed how joining the forum had furthered them in their journey of dealing with their mental health condition. At first, they appreciated receiving advice, and later, they experienced benefits from advising others. When I look back to when I first joined RO [ReachOut], I would never have imagined I could be a mod [moderator] and be helping people the way I do now, but I did, and it started by helping give others advice when I can, and it also helped that I was taking suggestions and implementing them. (Post #748)

Discussing the benefits of belonging, some users indicated a preference for using the forum when in need of immediate help rather than using crisis hot lines such as Lifeline (the most prominent Australian crisis help-line). Reasons for this were that they could connect with like-minded people and receive support from more than one person.

I'm far too scared to make the call even when I really need it, and I've tried their online/text options but didn't find them very helpful which is why I use ReachOut instead. (Post #627)

RO is my best source of support in terms of online/phone supports, I find everyone on here is just so amazing, understanding and accepting and it's nice. (Post #342).

I think just knowing I can come on here and chat to like-minded people has been my favourite wellbeing activity this year. I am so glad I found this community because there is no other like it and for once I feel like i am supported and can speak out about how I'm truly feeling so thankyou to everyone on here!! (Post #10)

Self-efficacy

Almost a third of posts (n = 323) were coded to self-efficacy which can be understood as having skills and applying strategies that promote emotional coping. As an example, being able to identify things causing emotional distress and being able to make changes for the better or accept what cannot change, would be expressions coded to self-efficacy. Self-efficacy was evidenced in users discussing how they deal with their mental health in their day-to-day life and in forum threads such as one called 'negatives and positives', where users share positive changes they experience over time.

I managed to walk to the end of my street AND I managed to go for a run on this quiet little track behind my house!! Double win!! Sorry, I know it's pathetic but I'm on a bit of a high and just so proud of myself for actually doing it!! Feels amazing!! (Post #682)

I spoke to my psych today cause it's just been too much for me and making me sick. She reminded me that I don't have to put up with verbal abuse and be walked all over. She's given me a couple of numbers I can call for actual legal advice for house shares so I might try calling them tomorrow to see what they say. I'm just trying not to think about it now and try chill out for the night (Post #305)

Some posts illustrating self-efficacy responded to experiences shared on the forum and promoted a change in thinking or taking action.

"Thanks for sharing your experience I really appreciate it! I have an appointment with my psych tomorrow and have just spent the last

couple hours trying to word an email to her cause I'm not good at talking so hopefully she'll bring it all up tomorrow and I'll sort through some of it" (Post #281)

Hey thanks! Things around that topic are doing just fine now, which is good, it feels I've had ten tone taken off my chest and I've already noticed a really positive difference in my general mood (Post #200)

Absence of self-efficacy was also evidenced and highlighted challenges faced by young people in rural areas when seeking help. Users expressed inability to get what they want because they are too young, cannot afford professional help, or legally cannot access a service due to their young age. Posts on this theme often implicitly noted lack of agency or were supportive responses to those experiencing the problem.

I'm sorry to hear you felt that you weren't able to answer the GPs questions honestly with your parents in the room. (Post #365)

I have severe insomnia and general anxiety. Paranoia decided to join, too. I've mentioned this to my family, and the first time, they were going to take me to a doctor. But they didn't end up doing it. The second time I reminded them, they shook it off and said: "You're fine, stop worrying" (Post #11)

A prominent theme within those coded to self-efficacy involved discussions about managing interpersonal relationships, with n = 39 quotes on this issue. Some showed evidence of users helping each other to navigate complex interpersonal relationships in their offline life. The opportunity to discuss this with others online seems significant to prevention strategy as these relationship issues are depicted as deeply impacting users' mental health. An example is given below where a user expresses problematical family conflict and they post repeatedly regarding this specific situation.

There was another argument tonight, except this time it was my grandad being disrespectful and rude to my dad who was only trying to help. I don't know why but it just makes me scared and feel really upset. (Post #262)

Adaptive capacity

Only 13 posts had evidence of adaptive capacity. Possibly this small number is because we only coded clear instances of behavior change to adaptive capacity. Some posts show evidence of people changing their behavior based on their forum activity. The following posts are examples of users describing how advice from other users led to changes in managing their mental health.

I appreciate your, help, and so much, and I did talk to my boyfriend about it and I feel so much better. (Post #18)

Today I practiced self-care by reading back through my threads and taking note of all the wonderful suggestions and advice this community has shared with me so far. (Post #229).

Users expressed capturing advice in the moment for later use - as reflected below - where the user states that seeing a post reminded

them of the importance of self-care and prompted creating themselves a list of self-care methods.

Thanks heaps for sharing this I came across it the other day when I was feeling really down and needing help and this was a great reminder of how important self-care actually is. I haven't had much time to myself lately with uni exams and work but have finally got a day off today and have just put together a list that works for me in the hope I can just turn to it and pick something off the list to do when I'm feeling really low. Thanks for the little reminder! (Post #645)

Discussion

Supports that prevent or delay onset of mental ill-health by intervening early are critical for rural young people who are a particularly high-risk group (17). Building and enhancing protective factors – understood as supported, here, through resilience-buildingis central to prevention and early intervention strategy. In this study, through qualitative analysis of 1,000 posts, we found that key resilience resources are built through young peoples' engagement with the ReachOut forum, a service intentionally designed and targeted at users aged 18–25 years. The study found that through fostering young people's exchanges of messages on the forum, a safe and trusted space for social connection, opportunities for learning and the building of self-efficacy, is created.

The forum supports young people in rural communities by helping them to reach specific resources that are hard to attain in rural places due to stigma, lack of privacy and lack of access to services and amenity. Finding others who are like you can be a challenge in rural places (51), so forums help young people to gain access to empathetic peers. Prescott et al. also described young peoples' experiences of online forums as supportive environments to access information which may not be readily available offline (52) Specifically, young people can gain access to resources that are key to wellbeing, fulfilment and capability. Social relationships and a sense of belonging are important among these as determinants of mental health and predictors of quality of life and health outcomes (53). Social connection was enacted on the forums in several ways, by users, through encouragement, expressions of friendship (checking in) and sharing of experiences. Paid forum moderators and volunteer peer moderators, who are hidden but substantial co-creators of forum activity, facilitate connections through applying intentional tactics and techniques such as 'tag games' to engage users with each other. Moderators also curate the forum as a space of safety by carefully managing content to remove negative or triggering posts, while encouraging posting and development of forum users' conversations. Peers in 'community-builder' roles keep forums active by posting and making encouraging responses to others. This seamless co-creation of a safe space fostered a sense of belonging and mutual support as a forum community which was expressed as beneficial for users particularly when faced with difficult situations, such as negative experiences in their community life. While the forum was not designed to manage crisis situations, some users would seek immediate help online. Reasons for this help seeking behavior are linked to understanding forum users as people who have empathy from sharing a similar situation (54), and from repeated, safe interactions making the forum a trusted support network (55). This might be contrasted with negative experiences of other 'on-premises' mental health services that young people might have used (40).

Young people engaged with the forum to learn from others and share their knowledge in return - particularly around seeking advice about preventing and managing mental health as well as navigating the mental health system. Use of forums for practical advice has been previously highlighted by other studies (38, 56). Of interest here is the experiential knowledge exchange and the value ascribed to the forum as a resource for sharing individual's lived experiences. Many posts were grounded in personal experiences of managing users own mental health and contrasting difficult experiences within the public mental health system. This suggests forums accrue a form of legitimacy as an authoritative space to offer credible strategies to others and to seek advice from peers who understand you (37). This quality of forums is particularly relevant for the forum users who are living in rural, often isolated communities with limited access to appropriate mental health services. The availability of a 24/7 anonymous online forum is a valuable resource for young people distant from other services and perhaps isolated, lacking access to transport and agency, in rural places.

Another aspect of resilience which was prominent in the forum was evidence of self-efficacy. Self-efficacy can influence individuals' thinking, feelings and behavior and is a strong predictor of health behavior change (57). Self-efficacy features in key program objectives of ReachOut online communities around accepting and working with mental health issues and engaging in self-management (39). Selfefficacy was manifest where forum users commented about taking control or working on changing their circumstances. This was often catalyzed by connecting with others with comparable experiences. This study provides insights into the role of connecting with others in similar circumstances and sharing knowledge via online forums as a mechanism influencing self-efficacy. Other studies have emphasized this contribution, showing that people sometimes use forums to record their feelings and observations, and to gain support during times when they are facing challenging circumstances (58).

The intentional design of the forum is significant to how forums contribute as a prevention and early intervention support. Figure 2 depicts how the forum is designed to address specific contextual conditions experienced by young people. A range of tactics are used (e.g., intentionally applied 'games', encouragement of users through different roles they may be assigned, removing sensitive and triggering posts) to enable co-creation between forum users (who exchange emotional attachment, support and information), and moderators. The co-creative activity creates a space where it is the norm to exchange knowledge and information in friendly, supportive ways, meaning people make positive connections with each other and build a reciprocal community. The focus of ReachOut is increasing selfefficacy so moderators are able to influence the flow of activity and information as positive, enabling and exchanging coping strategies. These, in turn, lead to instances of changed behavior and attitude, understood by us here as bringing the resilience resource - adaptive capacity. The impact of co-creating these resilience resources is raising the level of social factors protective to wellbeing (connection and belonging). The forum helps young people to manage their mental health and minimize symptoms by gaining strategies tailored to their age group and circumstances as provided by and discussed by, their peers. In addition, young people living in rural communities are



afforded access to a mental health service they experience as acceptable – that is, which is available when needed, and addressing issues such as confidentiality and stigma. This acceptable online service is, unfortunately, often to be contrasted with hard to access 'on-premises' services that may be inappropriately designed for young people (59). Based on existing evidence of what contributes to prevention and early intervention, by helping to build resilience, and enable protection and service access, we can say that the ReachOut forum conforms to depictions of a prevention and early intervention service or intervention. That is, is likely to help in delaying the onset of mental ill health and reducing mental ill-health duration and severity.

This analysis suggests that online peer support mental health forums have a role to play as part of the suite of mental health interventions offered for young people in rural communities. With an ever-increasing demand for mental health services, service providers should find online forums fruitful to complement other modes of service delivery to facilitate timely access to help. Forums might be understood as particularly useful for young people as they tend to lack power and agency (in rural places, this includes potentially exacerbated lack of access to services through lack of agency around transport) (60). They represent the potential of a private space, easily accessible, where young people can go to be themselves, express themselves and explore identities that are under-represented in their immediate locale. Forums are spaces where parents, teachers and 'grown-ups' cannot prevent their expression or monitor them providing, of course, they have internet access, which is a question in itself because rural places still experience lower digital inclusion compared with other demographic groups.

Strengths and limitations

A strength of the study is the data collection method adopted. The data set that we analyzed comprised of 1,000 forum posts made directly by young people from outer regional, rural and remote Australia providing a rich, authentic source of information about questions and challenges, and tactics in addressing them, for this hard-to-reach population. Sourcing and analyzing data 'already there' helps circumvent the need to create and obtain data using surveys, interventions or other requests for data collection. Findings may be limited due to the deductive application of the resilience framework to forum posts, however the framework is based on a chronology of work specifically about rural psychological resilience, providing a framing specifically tailored to context. Other resilience frameworks and other methods of surfacing protective factors, from the data, might have been used in analyzing the data. We mentioned there are different 'levels' of users and indeed moderators whose posts may be in the dataset. It is impossible to separate out these types of actors within the dataset so we cannot understand any distinct differences between user status, the nature of posts and how dynamics within the forum might affect what is posted and significantly, what is not posted (61).

Implications

This study provides evidence of links between activity on the ReachOut forum and building of resilience factors that are beneficial to young people as part of prevention and early intervention supports and services. It is well documented in the literature that the use of online mental health interventions for young people can increase access to mental health services that are timely, acceptable and can improve mental health outcomes for users (37, 38, 56, 62, 63). This forum and its building of resilience can be viewed as additionally significant to rural young people as they navigate a distinct context and set of additional challenges in addressing their mental ill-health. While there have been other studies highlighting the benefits of online mental health forums, this study explicitly

links forum activity with resilience outcomes and provides finegrained evidence that informs depiction of causal mechanisms (as illustrated in Figure 2).

This study also examines the capabilities of ReachOut as a forum operator in crafting and curating the desired outcomes to happen particularly in addressing its goal of generating self-efficacy. It cleverly does this through combinations of skilled staff managing the forums, moderators, experienced users (peer moderators and community builders), teaching and skilling peers, moderation practices, games and tactics. Further, this practice does not seem codified and is adaptive and represents an example of benefits or good outcomes from more adaptive and co-creative practices in health and wellbeing services.

Finally, the study highlights the significance of this type of digital intervention – that enables young people to escape the surveillance of life in physical communities, is open and inclusive, available at all times and confidential. As we have noted, a beneficial set of characteristics of a service for rural young people who live in highly socially monitored contexts of few services, embedded in communities where everyone knows everyone else. While ReachOut understands this service as adjunctive and complementary, our findings suggest it is perhaps *an essential service*. If we are to understand young people as digital natives, the study highlights that service systems – and perhaps particularly rural service systems - should now consider online options as a routine part of adequate service ecosystems.

Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/ restrictions: The datasets generated for this article are not readily available because signed data sharing agreements by partner organizations and Swinburne University used to receive ethics approval prevents us from making sensitive mental health data available. Access to the de-identified data is considered on request by the participating organization. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to karen.carlisle@jcu.edu.au.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Swinburne University Research Ethics Committee. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The ethics committee/institutional review board waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin because in Australia people who sign up to use ReachOut forums, agree that their de-identified posts can be reused for research.

References

1. World Health Organization. *World mental health report: Transforming mental health for all.* Geneva: World Health Organization (2022).

Author contributions

Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Investigation, KC: Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Funding acquisition. PK: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. EC: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. AM: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. TC: Formal analysis, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. SK: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. AS: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Writing - review & editing. BK: Formal analysis, Writing - review & editing. JF: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Writing original draft, Writing - review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The research was funded by Australian Research Council, grant no. [DP200100419].

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge ReachOut as partners in the research as well as broader members of the research team Sherridan Emery and Hilary Davis and who contributed to broader discussion that strengthened the research project.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

^{2.} World Health Organization. *Global Health estimates* (2019). Available at: https://www.who.int/data/global-health-estimates.

^{3.} Statistics ABo. *National Study of mental health and wellbeing*. Canberra: ABS (2020). Available at: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/mental-health/national-study-mental-health-and-wellbeing/latest-release.

^{4.} Fusar-Poli P. Integrated mental health services for the developmental period (0 to 25 years): a critical review of the evidence. *Front Psych.* (2019) 10:355. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00355

^{5.} Kessler RC, Demler O, Frank RG, Olfson M, Pincus HA, Walters EE, et al. Prevalence and treatment of mental disorders, 1990 to 2003. *N Engl J Med.* (2005) 352:2515–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa043266

^{6.} Morales DA, Barksdale CL, Beckel-Mitchener AC. A call to action to address rural mental health disparities. J Clin Transl Sci. (2020) 4:463–7. doi: 10.1017/cts.2020.42

7. Lawrence-Bourne J, Dalton H, Perkins D, Farmer J, Luscombe G, Oelke N, et al. What is rural adversity, how does it affect wellbeing and what are the implications for action? *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17197205

8. Radez J, Reardon T, Creswell C, Lawrence PJ, Evdoka-Burton G, Waite P. Why do children and adolescents (not) seek and access professional help for their mental health problems? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2021) 30:183–211. doi: 10.1007/s00787-019-01469-4

9. Gulliver A, Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2010) 10:113. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-10-113

10. Lynch L, Moorhead A, Long M, Hawthorne-Steele I. What type of helping relationship do young people need? Engaging and maintaining young people in mental health care—a narrative review. *Youth Soc.* (2021) 53:1376–99. doi: 10.1177/0044118X20902786

11. Handley T, Davies K, Rich J, Perkins D. Understanding the mental health of rural young adults: risk and protective factors. *Int J Ment Health Psychiatry*. (2017) 3. doi: 10.4172/2471-4372.1000154

12. Rickwood DJ, Deane FP, Wilson CJ. When and how do young people seek professional help for mental health problems? [paper in: supplement: early intervention in youth mental health]. *Med J Aust.* (2007) 187:S35–9. doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007. tb01334.x

13. Happell B, Scott D, Platania-Phung C, Nankivell J. Rural physical health care services for people with serious mental illness: a nursing perspective: rural physical health care services. *Aust J Rural Health.* (2012) 20:248–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1584.2012.01303.x

14. Arango C, Díaz-Caneja CM, McGorry PD, Rapoport J, Sommer IE, Vorstman JA, et al. Preventive strategies for mental health. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2018) 5:591–604. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30057-9

15. Mrazek PJ, Haggerty RJ. Risk and protective factors for the onset of mental disorders. Reducing risks for mental disorders: Frontiers for preventive intervention research. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, US (1994).

16. Colizzi M, Lasalvia A, Ruggeri M. Prevention and early intervention in youth mental health: is it time for a multidisciplinary and trans-diagnostic model for care? *Int J Ment Health Syst.* (2020) 14. doi: 10.1186/s13033-020-00356-9

17. McGorry PD, Mei C. Early intervention in youth mental health: progress and future directions. *Evid Based Ment Health*. (2018) 21:182-4. doi: 10.1136/ebmental-2018-300060

18. Stainton A, Chisholm K, Kaiser N, Rosen M, Upthegrove R, Ruhrmann S, et al. Resilience as a multimodal dynamic process. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2019) 13:725–32. doi: 10.1111/eip.12726

19. Currie SM, Hubrig A. Care work through course design: shifting the labor of resilience. *Composition Stud.* (2022) 50:132–53.

20. Magis K. Community resilience: an Indicator of social sustainability. Soc Nat Resour. (2010) 23:401–16. doi: 10.1080/08941920903305674

21. Buikstra E, Ross H, King CA, Baker PG, Hegney D, McLachlan K, et al. The components of resilience-perceptions of an Australian rural community. *J Community Psychol.* (2010) 38:975–91. doi: 10.1002/jcop.20409

22. Hegney DG, Buikstra E, Baker P, Rogers-Clark C, Pearce S, Ross H, et al. Individual resilience in rural people: a Queensland study, Australia. *Rural Remote Health.* (2007) 7:620. doi: 10.22605/RRH620

23. Alsubaie MM, Stain HJ, Webster LAD, Wadman R. The role of sources of social support on depression and quality of life for university students. *Int J Adolesc Youth*. (2019) 24:484–96. doi: 10.1080/02673843.2019.1568887

24. Rueger SY, Malecki CK, Pyun Y, Aycock C, Coyle S. A Meta-analytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in childhood and adolescence. *Psychol Bull.* (2016) 142:1017–67. doi: 10.1037/bul0000058

25. McAllister M, Knight BA, Hasking P, Withyman C, Dawkins J. Building resilience in regional youth: impacts of a universal mental health promotion programme. *Int J Ment Health Nurs.* (2018) 27:1044–54. doi: 10.1111/inm.12412

26. Oliver KG, Collin P, Burns J, Nicholas J. Building resilience in young people through meaningful participation. *Aust E J Adv Ment Health.* (2006) 5:34–40. doi: 10.5172/jamh.5.1.34

27. Hudson DL. Mental health of children and young people since the start of the pandemic. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2022) 27:3–5. doi: 10.1177/13591045211072721

28. Statistics. *ABo. Household use of information technology*. ABS; (2017). Available at: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/industry/technology-and-innovation/household-use-information-technology/latest-release.

29. National Mental Health Commission. National Report 2021. Australian Government (2022).

30. Welfare AIoHa. *Mental health services in Australia: Australian government.* (2022). Available at: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/mental-health-services/mental-health-services-in-australia/report-contents/summary-of-mental-health-services-in-australia.

31. Nicholas J, Bell IH, Thompson A, Valentine L, Simsir P, Sheppard H, et al. Implementation lessons from the transition to telehealth during COVID-19: a survey of clinicians and young people from youth mental health services. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 299:113848. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113848

32. Preece J. Sociability and usability in online communities: determining and measuring success. *Behav Inform Technol.* (2001) 20:347–56. doi: 10.1080/01449290110084683

33. Repper J, Carter T. A review of the literature on peer support in mental health services. *J Ment Health*. (2011) 20:392–411. doi: 10.3109/09638237.2011.583947

34. Suresh R, Alam A, Karkossa Z. Using peer support to strengthen mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: a review. *Front Psych.* (2021) 12:714181. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.714181

35. Sudbury-Riley L, Hunter-Jones P. Facilitating inter-professional integration in palliative care: a service ecosystem perspective. *Soc Sci Med.* (2021) 277:113912. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.113912

36. Burt RS. The social capital of structural holes. New Econ Sociol. (2002) 148:122.

37. McCosker A. Engaging mental health online: Insights from beyondblue's forum influencers. New Media Soc. (2018) 20:4748-64. doi: 10.1177/1461444818784303

38. Hanley T, Prescott J, Gomez KU. A systematic review exploring how young people use online forums for support around mental health issues. *J Ment Health*. (2019) 28:566–76. doi: 10.1080/09638237.2019.1630725

39. Cairns K, Bock SG, Guinta K, Welland L, Kahl B, Miller H, et al. Supported, educated and understood. (2021).

40. Kahl BL, Miller HM, Cairns K, Giniunas H, Nicholas M. Evaluation of ReachOut. Com, an unstructured digital youth mental health intervention: prospective cohort study. *JMIR Ment Health*. (2020) 7:e21280. doi: 10.2196/21280

41. Australian Bureau of Statistics. *The Australian statistical geography standard* (ASGS) remoteness structure (2018). Available at: https://www.abs.gov.au/websitedbs/d3310114.nsf/home/australian+statistical+geography+standard+(asgs).

42. Kamstra P, Farmer J, McCosker A, Gardiner F, Dalton H, Perkins D, et al. A novel mixed methods approach for integrating not-for-profit service data via qualitative geographic information system to explore authentic experiences of ill-health: a case study of rural mental health. *J Mix Methods Res.* (2023) 17:419–42.

43. Berkes F, Ross H. Community resilience: toward an integrated approach. Soc Nat Resour. (2013) 26:5–20. doi: 10.1080/08941920.2012.736605

44. Maclean K, Cuthill M, Ross H. Six attributes of social resilience. J Environ Plan Manag. (2014) 57:144–56. doi: 10.1080/09640568.2013.763774

45. Leite M, Ross H, Berkes F. Interactions between individual, household, and fishing community resilience in Southeast Brazil. *Ecol Soc.* (2019) 24. doi: 10.5751/ES-10910-240302

46. Steiner A, Farmer J, Kamstra P, Carlisle K, McCosker A, Kilpatrick S. Online mental health forums and rural resilience: mixed methods study and logic model. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2023) 10:e47459. doi: 10.2196/47459

47. Skerratt S. Enhancing the analysis of rural community resilience: evidence from community land ownership. *J Rural Stud.* (2013) 31:36–46. doi: 10.1016/j. jrurstud.2013.02.003

48. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev. (1977) 84:191-215. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191

49. Fazey J, Fazey JA, Fischer J, Sherren K, Warren J, Noss RF, et al. Adaptive capacity and learning to learn as leverage for social-ecological resilience. *Front Ecol Environ*. (2007) 5:375–80. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295(2007)5[375:ACALTL]2.0.CO;2

50. Braun V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? *Int J Qual Stud Health Wellbeing*. (2014) 9. doi: 10.3402/qhw.v9.26152

51. Lyons A, Leonard W, Bariola E. Mental health and resilience among rural Australian lesbians and gay men. *Rural Soc.* (2015) 24:244–65. doi: 10.1080/10371656.2015.1099268

52. Prescott J, Hanley T, Ujhelyi GK. Why do young people use online forums for mental health and emotional support? Benefits and challenges. *Br J Guid Counsell*. (2019) 47:317–27. doi: 10.1080/03069885.2019.1619169

53. Holt-Lunstad J, Robles TF, Sbarra DA. Advancing social connection as a public health priority in the United States. *Am Psychol.* (2017) 72:517–30. doi: 10.1037/amp0000103

54. Nambisan P. Information seeking and social support in online health communities: impact on patients' perceived empathy. *J Am Med Inform Assoc.* (2011) 18:298–304. doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2010-000058

55. Brady E, Segar J, Sanders C. "you get to know the people and whether they're talking sense or not": negotiating trust on health-related forums. *Soc Sci Med.* (2016) 162:151–7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.06.029

56. Smith-Merry J, Goggin G, Campbell A, McKenzie K, Ridout B, Baylosis C. Social connection and online engagement: insights from interviews with users of a mental health online forum. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2019) 6:e11084. doi: 10.2196/11084

57. Strecher VJ, DeVellis BM, Becker MH, Rosenstock IM. The role of self-efficacy in achieving health behavior change. *Health Educ Q.* (1986) 13:73–92. doi: 10.1177/109019818601300108

58. Prescott J, Rathbone AL, Hanley T. Online mental health communities, selfefficacy and transition to further support. *Ment Health Rev J.* (2020) 25:329–44. doi: 10.1108/MHRJ-12-2019-0048

59. Malatzky C, Bourke L, Farmer J. 'I think we're getting a bit clinical here': a qualitative study of professionals' experiences of providing mental healthcare to young people within an

Australian rural service. Health Soc Care Community. (2022) 30:519–28. doi: 10.1111/ hsc.13152

60. Westberg KH, Nyholm M, Nygren JM, Svedberg P. Mental health problems among young people-a scoping review of help-seeking. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19031430

61. Thomas J, Barraket J, Wilson CK, Holcombe-James I, Kennedy J, Rennie E, et al. Measuring Australia's digital divide: The Australian digital inclusion index 2020. (2020). 62.van Doorn M, Nijhuis LA, Egeler MD, Daams JG, Popma A, van Amelsvoort T, et al. Online indicated preventive mental health interventions for youth: a scoping review. *Front Psych.* (2021) 12:580843. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.580843

63. Wies B, Landers C, Ienca M. Digital mental health for young people: a scoping review of ethical promises and challenges. *Front Digit Health*. (2021) 3:697072. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2021.697072

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY

Jennifer Apolinário-Hagen, Heinrich Heine University of Düsseldorf, Germany

REVIEWED BY

Beenish Chaudhry, University of Louisiana at Lafayette, United States Simon Huldreich Kohl, Helmholtz Association of German Research Centres (HZ), Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Johannes Knauer is johannes.knauer@uni-ulm.de

RECEIVED 08 December 2023 ACCEPTED 06 May 2024 PUBLISHED 28 May 2024

CITATION

Knauer J, Baumeister H, Schmitt A and Terhorst Y (2024) Acceptance of smart sensing, its determinants, and the efficacy of an acceptance-facilitating intervention in people with diabetes: results from a randomized controlled trial. Front. Digit. Health 6:1352762. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2024.1352762

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Knauer, Baumeister, Schmitt and Terhorst. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Acceptance of smart sensing, its determinants, and the efficacy of an acceptance-facilitating intervention in people with diabetes: results from a randomized controlled trial

Johannes Knauer^{1*}, Harald Baumeister¹, Andreas Schmitt² and Yannik Terhorst³

¹Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Institute of Psychology and Education, University Ulm, Ulm, Germany, ²Research Institute Diabetes Academy Mergentheim (FIDAM), Bad Mergentheim, Germany, ³Department of Psychological Methods and Assessment, Ludwigs-Maximilian University Munich, Munich, Germany

Background: Mental health problems are prevalent among people with diabetes, yet often under-diagnosed. Smart sensing, utilizing passively collected digital markers through digital devices, is an innovative diagnostic approach that can support mental health screening and intervention. However, the acceptance of this technology remains unclear. Grounded on the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT), this study aimed to investigate (1) the acceptance of smart sensing in a diabetes sample, (2) the determinants of acceptance, and (3) the effectiveness of an acceptance facilitating intervention (AFI). Methods: A total of N = 132 participants with diabetes were randomized to an intervention group (IG) or a control group (CG). The IG received a video-based AFI on smart sensing and the CG received an educational video on mindfulness. Acceptance and its potential determinants were assessed through an online questionnaire as a single post-measurement. The self-reported behavioral intention, interest in using a smart sensing application and installation of a smart sensing application were assessed as outcomes. The data were analyzed using latent structural equation modeling and t-tests. **Results:** The acceptance of smart sensing at baseline was average (M = 12.64, SD = 4.24) with 27.8% showing low, 40.3% moderate, and 31.9% high acceptance. Performance expectancy ($\gamma = 0.64$, p < 0.001), social influence ($\gamma = 0.23$, p = .032) and trust ($\gamma = 0.27$, p = .040) were identified as potential determinants of acceptance, explaining 84% of the variance. SEM model fit was acceptable (RMSEA = 0.073, SRMR = 0.059). The intervention did not significantly impact acceptance ($\gamma = 0.25, 95\%$ -CI: -0.16-0.65, p = .233), interest (OR = 0.76, 95% CI: 0.38-1.52, p = .445) or app installation rates (OR = 1.13, 95% CI: 0.47-2.73, p = .777). **Discussion:** The high variance in acceptance supports a need for acceptance facilitating procedures. The analyzed model supported performance expectancy, social influence, and trust as potential determinants of smart sensing acceptance; perceived benefit was the most influential factor towards acceptance. The AFI was not significant. Future research should further explore factors contributing to smart sensing acceptance and address implementation barriers.

KEYWORDS

smart sensing, diabetes mellitus, digital health, acceptance, implementation, UTAUT

1 Introduction

Diabetes emerged as one of the most serious and common chronic diseases with approximately half a billion people affected worldwide (1, 2). The metabolic disease has far-reaching implications (3–7), creating an immense burden for affected individuals as well as health care systems (2, 8). Moreover, the prevalence rates of mental health problems are significantly higher among people with diabetes (9). For instance, studies show prevalence rates of comorbid depression in people with diabetes ranging from 12%–27% (10, 11), which is considerably higher compared to the general population. Comorbid mental health problems may not only aggravate the burden associated with diabetes but also give rise to an even greater strain of affected individuals and healthcare systems (12–14). Hence, effective treatments supporting mental health are needed for this population.

Current mental health treatment options for people with diabetes range from face-to-face treatment (15-17) to digital interventions (18, 19). In order to provide optimal and effective treatment, accurate and early detection of mental problems is key. Early detection of symptoms enables affected individuals to take preventive measures and clinicians to intervene appropriately (20-22). However, due to economic constraints and limited resources in health care systems (23, 24), mental health problems often go unrecognized and untreated in general practice (25, 26), thus creating a need for innovative diagnostic methods. One such method could be smart sensing, with the goal of achieving scalable, precise, and time-effective detection of symptoms (27-29). Smart sensing refers to the passive collection of digital markers and features via smartphones and other wearables (30). Tracking usage data from mobile devices as well as built-in sensor data (e.g., GPS, accelerometer, light sensors) offers the possibility to draw conclusions about health status and behaviors of individuals (31, 32). Recent studies support the great potential in the context of mental health (33-38). For example, studies were able to distinguish between individuals with vs. without depressive symptoms based on their GPS data with an accuracy of 86% (39) and could classify depressive symptoms based on sensing variables with an accuracy of 81% (40).

In the daily lives of individuals with diabetes, sensor and tracking technologies already constitute integral components frequently (41). The continuous monitoring and self-regulation necessitated by the metabolic disorder commonly involve the prominent utilization of sensor technology and insulin pumps (42). Within this framework, smartphones take over an increasingly crucial and efficient role as an interface (43–46). Considering the existing prevalence of monitoring and sensing modalities for individuals with diabetes, this demographic may constitute a noteworthy target group for the implementation of smart sensing technologies with a focus on mental health.

However, parallel to integrating innovative diagnostic methods like smart sensing into clinical practice, it is necessary to evaluate its acceptance among people with diabetes as a prerequisite for utilization. The framework for technology acceptance and usage, known as the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) (47), has found extensive application (48, 49). The UTAUT pinpoints four factors influencing acceptance and behavioral intention. Accordingly, the fundamental determinants of acceptance are: (1) performance expectancy (perceived personal advantage gained from using the technology), (2) effort expectancy (expected simplicity of use), (3) social influence (belief that the technology is valuable to others), and (4) facilitating conditions (anticipated assistance and accessibility of tangible resources). This model could serve as a framework for exploring acceptance of smart sensing and its underlying factors. Furthermore, trust has been recognized as a pivotal factor influencing the acceptance of technology and artificial intelligence augmented systems in various application domains (50-52). For example, an individual may receive feedback from a smart sensing system indicating the detection of heightened stress levels and an increased risk of worsening mental symptoms, thus suggesting preventive measures. Depending on the trust in the system, users could either follow the recommended actions or reject them. The first studies that applied the UTAUT framework in the context of smart sensing therefore additionally assessed trust in the technology as a potential facilitator and predictor towards acceptance (53).

Following up on a previous study conducted in a healthy population (53), the present study explores the acceptance of smart sensing a population of people with diabetes to address the following question:

What is the acceptance of smart sensing in the context of mental health for people with diabetes?

Furthermore, the present study seeks to apply the extended UTAUT framework to validate this model in a diabetes sample.

We hypothesize that the UTAUT factors performance expectancy, social influence as well as the factor trust are potential determinates of acceptance of smart sensing.

To successfully implement technologies and ensure uptake and optimal use, it is essential to investigate options to promote the acceptance of said technologies. One way to influence acceptance is using acceptance facilitating interventions (AFI). With a theory-based approach (e.g., UTAUT), AFI target specific factors to influence acceptance-for example, by emphasizing personal gain (performance expectancy) or depicting positive user reports (social influence). Considering possible modalities for AFI, especially video-based AFI offer numerous benefits and have been successfully implemented in the context of blended therapy and internet-based mental health interventions (54, 55). Furthermore, with regard to the situational circumstances suitable for the deployment of AFI, optimizing the time spent in clinical waiting rooms for the implementation of video-based interventions could prove advantageous. Although, AFI have been effectively used in numerous studies (55-58), there has been limited research on the impact in the context of smart sensing as well as in a diabetes population.

Thus, the present study investigates how the acceptance of smart sensing in a diabetes sample is influenced by a UTAUTbased AFI compared to an attention control group. We hypothesize that (a) the self-reported acceptance, (b) the interest in using a smart sensing app, and (c) the rate of actual installation of a smart sensing app on personal smartphones will be higher in the intervention group compared to the control group.

Lastly, in order to understand the acceptance of smart sensing in a more comprehensive way there are a few factors possibly influencing behavioral intention that should be paid attention to. A meta-analysis of the UTAUT (49) found education to be an important factor influencing behavioral intention (r = 0.18, p < 0.05). Furthermore, a study on personality traits as predictors of perceived and actual usage of technology (59) found significant correlations between behavioral intention to use a technology and conscientiousness (r = 0.15, p < .05) and agreeableness ($\gamma = 0.29$, p < .05). Hence, in sensitivity analysis we analyzed the correlations between behavioral intention to use smart sensing and (a) education and (b) personality.

2 Methods and materials

2.1 Study design and sample

A short-term randomized controlled trial with one measurement time point at post-treatment was conducted online to investigate the effect of the AFI. Participants were randomly assigned to either an intervention group (IG) or a control group (CG). The randomized allocation of participants was automatically managed by the online survey platform LimeSurvey. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Ulm University (398/21 – CL/bal.). Participants were enrolled from June 1, 2022 till December 31, 2022. Reporting on this study we follow the CONSORT guidelines (60) (see Supplementary S1).

2.2 Inclusion criteria and data collection procedures

The survey, including all procedures and data collection, was conducted online. Participants were recruited via an e-mail list targeting a study panel of people with diabetes diagnosis as well as study flyers. People were eligible to participate if they met the following self-reported inclusion criteria: (1) aged 18 years or older, (2) being diagnosed with diabetes, (3) having internet access, (4) providing informed consent, and (5) agreement to data processing procedures according to the European General Data Protection Regulation. If any criteria were not fulfilled, participation was rejected.

After answering socio-demographic questions, participants were randomized to either the IG or CG and watched the according video (AFI or control video). Although group allocation was not explicitly mentioned, participants were aware of two study conditions due to the informed consent. After watching the video, the acceptance of smart sensing as well as all assumed determinants were assessed. Furthermore, interest in signing up for a smart sensing study and actual installation rate of a smart sensing app was assessed.

2.3 Intervention and control condition

Participants in the intervention group watched a whiteboard based AFI video with a total duration of 4:34 min. The UTAUT model served as a basis for the structure and content of the video. Accordingly, the video focused on the following assumed determinants of acceptance: performance expectancy (e.g., application areas, such as self-monitoring and early recognition of mental health symptoms, personal benefits), effort expectancy (e.g., passive data collection, personal involvement), facilitating conditions (e.g., low necessary personal resources), and social influence (e.g., population-specific positive examples and user reports). Based on previous studies, the video additionally aimed to generate trust in the technology (e.g., data safety, anonymized processing). The AFI video started with a general explanation of smart sensing. Next it delved into which data can be collected via smart sensing as well as the process of data collection. The video further explored different application areas of smart sensing. Lastly, positive user experiences, tailored to a population with diabetes, were presented. A more detailed outline of the AFI can be found in Supplementary S2.

Participants in the control group watched an educational video on the concept of mindfulness, the influence of mindfulness on health, and suggestions on how to integrate mindfulness into one's daily life. The duration of the video was 3:00 min.

2.4 Measures and outcomes

2.4.1 Participant characteristics

Demographic variables (i.e., age, gender, nationality, relationship status, and education level), personality dimensions, general mental health symptoms, and diabetes-specific mental health aspects were assessed using a set of questionnaires.

Basic personality dimensions were assessed with the 10-item version of the Big Five Inventory (BFI-10) (61). The BFI-10 evaluates openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism with a 5-point Likert scale from "fully disagree" to "fully agree". For evaluation purposes, the mean score was computed for each subscale.

2.4.1.1 Health status

Depression symptoms over the past two weeks were assessed using the 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-8). Using a 4-point Likert scale ranging from "Not at all" to "Nearly every day", a sum score is computed (range 0–24). Higher scores indicate higher depressive symptoms, and scores of 10 or higher are considered to indicate clinically elevated depressive symptoms (62).

Anxiety symptoms over the last two weeks were assessed with the 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire (GAD-7). Items are answered on a 4-point Likert scale from "not at all" to "nearly every day". Sum scores range from 0 to 21 with higher scores indicating higher anxiety symptoms (63).

Sleeping problems were assessed with the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI-7). The scale consists of seven questions regarding worries, occurrence, and severity of abnormal sleep patterns, and their harmful effects. The questions are answered on a 5-point Likert-scale ranging from 0 to 4. High sum scores (range 0–28) indicate more sleep problems (64).

The Self-Efficacy Scale (SES) assesses self-efficacy using questions on one's perceived personal competence and control. The inventory consists of 10 items answered on a 4-point Likert scale with higher scores (range 10–40) indicating higher self-efficacy (65).

The Fear of Progression Questionnaire Short Form (FoP-Q-SF) assesses worries and fear of disease progression and its consequences using 12 items and a 5-point Likert scale (from "never" to "very often"). Higher total scores (range 12–60) indicate higher fear of progression (66).

To assess the degree of possible participation and hindrance, the Index for the Assessment of Health Impairments (IMET) was used. The IMET consists of nine questions answered on a 11point Likert scale. Item scores are summed to a total score (range 0–90) indicating the extent of impairment (67).

Emotional distress related to diabetes was assessed using the Diabetes Distress Scale (DDS). The questionnaire consists of 17 items requesting emotional problems related to diabetes in the last 4 weeks. The items can be summed to a total score as well as four subscale scores to evaluate specific levels of distress. The scale scores range from 0 to 6 with higher scores indicating higher distress (68).

The Diabetes Self-Management Questionnaire–Revised (DSMQ-R) is a 20-item battery which assesses diabetes self-care activities aiming to manage glucose levels and prevent long-term complications. For analysis of diabetes self-care, the sum score (range 0-10) was calculated (69).

2.4.2 Acceptance measures

Self-reported acceptance was assessed with the behavioral intention scale of the UTAUT questionnaire (47, 49, 70). The scale consists of four items rating one's intention to use a smart sensing app on a five-point Likert scale (ranging from "fully disagree" to "fully agree"). The sum score was categorized as suggested in previous studies (54–58): low acceptance = sum scores from 4 to 9, moderate acceptance = sum scores from 10 to 15, and high acceptance = sum scores from 16 to 20. Secondly, the level of interest was gauged based on the count and proportion of participants who explicitly expressed a willingness to utilize a smart sensing app. Subsequently, the behavioral outcome was evaluated directly by examining the count and percentage of actual installations of the smart sensing app.

2.4.3 Determinants of acceptance

As potential determinants of acceptance, performance expectancy (3 items), effort expectancy (3 items), social influence (2 items), and facilitating conditions (2 items) were assessed with the UTAUT questionnaire (47, 49, 70). All items were rated on a five-point Likert scale from "fully disagree" to "fully agree". All UTAUT items can be found in Supplementary S3.

Trust in the technology was assessed with the short form of the German Automation Trust Scale, adapted to the digital health context (50, 71). Seven items are rated on a seven-point Likert scale from "fully disagree" to "fully agree". The sum score ranges from 7 to 49 with high scores indicating high trust in the technology.

2.5 Statistical analysis

All data analysis followed the per-protocol principle. Participants that dropped out before the randomization or did not receive the intervention as well as were removed. Demographic, mental health, and acceptance-related variables were analyzed using standard descriptive statistics. *P*-values <0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance in all analyses.

2.5.1 Acceptance of smart sensing for health

Following previous studies on the acceptance of digital interventions (54–58), the acceptance of smart sensing was assessed as self-reported acceptance, rates of self-reported interest in using smart sensing, and actual installation rates of a smart sensing application (technologically validated via a smart sensing app). The general acceptance of smart sensing is assumed using the acceptance in the CG which did not receive any AFI.

2.5.2 Predictors of acceptance: latent structural equation modeling

The influence of potential determinants of acceptance was investigated using latent structural equation modeling (SEM). A measurement model consisting of latent factors for all items of acceptance, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions, social influence, and trust was defined as a first step. In the next step, the effects of the latent factors on acceptance were introduced. The proposed predictors performance expectancy, social influence and trust were tested one-sided based on the previous model on acceptance of smart sensing (53).

The root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) as a non-centrality parameter and the standardized root mean square residual (SRMR) as a residual index were used to assess the goodness of fit (72–74). Acceptable model fit was determined using accepted cut-off guidelines for RMSEA (<0.08) and SRMR (≤ 0.08) (75–77). Missing date was handled using full information maximum likelihood (78). Robust (Huber-White) standard errors were obtained.

2.5.3 Intervention effects

The effects on acceptance were analyzed on a dimensional level. A t-test was used for the observed data and effects on the latent level were investigated using the SEM, introducing group allocation into the model as a dummy-coded predictor.

2.5.4 Sensitivity analysis

To explore the relationship between education, personality and acceptance we performed correlative sensitivity analysis. Education

level (higher values indicating higher education) was summarized according to the International Standard Classification of Education: ISCED-11. Personality was investigated for each subscale (openness, conscientiousness, extraversion, agreeableness, and neuroticism).

2.6 Software

The statistical software R was used for all analyses (79). The R package "lavaan" was used as the core package for all structural equation models (80). See Supplementary S4 for an overview of all packages and versions used in the present analysis.

3 Results

A total of N = 132 individuals provided informed consent, were included in the study, and randomized to their groups (CG: n = 72; IG: n = 60). The study flow is depicted in Figure 1. Participants were between 27 and 81 years of age (M = 57.63, SD = 12.39). Gender was distributed unequally (40.2% female, n = 53). Most participants (60.6%, n = 80) had an advanced qualification level (e.g., bachelor degree and higher). A majority had a diabetes type-1 diagnosis (74.2%, n = 98) compared to a diabetes type-2 diagnosis (25.8%, n = 34). On average, participants reported mental health symptoms below clinical relevance (PHQ-8: M = 5.74, SD = 4.57; GAD-7: M = 4.32, SD = 3.72; ISI-7: M = 7.60, SD = 5.76). Diabetes Distress was M = 1.71 (SD = 0.86), whilst the average diabetes self-management score suggested suboptimal behavior (M = 4.13, SD = 0.51). For further details and groupspecific information see Table 1.

3.1 General acceptance of smart sensing

In the CG a total of n = 20 participants (27.8%) reported low, n = 29 (40.3%) moderate, and n = 23 (31.9%) high acceptance



TABLE 1 Sample characteristics.

	All <i>N</i> = 132	IG n = 60	CG n = 72
Demographics			
Age, mean (SD)	57.63 (12.39)	58.23 (12.64)	57.125 (12.25)
Female gender	53 (40.2%)	26 (43.3%)	27 (37.5%)
Nationality			
German	127 (96.2%)	59 (98.3%)	68 (94.4%)
Others	5 (3.8%)	1 (1.7%)	4 (4.6%)
Relationship status			
Single	27 (20.5%)	11 (18.3%)	16 (22.2%)
In relationship	105 (79.5%)	49 (81.7%)	56 (77.8%)
Qualification level ^a			
Basic	2 (1.5%)	0 (0%)	2 (2.8%)
Intermediate	50 (37.9%)	20 (33.3%)	30 (41.7%)
Advanced	80 (60.6%)	40 (66.7%)	40 (55.6%)
Diabetes type			
Type-1	98 (74.2%)	48 (80%)	50 (69.4%)
Type-2	34 (25.8%)	12 (20%)	22 (30.6%)
Personality facets, mean (SD)			
Openness	3.28 (0.94)	3.27 (1.02)	3.29 (0.88)
Conscientiousness	2.90 (0.77)	2.86 (0.70)	2.94 (0.82)
Extraversion	3.12 (0.95)	2.96 (0.86)	3.26 (1.00)
Agreeableness	3.16 (0.79)	3.19 (0.70)	3.14 (0.87)
Neuroticism	2.78 (0.99)	2.59 (0.98)	2.95 (0.97)
Health variables, mean (SD)			
Depressive symptoms (PHQ-8)	5.74 (4.57)	5.36 (4.14)	6.08 (4.92)
Anxiety symptoms (GAD-7)	4.32 (3.72)	3.80 (3.54)	4.77 (3.85)
Sleep problems (ISI-7)	7.60 (5.76)	7.98 (5.97)	7.29 (5.61)
Diabetes distress (DDS)	1.71 (0.86)	1.66 (0.90)	1.76 (0.83)
Fear of progression (FoP-Q-SF)	24.91 (8.69)	23.78 (8.71)	25.88 (8.63)
Self-efficacy (SES)	29.73 (3.89)	30.00 (4.09)	29.50 (3.73)
Diabetes self-management (DSMQ)	4.13 (0.51)	4.23 (0.57)	4.04 (0.43)
Health impairment (IMET)	16.67 (17.12)	17.81 (16.63)	15.73 (17.62)

^aEducation level is summarized according to the International Standard Classification of Education: ISCED-11.

(see Figure 2). The unmanipulated self-reported acceptance of smart sensing in the CG was average M = 12.64 (SD = 4.24, Min = 4, Max = 19).

A total of n = 36 (50.0%) participants indicated interest in trying out smart sensing in another study (no interest: n = 16, 22.2%; not responded: n = 20, 27.8%). Of all 36 participants with interest, only n = 12 (33.3%; 16.7% of all participants in the CG) installed the smart sensing app.

3.2 Predictor variables associated with acceptance

The final measurement model for acceptance, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, facilitating conditions, social influence, and trust, showed an acceptable fit (RMSEA = 0.074, SRMR = 0.058). See Supplementary S5 for all model parameters.

In the next step, the latent effects on acceptance across groups were analyzed. Performance expectancy ($\gamma = 0.64$, p < .001), social influence ($\gamma = 0.23$, p = .032) and trust ($\gamma = 0.27$, p = .039) were



Acceptance of smart sensing levels across treatment groups. The UTAUT behavioral intention sum score categorized acceptance as low (sum score: 4–9), moderate (sum score: 10–15), and high (sum score: 16–20).

identified as predictor variables of acceptance (overall model fit: RMSEA = 0.073, SRMR = 0.059). Effort expectancy and facilitating conditions were not significant. The three variables explained 83.8% of the variance of the latent acceptance factor. The final path model is displayed in Figure 3. All model parameters are included in Supplementary S6.

3.3 Intervention effects

With an average self-reported acceptance of M = 13.47 (SD = 3.80, Min = 4, Max = 20) in the IG, the level of acceptance of smart sensing was not significantly higher than in the CG (d = 0.20, 95%-CI: -0.14-0.55, t = 1.17, df = 130, p = .244). This result was corroborated by the SEM analysis on latent level ($\gamma = 0.25$, 95%-CI: -0.16-0.65, p = .233). The distributions of acceptance levels in the IG and the CG are displayed in Figure 2.

In the IG, n = 26 (43.3%) participants stated interest to try smart sensing in a subsequent study (no interest: n = 20, 33.3%; not responded: n = 14, 23.3%). Among the 26 participants with interest, n = 12 (46.2%; 20.0% of all participants in the IG) actually installed the smart sensing app on their smartphones. The intervention effects and group-specific results are given in Table 2.

3.4 Sensitivity analysis

We found no significant correlation between education and behavioral intention (r = 0.06, p = .513). For personality only conscientiousness significantly correlated with behavioral intention (r = 0.22, p = .031). For the correlation matrix see Supplementary S7.

4 Discussion

We investigated the acceptance of smart sensing and the effect of an AFI towards smart sensing in a diabetes sample. The general acceptance toward smart sensing varied a lot between participants. The hypothetic model of acceptance towards smart sensing with three significant predictors (performance expectancy, social influence and trust) fit the data well, explained 84% variance of the self-reported acceptance, and thereby supported the validity of the model. The UTAUT-based intervention was not able to affect the acceptance of smart sensing.

Given that the treatment guidelines for diabetes recommend yearly and occasion-related diagnosis of common consequential and comorbid diseases including depression and other psychological disorders (81, 82), the integration of smart sensing systems, offering fine-granular, unobtrusive, objective and ecological valid assessments, could function as a form of passive screening support. This has the potential to improve healthcare systems, where resources are often restricted and time-efficient solutions are needed (23, 24). In order to translate encouraging findings from smart sensing studies (37, 38, 83) into tangible healthcare solutions, it is essential to address underlying processes governing both initial and long-term use. This involves a comprehensive understanding of user acceptance and the influencing factors. However, the challenge at hand appears to be two-fold. First, it necessitates a comprehensive examination of general acceptance, and second, it involves addressing the disparity between acceptance and the tangible use of the technology.

This study revealed an average baseline acceptance within our somatic sample (M = 12.64, SD = 4.24) which was higher compared to a healthy population (M = 10.9, SD = 3.73) (53). This inclination could be attributed to the pervasive presence of sensing and



TABLE 2 Summary of intervention effects.

Outcome	CG	IG	Effect size	CI	<i>P</i> -value
Acceptance	12.64 (4.24) ^a	13.47 (3.80) ^a	$d = 0.20^{b}$	-0.14-0.55	0.244
			$\gamma = 0.25^{\circ}$	-0.16-0.65	0.233
Interest	n = 36 (50.0%)	n = 26 (43.3%)	OR = 0.76	0.38-1.52	0.445
Installation	n = 12 (16.7%)	n = 12 (20.0%)	OR = 1.13	0.47-2.73	0.777

CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio.

^aMean (and standard deviation) of behavioral intention.

^bMean difference between IG and CG based on observed data.

^cUnstandardized group difference between IG and CG based on SEM.

monitoring technologies in the daily routines of individuals living with diabetes (42). Although, this trend extended to the installation rates of smart sensing applications, a mere half of the study participants expressed interest in a smart sensing application. Moreover, only

17% and 20% of the CG and IG, respectively, proceeded to install the smart sensing app. Thus, the transfer from intention to use towards actual utilization needs to be addressed in future studies. This seems particularly relevant for the diabetes population, where existing daily self-management must be considered (84). Furthermore, it is important to not only measure the initiation of smart sensing usage but also its continuous use, including frequency and duration. Given that effective smart sensing systems often function as longitudinal assessments, it becomes crucial to explore strategies that foster optimal user performance. Within this context, user engagement and usability play a crucial role, warranting further investigation into personal habits that may facilitate the utilization of smart sensing (85, 86). Additionally, future research could additionally focus on design aspects supporting uptake of smart sensing applications (87, 88) as well specific factors such as potential structural or attitudinal barriers (89).

Consistently with a parallel study involving a healthy population (53), this study identified performance expectancy, social influence, and trust as associated factors of acceptance. Results regarding the hypothetic factor model of smart sensing acceptance and its potential determinants were consistent across these studies, supporting validity of the model. Notably, in our study, performance expectancy was of even greater importance in relation to other potential determinants. This could indicate the importance of addressing crucial needs and pointing out provided benefits of smart sensing.

In this study, the concept of trust was defined as the confidence that a system has the capability to assist in accomplishing an individual's objectives within situations characterized by uncertainty or vulnerability (52). With this understanding, people would show trust by believing in system predictions and following recommendations. However, given that privacy and data security are pivotal considerations in the implementation of smart sensing, future studies should delve into more nuanced distinctions within the realm of trust factors and explore diverse aspects. Smart sensing has the potential to facilitate highly sensitive health predictions, such as mental health screenings. Consequently, it would be beneficial to differentiate between trust in the system, trust in the potential predictions made by the system, and trust in the proper handling of this data. This distinction becomes particularly pertinent in light of political developments, underscoring the need for measures to ensure data privacy, security, and prevention of misuse (90). Moreover, the type of data collected and the entities with whom this data is shared play a crucial role in acceptance. For instance, in a recent study people indicated higher willingness to share sleep data with their physicians than location data, while the acceptance of the inclusion of this data in patient records was rather low in general (91). On a more general note, the public attitude and acceptance of digital health care systems remains a major barrier (53, 92-94). Broader public approaches could play a role in educating and thus leading to familiarization of digital healthcare on a population level. Moving forward, transparency concerning the usage, processing, and storage of data, as well as delineating who has access to the data and who does not, should be emphasized. This could be helpful to fostering user trust and, consequently, enhancing the acceptance of smart sensing technologies.

The implemented AFI did not impact acceptance of smart sensing. Therefore, a pivotal consideration is the improvement of the intervention itself. The current AFI format strategically targeted acceptance determinants based on the UTAUT, supplemented with everyday examples in a whiteboard design. Based on the cognitive theory of multimedia learning, dividing information into verbal and visual components results in reduced cognitive load (95). This could be further improved through a strengthened narrative approach, such as illustrating app functions and presenting extended case examples or short handson experience (95–97). Furthermore, expert opinions, as demonstrated in previous (53, 54, 56), might be useful to influence acceptance. It may be worthwhile to explore a mixed modality approach that includes expert opinions tailored to the specific needs and characteristics of the target population, alongside with dynamically visualized content. A similar study on acceptance of smart sensing in psychotherapy patients that focused on information presented by an expert showed promising results for an AFI to influence behavioral intention to use smart sensing (94). Future studies could additionally focus on the effectiveness of interventions in relation to baseline levels of acceptance. Given the above average acceptance in our sample a targeted approach towards individuals with lower levels of baseline acceptance could prove to be more beneficial. This could be implemented using a Solomon four-group study design and looking at interaction effects (98). Consequently, the effectiveness of AFI formats within the realm of smart sensing remains unclear and requires further exploration.

While interpreting the results and discussing future implications, it is crucial to acknowledge several limitations of the present research. First, the trial was critically underpowered to detect a significant intervention effect on acceptance, emphasizing the need for future confirmatory studies with an appropriately sized sample. Second, cross-sectional data are an insufficient basis for uncovering causal relationships. To comprehensively understand the dynamics of smart sensing acceptance and its potential determinants, longitudinal assessments featuring multiple measurement time points are needed. Third, the consideration of common-method bias is necessary, given that acceptance and its predicting variables were evaluated with the same questionnaire. This introduces a source of variance attributable to the measurement method rather than to the constructs, potentially inflating higher variable correlations. To mitigate this, further independent acceptance outcome measures should be considered. The generalization of our findings is further limited as our sample exhibited an overrepresentation of individuals with reported German nationality and high education levels. Moreover, despite covering a broad age range (27-81 years), the relatively high average age (58 years) poses a limitation on the transfer of the findings to a younger population. This is particularly pertinent given the elevated technological affinity and smartphone usage rates among younger individuals (99), potentially leading to distinct differences in the acceptance of smart sensing. Furthermore, the reported mental health symptoms, including depression, anxiety, and diabetes distress, were within a sub-clinical range. Given that performance expectancy emerged as the most strongly associated correlate of acceptance, it is plausible that the perceived personal benefit might be higher for more burdened individuals. These nuances should be taken into account in future research to provide a more comprehensive understanding of smart sensing acceptance across diverse contexts.

5 Conclusions

This study found a heterogenous distribution of acceptance of smart sensing with a relatively large percentage of participant reporting low acceptance, posing a hindrance to the implementation of smart sensing in research and practice. Performance expectancy, social influence, and trust in smart

sensing were strongly associated with higher acceptance, suggesting that these aspects may constitute relevant influencing factors towards acceptance. Especially perceived benefit influenced the acceptance amongst the diabetic sample and should be paid special attention in the future. The developed AFI did not affect smart sensing acceptance, thus more effective intervention strategies must be developed. Further exploration of acceptance facilitating interventions on smart sensing are needed. Moving forward, research should look into barriers towards acceptance of smart sensing, which are essential for future implementation in routine health care. The results from this study of people with diabetes furthermore suggest that looking into different somatic areas and groups might detect important individual differences regarding smart sensing acceptance. To fully harness the potential of smart sensing technologies, acceptance, implementation and relevant stakeholders need to be taken into account.

Data availability statement

Data requests should be directed to the corresponding author (JK). Data can be shared with researchers who provide a methodologically sound proposal, which is not already covered by other researchers. Data can only be shared for projects if the General Data Protection Regulation is met. Requestors may need to sign additional data access agreements. Support depends on available resources.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Commitee of Ulm University. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

1. Sun H, Saeedi P, Karuranga S, Pinkepank M, Ogurtsova K, Duncan BB, et al. IDF diabetes atlas: global, regional and country-level diabetes prevalence estimates for 2021 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2022) 183:109119. doi: 10.1016/j. diabres.2021.109119

2. Abajobir AA, Abate KH, Abbafati C, Abbas KM, Abd-Allah F, Abdulkader RS, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 333 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2016. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:1260–344. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17) 32130-X

3. Hermanns N, Bremmer M, Snoek F. Diabetes distress. In: Ismail K, Barthel A, Bornstein SR, Licinio J, editors. *Depression and Type 2 Diabetes*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2018). p. 85–102.

4. Kulzer B, Lüthgens B, Landgraf R, Hermanns N. Diabetesbezogene belastungen, wohlbefinden und einstellung von menschen mit diabetes. *Der Diabetologe.* (2015) 11:211–8. doi: 10.1007/s11428-015-1335-8

Author contributions

JK and YT initiated this study. JK, YT and HB contributed to the study design and concept. JK, YT, and AS contributed to the study recruitment and data collection. JK performed the analysis and drafted the manuscript. All authors had access to all the data in the study, revised the manuscript, approved the final version, and agree to be accountable for the content of the work.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Self-funded by Ulm University.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fdgth.2024. 1352762/full#supplementary-material

5. Fisher L, Polonsky WH, Hessler DM, Masharani U, Blumer I, Peters AL, et al. Understanding the sources of diabetes distress in adults with type 1 diabetes. *J Diabetes Complications*. (2015) 29:572–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.01.012

6. Ismail K, Winkley K, Rabe-Hesketh S. Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of sychological interventions to improve glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Lancet.* (2004) 363:1589–97. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16202-8

7. Winkley K, Landau S, Eisler I, Ismail K. Psychological interventions to improve glycaemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Br Med J.* (2006) 333:65. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38874.652569.55

 Heald AH, Stedman M, Davies M, Livingston M, Alshames R, Lunt M, et al. Estimating life years lost to diabetes: outcomes from analysis of national diabetes audit and office of national statistics data. *Cardiovasc Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 9:183–5. doi: 10.1097/XCE.000000000000210

9. Benton M, Cleal B, Prina M, Baykoca J, Willaing I, Price H, et al. Prevalence of mental disorders in people living with type 1 diabetes: a systematic literature review

and meta-analysis. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. (2023) 80:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych. 2022.11.004

10. Holt RIG, de Groot M, Lucki I, Hunter CM, Sartorius N, Golden SH. NIDDK international conference report on diabetes and depression: current understanding and future directions. *Diabetes Care*. (2014) 37:2067–77. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2134

11. Farooqi A, Gillies C, Sathanapally H, Abner S, Seidu S, Davies MJ, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis to compare the prevalence of depression between people with and without type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Prim Care Diabetes*. (2022) 16:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.pcd.2021.11.001

12. Ducat L, Philipson LH, Anderson BJ. The mental health comorbidities of diabetes. JAMA. (2014) 312:691. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.8040

13. Molosankwe I, Patel A, José Gagliardino J, Knapp M, McDaid D. Economic aspects of the association between diabetes and depression: a systematic review. *J Affect Disord*. (2012) 142:S42–55. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(12)70008-3

14. Wallace K, Zhao X, Misra R, Sambamoorthi U. The humanistic and economic burden associated with anxiety and depression among adults with comorbid diabetes and hypertension. *J Diabetes Res.* (2018) 2018:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2018/4842520

15. Rubin RR, Ciechanowski P, Egede LE, Lin EHB, Lustman PJ. Recognizing and treating depression in patients with diabetes. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2004) 4:119–25. doi: 10.1007/s11892-004-0067-8

16. van der Feltz-Cornelis CM, Nuyen J, Stoop C, Chan J, Jacobson AM, Katon W, et al. Effect of interventions for major depressive disorder and significant depressive symptoms in patients with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2010) 32:380–95. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2010.03.011

17. Safren SA, Gonzalez JS, Wexler DJ, Psaros C, Delahanty LM, Blashill AJ, et al. A randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavioral therapy for adherence and depression (CBT-AD) in patients with uncontrolled type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2014) 37:625–33. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0816

18. Franco P, Gallardo AM, Urtubey X. Web-based interventions for depression in individuals with diabetes: review and discussion. *JMIR Diabetes*. (2018) 3:e13. doi: 10. 2196/diabetes.9694

19. Bendig E, Bauereiss N, Schmitt A, Albus P, Baumeister H. ACTondiabetes—a guided psychological internet intervention based on acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) for adults living with type 1 or 2 diabetes: results of a randomised controlled feasibility trial. *BMJ Open*. (2021) 11:e049238. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049238

20. Kramer T, Als L, Garralda ME. Challenges to primary care in diagnosing and managing depression in children and young people. *Br Med J.* (2015) 350:h2512. doi: 10.1136/BMJ.H2512

21. Wurcel V, Cicchetti A, Garrison L, Kip MMA, Koffijberg H, Kolbe A, et al. The value of diagnostic information in personalised healthcare: a comprehensive concept to facilitate bringing this technology into healthcare systems. *Public Health Genomics.* (2019) 22:8–15. doi: 10.1159/000501832

22. Kroenke K. Depression screening and management in primary care. *Fam Pract.* (2018) 35:1–3. doi: 10.1093/FAMPRA/CMX129

23. Trautman S, Beesdo-Baum K. The treatment of depression in primary care—a cross-sectional epidemiological study. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2017) 114:721–8. doi: 10. 3238/ARZTEBL.2017.0721

24. Kroenke K, Unutzer J. Closing the false divide: sustainable approaches to integrating mental health services into primary care. J Gen Intern Med. (2017) 32:404–10. doi: 10.1007/S11606-016-3967-9

25. Nutting PA, Gallagher K, Riley K, White S, Dickinson WP, Korsen N, et al. Care management for depression in primary care practice: findings from the RESPECT-depression trial. *Ann Fam Med.* (2008) 6:30–7. doi: 10.1370/afm.742

26. Wittchen H-U, Mühlig S, Beesdo K. Mental disorders in primary care. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2003) 5:115–28. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2003.5.2/huwittchen

27. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Opoku Asare K, Sander LB, Ferreira D, Baumeister H, et al. Predicting symptoms of depression and anxiety using smartphone and wearable data. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:625247. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.625247

28. Opoku Asare K, Terhorst Y, Vega J, Peltonen E, Lagerspetz E, Ferreira D. Predicting depression from smartphone behavioral markers using machine learning methods, hyperparameter optimization, and feature importance analysis: exploratory study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2021) 9:e26540. doi: 10.2196/26540

29. Hennemann S, Kuhn S, Witthöft M, Jungmann SM. Diagnostic performance of an app-based symptom checker in mental disorders: comparative study in psychotherapy outpatients. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2022) 9(1):E32832. doi: 10.2196/32832

30. Terhorst Y, Knauer J, Baumeister H. Smart sensing enhanced diagnostic expert systems. In: Montag C, Baumeister H, editors. *Digital Phenotyping and Mobile Sensing*. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer (2023). p. 413–25. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-98546-2_24

31. Garatva P, Terhorst Y, Messner E-M, Karlen W, Pryss R, Baumeister H. Smart sensors for health research and improvement. In: Montag C, Baumeister H, editors. *Digital Phenotyping and Mobile Sensing*. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer (2023). p. 395–411. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-98546-2_23 32. Onnela J-P, Rauch SL. Harnessing smartphone-based digital phenotyping to enhance behavioral and mental health. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2016) 41:1691-6. doi: 10.1038/npp.2016.7

33. Saeb S, Lattie EG, Schueller SM, Kording KP, Mohr DC. The relationship between mobile phone location sensor data and depressive symptom severity. *PeerJ.* (2016) 4:e2537. doi: 10.7717/peerj.2537

34. Baumeister H, Montag C. Digital Phenotyping and Mobile Sensing. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2019). doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-31620-4

35. Pratap A, Atkins DC, Renn BN, Tanana MJ, Mooney SD, Anguera JA, et al. The accuracy of passive phone sensors in predicting daily mood. *Depress Anxiety.* (2019) 36:72–81. doi: 10.1002/da.22822

36. Adler Id DA, Wang F, Mohr DC, Choudhury T. Machine learning for passive mental health symptom prediction: generalization across different longitudinal mobile sensing studies. *PLoS One.* (2022) 17:e0266516. doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL. PONE.0266516

37. Rohani DA, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Kessing LV, Bardram JE. Correlations between objective behavioral features collected from Mobile and wearable devices and depressive mood symptoms in patients with affective disorders: systematic review. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2018) 6:e165. doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9691

38. Benoit J, Onyeaka H, Keshavan M, Torous J. Systematic review of digital phenotyping and machine learning in psychosis Spectrum illnesses. *Harv Rev Psychiatry.* (2020) 28:296–304. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000268

39. Saeb S, Zhang M, Karr CJ, Schueller SM, Corden ME, Kording KP, et al. Mobile phone sensor correlates of depressive symptom severity in daily-life behavior: an exploratory study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2015) 17:1–11. doi: 10.2196/jmir.4273

40. Sarda A, Munuswamy S, Sarda S, Subramanian V. Using passive smartphone sensing for improved risk stratification of patients with depression and diabetes: cross-sectional observational study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2019) 7:e11041. doi: 10. 2196/11041

41. Hunt CW. Technology and diabetes self-management: an integrative review. World J Diabetes. (2015) 6:225. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v6.i2.225

42. Umpierrez GE, Klonoff DC. Diabetes technology update: use of insulin pumps and continuous glucose monitoring in the hospital. *Diabetes Care*. (2018) 41:1579–89. doi: 10.2337/dci18-0002

43. Grady M, Venugopal U, Robert K, Hurrell G, Schnell O. Health care professionals' clinical perspectives and acceptance of a blood glucose meter and mobile app featuring a dynamic color range indicator and blood sugar mentor: online evaluation in seven countries. *JMIR Hum Factors*. (2019) 6:e13847. doi: 10. 2196/13847

44. Kirwan M, Vandelanotte C, Fenning A, Duncan MJ. Diabetes self-management smartphone application for adults with type 1 diabetes: randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2013) 15:e235. doi: 10.2196/jmir.2588

45. Charpentier G, Benhamou P-Y, Dardari D, Clergeot A, Franc S, Schaepelynck-Belicar P, et al. The diabeo software enabling individualized insulin dose adjustments combined with telemedicine support improves HbA1c in poorly controlled type 1 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care*. (2011) 34:533–9. doi: 10.2337/dc10-1259

46. Quinn CC, Clough SS, Minor JM, Lender D, Okafor MC, Gruber-Baldini A. Welldoc TM mobile diabetes management randomized controlled trial: change in clinical and behavioral outcomes and patient and physician satisfaction. *Diabetes Technol Ther.* (2008) 10:160–8. doi: 10.1089/dia.2008.0283

47. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. *MIS Q.* (2003) 27:425–78. doi: 10.2307/30036540

48. Philippi P, Baumeister H, Ebert DD, Lin J, Messner E-M, Terhorst Y. Acceptance towards digital health care—further development of the UTAUT model. In Preparation. (2021).

49. Blut M, Chong A, Tsiga Z, Venkatesh V. Meta-analysis of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT): challenging its validity and charting a research agenda in the red ocean. *J Assoc Inform Syst.* (Forthcoming 2021):1–128.

50. Kraus J, Scholz D, Stiegemeier D, Baumann M. The more you know: trust dynamics and calibration in highly automated driving and the effects of take-overs, system malfunction, and system transparency. *Hum Factors*. (2020) 62:718–36. doi: 10.1177/0018720819853686

51. Molnar LJ, Ryan LH, Pradhan AK, Eby DW, St. Louis RM, Zakrajsek JS. Understanding trust and acceptance of automated vehicles: an exploratory simulator study of transfer of control between automated and manual driving. *Transp Res Part F Traffic Psychol Behav.* (2018) 58:319–28. doi: 10.1016/J.TRF.2018.06.004

52. Lee JD, See KA. Trust in automation: designing for appropriate reliance. Hum Factors. (2004) 46:50–80. doi: $10.1518/HFES.46.1.50_30392$

53. Terhorst Y, Weilbacher N, Suda C, Simon L, Messner E-M, Sander LB, et al. Acceptance of smart sensing: a barrier to implementation—results from a randomized controlled trial. *Front Digit Health.* (2023) 5. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2023. 1075266

54. Baumeister H, Terhorst Y, Grässle C, Freudenstein M, Nübling R, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on psychotherapists' acceptance of blended therapy. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0236995. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236995

55. Ebert DD, Berking M, Cuijpers P, Lehr D, Pörtner M, Baumeister H. Increasing the acceptance of internet-based mental health interventions in primary care patients with depressive symptoms. A randomized controlled trial. *J Affect Disord.* (2015) 176:9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.056

56. Baumeister H, Nowoczin L, Lin J, Seifferth H, Seufert J, Laubner K, et al. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on diabetes patients' acceptance of internetbased interventions for depression: a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2014) 105:30–9. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.04.031

57. Baumeister H, Seifferth H, Lin J, Nowoczin L, Lüking M, Ebert DD. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on Patients' acceptance of internet-based pain interventions—a randomised controlled trial. *Clin J Pain.* (2015) 31:528–35. doi: 10. 1097/AJP.00000000000118

58. Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A web-based acceptancefacilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2018) 20:e244. doi: 10.2196/jmir.9925

59. Barnett T, Pearson AW, Pearson R, Kellermanns FW. Five-factor model personality traits as predictors of perceived and actual usage of technology. *Eur J Inf Syst.* (2015) 24:374–90. doi: 10.1057/ejis.2014.10

60. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *Br Med J.* (2010) 340:c332. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c332

61. Rammstedt B, John OP. Measuring personality in one minute or less: a 10-item short version of the big five inventory in English and German. J Res Pers. (2007) 41:203–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2006.02.001

62. Kroenke K, Strine TW, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW, Berry JT, Mokdad AH. The PHQ-8 as a measure of current depression in the general population. *J Affect Disord*. (2009) 114:163–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2008.06.026

63. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* (2006) 166:1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092

64. Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the insomnia severity index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* (2001) 2:297–307. doi: 10. 1016/S1389-9457(00)00065-4

65. Schwarzer R, Jerusalem M. SWE. Skala zur Allgemeinen Selbstwirksamkeitserwartung. Trier: Leibniz-Institut für Psychologie (ZPID) (2003).

66. Mehnert A, Herschbach P, Berg P, Henrich G, Koch U. Fear of progression in breast cancer patients-validation of the short form of the Fear of Progression Questionnaire (FoP-Q-SF). *Z Psychosom Med Psychother*. (2006) 52:274–88. doi: 10. 13109/zptm.2006.52.3.274

67. Deck R, Mittag O, Hüppe A, Muche-Borowski C, Raspe H. IMET. Index zur Messung von Einschränkungen der Teilhabe [Verfahrensdokumentation aus PSYNDEX Tests-Nr. 9005870 und Fragebogen]. Trier: Leibniz-Zentrum für Psychologische Information und Dokumentation (ZPID) (2011). doi: 10.23668/psycharchives.381

68. Polonsky WH, Fisher L, Earles J, Dudl RJ, Lees J, Mullan J, et al. Assessing psychosocial distress in diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. (2005) 28:626–31. doi: 10.2337/ diacare.28.3.626

69. Schmitt A, Gahr A, Hermanns N, Kulzer B, Huber J, Haak T. The diabetes selfmanagement questionnaire (DSMQ): development and evaluation of an instrument to assess diabetes self-care activities associated with glycaemic control. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2013) 11:138. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-11-138

70. Philippi P, Baumeister H, Apolinário-Hagen J, Ebert DD, Hennemann S, Kott L, et al. Acceptance towards digital health interventions—model validation and further development of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Internet Interv.* (2021) 26(100459). doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100459

71. Jian J-Y, Bisantz AM, Drury CG. Foundations for an empirically determined scale of trust in automated systems. *Int J Cogn Ergon.* (2000) 4:53–71. doi: 10.1207/S15327566IJCE0401_04

72. Browne MW, Cudeck R. Alternative ways of assessing model fit. Sociol Methods Res. (1992) 21:230–58. doi: 10.1177/0049124192021002005

73. Moshagen M. The model size effect in SEM: inflated goodness-of-fit statistics are due to the size of the covariance matrix. *Struct Equ Modeling*. (2012) 19:86–98. doi: 10. 1080/10705511.2012.634724

74. Moshagen M, Erdfelder E. A new strategy for testing structural equation models. *Struct Equ Modeling*. (2016) 23:54–60. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2014.950896

75. Hu LT, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equ Modeling*. (1999) 6:1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

76. Bentler PM. Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychol Bull.* (1990) 107:238–46. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238

77. Steiger JH. Structural model evaluation and modification: an interval estimation approach. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (1990) 25:173–80. doi: 10.1207/s15327906mbr2502_4

78. Enders CK. Applied Missing Data Analysis. New York: The Guilford Press (2010). ISBN: 9781462549863.

79. R Development Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2016). Available online at: https://www.R-project.org/ (Accessed December 1, 2023).

80. Rosseel Y. Lavaan: an R package for structural equation modeling. *J Stat Softw.* (2012) 48:1–3. doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i02

81. Bundesärztekammer (BÄK), Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung (KBV), Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften (AWMF). Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Typ-2-Diabetes—leitlinienreport. Version 3.0. (2023). doi: 10.6101/AZQ/000500

82. Deutschen Diabetes Gesellschaft (DDG). S3-Leitlinie Therapie des Typ-1-Diabetes. (2023).

83. Cornet VP, Holden RJ. Systematic review of smartphone-based passive sensing for health and wellbeing. *J Biomed Inform*. (2018) 77:120-32. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2017. 12.008

84. Falvo D, Holland BE. Medical and psychosocial aspects of chronic illness and disability. *Jones Bartlett Learn*. (2017).

85. Salgado T, Tavares J, Oliveira T. Drivers of mobile health acceptance and use from the patient perspective: survey study and quantitative model development. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2020) 8:e17588. doi: 10.2196/17588

86. Baumel A, Yom-Tov E. Predicting user adherence to behavioral eHealth interventions in the real world: examining which aspects of intervention design matter most. *Transl Behav Med.* (2018) 8:793–8. doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibx037

87. Baumel A, Faber K, Mathur N, Kane JM, Muench F. Enlight: a comprehensive quality and therapeutic potential evaluation tool for mobile and web-based eHealth interventions. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e82. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7270

88. Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Sander LB, Schultchen D, Paganini S, Bardus M, et al. Validation of the mobile application rating scale (MARS). *PLoS One.* (2020) 15: e0241480. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241480

89. Andrade LH, Alonso J, Mneimneh Z, Wells JE, Al-Hamzawi A, Borges G, et al. Barriers to mental health treatment: results from the WHO world mental health surveys. *Psychol Med.* (2014) 44:1303–17. doi: 10.1017/S0033291713001943

90. The European Pariliament, The Council Of The European Union. Regulation (EU) 2016/679 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data (general data protection regulation—gDPR). Off J Eur Union. (2018) 2014:958–81. doi: 10.5771/9783845266190-974

91. Nicholas J, Shilton K, Schueller SM, Gray EL, Kwasny MJ, Mohr DC. The role of data type and recipient in Individuals' perspectives on sharing passively collected smartphone data for mental health: cross-sectional questionnaire study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2019) 7:e12578. doi: 10.2196/12578

92. Gao S, He L, Chen Y, Li D, Lai K. Public perception of artificial intelligence in medical care: content analysis of social Media. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e16649. doi: 10.2196/16649

93. Montag C, Sindermann C, Baumeister H. Digital phenotyping in psychological and medical sciences: a reflection about necessary prerequisites to reduce harm and increase benefits. *Curr Opin Psychol.* (2020) 36:19–24. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2020.03. 013

94. Rottstädt F, Becker E, Wilz G, Croy I, Baumeister H, Terhorst Y. Enhancing the acceptance of smart sensing in psychotherapy patients: findings from a randomized controlled trial. *Front Digit Health*. (2024) 6. doi: 10.3389/fdgth. 2024.1335776

95. Mayer RE. Multimedia Learning. vol. 41. Academic Press (2002). p. 85-139. doi: 10.1016/S0079-7421(02)80005-6

96. Castro-Alonso JC, Wong M, Adesope OO, Ayres P, Paas F. Gender imbalance in instructional dynamic versus static visualizations: a meta-analysis. *Educ Psychol Rev.* (2019) 31:361–87. doi: 10.1007/s10648-019-09469-1

97. Schneider S, Krieglstein F, Beege M, Rey GD. Successful learning with whiteboard animations—a question of their procedural character or narrative embedding? *Heliyon.* (2023) 9:e13229. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e13229

98. Solomon RL. An extension of control group design. *Psychol Bull.* (1949) 46:137-50. doi: 10.1037/h0062958

99. Brodersen K, Hammami N, Katapally TR. Smartphone use and mental health among youth: it is time to develop smartphone-specific screen time guidelines. *Youth.* (2022) 2:23–38. doi: 10.3390/youth2010003

Frontiers in Digital Health

Explores digital innovation to transform modern healthcare

A multidisciplinary journal that focuses on how we can transform healthcare with innovative digital tools. It provides a forum for an era of health service marked by increased prediction and prevention.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



